Distribution Agreement

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:

Chad R. Camp

Date

Synaptic and Cellular Evaluation of NMDA Receptors in Health and Disease

By

Chad R. Camp Doctor of Philosophy

Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Science Molecular and Systems Pharmacology

> Stephen F. Traynelis Ph.D. Advisor

Chris J. McBain, Ph.D. Committee Member

Ray Dingledine, Ph.D. Committee Member

Shannon Gourley, Ph.D. Committee Member

Gary Bassell, Ph.D. Committee Member

Accepted:

Kimberly Jacob Arriola, Ph.D, MPH Dean of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies

Date

Synaptic and Cellular Evaluation of NMDA Receptors in Health and Disease

By

Chad R. Camp M.P.H., Environmental Health, Rollins School of Public Health, Emory University, 2016 B.S. Biology, The University of Georgia, 2013

Advisor: Stephen F. Traynelis, Ph.D.

An abstract of A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Science Molecular and Systems Pharmacology 2023

Abstract

Synaptic and Cellular Evaluation of NMDA Receptors in Health and Disease

By Chad R. Camp

N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors are glutamate-gated, calcium-permeable ion channels involved in a host of normal brain functions, including neuronal development. To non-specialists, NMDARs are important neurotransmitter receptors involved in synaptic plasticity, mainly long-term potentiation. In this dissertation, however, expanded roles of NMDARs are described that have come to light thanks to recent technological advances in genetic sequencing, transgenic mouse model production, and small molecule drug design. The overarching goals of the work presented in this thesis are two-fold: 1) to provide cellular and synaptic evaluation of mouse models based on NMDAR human patient-derived variants and 2) show efficacy of subunit-selective NMDAR modulation in altering circuit function for potential therapeutic gain. In Chapter 1, various roles of NMDARs are reviewed and intended to highlight the true omnipresent nature of these receptors within the central nervous system. In Chapters 2 and 3, mouse models of human patient-derived NMDAR variants are used to explore the pathophysiology of disease at the cellular and circuit levels using patch-clamp electrophysiology and immunohistochemical techniques. Chapter 3 also highlights the importance of viewing animal model age as a potent experimental variable while providing novel supporting data for GluN2A's role in neurodevelopment and circuit maturation. In Chapter 4, a novel positive allosteric modulator is used to provide functional data on synaptic NMDAR subunit expression in groups of relatively understudied GABAergic interneurons. Overall, the work presented in this thesis is aimed at pushing the field of precision medicine forward via detailed cellular and synaptic analyses of mouse models of human disease, combined with novel subunit-selective NMDAR modulators.

Synaptic and Cellular Evaluation of NMDA Receptors in Health and Disease

By

Chad R. Camp M.P.H., Environmental Health, Rollins School of Public Health, Emory University, 2016 B.S. Biology, The University of Georgia, 2013

Advisor: Stephen F. Traynelis, Ph.D.

A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Science Molecular and Systems Pharmacology 2023

Acknowledgements

This thesis would not have been possible without the undying support from family, friends, mentors, and colleagues throughout my first 32 years.

First and foremost, I would like to thank Steve. I completed my lab rotations in Spring 2017, but knew I wanted to join Steve's lab in July 2016. I remember sitting in lab meeting early during my rotation and being completely captivated by the discussion amongst the lab during journal club. I had never been in a room with such intelligent people capable of entertaining multiple perspectives all at once. I was completely lost and that's exactly why I knew that I had to join his lab. I'd been interested in neuroscience research for some time, but my rotation was my first real exposure to electrophysiology. The ability to 'listen' to neuronal networks communicate in real time and then change their responses by applying a drug felt, and still feels, so visceral. He truly cares about his students, and his mentor style is perfectly suited for someone like me that enjoys pretending to be independent. Steve is an endless pool of scientific ideas and I have grown to thoroughly enjoy our caffeine-fueled chats, even when we disagree. We have cultivated a productive and professional relationship where I can feel free to share my ideas, regardless of their feasibility. Instead of immediately shutting down some of my more ludicrous ideas, he takes the time to ponder them before responding with very insightful suggestions about how we may be able bring them to fruition. He is (usually) always the first person to say, "Okay, just do it" and for that I am eternally grateful.

I would also like to thank my committee members: Drs. Ray Dingledine, Chris McBain, Shannon Gourley, and Gary Bassell for their mentorship, guidance, and encouragement. I have had the pleasure to interact with each of them individually and this thesis would not be presented how it is today without each of their respective talents and contributions to my overall training.

I also want to recognize that I would not be in the Emory Molecular and Systems Pharmacology PhD program if it were not for the helping hands of Dr. Mike Caudle for taking a chance on a Masters student with absolutely zero laboratory skills, Dr. Eddie Morgan for the initial unending support and letter of recommendation to joint our PhD program, and Dr. TJ Murphy for the many late night email conversations of support and blunt advice.

To Britton Barbee: your endless patience with me is deeply appreciated and a comforting hug that I could not imagine living without. Thank you Shee.

Thank you Kirby, our Boykin Spaniel mix, for the bolus doses of oxytocin and critical feedback.

Most importantly, I want to thank my parents, Cindy and Ron Camp. We have been through the gauntlet of potential career opportunities for me, and I hope you both realize that I'm glad we waited for me to discover bench research. Because believe me, this *is* what I was supposed to. I also hope you both feel that all the early struggles we went through, the countless trips to Athens, the tutors, the course prep materials, and the endless drive for achievement have finally paid off. You two have instilled in me a work ethic that no course can teach, and this was all driven by example. I'm so grateful to you both.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| CHAPTER 1: NMDA Receptors 101 – Structure, Function, Kinetics, Pharmacology, Expression, Roles in Normal Brain Function, and Genetic Variation | · |
|--|-----|
| 1.1 Glutamatergic Neurotransmitter Receptors | 2 |
| 1.2 NMDAR Subunit Stoichiometry and Structure | |
| 1.3 NMDAR Activation and Deactivation in Heterologous Expression Systems | 7 |
| 1.4 Synaptic NMDARs: Activation and Deactivation | |
| 1.5 Synaptic NMDARs: Spatiotemporal Expression Patterns | 14 |
| 1.6 Synaptic NMDARs: Roles in Neurogenesis and Neuronal Migration | 18 |
| 1.7 Synaptic NMDARs: Roles in Neurite Development | 19 |
| 1.8 Synaptic NMDARs: Roles in Synapse Formation | 20 |
| 1.9 Roles of NMDARs in Presynaptic Signaling | 21 |
| 1.10 Roles of NMDARs in Postsynaptic Signaling | 22 |
| 1.11 Roles of NMDARs in Extrasynaptic Signaling | |
| 1.12 Roles of NMDARs in Glial Cells | |
| 1.13 Roles of NMDARs in Synaptic Plasticity | 27 |
| 1.14 NMDARs, Genetic Variation, and Disease | 35 |
| 1.15 NMDAR Variants and Models of Disease | 43 |
| 1.16 Conclusions | 45 |
| 1.17 References for Chapter 1 | 47 |
| CHAPTER 2: Mouse Models of Gain-of-Function NMDAR Variants | 77 |
| 2.1 Introduction | 78 |
| 2.2 Methods | 80 |
| 2.2.1 Mouse Model Generation | 80 |
| 2.2.2 Electroconvulsive Threshold | 81 |
| 2.2.3 Acute Hippocampal Slice Preparation and Electrophysiological Recordings | 81 |
| 2.2.4 Statistical Analysis and Figure Preparation | 83 |
| 2.3 Results | 84 |
| 2.4 Discussion | 101 |
| 2.5 References for Chapter 2 | 107 |
| CHAPTER 3: GRIN2A Null Variants and Parvalbumin-Positive Interneuron Matur | |
| 3.1 Introduction | |
| 3.2 Methods | |

| 3.2.1 Animals and Breeding | 113 |
|--|---|
| 3.2.2 Human Patient Data | 115 |
| 3.2.3 Acute Hippocampal Slice Preparation and Electrophysiological Recordings | 115 |
| 3.2.4 Interneuron Anatomical Reconstructions | 118 |
| 3.2.5 Immunohistochemistry for GABAergic Interneuron Markers | 119 |
| 3.2.6 Image Acquisition and Analysis | 120 |
| 3.2.7 Statistical Analysis and Figure Preparation | 120 |
| 3.3 Results | 121 |
| 3.3.1 Null GRIN2A Variants May Have a Transient Seizure Burden | 121 |
| 3.3.2 Developing Hippocampus Shows Hyperexcitability in $Grin2a^{+/-}$ and $Grin2a^{-/-}$ N | |
| | |
| 3.3.3 Alterations in Hippocampal PV Cell Density | |
| 3.3.4 Age-Dependent Changes in Passive and Action-Potential Firing Properties of C Cells | |
| 3.3.5 Electrophysiological Maturation of PV Cells is Delayed in $Grin2a^{+/-}$ and $Grin2a^{-/-}$ | |
| Mice | |
| 3.4 Discussion | |
| 3.5 References for Chapter 3 | |
| CHAPTER 4: Subunit-Specific Modulation of NMDARs for Therapeutic Gain | |
| 4.1 Introduction | 164 |
| | 1.07 |
| 4.2 Methods | |
| 4.2.1 Animals and Breeding | 167 |
| 4.2.1 Animals and Breeding 4.2.2 Acute Hippocampal Slice Preparation and Electrophysiological Recordings | 167 167 |
| 4.2.1 Animals and Breeding4.2.2 Acute Hippocampal Slice Preparation and Electrophysiological Recordings4.2.3 Cell Selection and Post-Hoc Slice Processing | 167 167 169 |
| 4.2.1 Animals and Breeding 4.2.2 Acute Hippocampal Slice Preparation and Electrophysiological Recordings 4.2.3 Cell Selection and Post-Hoc Slice Processing 4.2.4 Statistical Analysis and Figure Preparation | 167 167 169 171 |
| 4.2.1 Animals and Breeding 4.2.2 Acute Hippocampal Slice Preparation and Electrophysiological Recordings 4.2.3 Cell Selection and Post-Hoc Slice Processing 4.2.4 Statistical Analysis and Figure Preparation 4.3 Results | 167 167 169 171 171 |
| 4.2.1 Animals and Breeding 4.2.2 Acute Hippocampal Slice Preparation and Electrophysiological Recordings 4.2.3 Cell Selection and Post-Hoc Slice Processing 4.2.4 Statistical Analysis and Figure Preparation 4.3 Results 4.4 Discussion | 167 167 169 171 171 191 |
| 4.2.1 Animals and Breeding 4.2.2 Acute Hippocampal Slice Preparation and Electrophysiological Recordings 4.2.3 Cell Selection and Post-Hoc Slice Processing 4.2.4 Statistical Analysis and Figure Preparation 4.3 Results 4.4 Discussion 4.5 References for Chapter 4 | 167 167 169 171 171 191 194 |
| 4.2.1 Animals and Breeding 4.2.2 Acute Hippocampal Slice Preparation and Electrophysiological Recordings 4.2.3 Cell Selection and Post-Hoc Slice Processing 4.2.4 Statistical Analysis and Figure Preparation 4.3 Results 4.4 Discussion 4.5 References for Chapter 4 CHAPTER 5: Conclusions, Discussion, and Future Directions | 167 167 169 171 171 191 194 230 |
| 4.2.1 Animals and Breeding 4.2.2 Acute Hippocampal Slice Preparation and Electrophysiological Recordings 4.2.3 Cell Selection and Post-Hoc Slice Processing 4.2.4 Statistical Analysis and Figure Preparation | 167 167 169 171 171 191 194 230 231 |
| 4.2.1 Animals and Breeding 4.2.2 Acute Hippocampal Slice Preparation and Electrophysiological Recordings 4.2.3 Cell Selection and Post-Hoc Slice Processing 4.2.4 Statistical Analysis and Figure Preparation 4.3 Results 4.4 Discussion 4.5 References for Chapter 4 CHAPTER 5: Conclusions, Discussion, and Future Directions | 167 167 169 171 171 191 194 230 231 |
| 4.2.1 Animals and Breeding. 4.2.2 Acute Hippocampal Slice Preparation and Electrophysiological Recordings 4.2.3 Cell Selection and Post-Hoc Slice Processing | 167 167 169 171 171 191 194 230 231 233 5 239 |
| 4.2.1 Animals and Breeding 4.2.2 Acute Hippocampal Slice Preparation and Electrophysiological Recordings 4.2.3 Cell Selection and Post-Hoc Slice Processing | 167 167 169 171 171 191 194 230 231 233 s 239 247 |
| 4.2.1 Animals and Breeding 4.2.2 Acute Hippocampal Slice Preparation and Electrophysiological Recordings 4.2.3 Cell Selection and Post-Hoc Slice Processing | 167 167 169 171 171 191 194 230 231 233 5 239 247 251 |

LIST OF FIGURES

| Figure 1.1. Ionotropic glutamate receptor functional classes and domain structure4 |
|--|
| Figure 1.2. NMDA receptor subunit stoichiometry |
| Figure 1.3. Time course of synaptic AMPA, kainate, and NMDA receptors |
| Figure 1.4. NMDAR subunit spatiotemporal expression patterns in developing rat brain15 |
| Figure 1.5. Organization of a typical glutamatergic synapse. 29 |

| Figure 2.1. Topographical location of variants used in mouse model experiments |
|--|
| Figure 2.2. Seizure phenotypes of mouse models of human NMDAR variants |
| Figure 2.3. Comparison of GluN2A-P552R kinetic properties in HEK cells and at native synapses |
| Figure 2.4. Comparison of GluN2A-S644G kinetic properties in HEK cells and native synapses |
| Figure 2.5. Comparison of GluN2D-V667I kinetic properties in HEK cells and native synapses |
| Figure 2.6. Spontaneous and miniature inhibitory postsynaptic currents (IPSCs) onto CA1 pyramidal cells |
| Figure 2.7. The decay time of mIPSCs onto CA1 pyramidal cells is unchanged in GluN2D-V667I/+ mice |

| Figure 3.1. Null GRIN2A null patients display a transient seizure burden not seen in missense GRIN2A patients 122 |
|---|
| Figure 3.2. Juvenile CA1 circuit shows hyperexcitability in $Grin2a^{+/-}$ and $Grin2a^{-/-}$ mice124 |
| Figure 3.3. Loss of <i>Grin2a</i> causes an increase in parvalbumin (PV) cell density in CA1127 |
| Figure 3.4. CA1 PV cells undergo electrophysiological maturation of passive and action-potential firing properties |
| Figure 3.5. The loss of <i>Grin2a</i> causes a transient change in passive electrophysiological properties in CA1 PV cells. 133 |
| Figure 3.6. The loss of <i>Grin2a</i> causes a transient change in action-potential waveform properties of CA1 PV cells. 137 |
| Figure 3.7. The loss of <i>Grin2a</i> causes a transient change in action-potential firing properties of CA1 PV cells |

| Supplemental Figure S3.1. Juvenile CA1 circuit hyperexcitability is not due to changes in CA1 pyramidal cell intrinsic or action-potential firing properties |
|---|
| Supplemental Figure S3.2. Loss of Grin2a does not alter cholecystokinin (CCK) cell density in CA1 |
| Supplemental Figure S3.3. CA1 PV cells undergo electrophysiological maturation of passive and action-potential firing properties |

| Figure 4.1. Distinctions between the exemplar GluN2C/GluN2D positive allosteric modulator, CIQ, and its predecessor, EU1180-465 |
|--|
| Figure 4.2. <i>Grin2d</i> mRNA is found in GABAergic interneurons in mouse hippocampus174 |
| Figure 4.3. Application of EU1180-465 increases inhibitory tone in CA1175 |
| Figure 4.4. Application of EU1180-465 increases amplitude, but not decay time, of sIPSCs onto CA1 pyramidal cells |
| Figure 4.5. EU1180-465 potentiates CA1 <i>stratum radiatum</i> GABAergic interneurons179 |
| Figure 4.6. EU1180-465 response on <i>stratum radiatum</i> interneurons can be stratified into responders and non-responders |
| Figure 4.7. NPY-expressing neurogliaform cells are potentiated by EU1180-465 |
| Figure 4.8. VIP-expressing interneuron-selective interneurons are not potentiated by EU1180-465 |
| Figure 4.9. VIP/CCK-expressing basket cells are potentiated by EU1180-465 |
| Figure 4.10. Validation of CCK antibody and post-hoc staining technique |

LIST OF TABLES

| Table 1.1 Pharmacological and kinetic properties of diheteromeric and triheteromeric NMDARs |
|---|
| expressed in heterologous systems |
| Table 1.2. NMDAR variants and intolerance scores |
| Table 1.3. NMDAR variants and associated disease |
| Table 1.4. NMDAR subunit null mouse models and prevalence of null mutations in affected |
| individuals46 |

| Table 2.1. Human patient data of gain-of-function missense NMDAR variants |
|--|
| Table 2.2. Kinetic properties of NMDAR-mediated EPSCs onto CA1 pyramidal cells from GoF |
| GluN2A missense mouse models92 |
| Table 2.3. Kinetic properties of NMDAR-mediated EPSCs onto CA1 pyramidal cells and CA1 |
| stratum radiatum from GluN2D-V667I mice100 |
| Table 2.4. Properties of spontaneous inhibitory postsynaptic currents (sIPSCs) and miniature |
| inhibitory postsynaptic currents (mIPSCs) onto CA1 pyramidal cells from GluN2D-V667I |
| mice103 |

| Supplemental Table S3.1. Null <i>GRIN2A</i> variant patient data and seizures burden152 |
|---|
| Supplemental Table S3.2. Missense <i>GRIN2A</i> variant patient and seizure burden154 |
| Supplemental Table S3.3. Action-potential spiking probability in $Grin2a^{+/+}$, $Grin2a^{+/-}$, and $Grin2a^{-/-}$ juvenile (P14-16) mice |
| Supplemental Table S3.4. Passive and action-potential firing properties of CA1 pyramidal cells in $Grin2a^{+/+}$, $Grin2a^{+/-}$, and $Grin2a^{-/-}$ juvenile (P14-16) mice157 |
| Supplemental Table 3.5. Parvalbumin-positive CA1 density and cellular lamination in $Grin2a^{+/+}$, $Grin2a^{+/-}$, and $Grin2a^{-/-}$ preadolescent (P21-26) mice |

| Supplemen | ntal Tabl | e S3.6. | Chole | ecystokini | n-positive | e CA | 1 density | and | cellular | lamination | in |
|------------------|-------------------------|---------|---------------------|------------|------------|------|-----------|-----|----------|------------|-----|
| $Grin2a^{+/+}$, | Grin2a ^{+/-} , | and Gr | in2a ^{-/-} | preadoles | cent (P21 | -26) | mice | | | 1 | 159 |

| Table 4.1. Summary of sIPSCs onto hippocampal CA1 pyramidal cells with EU1180-465176 |
|---|
| Table 4.2. Summary data from all evoked NMDAR-mediated EPSCs onto stratum radiatum |
| interneurons |
| Table 4.3. Summary data from all evoked NMDAR-mediated EPSCs onto NPY-expressing |
| neurogliaform cells |
| Table 4.4. Summary data from all evoked NMDAR-mediated EPSCs onto VIP-expressing |
| interneuron-selective interneurons |
| Table 4.5. Summary data from all evoked NMDAR-mediated EPSCs onto VIP/CCK co- |
| expressing basket cells |

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

Agonist binding domain (ABD);

α-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid (AMPA);

(2)-amino-5-phosphonovaleric acid (APV);

Amino-terminal domain (ATD);

Artificial cerebrospinal fluid (aCSF);

Attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD);

Autism spectrum disorder (ASD);

C-terminal domain (CTD);

Caudal ganglionic eminence (CGE);

Calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II (CamKII)

(3-Chlorophenyl)[3,4-dihydro-6,7-dimethoxy-1-[(4-methoxyphenoxy)methyl]-2(1H)-isoquinolinyl]methanone (CIQ);

Center for Functional Evaluation of Rare Variants (CFERV);

Central nervous system (CNS);

Cerebrospinal fluid (CSF);

Cholecystokinin (CCK);

Copy number variants (CNV);

Developmental and epileptic encephalopathy (DEE);

Effective concentration (EC);

Electroconvulsive therapy (ECT);

Epilepsy (EPI);

excitatory postsynaptic current (EPSC);

Exon 5 *GRIN1* gene splice variant (exon5);

Field excitatory postsynaptic potentials (fEPSPs); γ-Aminobutyric acid (GABA); G protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs); Gain-of-function (GoF); Intellectual disability (ID); Inhibitory postsynaptic current (IPSC); Interneuron-selective interneurons (ISIs); Ligand binding domain (LBD); Long-term depression (LTD); Long-term potentiation (LTP); Loss of Function (LoF); Medial ganglionic eminence (MGE); Messenger RNA (mRNA); Metabotropic glutamate receptors (mGluRs) Movement disorders (MD); N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA); N-terminal domain (NTD); negative allosteric modulators (NAMs); Neuronal nitric oxide synthase (nNOS); Neuropeptide Y (NPY); Parvalbumin (PV); Postnatal (P); Postsynaptic density (PSD);

Protein kinase A (PKA); Protein kinase C (PKC); Protein kinase G (PKG); Residual Variation Intolerance Score (RVIS); Reverse transcription PCR (rtPCR); Schizophrenia (SCZ); Single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP); Small conductance calcium-activated potassium channels (SK channels); Spontaneous inhibitory postsynaptic current (sIPSC); Transmembrane domain (TMD); Vasoactive intestinal peptide (VIP); Whole exome sequencing (WES) CHAPTER 1: NMDA Receptors 101 – Structure, Function, Kinetics, Pharmacology, Expression, Roles in Normal Brain Function, and Genetic Variation

Sections of this introductory chapter are adapted from:

Hansen KB, Wollmuth LP, Bowie D, Furukawa H, Menniti FS, Sobolevsky AI, Swanson GT, Swanger SA, Greger IH, Nakagawa T, McBain CJ, Jayaraman V, Low CM, Dell'Acqua ML, Diamond JS, <u>Camp CR</u>, Perszyk RE, Yuan H and Traynelis SF (2021) Structure, Function, and Pharmacology of Glutamate Receptor Ion Channels. *Pharmacol Rev* 73(4): 298-487.

and

Benke TA, Park K, Krey I, <u>Camp CR</u>, Song R, Ramsey AJ, Yuan H, Traynelis SF and Lemke J (2021) Clinical and therapeutic significance of genetic variation in the GRIN gene family encoding NMDARs. *Neuropharmacology* **199**: 108805.

1.1 Glutamatergic Neurotransmitter Receptors

The hallmark feature of the central nervous system (CNS) is the chemical synapse, a narrow cleft (~50 nm) in which two adjacent neurons communicate via released chemicals called neurotransmitters. These neurotransmitters bind to largely postsynaptic receptors, facilitating signal transduction. The most common neurotransmitter in the CNS is glutamate, which binds to both metabotropic and ionotropic receptor classes. Of the roughly 100 trillion-plus synapses in the adult human brain, upwards of 90% are thought to be glutamatergic (Abeles, 1991). Metabotropic glutamate receptors (mGluRs) are a family of ligand-gated G-protein coupled receptors (GPCRs), which can be further subdivided into two major categories: excitatory, Gq-coupled receptors from Group I (mGluR₁ and mGluR₅) and inhibitory, Gi/o-coupled receptors from Groups II and III (mGluR₂, mGluR₃, mGluR₄, mGluR₆, mGluR₇, and mGluR₈). Ionotropic glutamate receptors (iGluRs) are a family of ligand-gated cation-permeant ionotropic receptors which can be further subdivided into four different functional classes: α-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4isoxazolepropionic acid (AMPA) receptors, kainate receptors, N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptors, and GluD receptors (also known as δ (delta) receptors).

mGluRs and iGluRs are typically found within the same synapse yet produce distinct cellular responses on vastly different time scales. iGluR activation generally produces a rapid and measurable current response in the postsynaptic neuron, however, there is a growing appreciation of the metabotropic signaling ability of iGluRs. Given their ability to directly depolarize the postsynaptic cell, which is vital for further signal transduction, and rapid signal generation, iGluRs have been an important field of study for neuroscientists and cellular physiologists for decades. More specifically, NMDA receptors (NMDARs) are a particularly intriguing subtype of iGluR because of their unique activation requirements, calcium permeability, and roles in learning and memory. The discovery of an NMDAR-dependent form of long-term potentiation – the cellular correlate to learning – has been a topic of intense investigation ever since the seminal findings by Graham Collingridge and colleagues in 1983 (Collingridge et al., 1983). In this dissertation expanded roles of NMDARs are described that have come to light thanks to recent technological advances in genetic sequencing, transgenic mouse model production, and small molecule drug design.

1.2 NMDAR Subunit Stoichiometry and Structure

The iGluR subunits share a common modular design and membrane topology despite having modest primary sequence identity (Paas, 1998; Wo and Oswald, 1995) (Figure 1.1). Each subunit includes a large extracellular region comprising the N-terminal domain (NTD, also referred to as amino-terminal domain, ATD), which mediates receptor assembly, trafficking, and functional regulation. In NMDARs, the GRIN1 gene has eight different splice variants, with the most studied being the GluN1-1a splice isoform which includes residues encoded by exons 21 and 22, but lacks 21 amino acids in the NTD, encoded by exon 5 of the GRIN1 gene (hereafter exon5). The exon5 variant lowers sensitivity to proton inhibition (Traynelis et al., 1995), promotes faster deactivation kinetics compared to receptors lacking exon5 (Regan et al., 2018; Rumbaugh et al., 2000; Vance et al., 2012; Yi et al., 2019a; Yi et al., 2018), and has a unique spatial expression pattern in the CNS gyrus (Laurie and Seeburg, 1994; Luque et al., 1994; Paupard et al., 1997). The agonist binding domain (ABD, also referred to as ligand binding domain, LBD), contains binding sites for agonists, competitive antagonists, and some allosteric modulators. Each ABD is composed of two segments of the polypeptide chain, S1 and S2, separated by two transmembrane helices (M1 and M3) and a membrane reentrant loop (M2). The M1-M2-M3 regions, together with a fourth transmembrane helix (M4) compose the transmembrane domain (TMD). The cytoplasmic C-



Figure 1.1. Ionotropic glutamate receptor functional classes and domain structure. A) All four ionotropic glutamate receptor classes, with each gene (italic font) and the protein encoded by that gene (standard font) listed. B) Cartoon showing the different domains of all ionotropic glutamate receptors, with C) each domain represented along the linear structure of the polypeptide chain. Adapted from (Hansen et al., 2021).

terminal domain (CTD) directs receptor localization and regulation, is the locus of posttranslational modifications (*e.g.*, phosphorylation and palmitoylation), and varies in length and sequence among subunits.

All iGluRs are integral membrane proteins assembled from four large (>850 residues) multi-domain subunits to form an ion channel, that is, a central pore spanning the membrane through which ions can pass. NMDARs are heterotetrameric complexes, comprising two obligate GluN1 subunits (encoded by the GRIN1 gene) and two GluN2A-D and/or GluN3A-B subunits (encoded by the GRIN2A-D and GRIN3A-B genes). Glutamate binding is required to activate most iGluRs, however, NMDARs require both glutamate (GluN2 subunits) and glycine/D-serine (GluN1 and GluN3A-B subunits), combined with membrane depolarization, for receptor activation. NMDARs can be classified as diheteromeric (comprised of two GluN1 subunits and two identical GluN2 or GluN3 subunits) and triheteromeric (comprised of two GluN1 subunits and two different GluN2 subunits, two GluN1 subunits and two different GluN3 subunits, or two GluN1 subunits combined with one GluN2 and one GluN3 subunits) assemblies (Figure 1.2). In native tissue, triheteromeric NMDARs comprising two GluN1 and two different GluN2 subunits are thought to be in the majority (Hansen et al., 2014; Karakas and Furukawa, 2014; Lee et al., 2014; Lu et al., 2017; Monyer et al., 1992; Ulbrich and Isacoff, 2007; Ulbrich and Isacoff, 2008) However, other variations of diheteromeric (Grand et al., 2018; Otsu et al., 2019; Zhu et al., 2020) and triheteromeric complexes (Perez-Otano et al., 2016) have been reported. Although the existence of GluN3-containing NMDARs in native tissue is unequivocal, the presence of GluN1/GluN2/GluN3 triheteromeric assemblies is controversial (see (Ulbrich and Isacoff, 2008) and (Perez-Otano et al., 2001). Moreover, given our tenuous understanding of how these seemingly constitutively desensitized glycine-binding receptors may be activated in neurons, they will be



Figure 1.2. NMDA receptor subunit stoichiometry. NMDARs are heterotetrameric protein assemblies of two obligate GluN1 subunits, and GluN2 or GluN3 subunits. The construction of NMDARs can be split into two groups: A) diheteromeric assemblies containing two copies of the same GluN2 or GluN3 subunit, or B) triheteromeric assemblies containing two different GluN2 subunits. The possibility of triheteromeric receptors containing GluN3 subunits has yet to be confirmed in native tissue and has thus been omitted from this figure.

excluded from the discussion hereafter.

1.3 NMDAR Activation and Deactivation in Heterologous Expression Systems

Glutamate receptors are best understood for their role in synaptic transmission, in which they are activated by rapidly released glutamate that reaches high concentration (peak ~1.2 mM) and endures in the synaptic cleft for a few milliseconds before diffusion and uptake reduce the concentration (Budisantoso et al., 2013; Clements et al., 1992; Diamond, 2005). Since the mechanisms that control NMDAR channel opening and closing dictate their postsynaptic response to brief synaptic pulses of glutamate, the rate at which glutamate dissociates from the receptor is the strongest determinant of the time course of their synaptic currents (Jonas, 2000; Lester et al., 1990; Paoletti et al., 2013; Silver et al., 1996a; Traynelis et al., 2010). Additionally, since NMDARs are gated by glycine/D-serine, the steady-state concentration of extracellular glycine (~6 µM in cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) (D'Souza et al., 2000)) and D-serine (~2 µM in CSF (Madeira et al., 2015)) will also impact receptor function. The glycine site is usually not saturated (Berger et al., 1998; Bergeron et al., 1998), and phasic changes in D-serine release from astrocytes, or glycine release from nearby glycinergic terminals offer another opportunity for the modulation of NMDAR activation and deactivation. For extrasynaptic or perisynaptic NMDARs, their affinity for glutamate will control their response to extrasynaptic glutamate following synaptic or glial release (Kessler, 2013), as well as the response to steady state levels of glutamate in the extracellular space at concentrations near 80 nM (Moldavski et al., 2020).

Much of our understanding of NMDAR activation and deactivation comes from electrophysiological recordings performed in heterologous expression systems or from cultured neurons. After the NMDAR subunits were cloned in the late 1980's, a wealth of functional data was obtained describing ion channel properties including the time course and kinetics of activation and deactivation. There are now strong and well-supported hypotheses to explain the biophysical properties possessed by this class of ion channels, which are controlled by the GluN2/GluN3 subunits. Outside of alternative splicing of the GluN1 subunit (*e.g.*, exon5 mentioned previously), the different GluN2/GluN3 subunits give each receptor assembly a unique agonist potency, deactivation time course, level of magnesium block, open channel probability, level of desensitization, and vulnerability to endogenous modulation.

Most NMDAR complexes in native tissue are triheteromeric assemblies comprised of two different GluN2 subunits (hereafter triheteromeric receptors), further expanding the repertoire of different NMDARs that can be utilized in native circuits. We can selectively express triheteromeric receptors in heterologous systems utilizing chimeric receptors that include intracellular domains from GABA_B receptors that can be arranged to control NMDAR trafficking (Hansen et al., 2014), allowing for the characterization of physiologically relevant receptors with different GluN2 subunits or different GluN1 splice variants. Triheteromeric receptors show a complex blending of individual diheteromeric subunit properties, rather than an average of properties of the two GluN2 subunits (Bhattacharya et al., 2018; Brickley et al., 2003; Cheffings and Colquhoun, 2000; Jones and Gibb, 2005). Some features of receptor function, such as deactivation time course, can be dominated by one subunit (Hansen et al., 2014; Sun et al., 2017), whereas other functional and pharmacological features of the receptor draw on unique features of each subunit (Bhattacharya et al., 2018; Cheriyan et al., 2016; Hansen et al., 2014; Stroebel et al., 2014; Yi et al., 2019a; Yi et al., 2018). Table 1.1 summarizes current knowledge on various pharmacological and kinetic properties of diheteromeric and triheteromeric NMDARs expressed in heterologous systems.

1.4 Synaptic NMDARs: Activation and Deactivation

Synaptic NMDARs respond to rapid and brief elevation of glutamate concentration within

| Construct | Glutamate EC ₅₀ (μM) | Glycine EC ₅₀ (μM) | D-Serine EC ₅₀ (μM) | τ .Deactivation (ms) | τ- Desensitization (ms) | Popen |
|---------------|------------------------------------|------------------------------|-----------------------------------|--------------------------------|-----------------------------------|-------|
| GluN1/N2A | 4.5 | 0.9 | 1.3 | 85 | 182 | 0.43 |
| GluN1-1b/N2A | 3.4 | 1.3 | | 44 | | |
| GluN1/N2B | 2.5 | 0.3 | 0.7 | 394 | 349 | 0.12 |
| GluN1-1b/N2B | 2.9 | 0.3 | | 150 | | |
| GluN1/N2C | 1.0 | 0.1 | 0.3 | 321 | 389 | 0.01 |
| GluN1/N2D | 0.4 | 0.1 | 0.2 | 3050 | N/A | 0.01 |
| GluN1-1b/N2D | 0.9 | 0.2 | | 846 | | |
| GluN1/N2A/N2B | 2.5 | 0.6 | | 100 | | |
| GluN1/N2A/N2C | 1.1 | 0.5 | | 301 | | 0.02 |
| GluN1/N2A/N2D | | | | | | |
| GluN1/N2B/N2B | 0.5 | 0.3 | | 1770 | | 0.02 |

Table 1.1 Pharmacological and kinetic properties of diheteromeric and triheteromeric NMDARs expressed in heterologous systems. These data are adapted from Hansen et. al. 2021 and have been simplified to only be a single value. Measures that were displayed as a range in Hansen et. al. 2021 have been represented as the average of the lowest and highest values given for that measure. Thus, this table is *only* designed to give readers a quick snapshot of pharmacological and kinetic data.

the synaptic cleft with a relatively slow time course, activating in several milliseconds and deactivating with a time course (10-100's of ms) that can be orders of magnitude slower than that for AMPARs, and moderately slower than kainate receptors (Monyer et al., 1992; Vicini et al., 1998; Wyllie et al., 1998) (Figure 1.3). Unlike synaptic AMPARs, synaptic NMDARs show little to no desensitization, with their synaptic time course of deactivation being directly related to openchannel probability, receptor gating, and agonist potency. Simulation studies found that diheteromeric GluN2A and GluN2B NMDARs will open at least once (open-channel probability > 0.5) in response to a single synaptic event (brief pulse of high concentration of glutamate) (Erreger et al., 2005). Moreover, in response in a single synaptic event, diheteromeric GluN2A NMDARs will exhibit a higher peak amplitude (higher open-probability), however, their overall charge transfer is only half as large as diheteromeric GluN2B NMDARs (Sheng et al., 1994). This is because GluN2B-containing NMDARs have a higher potency for glutamate, and exhibit a slower conformational change (i.e., gating steps) in response to agonist binding (Erreger et al., 2005). In total, this gives rise to synaptic GluN2A-containing receptors displaying a faster synaptic deactivation time course than GluN2B-containing receptors. Given that most NMDARs in native tissue are GluN2A/GluN2B triheteromeric receptors, there will be synaptic NMDARs with intermediate charge transfer. This may explain why the typical weighted deactivation time course of an evoked NMDAR-mediated excitatory postsynaptic current (EPSC) onto a neuron which expresses both GluN2A and GluN2B receptors is 70-110 ms compared to the deactivation time course of ~35 ms for diheteromeric GluN2A NMDARs and 200-500 ms for diheteromeric GluN2B NMDARs in heterologous systems.

Synaptic activation properties of GluN2C- and GluN2D-containing NMDARs have been studied less than GluN2A and GluN2B, and thus are not as well understood. Both diheteromeric



Figure 1.3. Time course of synaptic AMPA, kainate, and NMDA receptors. A) Synaptic time course comparison between evoked AMPA and kainate receptors in the anterior cingulate cortex of adult mice. Compound AMPA and kainate receptor evoked EPSC recorded at -65 mV in presence of 2.0 mM Mg²⁺, 100 μ M picrotoxin, and 50 μ M D-APV. Kainate-only component revealed with the AMPAR-selective noncompetitive antagonist GYK1 53655 (100 μ M). Kainate component was nearly abolished after application of CNQX (20 μ M) in presence of 100 μ M GYKI 53655. B) AMPA and NMDA receptor-mediated EPSC at the pyramidal to multipolar interneuron synapse in the visual cortex. Recordings made at -60 mV in the absence of Mg²⁺ and 10 μ M gabazine. The NMDAR component is isolated via 20 μ M CNQX. There is no significant kainate receptor component at this synapse. Figures in panel A adapted from (Wu et al., 2005); Figures in panel B contains unpublished data from Lonnie P. Wollmuth and is adapted from (Hansen et al., 2017).

GluN2C and GluN2D NMDARs have low open-channel probabilities (~0.01) and low potency for Mg^{2+} block (IC₅₀ ~ 11 µM) (Kuner and Schoepfer, 1996). GluN2C diheteromeric receptors have a deactivation time course of ~300 ms in heterologous expression systems, compared to over 1 second for diheteromeric GluN2D receptors. These differences are likely due to GluN2C-containing receptors having a lower potency for glutamate (EC₅₀ of 1 µM for GluN2C vs 0.4 µM for GluN2D) and possibly faster gating steps (Dravid et al., 2008; Kuner and Schoepfer, 1996; Vance et al., 2013). GluN2D-containing receptors additionally have the unusual property of entering an inactive state even without glutamate bound, impacting their overall time course for deactivation (Vance et al., 2013). Regardless of their increased glutamate potency of GluN2C/GluN2D compared to GluN2A/GluN2B and minimal Mg²⁺ block, their low open-channel probabilities suggest, unlike synaptic GluN2A and GluN2B NMDARs, GluN2C and GluN2D NMDARs may not always open during a single synaptic event.

At native synapses, GluN2C is highly expressed in cerebellar tissue and recent data suggest that these GluN2C-containing NMDARs exist primarily as triheteromeric GluN2A/GluN2C NMDARs (Bhattacharya et al., 2018). The weighted deactivation time course of an evoked NMDAR-mediated excitatory postsynaptic current (EPSC) onto cerebellar granule cells is ~160 ms in post-adolescent tissue (Cathala et al., 2000). Thus, synaptic triheteromeric GluN2A/GluN2C NMDARs exhibit a blending of their diheteromeric constructs in terms of recorded deactivation time constant, a property also observed with synaptic GluN2A/GluN2B triheteromeric receptors (mentioned above).

Synaptic GluN2D NMDARs also likely exist as triheteromeric receptors, namely GluN2A/GluN2D and GluN2B/GluN2D complexes. Evidence against the concept of diheteromeric GluN2D NMDARs being trafficking to the postsynaptic density has not been

presented, however, based on observed weighted deactivation time course data of evoked NMDAR-mediated EPSCs in cells known to express GluN2D, this seems unlikely. The only known report of a deactivation time course consistent with diheteromeric GluN2D-containing NMDARs was in cerebellar Purkinje cells prior to climbing fiber innervation (Brickley et al., 2003). Heterologous expression system data on the deactivation time course of triheterometric GluN2B/GluN2D NMDARs is ~1700 ms in the absence of GluN1 exon5 and is ~300 ms in the presence of GluN1 exon5 (Yi et al., 2019b). Analogous heterologous expression system data for triheteromeric GluN2A/GluN2D NMDARs has not been reported. The synaptic weighted deactivation time course data of evoked NMDAR-mediated EPSCs in cells known to express GluN2D is 120-150 ms (Swanger et al., 2018; Swanger et al., 2015; Yi et al., 2019a). This discrepancy in heterologous versus synaptic deactivation time of GluN2D-containing NMDARs could be explained by: 1) the presence of synaptic GluN2A/GluN2B within the same synapse as GluN2D triheteromeric receptors decreasing deactivation time, 2) GluN2A/GluN2D triheteromeric NMDARs influencing deactivation time over GluN2B/GluN2D triheteromeric receptors given the assumed higher open-channel probability endowed by GluN2A-expressing NMDARs, 3) GluN2D-expressing neurons exclusively expressing GluN1 exon5 (see (Li et al., 2021) for support), and 4) GluN2D triheteromeric NMDARs does not display a blending of diheteromeric NMDAR, even in heterologous expression systems (Yi et al., 2019a).

As with all NMDARs in heterologous systems, the ion permeation pore of synaptic NMDARs is blocked by extracellular Mg²⁺ at the resting membrane potential most neurons in the CNS. As such, the typical glutamatergic synapse contains both AMPARs and NMDARs, with AMPARs endowing rapid signaling properties and membrane depolarization necessary for relief of magnesium block. Although GluN2C- and GluN2D-containing NMDARs have a weaker

magnesium block at -60 mV compared to GluN2A- and GluN2B-containing NMDARs, neurons that express GluN2C or GluN2D NMDARs still display IV-relationships suggesting strong magnesium block in the presence of physiological concentrations of Mg²⁺ when the neuron is not depolarized (Huang and Gibb, 2014). NMDAR-containing glutamatergic synapses without AMPARs, so-called silent synapses, play important roles in both the developing (Rumpel et al., 1998) and adult brain (Vardalaki et al., 2022), with activation being largely driven by depolarization from adjacent dendritic spines.

Another wrinkle in the activation of synaptic NMDARs is the ability of the GluN1 to initiate gating after binding glycine or D-serine. The contributions of glycine and D-serine to the activation of NMDARs appear to overlap, albeit there are differences between synapses in the preference for glycine or D-serine (reviewed in (Mothet et al., 2015). In the mature hippocampus for example, D-serine is the main co-agonist in Schaffer collateral to CA1 synapses, where there is a switch from glycine to D-serine as the co-agonist during postnatal development (Le Bail et al., 2015) that parallels the timing of GluN2A expression in these neurons (Gray et al., 2011; Monyer et al., 1994; Rauner and Kohr, 2011; Rodenas-Ruano et al., 2012). By contrast, glycine is predominant in medial perforant path to dentate gyrus synapses (Le Bail et al., 2015).

1.5 Synaptic NMDARs: Spatiotemporal Expression Patterns

Distinct expression patterns for GluN1 splice isoforms and GluN2 subtypes were established three decades ago using the then new technique of *in situ* hybridization (*e.g.*, (Akazawa et al., 1994; Monyer et al., 1994)) (**Figure 1.4**). Recent advances in the sensitivity of single-cell sequencing and new imaging methods have enriched our understanding of cell-type-specific gene expression. Consistent with its role as an obligate NMDAR subunit, GluN1 is expressed throughout the nervous system as early as E13 in rodents and gestational week 8 in humans



Figure 1.4. NMDAR subunit spatiotemporal expression patterns in developing rat brain. Data represented are negative film images for *in-situ* hybridization experiments for the mRNA of each NMDAR subunit. Figure is adapted from (Akazawa et al., 1994).

(Moriyoshi et al., 1991; Ritter et al., 2001; Ritter et al., 2002; Watanabe et al., 1992). This high level of GluN1 expression is maintained in adults. Splice variants of GluN1 are tightly regulated in a regional pattern that is established at birth (Laurie and Seeburg, 1994; Nakanishi et al., 1992; Paupard et al., 1997; Zhong et al., 1995). The most prominent splice variant, GluN1 exon5 as discussed earlier, is abundant in the thalamus, midbrain, hindbrain, and spinal cord, but restricted to only a few cortical areas, hippocampal CA3, and the dentate gyrus, (Laurie and Seeburg, 1994; Luque et al., 1994; Paupard et al., 1997). The GluN1-1a splice variant shows high expression in the telencephalon, with spare expression in the midbrain, playing a complementary role to GluN1 exon5 expression. In the developing cerebellum, 20% of GluN1 contains residues encoded by exon5, compared to 80% of GluN1 in adult (Prybylowski et al., 2000), suggesting alternative splicing may be an important developmental factor (Paupard et al., 1997).

The different spatial gene expression patterns of GluN2 subunits are major determinants of NMDAR functional diversity across the CNS. The GluN2B and GluN2D subunits are highly expressed during embryonic development, whereas GluN2A and GluN2C expression increases postnatally (Akazawa et al., 1994; Monyer et al., 1994; Watanabe et al., 1992; Watanabe et al., 1993; Wenzel et al., 1997; Wenzel et al., 1996). GluN2A mRNA expression in rodents begins a few days after birth and becomes highly expressed in nearly all CNS regions. GluN2B expression remains high in most brain regions through early postnatal development and then becomes restricted primarily to the forebrain. The increase in synaptic GluN2A expression and coordinated reduction in synaptic GluN2B expression is regulated during development in the cortex, hippocampus, amygdala, thalamus, and cerebellum (Barria and Malinow, 2002; Gray et al., 2011; Lopez de Armentia and Sah, 2003; Philpot et al., 2001; Tovar and Westbrook, 1999). This developmental GluN2B-GluN2A switch occurs over timelines that differ across cortical regions

and between GABAergic interneurons and principal glutamatergic cells within the forebrain (Dumas, 2005; Mierau et al., 2016; Wang and Gao, 2009). Furthermore, some cell types, such as neurons in the dorsal horn, do not undergo a developmental loss of synaptic GluN2B (Hildebrand et al., 2014; Mahmoud et al., 2020). The relative levels of synaptic GluN2A and GluN2B also differ between anatomically distinct inputs to a single neuron type in the cortex, hippocampus, striatum, thalamus, and retina (Carta et al., 2018; Fritschy et al., 1998; Kalbaugh et al., 2009; Kumar and Huguenard, 2003; Li and Pozzo-Miller, 2019; Miyata and Imoto, 2006; Shinohara et al., 2008).

GluN2C expression begins at approximately postnatal day 10 in the rodent, and it is abundantly expressed in cerebellar granule cells, lateral nuclei of the dorsal thalamus, and the glomerular layer and mitral cells of the olfactory bulb (Akazawa et al., 1994; Monyer et al., 1994; Watanabe et al., 1993). GluN2C is weakly expressed in the cortex, hippocampus, striatum, and amygdala, and recent evidence suggests that GluN2C is expressed primarily in astrocytes, not neurons, in these regions (Alsaad et al., 2019; Karavanova et al., 2007; Ravikrishnan et al., 2018). Functional studies utilizing GluN2C-selective pharmacology support neuronal expression in the cerebellum, thalamus, and globus pallidus (Bhattacharya et al., 2018; Fernandez et al., 2017; Liu et al., 2021; Liu et al., 2019).

GluN2D is widely expressed in the CNS during embryonic and early postnatal development, but after the first postnatal week GluN2D expression becomes restricted to GABAergic interneurons in the cortex and hippocampus, cholinergic interneurons in the striatum, and select neurons within the thalamus, basal ganglia, bed nucleus of the stria terminalis, substantia gelatinosa of the spinal cord, and cerebellum (Akazawa et al., 1994; Dubois et al., 2016; Monyer et al., 1994; Salimando et al., 2020; Standaert et al., 1996; Standaert et al., 1994; Tolle et al., 1993;

Wenzel et al., 1996). Currently, the evidence does not support restriction of GluN2D to particular interneuron classes in the cortex and hippocampus, and it appears to be widely expressed in parvalbumin- and somatostatin-positive cells (Perszyk et al., 2016; von Engelhardt et al., 2015). Recent functional studies utilizing subtype-selective pharmacology support GluN2D expression in cortical and hippocampal interneurons (Garst-Orozco et al., 2020; Perszyk et al., 2016; Swanger et al., 2018; von Engelhardt et al., 2015; Yi et al., 2019a; Yi et al., 2020), striatum (Feng et al., 2014; Nouhi et al., 2018; Zhang et al., 2014a; Zhang et al., 2014b), subthalamic nucleus (Swanger et al., 2018; Swanger et al., 2015; Yi et al., 2020), substantia nigra (Morris et al., 2018; Pearlstein et al., 2015; Sitzia et al., 2020; Wu and Johnson, 2015), and spinal cord (Hildebrand et al., 2014; Mahmoud et al., 2020).

1.6 Synaptic NMDARs: Roles in Neurogenesis and Neuronal Migration

NMDA receptors are expressed early in CNS development to impact the generation of neurons as well as their migration. NMDAR activity supports mammalian neurogenesis in the fetal brain by promoting neural progenitor cell proliferation and neural migration (Li et al., 2011; Luk et al., 2003; Mochizuki et al., 2007; Sadikot et al., 1998; Suzuki et al., 2006). *In vitro*, NMDAR signaling can promote the migration of cerebellar granule cells and glutamatergic cortical neurons (Behar et al., 1999; Hirai et al., 1999; Hirasawa et al., 2003; Komuro and Rakic, 1993; Mancini and Atchison, 2007; Tarnok et al., 2008). *In vivo*, NMDAR agonist and antagonist administration causes abnormal cortical architecture, indicative of altered radial neuronal migration (Marret et al., 1996; Reiprich et al., 2005). However, GluN1 deletion does not have significant effects on cortical architecture (Iwasato et al., 2000; Messersmith et al., 1997), although *GRIN1 de novo* variants have been associated with cortical abnormalities (Fry et al., 2018). Interestingly, AMPARs, but not NMDARs, regulate hippocampal interneuron migration (Bortone and Polleux, 2009; Manent

et al., 2006). In contrast to early development, NMDAR activity can restrict neurogenesis as the brain matures. In the postnatal and adult dentate gyrus, NMDAR blockade increases neural progenitor cell proliferation (Bernabeu and Sharp, 2000; Bunk et al., 2014; Bursztajn et al., 2007; Cameron et al., 1995; Gould et al., 1994; Kitayama et al., 2003; Nacher et al., 2003; Nacher et al., 2001; Okuyama et al., 2004). This blockade can cause a long-lasting increase in adult-born neurons, while also depleting the precursor cell population, potentially restricting behaviorally-relevant neurogenesis that may be required at a later time (Joo et al., 2007; Petrus et al., 2009).

1.7 Synaptic NMDARs: Roles in Neurite Development

Subunit-specific NMDAR signaling has a complex role in the initial stages of neuronal differentiation, both promoting and inhibiting growth of axons and dendrites. Investigations of topographic sensory map formation revealed that NMDARs regulate axonal arborization, and disrupting NMDAR function causes axons to overlap erroneously in the visual and somatosensory cortices (Cline and Constantine-Paton, 1989; Cline et al., 1987; Iwasato et al., 1997; Lee et al., 2005; Rajan et al., 1999; Ramoa et al., 2001; Ruthazer et al., 2003; Simon et al., 1992; Van Horn et al., 2017; Yamasaki et al., 2014). Initially, dendritic NMDARs were thought to orchestrate axonal arborization through retrograde signaling (Schmidt, 2004), but more recent studies indicate axonal NMDARs regulate axon growth and pathfinding by controlling axon dynamics. In the presynaptic bouton, NMDAR regulate maturation by promoting assembly of synaptic vesicles and active zone proteins (Corlew et al., 2008; Corlew et al., 2007; Gao et al., 2018; Gill et al., 2015; Sceniak et al., 2012).

During embryonic and early postnatal development, NMDARs promote dendrite dynamics, growth, and branching (Kalb, 1994; Rajan and Cline, 1998; Rajan et al., 1999). NMDAR activation is triggered by spontaneous glutamate release from developing axons to promote dendrite growth prior to axodendritic contact (Andreae and Burrone, 2015). GluN2B signaling promotes dendrite growth and GluN2A signaling facilitates dendrite refinement and stability in glutamatergic neurons (Bustos et al., 2014; Espinosa et al., 2009; Sceniak et al., 2019; Sepulveda et al., 2010). However, such effects are context specific, as indicated by the finding that GluN2B-CaMKII signaling limited dendrite growth in immature cultured neurons (5 days in vitro), but enhanced growth in older neurons (12 days in vitro). Furthermore, artificially enhancing an interaction between GluN2A and CaMKII re-activated dendritogenesis *in vivo* (Bustos et al., 2017). NMDARs also regulate dendrite development in GABAergic interneurons (Chittajallu et al., 2017; Hanson et al., 2019; Pla et al., 2018), with GluN2D activation being required during a critical developmental window for proper cortical interneuron dendrite arborization (Hanson et al., 2019).

1.8 Synaptic NMDARs: Roles in Synapse Formation

Many studies suggest that synaptogenesis triggers NMDAR clustering at nascent glutamatergic synapses (Cottrell et al., 2000; Washbourne et al., 2002), allowing NMDARs to regulate dendritic spine formation, maturation, and stabilization in developing and mature neurons (Engert and Bonhoeffer, 1999; Kwon and Sabatini, 2011; Maletic-Savatic et al., 1999; McKinney, 2010; Yasuda et al., 2011). Indeed, NMDAR activity has a well-established role in synaptic refinement by controlling the pruning and strengthening of immature synapses during development (Colonnese and Constantine-Paton, 2006; Luthi et al., 2001; Personius et al., 2016; Rabacchi et al., 1992; Zhang et al., 2000; Zhang et al., 2013). Several lines of evidence suggest GluN2B-mediated signaling supports dendritic spine dynamics and synapse refinement to exert a brake on synapse maturation, while GluN2A-mediated signaling hinders spine dynamics and promotes synapse maturation and stabilization (Gray et al., 2011; Henle et al., 2012; Kelsch et al., 2014;

Ohno et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2011; Wang et al., 2021). Subunit-specific regulation of synapse maturation depends upon distinct CTD interactions, with GluN2B-CaMKII signaling playing an important role (Alvarez et al., 2007; Dupuis et al., 2014; El Gaamouch et al., 2012; Gambrill and Barria, 2011); but see (McKay et al., 2018).

NMDARs are also critical in inhibitory synapse development. Chronic NMDAR blockade alters GABAergic synapse number (Aamodt et al., 2000; Henneberger et al., 2005; Rosato-Siri et al., 2002). GluN1 deletion from hippocampal pyramidal neurons impaired inhibitory synapse formation via a mechanism requiring a calmodulin binding motif in the GluN1 CTD (Gu et al., 2016; Lu et al., 2013). GluN2D-mediated signaling may be particularly involved, since GluN2Dselective inhibition reduces GABAergic synapse density in the adult cortex (Hanson et al., 2019). Interestingly, GluN2D is highly expressed in early postnatal development, but the role of GluN2D in the effects of GluN1 deletion or non-selective NMDAR blockers is unknown. In addition, NMDARs are embedded postsynaptically with GABA receptors at some developing GABAergic synapses, suggesting a unique developmental mechanism in formation of these synapses (Cserep et al., 2012; Gundersen et al., 2004; Szabadits et al., 2011).

1.9 Roles of NMDARs in Presynaptic Signaling

Presynaptic NMDARs control synaptic transmission by influencing neurotransmitter release (Aoki et al., 1994; Charton et al., 1999; Corlew et al., 2008). NMDARs enhance both spontaneous and evoked glutamate release at synapses in the cortex (Berretta and Jones, 1996; Corlew et al., 2007; Larsen et al., 2011; Sjostrom et al., 2003; Woodhall et al., 2001), hippocampus (McGuinness et al., 2010; Prius-Mengual et al., 2019), cerebellum (Bidoret et al., 2009; Glitsch and Marty, 1999), and spinal cord (Bardoni et al., 2004; Robert et al., 1998). Presynaptic NMDARs also regulate neurotransmitter release at GABAergic synapses in the reticular nucleus of the
thalamus (Crabtree et al., 2013), cortex (Pafundo et al., 2018), and cerebellum (Duguid and Smart, 2004; Rossi et al., 2012). Ambient glutamate likely activates NMDARs regulating spontaneous release, whereas action potential driven release is likely mediated by autoreceptors or by glutamate spillover from adjacent synapses (Duguid and Smart, 2004; Duguid and Smart, 2009). GluN2B-containing receptors make up the majority of presynaptic NMDA receptors in the cortex, but GluN2D may also regulate presynaptic release in the hippocampus and cerebellum (Berg et al., 2013; Dubois et al., 2016; Mameli et al., 2005; Prius-Mengual et al., 2019). In addition, several studies implicate GluN2A in presynaptic regulation of neurotransmitter release in the spinal cord (Xie et al., 2016), and the parallel fiber-Purkinje cell synapse in the cerebellum (Bidoret et al., 2009).

1.10 Roles of NMDARs in Postsynaptic Signaling

The primary function of postsynaptic NMDARs is to transduce synaptic signals by mediating excitatory synaptic currents and initiating Ca^{2+} -dependent intracellular signaling. Since depolarization is required to relieve channel block by extracellular Mg²⁺, NMDAR activity can detect coincident activity of presynaptic and postsynaptic neurons – a mechanism critical for some types of synaptic plasticity. A classical role of postsynaptic NMDA receptors is to modify the function, structure, and molecular composition of synapses via Ca²⁺-dependent activation of local intracellular signaling pathways, cytoskeleton dynamics, and synapse-to-nucleus signaling plasticity.

The impact of NMDAR activation on neuronal function depends upon receptor composition, as the properties of the NMDAR will control the amount of Ca^{2+} entering the postsynaptic spine. As discussed previously, the overall charge transfer through NMDARs is impacted by open probability, deactivation time course, Mg^{2+} sensitivity, and Ca^{2+} permeability –

all properties that vary with the GluN2 subunits and to some degree GluN1 alternative splicing. The requirement for depolarization to relieve Mg^{2+} block and allow current flow, in combination with the longer deactivation time of NMDARs, allows their responses to summate during trains of synaptic input, which is necessary for synaptic activity to drive action potential firing (Iacobucci and Popescu, 2017; Stuart and Spruston, 2015). Thus, NMDARs are critical to the primary function of neurons, which is to integrate synaptic signals and transduce them into patterns of neuronal activity.

One form of dendritic integration is the nonlinear summation of NMDAR-mediated synaptic potentials that generate large, sometimes regenerative, dendritic potentials referred to as "NMDA spikes" (Schiller et al., 2000). In the cortex and thalamus, these depolarizing potentials enhance neuronal excitability and drive action potential generation directly (Farinella et al., 2014; Larkum et al., 2009; Lavzin et al., 2012; Losonczy and Magee, 2006; Major et al., 2008; Manita et al., 2011; Smith et al., 2013). NMDARs may generate depolarizing potentials indirectly via activating voltage-gated Ca²⁺ channels that facilitate dendritic calcium spikes capable of inducing action potential bursts (Calton et al., 2000; Milojkovic et al., 2004; Palmer et al., 2014; Polsky et al., 2009; Wei et al., 2001). NMDAR-generated dendritic calcium spikes can also shape dendritic spine structural plasticity (Dittmer et al., 2019) and rapid signaling to the nucleus that can regulate gene transcription (Wild et al., 2019).

1.11 Roles of NMDARs in Extrasynaptic Signaling

Extrasynaptic NMDARs include receptors expressed in somas, dendritic shafts, and perisynaptic regions. Morphologically, extrasynaptic receptors lie more than 100 nm away from the postsynaptic density, with perisynaptic receptors generally being 100-300 nm from the postsynaptic density (Groc et al., 2009; Hardingham and Bading, 2010; Kohr, 2006; Petralia et al.,

2010). However, many physiologists define synaptic NMDARs as those activated by low frequency synaptic activity, such as spontaneous synaptic release, and extrasynaptic receptors are not typically activated under these conditions (Chen and Diamond, 2002; Harris and Pettit, 2007; Tovar and Westbrook, 1999; Zhang and Diamond, 2009). Perisynaptic receptors are activated by spillover of synaptic glutamate during high frequency activity (Asztely et al., 1997; Clark and Cull-Candy, 2002; Harris and Pettit, 2008; Herman et al., 2011; Wild et al., 2015), whereas NMDARs farther from synapses on dendritic shafts and somas are likely activated by ambient glutamate (Cavelier and Attwell, 2005; Herman and Jahr, 2007; Sah et al., 1989) or glutamate released from astrocytes (Angulo et al., 2004; Bardoni et al., 2010; Bezzi et al., 2004; Fellin et al., 2004; Fleming et al., 2011; Hamilton and Attwell, 2010; Jourdain et al., 2007; Lee et al., 2007; Nie and Weng, 2010; Oh et al., 2012; Park et al., 2015; Shigetomi et al., 2008). It is also possible that synaptic NMDARs in quiescent synapses may be activated by glutamate spillover ("crosstalk") from neighboring, active synapses (Arnth-Jensen et al., 2002; Henneberger et al., 2020; Scimemi et al., 2004), although the extent to which this occurs is debated (Barbour, 2001).

Extrasynaptic NMDARs were detected widely in the CNS more than two decades ago (Aoki et al., 1997; Clark et al., 1997; Kharazia and Weinberg, 1999; Momiyama, 2000; Rao and Craig, 1997; Valtschanoff et al., 1999), but we still lack a clear picture of how synaptic versus extrasynaptic receptors are organized, the degree to which receptors move between synaptic and extrasynaptic domains, and the physiological and pathophysiological roles for these two receptor populations (Papouin and Oliet, 2014; Parsons and Raymond, 2014; Petralia, 2012; Zhou et al., 2015). Perisynaptic NMDARs may play a role in long-term synaptic plasticity, but also can diffuse laterally into the synapse in an activity-dependent manner, which blurs the distinction between synaptic and extrasynaptic populations. Extrasynaptic receptors are also well-positioned to detect

glial release of glutamate, which can be triggered by G protein-coupled receptor activation as well as other signals (Haroon et al., 2017; Kofuji and Araque, 2020; Mannaioni et al., 2001). Furthermore, NMDARs in perisynaptic regions may have unique roles in dendritic excitability via activation of SK channels (Isaacson and Murphy, 2001) and "NMDA spikes" (Jourdain et al., 2007; Oikonomou et al., 2012) due to their localization near Ca²⁺- and voltage-activated channels.

Extrasynaptic NMDARs, particularly those expressed on dendritic shafts and somas, mediate tonic currents or slow inward currents that enhance neuronal excitability in response to ambient glutamate when the membrane potential is sufficiently depolarized (Herman and Jahr, 2007; Le Meur et al., 2007; Povysheva and Johnson, 2012; Sah et al., 1989; Wu et al., 2012). Tonic NMDAR currents may facilitate coupling between dendritic and somatic compartments, enhancing action potential firing in pyramidal neurons (Riebe et al., 2016; Sah et al., 1989; Wu et al., 2012). Furthermore, tonic NMDAR currents in interneurons regulate gamma oscillatory activity (Mann and Mody, 2010) and slow inward currents activated by glial glutamate release contribute to the synchronization of neuronal firing (Angulo et al., 2004; D'Ascenzo et al., 2007; Fellin et al., 2006; Nie and Weng, 2010). The hypothesis that NMDARs containing GluN2C or GluN2D, which have reduced Mg²⁺ sensitivity and higher glutamate potency relative to GluN2A and GluN2B, mediate tonic currents is supported by studies in the substantia nigra (Morris et al., 2018), thalamus (Zhang et al., 2012), and cortex (Hanson et al., 2019).

Extrasynaptic NMDARs have been proposed to be an important mediator of excitotoxicity in neurons in response to acute injury (Choi et al., 1988; Choi et al., 1987). Multiple studies suggest that extrasynaptic NMDAR signaling activates cell death pathways, whereas synaptic NMDARs can support cell survival (Hardingham and Bading, 2010; Kaufman et al., 2012; Sattler et al., 2000;

Vanhoutte and Bading, 2003; Xu et al., 2009). Recent work contradicts these studies, however, by suggesting that synaptic receptors can contribute to excitotoxic cell death, and it seems likely that activation of both synaptic and extrasynaptic NMDARs can participate in the induction of cell death (Papouin et al., 2012; Wroge et al., 2012; Zhou et al., 2013a; Zhou et al., 2013b). Thus, current evidence does not unequivocally support a rule for exclusively linking synaptic or extrasynaptic NMDARs to cell survival or death.

1.12 Roles of NMDARs in Glial Cells

Glial cells – astrocytes, microglia, and oligodendrocytes – are estimated to be in a 1:1 ratio with neurons in the CNS. NMDAR expression has been reported on all types of glia, with GluN2A and GluN2C being the most common. In astrocytes, GluN2C expression has been confirmed in hippocampus (Alsaad et al., 2019; Chipman et al., 2021; Ravikrishnan et al., 2018), cortex (Alsaad et al., 2019; Ravikrishnan et al., 2018), striatum (Alsaad et al., 2019; Ravikrishnan et al., 2018; Shelkar et al., 2019), and amygdala (Alsaad et al., 2019; Ravikrishnan et al., 2018). In hippocampus, activation of GluN2C-containing NMDARs on astrocytes modulates presynaptic glutamate release (Chipman et al., 2021), whereas activation of GluN2C astrocytic NMDARs in the nucleus accumbens can modulate cocaine-conditioned place preference (Shelkar et al., 2022). As previously shown, GluN2C does not form diheteromeric receptors at native synapses in cerebellar granule cells (Bhattacharya et al., 2018) which has been confirmed for astrocytes (Shelkar et al., 2022). However, in the absence of GluN2A, it appears GluN2C diheteromeric receptors can reach the neuronal surface, as implied by their single channel properties (Takahashi et al., 1996). Indeed, as with cerebellar granule cells, NMDARs on astrocytes are GluN2A/GluN2C triheteromeric assemblies (Bhattacharya et al., 2018; Shelkar et al., 2022).

Microglia – the resident immune cell in the CNS – also likely express NMDARs, however, their subunit composition is largely unknown. Cultured microglia show robust motility responses to NMDA (Raghunatha et al., 2020) and mice lacking GluN1 driven by a myeloid precursor cell promoter show protection from excitotoxicity-mediated neuronal cell death (Kaindl et al., 2012). Microglia are essential for proper synaptic pruning during development (Paolicelli et al., 2011), where microglial NMDARs may play a modulatory role in this process (Eyo et al., 2018). In all, however, data for functional NMDARs on microglia are limited. Several reports suggest GluN2C is also expressed in oligodendrocytes in the white matter of the cerebellum, corpus callosum, and optic nerve (Burzomato et al., 2010; Doyle et al., 2018; Karadottir et al., 2005; Micu et al., 2006; Salter and Fern, 2005). In the spinal cord, GluN2C was weakly detected in non-neuronal cells in white matter (Akesson et al., 2000; Shibata et al., 1999; Sundstrom et al., 1997; Tolle et al., 1993), however, the exact role of oligodendrocyte GluN2C-containing NMDARs is not well understood.

1.13 Roles of NMDARs in Synaptic Plasticity

Synaptic plasticity, or the ability to bidirectionally modulate intercellular signaling strength, is a feature of the CNS. Synaptic plasticity takes many different forms, producing changes in synaptic efficacy ranging from seconds to days that are thought to encode complex behaviors such as learning, memory, sensory processing, emotional responses, addiction, and general cognition. NMDARs play essential roles in several key forms of synaptic plasticity.

The postsynaptic density (PSD) at the Schaffer collateral-CA1 synapse, or the portion of the dendritic spine with a cluster of neurotransmitters receptors and signaling proteins, is directly opposed to presynaptic release sites and is organized into several nanoscale domains. This organization holds important implications for participation of glutamate receptors in synaptic plasticity. The center of the PSD contains several NMDARs, with AMPAR clusters adjacent to, but not overlapping with, NMDAR clusters (Fukata et al., 2013; Goncalves et al., 2020; Kellermayer et al., 2018; MacGillavry et al., 2013; Nair et al., 2013; Shinohara, 2012; Tang et al., 2016). AMPAR clusters may position directly underneath presynaptic neurotransmitter vesicular release sites, forming a nanoscale column of presynaptic release machinery and postsynaptic AMPARs (Haas et al., 2018; Nair et al., 2013; Tang et al., 2016) (Figure 1.5). Each nanodomain is roughly 70 nm in diameter (MacGillavry et al., 2013; Nair et al., 2013), with adjacent nanodomains within the same synapse being approximately 100 nm apart (Choquet and Hosy, 2020; Haas et al., 2018). The glutamate concentration within the synapse rapidly diminishes to 500 µM or less about 100 nm outside of the activated nanodomain per given quanta, and this may be even faster in some regions because of the segregated architecture of the nanodomains (Choquet and Hosy, 2020; Haas et al., 2018; Nair et al., 2013) (Figure 1.5). Since NMDARs are at the center of the PSD, roughly 80-100 nm from each AMPAR nanodomain, and require co-agonists glutamate and glycine to bind as well as membrane depolarization to relieve Mg²⁺ block to generate current flow, their activation might require multiple presynaptic events at some synapses (Helassa et al., 2018; Silver et al., 1996b); but see (Bekkers and Stevens, 1989). This creates opportunities for plasticity to proceed through modulation of both postsynaptic receptors and presynaptic release.

Short-term plasticity refers to the ability of a synapse to increase or decrease postsynaptic signaling output and spine depolarization when pairs of presynaptic stimuli arrive within the same presynaptic bouton on a millisecond timescale. Short-term plasticity at excitatory synapses is important for several forms of memory (Ferguson et al., 2004; Hansel and Mato, 2013; Jaaskelainen et al., 2011), can serve to counterbalance frequency-dependent depression (Turecek et al., 2016), can exert frequency-dependent filtering (Jackman and Regehr, 2017), and can



Figure 1.5. Organization of a typical glutamatergic synapse. A) The center of the postsynaptic density contains several NMDARs, with adjacent AMPARs arranged into nanocolumns where AMPAR clusters are positioned directly below vesicular release machinery. B) Simulations of glutamate concentration and diffusion within the synaptic cleft after a single quantum of glutamate is released. Figure adapted from (Hansen et al., 2021).

influence sensory processing (Fortune and Rose, 2002). Short-term plasticity only lasts for a matter of seconds to minutes and both pre- and postsynaptic mechanisms are involved. Short-term plasticity is classically divided into paired-pulse facilitation and paired-pulse depression, although other forms exist (Zucker and Regehr, 2002). Both forms of short-term plasticity largely center around AMPARs and thus will not be discussed. However, short-term plasticity is also driven by presynaptic calcium load where presynaptic NMDARs may be important (Chamberlain et al., 2008).

Long-term potentiation (LTP) and long-term depression (LTD) refer to forms of synaptic plasticity whereby specific stimulation of afferent glutamatergic fibers can induce long-lasting (sustained for hours and days) increases or decreases in synaptic signaling, respectively. Both LTP and LTD are thought to be the molecular correlates for encoding and storing long-term memories throughout the brain (Lisman, 1989; Nabavi et al., 2014). While the exact molecular mechanisms involved in LTP and LTD are still under investigation, there is a consensus that NMDARs participate in the expression phase of long-term plasticity. A vast number of LTP studies have explored the Schaffer collateral-CA1 synapse as this laminar pyramidal cell structure simplifies experimentation and allows recording of robust field excitatory postsynaptic potentials (fEPSPs). LTP induction at the Schaffer collateral-CA1 synapse requires sufficient postsynaptic depolarization to relieve Mg²⁺ block of NMDARs, co-agonists glutamate and glycine binding to the NMDAR, and Ca²⁺ influx into the postsynaptic spine (Luscher and Malenka, 2012). In the classical paradigm, this is accomplished by a high-frequency burst or tetanic stimulation, which produces more persistent depolarization than a single synaptic event (Schwartzkroin and Wester, 1975). Pharmacological inhibition of NMDARs with competitive antagonists like AP5 (Collingridge et al., 1983), or channel blockers like MK-801 (Gilbert and Mack, 1990), or chelation of postsynaptic Ca²⁺ with EGTA (Lynch et al., 1983) prevent induction of LTP following tetanic stimulation. Multiple biochemical experiments have shown that a rise in postsynaptic Ca²⁺ via NMDARs activates intracellular signaling cascades, including PKA (Otmakhova et al., 2000), PKC (Malinow et al., 1989), PKG (Serulle et al., 2007), and CaMKII (Lisman et al., 2012), all of which help traffic, anchor, and sustain AMPARs within the PSD to produce a potentiated synaptic response.

Several lines of early evidence suggested that the GluN2B subunit was the key driver for postsynaptic LTP induction, including the observation that RNA knock-down of GluN2B in hippocampus abolishes LTP at the Schaffer collateral-CA1 synapse (Clayton et al., 2002; Kutsuwada et al., 1996a), and overexpression of GluN2B in hippocampus enhanced spatial learning (Tang et al., 2001). In addition, the GluN2B subunit harbors a CaMKII binding site on its intracellular CTD (Barria and Malinow, 2005; Leonard et al., 1999; Strack and Colbran, 1998; Strack et al., 2000), along with several phosphorylation sites critical for LTP (Nakazawa et al., 2006; Rostas et al., 1996). However, experiments using GluN2A knockout mice indicate the involvement of the GluN2A in LTP induction, as noted by their lower level of potentiation compared to wild type mice (Ito et al., 1997; Sakimura et al., 1995b). GluN2A knockout mice show deficits in spatial learning and memory, providing behavioral evidence to support the importance of GluN2A in LTP induction (Bannerman et al., 2008a; Brigman et al., 2008).

Despite these observations, there is no clear evidence suggesting only one GluN2 subunit controls LTP induction and/or facilitates expression. Genetic deletion experiments carry the caveat of compensation, and pharmacological experiments also yield complex data. Furthermore, the majority of postsynaptic NMDARs at Schaffer collateral to CA1 synapses are triheteromeric assemblies containing two GluN1 subunits, one GluN2B subunit, and one GluN2A subunit (Gray et al., 2011; Rauner and Kohr, 2011; Sheng et al., 1994; Tovar et al., 2013; Yi et al., 2019a). For example, the GluN2B-selective inhibitor ifenprodil can act on triheteromeric GluN2A/GluN2B receptor complexes, and the competitive antagonist NVP-AAM007, which in error was described as GluN2A-selective (Frizelle et al., 2006; Lind et al., 2017), lacks sufficient selectivity from GluN2B-containing NMDARs to yield interpretable results. Thus, consistent with the triheteromeric view of NMDARs at hippocampal synapses, it is likely that both GluN2A and GluN2B subunits are important for LTP induction (*e.g.*, (Volianskis et al., 2013; Volianskis et al., 2015).

A feature of GluN2 subunits is their distinct CTDs that harbor multiple binding sites for scaffolding proteins, kinases, and other binding partners. There may well be some GluN2-specific aspects to types and strength of LTP depending on, for example, CaMKII binding (Barria and Malinow, 2005; Halt et al., 2012; Incontro et al., 2018; Zhou et al., 2007). Of note, deletion of the CaMKII binding site on GluN2B reduces LTP and transfer of this binding site to GluN2A increases LTP (Barria and Malinow, 2005; Halt et al., 2005; Halt et al., 2012). Whereas NMDARs and CaMKII are also required for induction of LTD, activation of a calcineurin-DAPK1 signaling pathway that prevents CaMKII from binding to GluN2B appears to be crucial for promoting LTD and preventing inappropriate synaptic potentiation (Coultrap et al., 2014; Goodell et al., 2017).

Since the initial description of LTP, many additional stimulus paradigms have been shown to elicit long-lasting potentiation, leading to the idea that multiple mechanisms exist by which synaptic strength can be enhanced. High frequency stimulation applied in a series of bursts at a frequency within the theta range may be a more physiological stimulus that mimics the endogenous theta rhythms of pyramidal cells. While both tetanic and theta burst stimulus protocols can induce LTP, there may be distinctions between the underlying mechanisms. Application of several theta bursts produces a robust LTP signal, as these bursts can relieve Mg²⁺ block to allow increased Ca²⁺ flux through NMDARs (Larson and Munkacsy, 2015). LTP at CA1 synapses and in cultured hippocampal neurons can also be induced chemically by a variety of means, including through the application of forskolin (Otmakhov et al., 2004) to activate adenylyl cyclase and rolipram to inhibit phosphodiesterases, which is sufficient to promote LTP induction, expression, and maintenance via activation of the PKA pathway along with spontaneous burst firing of CA3 neurons (Otmakhova et al., 2000). Likewise, some paradigms that utilize glycine application (to ensure saturation of GluN1) in low extracellular Mg^{2+} (to promote activation of synaptic NMDARs by glutamate released in response to spontaneous activity) also induce LTP (e.g., (Lu et al., 2001; Musleh et al., 1997). These forms of chemical LTP have allowed biochemical, imaging, and genetic approaches to better explore signaling systems in LTP, since chemical LTP can produce plastic changes at a much larger number of synapses than local electrical stimulation, although mechanisms may be somewhat different from LTP that is induced by electrical stimulation. While there is enormous volume of work completed at the Schaffer collateral-CA1 synapse, there is ample precedent for both similar and different mechanisms at other central synapses. For example, the mossy fiber-CA3 synapse utilizes an NMDAR-independent LTP induction mechanism (Johnston et al., 1992; Nicoll and Schmitz, 2005).

The induction of LTD has typically involved a low-frequency stimulus paradigm (Kemp et al., 2000), but can also be evoked by postsynaptic action potential generation before a presynaptic stimulation (*i.e.*, spike-timing protocols) (Feldman, 2012) or chemically by low concentrations of NMDA (Lee et al., 1998). These LTD induction paradigms suggest a need for low levels of intracellular Ca^{2+} , as opposed to high levels needed to induce LTP. For NMDAR-dependent LTD, Ca^{2+} influx into the PSD activates several phosphatases, including calcineurin and

protein phosphatase 1 (Mulkey et al., 1994) (Figure 5.8). Low levels of Ca²⁺ promote phosphatase activity, which can promote the removal of phosphate from GluA1 Ser831 and Ser845 (Lee et al., 2003) and AMPAR auxiliary proteins (Tomita et al., 2005), which can cause destabilization of AMPAR anchoring and removal from the PSD (Diering and Huganir, 2018). NMDAR-independent LTD is thought to rely on the metabotropic actions of mGluRs, mainly mGluR5, which activates PLC-PKC and tyrosine phosphatase signaling pathways (Gladding et al., 2009; Oliet et al., 1997). It remains a matter of investigation as to how NMDAR-dependent versus NMDAR-independent LTD induction mechanisms are coordinated to depress synaptic strength. Moreover, pharmacological studies initially indicated a primary role for GluN2B-containing receptors in LTD induction (Massey et al., 2004); but see (Morishita et al., 2007), LTD induction can proceed with either GluN2A or GluN2B alone, since genetic deletion of either subunit is insufficient to block LTD (Wong and Gray, 2018).

The CTD of NMDARs respond to conformational changes within the ABD, initiating mechanisms for synaptic plasticity via intracellular signaling that are independent of current flow. NMDAR-dependent LTD can be induced by glutamate binding to the GluN2 subunit in the absence of ion flux (Nabavi et al., 2013; Stein et al., 2015; Stein et al., 2020); but see (Babiec et al., 2014; Sanderson et al., 2016). Here, exposing synaptic receptors to glutamate but blocking the glycine site on GluN1 to block channel gating is sufficient for LTD induction and associated dendritic spine shrinkage. This data indicate that conformational changes within NMDARs enable metabotropic intracellular signaling that leads to LTD induction. Agonist binding to NMDARs, independent of channel gating, generates a conformational rearrangement of the CTD that promotes protein phosphatase 1 disengagement from the receptor complex (Aow et al., 2015; Dore et al., 2015). Sustained, non-ionotropic signaling can lead to dephosphorylation of CaMKII,

potentially via newly-released protein phosphatase 1, culminating in CaMKII removal from the NMDAR CTD (Dore et al., 2015). The diminished catalytic activity of CaMKII and its removal from NMDARs via dephosphorylation may be a priming factor in generating non-ionotropic NMDAR-dependent LTD and associated dendritic spine shrinkage (Nabavi et al., 2013; Stein et al., 2015; Stein et al., 2020), and could also represent a mechanism for synaptic scaling in response to low presynaptic activity.

Glutamate binding to NMDARs can also activate p38 MAP kinase independent of glycine occupancy. Blockade of the GluN1 glycine binding site with antagonist when GluN2 is bound to glutamate reduces dendritic spine diameter in a manner dependent on p38 MAPK kinase (Stein et al., 2015). This non-ionotropic signaling is activated via neuronal nitric oxide synthase and cofilin, which promote cytoskeletal remodeling (Stein et al., 2020). Considering that some extracellular glycine is always present, even if phasically regulated, it is difficult to imagine a situation in which the GluN1 ABD would be unoccupied. However, given the higher potency of glutamate for NMDARs compared to AMPARs, glutamate spillover might preferentially bind to NMDARs without mediating ionotropic signaling due to Mg^{2+} block if the membrane is not adequately depolarized. Thus, non-ionotropic spine shrinkage may influence synaptic strength via unconventional mechanisms (reviewed in (Dore et al., 2017; Rajani et al., 2020).

1.14 NMDARs, Genetic Variation, and Disease

Rapid advances in DNA sequencing technologies have enabled genome-wide sequencing as a means of diagnosis and have yielded an unprecedented amount of genetic data from both patients and healthy individuals. Informatics tools such as the residual variation intolerance score (RVIS) (Petrovski et al., 2013) can be used to analyze genetic variation in the healthy population. These scores indicate that the *GRIN* genes encoding NMDARs show fewer single nucleotide polymorphisms than most genes, making them among the genes least tolerant to missense mutations (Petrovski et al., 2013) (**Table 1.2** and **1.3**). The intolerance to variation raises the likelihood that variants in these genes will result in disease. Comparison of the observed and expected frequency of genetic missense variations at specific amino acid positions in the healthy population, with the observed/expected ratio referred to as the missense tolerance ratio, can identify regions of a gene that are under purifying selection, also known as negative selection or the selective removal of alleles that are deleterious (Traynelis et al., 2017). Moreover, there are also distinct intolerant regions for each gene product, consistent with the fact that the different NMDAR subunits play unique roles in brain function despite high homology and similar functional properties within a family.

Whole exome sequencing (WES) is widely considered to be the first stage of diagnostic testing when neurodevelopmental disorders are suspected (Srivastava et al., 2019), which includes individuals who show concerns for developmental delay, intellectual disability, and/or seizures. While gene panel testing typically utilizes the same technology as next generation sequencing, it still has limitations in terms of analysis compared to WES, such as a reduced capability to detect genomic copy number variants (CNVs, including deletion or duplication). Variation in genomic copy number variants (CNVs, including deletion or duplication). Variation in genomic copy number will usually affect multiple genes and is detected using chromosomal or SNP microarrays. Genetic diagnosis via WES has changed therapeutic treatments, can produce improved outcomes (Berg et al., 2014; Kuperberg et al., 2016), and when applied early, is cost-effective (Howell et al., 2018).

Patients with *GRIN1*-related neurodevelopmental disorder show multiple deficits, including ID, epilepsy, hypotonia, and for some individuals, movement disorders. All affected individuals evaluated to date show variable levels of intellectual disability (ID): 5% mild, 7% moderate, 71% severe, or 17% profound (Platzer and Lemke, 1993). 65% of *GRIN1* variant

| | RVIS (%) | Total | Missense | Nonsense | Frameshift | Splice | Other |
|-----------------------|----------|-------|----------|----------|------------|--------|-------|
| GRIN1, GluN1 | 6.92 | 85 | 82 | 2 | 1 | 0 | 0 |
| <i>GRIN2A,</i> GluN2A | 1.96 | 297 | 199 | 22 | 34 | 13 | 29 |
| GRIN2B, GluN2B | 1.28 | 252 | 190 | 21 | 21 | 6 | 14 |
| GRIN2C, GluN2C | 62 | 19 | 13 | 1 | 5 | 0 | 0 |
| GRIN2D, GluN2D | 11.7 | 26 | 25 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 0 |
| Total | | 679 | 509 | 46 | 61 | 20 | 43 |

Table 1.2. NMDAR variants and intolerance scores. Residual Variation Intolerance Score (RVIS) is given as a percentile rank among all genes. A RVIS of 2.55 means that 97.45% of all genes have more variation in the healthy population than the gene of interest. All variants accounted for in this table were not present in the healthy population (gnomAD database). Other includes large-scale chromosomal deletions, translocations, inversions, or duplications. Table adapted from (Hansen et al., 2021).

| | EPI | ID | ASD | ADHD | MD | SCZ |
|------------------------|-----|-----|-----|------|----|-----|
| GRIN1, GluN1 | 27 | 38 | 4 | 0 | 21 | 3 |
| <i>GRIN2A</i> , GluN2A | 203 | 190 | 19 | 5 | 28 | 5 |
| <i>GRIN2B</i> , GluN2B | 99 | 187 | 35 | 2 | 10 | 5 |
| <i>GRIN2C,</i> GluN2C | 1 | 4 | 8 | 0 | 0 | 7 |
| <i>GRIN2D</i> , GluN2D | 13 | 13 | 5 | 0 | 0 | 9 |
| Total | 343 | 432 | 71 | 7 | 59 | 29 |

Table 1.3. NMDAR variants and associated disease. All variants accounted for in this table were not present in the healthy population (gnomAD database). EPI means epilepsy; ID means intellectual disability; ASD means autism-spectrum disorder; ADHD means attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder; MD means movement disorders; SCZ means schizophrenia. Table adapted from (Hansen et al., 2021).

individuals present with epilepsy. Onset ranges from birth to 11 years of age, and two thirds of demonstrated resistance to conventional antiseizure treatment. Some individuals show features of autism spectrum disorders, or exhibit other behavior problems such as stereotypic movement disorder (32%), sleep problem (15%), and self-harm behavior (7%) (Platzer and Lemke, 1993). A subset of individuals show an unusual type of cortical malformation that consisted of extensive bilateral polymicrogyria together with lateral ventriculomegaly, enlarged extra-axial spaces, reduced thickness of the corpus callosum, basal ganglia dysplasia, and decreased white matter volume (Fry et al., 2018).

Neurodevelopmental disorders in *GRIN2A* individuals are associated predominantly with epilepsy and ID. However, as many as 37% of the individuals demonstrate normal intelligence, 63% have (often mild) ID (46%), and others with moderate (22%), severe (11%) or profound (21%) ID (Strehlow et al., 2019). Brain imaging is usually normal and only a minority (14%) reveal nonspecific changes (Strehlow et al., 2019). Epilepsy is present in almost all *GRIN2A* individuals with onset from birth to 8 years of age. Interestingly, seizures may resolve between 8 and 20 years of age (see Chapter 3). Additional challenges include hypotonia (29%), movement disorders (27%), autism spectrum disorders (9%), and/or psychiatric disorders, such as schizophrenia (3%) (Strehlow et al., 2019). A unique feature associated within the *GRIN2A*-related developmental disorders, which include dysarthria, dysphasia, speech dyspraxia, speech regression with residual impairments in more than a third of all cases (Strehlow et al., 2019; Turner et al., 2015); 19% of *GRIN2A* individuals have aphasia.

Individuals affected with *GRIN2B*-associated disorders exhibit ID, hypotonia, epilepsy, and movement disorders. All affected (so far) have developmental delay preceding certain degrees

of ID. Some form of epilepsy is present in half of the affected individuals and shows an onset between birth to 9 years of age. Seizures are medically refractory for half. Additional clinical characteristics are perhaps less frequent and/or are somewhat milder than *GRIN1*-associated neurodevelopmental disorders. However, the spectrum of clinical characteristics is similar to *GRIN1* with hypotonia (56%) and spasticity (23%), autism spectrum disorder (26%), movement disorders (10%), and cortical visual impairment (8%) (Platzer and Lemke, 1993) (Table 2). Cortical malformations with polymicrogyria and basal ganglia dysplasia in *GRIN1* is mirrored in a subset of individuals with *GRIN2B* disorders (Platzer et al., 2017).

Variation in *GRIN2D* appears far less frequent than that in *GRIN1*, *GRIN2A*, or *GRIN2B* (Camp and Yuan, 2020; XiangWei et al., 2018). One population-based study reported no truncated *GRIN2D* variants, suggesting a crucial role in early development and survival (Tarabeux et al., 2011). However, a different conclusion was reached by other investigators (Santos-Gomez et al., 2021), who raised the idea that intronic variations (i.e. missense) might be related to the risk for schizophrenia (Yu et al., 2018). *GRIN2D* missense variants have been observed in individuals with severe, drug-resistant epileptic encephalopathy with an early onset (Camp and Yuan, 2020; Jiao et al., 2021; Li et al., 2016; Tsuchida et al., 2018; XiangWei et al., 2019a). Functional analysis of variants introduced into *GRIN2D* cDNA have shown gain of function characteristics (Camp and Yuan, 2020; Li et al., 2016), possibly with a compensatory reduced expression (XiangWei et al., 2019a). Only 28 *GRIN2D* variants are currently documented in the literature (Hansen et al., 2021).

An understanding of the mechanisms by which the disease-associated variants produce a clinical phenotype requires functional evaluation of the variant receptors. This functional understanding is essential to classify variants of unknown significance, develop therapeutic options, and offers a logical way to stratify patients. Among the ~700 known *GRIN* variants,

functional evaluation has been published in peer-reviewed literature for well over 200 variants (see Center for Functional Evaluation of Variants Rare (CFERV), http://functionalvariants.emory.edu/). The published functional evaluations of disease-associated variants range from evaluation of a single parameter (*i.e.*, current amplitudes or agonist potency) to comprehensive evaluation of multiple parameters *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Multiple parameters can be assessed *in vitro* using recombinant receptors and native cells/tissues from transgenic animals to determine current amplitude, agonist (glutamate and glycine) potency, voltage-dependent Mg²⁺ block, sensitivity to endogenous negative modulators (Zn^{2+} and protons), channel open probability, channel activation time course, glutamate deactivation time course (which can be predictive of synaptic response time course), desensitization, long-term potentiation/depression, receptor trafficking, and neuronal excitotoxicity (Addis et al., 2017; Amador et al., 2020; Amin et al., 2018; Fedele et al., 2018; Li et al., 2019; Ogden et al., 2017; Shin et al., 2020; Strehlow et al., 2019; Swanger et al., 2016; Vyklicky et al., 2018; XiangWei et al., 2018; XiangWei et al., 2019b). These *in vitro* evaluations can be combined for many variants to provide a quantitative prediction of the overall effects that variants have on NMDAR pharmacology, function, and receptor localization. While this approach has the capacity to approximate the contribution of the *GRIN* variants to NMDAR-mediated synaptic and non-synaptic signaling (Swanger et al., 2016); see also (XiangWei et al., 2018), it will be critical to evaluate function, surface expression, and subcellular localization of variants in neurons. If the variants are not trafficked to the neuronal surface or incorporated into the synapse, then a functionally null phenotype would be seen in transgenic animals or transfected neurons.

The term gain-of-function is defined as any variant-related increase in NMDAR-mediated signaling, and could arise from enhanced agonist potency (*e.g.*, glutamate and/or glycine), reduced

sensitivity to voltage-dependent Mg2+ block, reduced sensitivity to endogenous negative modulators, prolonged synaptic response time course, enhanced gating or open probability, reduced receptor desensitization, and/or enhanced receptor cell surface trafficking. Each of these effects could differentially impact synaptic and perisynaptic receptors, which are exposed to different concentrations of glutamate (e.g., (Moldavski et al., 2020; Swanger et al., 2016). Ultimately, these variants will likely have different clinical manifestations, since they would be expected to alter circuit function in different ways. Similarly, loss-of-function variants, defined as producing a reduction in NMDAR-mediated signaling, may arise from reduced agonist potency, enhanced sensitivity to voltage-dependent magnesium block or other endogenous negative modulators, shortened deactivation time course, reduced response amplitude, and/or decreased receptor cell surface trafficking. While these parameters can be easily measured in vitro, compensatory and developmental changes could produce equally (or more) important changes in the expression profile of other genes and connectivity of neural circuits. Furthermore, it is unclear if loss-of-function variants caused by nonsense mutations or deletions will behave the same as missense loss-of-function variants, which may assemble with other subunits and could exert a dominant negative effect. While global designations of variant function are helpful, clinical phenotypes are likely driven by variant-induced changes in specific receptor properties, rather than the overall net effect captured by the gain- and loss-of-function categorization.

The complexity of the effects of *GRIN* variants on clinical phenotypes is illustrated by the finding that both gain- and loss-of-function variants in the same gene can result in similar neurologic symptoms, such as seizure disorders. For instance, *GRIN2A* gain-of-function human variants L812M (Yuan et al., 2014) and P552R (Ogden et al., 2017), and loss-of-function *GRIN2A* variants D731N (Gao et al., 2017) and V685G (Swanger et al., 2016) are observed in patients with

infantile onset epilepsy and cognitive impairment. This is intriguing as one might hypothesize that the loss of excitatory synaptic GluN2A subunits would decrease excitability, rather than promote an epileptic phenotype. This paradoxical observation is also seen for loss-of-function GRIN2A truncation variants, which display seizure phenotypes (Carvill et al., 2013; Lemke et al., 2013; Lesca et al., 2013), and *Grin2a* knockout mice that show hyperexcitability (Salmi et al., 2018; Salmi et al., 2019). These observations suggest that the loss of signaling from GluN2A-containing NMDAR must be placed into a developmental context, whereby change in NMDAR function in particular cells (*i.e.*, interneuron vs principal cell) impacts a critical developmental window and likely changes the overall balance of excitation and inhibition (see Chapter 3). Moreover, functional evaluation of variants can result in conflicting results from multiple parameters. For example, the *GRIN2A* variant A643D showed enhanced glutamate potency, but decreased current response and reduced cell surface expression (Fernandez-Marmiesse et al., 2018). Therefore, evaluation of only one or two aspects of the functional effects of variants is insufficient for reaching a conclusion on the physiological consequence of a given variant and could lead to ineffective therapeutic strategies.

1.15 NMDAR Variants and Models of Disease

To move a step closer to human physiology, the generation of mouse models containing human-specific variants allows for the detailed exploration of *GRIN* variants. More specifically, genetically-modified mice are essential for the elucidation of how these variants impact the brain on a developmental, circuit, cellular, and molecular level, as well as provide investigators with a mammalian platform for testing therapeutic approaches. At the gross anatomical level, mice and man have remarkable similarities (Hodge et al., 2019; Semple et al., 2013), however, recent single cell sequencing studies have confirmed at the level of neurotransmitter receptors, mice and man are unsurprisingly disparate (Hodge et al., 2019; Sjostedt et al., 2020). Still, the use of mouse models prevails in modern bench research thanks to ease with which their genome can be manipulated, monetary efficiency, and wealth of information in the literature about murine-derived neurons. Although limitations exist, the use of mouse models has progressed scientific discovery in countless ways and is considered the gold standard starting point for exploration of human disease pathophysiology.

Homozygous null (knockout) mutations for each of the seven *GRIN* genes have been generated, however, information gleaned from the study of these mice should be viewed cautiously, as the majority with *GRIN* variants only have one impacted allele. Gene deletions can affect individuals differently than LoF missense and nonsense variants, which suggests that LoF missense and nonsense variants have the capacity to act as dominant negatives. Thus, heterozygous null (knockout) or variant knock-in mouse models – whether nonsense, missense, or deletion – are highly relevant to the human condition and should thus be given precedent when making comparisons to affected individuals.

The first targeted mutation in the *GRIN* gene family was the homozygous null mutation in the *Grin1* gene, which resulted in perinatal lethality (Forrest et al., 1994; Li et al., 1994). *Grin1* null mice die due to respiratory failure as well as failure to suckle, highlighting the omnipresent roles of NMDARs in all facets of early brain function, including those in the brainstem. Like homozygous *Grin1* null mice, homozygous *Grin2b* null mice also suffer perinatal lethality (Kutsuwada et al., 1996b). Although *Grin2b* knockout mice do breathe, they do not suckle and thus do not survive the neonatal period. The homozygous null mutations of *Grin2a* (Kadotani et al., 1996; Sakimura et al., 1995a), *Grin2c* (Ebralidze et al., 1996), and *Grin2d* (Ikeda et al., 1995a) appear less severe than those homozygous null *Grin1* and *Grin2b* mice, with each being fertile and viable, albeit with aberrations in a variety of behavioral and cognitive tasks (Bannerman et al., 2008b; Boyce-Rustay and Holmes, 2006; Brigman et al., 2008; Camp and Yuan, 2020; Hillman et al., 2011; Salimando et al., 2020; Shelkar et al., 2019; Yamamoto et al., 2017). See **Table 1.4** for full details on all null NMDAR mouse models and their associated neurobehavioral outcomes.

1.16 Conclusions

NMDARs are a multifaceted group of ionotropic glutamate receptors whose roles in neurobiology have extended far beyond an ion channel that helps induce long-term potentiation in recent decades. The overarching goals of the work presented in this thesis are two-fold: 1) to provide cellular and synaptic characterization of mouse models based on NMDAR human patient-derived variants and 2) show efficacy of subunit-selective NMDAR modulation in altering circuit function for potential therapeutic gain. The totality of these data adds significantly to the field of NMDAR biology and neuroscience as whole, providing 1) groundwork characterization of several novel mouse models of NMDAR human patient-derived variants, 2) supportive data in the emerging roles of NMDARs in neurodevelopment, and 3) data that refines the ideal that all GABAergic interneurons show functional synaptic GluN2D-containing receptors.

| Protein | Heterozygous Null Phenotype | Homozygous Null Phenotype | Individuals with Large- | | | | |
|-----------------|--|---|--|--|--|--|--|
| Subunit Name | | | Scale Disruptions (LSD) or Premature Stops | | | | |
| Nume | Severe Phenotypes in Mice | | | | | | |
| GluN1 | Viable and fertile (Elberger and Deng, 2003; Forrest et al., 1994); accelerated cortical neuron development (Elberger and Deng, 2003) | Lethal – No suckling response and poor lung development (Forrest et al., 1994); altered brainstem nuclei development (Li et al., 1994) | 4 total (4/91; 4.4%): 4 preSTOP | | | | |
| GluN2B | Viable and fertile (Kutsuwada et al., 1996b) | Lethal – No suckling response with altered brainstem nuclei development (Kutsuwada et al., 1996b) | 36 total (36/258; 14%): 14 LSD and 22 preSTOP | | | | |
| | Viable, but with deficits | | | | | | |
| GluN2A | Viable and fertile (Sakimura et al., 1995a); transient changes in brain microstructure assessed via diffusion tensor imaging (Salmi et al., 2018) | Viable and fertile (Sakimura et al., 1995a); diminished spatial learning (Sakimura et al., 1995a) with largely transient epileptiform activity (Salmi et al., 2018; Salmi et al., 2019); | 53 total (53/311; 17%): 29 LSD and 24 preSTOP | | | | |
| GluN2C | Viable and fertile (Ebralidze et al., 1996); alterations in sensorimotor gating (Gupta et al., 2016) | Viable and fertile (Ebralidze et al., 1996); some alterations in working memory (Hillman et al., 2011) and sensorimotor gating (Gupta et al., 2016) | 1 total (1/19; 5.3%): 1 preSTOP | | | | |
| GluN2D | Viable and fertile (Ikeda et al., 1995b) | Viable and fertile; hypolocomotion and increased anxiety-like behaviors (Ikeda et al., 1995b; Salimando et al., 2020; Yamamoto et al., 2017) | Yet to be reported | | | | |
| GluN3A | Viable and fertile (Das et al., 1998) | Viable and fertile (Das et al., 1998); impaired locomotor activity (Mohamad et al., 2013); changes to spatial and aversion learning (Mohamad et al., 2013; Otsu et al., 2019) | 2 total (2/13; 15%): 2 preSTOP | | | | |
| GluN3B | Viable and fertile (Niemann et al., 2007) | Viable and fertile (Niemann et al., 2007); impaired motor learning and coordination (Niemann et al., 2007) | Yet to be reported | | | | |

Table 1.4. NMDAR subunit null mouse models and prevalence of null mutations in affected individuals. Heterozygous and homozygous null (knockout) mouse models have been generated for each of the seven *GRIN* genes. Mice containing homozygous null mutations for GluN1 and GluN2B are postnatal lethal, while heterozygous null offspring survive normally. In general, homozygous null mice, regardless of which gene has been disrupted, display some sort of aberrant phenotype that could be extrapolated to patients. It should be noted, however, only one large-scale chromosomal disruption has been reported to be homozygous in human, an inherited *GRIN2A* deletion affecting both alleles, with all others reported being heterozygous. Given the overall lack of characterization of heterozygous null *GRIN* mouse models, it is difficult to determine whether they can truly mimic features of the human condition. Large-scale disruptions (LSD) refers to chromosomal deletions, duplications, inversions, insertions, or translocations; premature stops (preSTOP) refers to a nonsense mutation resulting in a premature stop codon in the mRNA. Table adapted from (Benke et al., 2021).

- Aamodt SM, Shi J, Colonnese MT, Veras W and Constantine-Paton M (2000) Chronic NMDA exposure accelerates development of GABAergic inhibition in the superior colliculus. J Neurophysiol 83(3): 1580-1591.
- Abeles M (1991) Corticonics: Neural Circuits of the Cerebral Cortex. *Cambridge University Press*: 280.
- Addis L, Virdee JK, Vidler LR, Collier DA, Pal DK and Ursu D (2017) Epilepsy-associated GRIN2A mutations reduce NMDA receptor trafficking and agonist potency molecular profiling and functional rescue. *Scientific reports* **7**(1): 66.
- Akazawa C, Shigemoto R, Bessho Y, Nakanishi S and Mizuno N (1994) Differential expression of five N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor subunit mRNAs in the cerebellum of developing and adult rats. *J Comp Neurol* **347**(1): 150-160.
- Akesson E, Kjaeldgaard A, Samuelsson EB, Seiger A and Sundstrom E (2000) Ionotropic glutamate receptor expression in human spinal cord during first trimester development. *Brain Res Dev Brain Res* 119(1): 55-63.
- Alsaad HA, DeKorver NW, Mao Z, Dravid SM, Arikkath J and Monaghan DT (2019) In the Telencephalon, GluN2C NMDA Receptor Subunit mRNA is Predominately Expressed in Glial Cells and GluN2D mRNA in Interneurons. *Neurochem Res* **44**(1): 61-77.
- Alvarez VA, Ridenour DA and Sabatini BL (2007) Distinct structural and ionotropic roles of NMDA receptors in controlling spine and synapse stability. J Neurosci 27(28): 7365-7376.
- Amador A, Bostick CD, Olson H, Peters J, Camp CR, Krizay D, Chen W, Han W, Tang W, Kanber A, Kim S, Teoh J, Sah M, Petri S, Paek H, Kim A, Lutz CM, Yang M, Myers SJ, Bhattacharya S, Yuan H, Goldstein DB, Poduri A, Boland MJ, Traynelis SF and Frankel WN (2020) Modelling and treating GRIN2A developmental and epileptic encephalopathy in mice. *Brain* 143(7): 2039-2057.
- Amin JB, Leng X, Gochman A, Zhou HX and Wollmuth LP (2018) A conserved glycine harboring disease-associated mutations permits NMDA receptor slow deactivation and high Ca(2+) permeability. *Nat Commun* 9(1): 3748.
- Andreae LC and Burrone J (2015) Spontaneous Neurotransmitter Release Shapes Dendritic Arbors via Long-Range Activation of NMDA Receptors. *Cell reports* **10**(6): 873-882.
- Angulo MC, Kozlov AS, Charpak S and Audinat E (2004) Glutamate released from glial cells synchronizes neuronal activity in the hippocampus. *J Neurosci* **24**(31): 6920-6927.
- Aoki C, Rhee J, Lubin M and Dawson TM (1997) NMDA-R1 subunit of the cerebral cortex colocalizes with neuronal nitric oxide synthase at pre- and postsynaptic sites and in spines. *Brain Res* **750**(1-2): 25-40.
- Aoki C, Venkatesan C, Go CG, Mong JA and Dawson TM (1994) Cellular and subcellular localization of NMDA-R1 subunit immunoreactivity in the visual cortex of adult and neonatal rats. *J Neurosci* 14(9): 5202-5222.
- Aow J, Dore K and Malinow R (2015) Conformational signaling required for synaptic plasticity by the NMDA receptor complex. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **112**(47): 14711-14716.
- Arnth-Jensen N, Jabaudon D and Scanziani M (2002) Cooperation between independent hippocampal synapses is controlled by glutamate uptake. *Nat Neurosci* **5**(4): 325-331.

- Asztely F, Erdemli G and Kullmann DM (1997) Extrasynaptic glutamate spillover in the hippocampus: dependence on temperature and the role of active glutamate uptake. *Neuron* **18**(2): 281-293.
- Babiec WE, Guglietta R, Jami SA, Morishita W, Malenka RC and O'Dell TJ (2014) Ionotropic NMDA receptor signaling is required for the induction of long-term depression in the mouse hippocampal CA1 region. *J Neurosci* **34**(15): 5285-5290.
- Bannerman DM, Niewoehner B, Lyon L, Romberg C, Schmitt WB, Taylor A, Sanderson DJ, Cottam J, Sprengel R, Seeburg PH, Kohr G and Rawlins JN (2008a) NMDA receptor subunit NR2A is required for rapidly acquired spatial working memory but not incremental spatial reference memory. *J Neurosci* 28(14): 3623-3630.
- Bannerman DM, Niewoehner B, Lyon L, Romberg C, Schmitt WB, Taylor A, Sanderson DJ, Cottam J, Sprengel R, Seeburg PH and Rawlins JNP (2008b) NMDA receptor subunit NR2A is required for rapidly acquired spatial working memory but not incremental spatial reference memory. *JNeuroscience* 28(14): 3623-3630.
- Barbour B (2001) An evaluation of synapse independence. J Neurosci 21(20): 7969-7984.
- Bardoni R, Ghirri A, Zonta M, Betelli C, Vitale G, Ruggieri V, Sandrini M and Carmignoto G (2010) Glutamate-mediated astrocyte-to-neuron signalling in the rat dorsal horn. *J Physiol* **588**(Pt 5): 831-846.
- Bardoni R, Torsney C, Tong CK, Prandini M and MacDermott AB (2004) Presynaptic NMDA receptors modulate glutamate release from primary sensory neurons in rat spinal cord dorsal horn. *J Neurosci* **24**(11): 2774-2781.
- Barria A and Malinow R (2002) Subunit-specific NMDA receptor trafficking to synapses. *Neuron* **35**(2): 345-353.
- Barria A and Malinow R (2005) NMDA receptor subunit composition controls synaptic plasticity by regulating binding to CaMKII. *Neuron* **48**(2): 289-301.
- Behar TN, Scott CA, Greene CL, Wen X, Smith SV, Maric D, Liu QY, Colton CA and Barker JL (1999) Glutamate acting at NMDA receptors stimulates embryonic cortical neuronal migration. *J Neurosci* **19**(11): 4449-4461.
- Bekkers JM and Stevens CF (1989) NMDA and non-NMDA receptors are co-localized at individual excitatory synapses in cultured rat hippocampus. *Nature* **341**(6239): 230-233.
- Benke TA, Park K, Krey I, Camp CR, Song R, Ramsey AJ, Yuan H, Traynelis SF and Lemke J (2021) Clinical and therapeutic significance of genetic variation in the GRIN gene family encoding NMDARs. *Neuropharmacology* **199**: 108805.
- Berg AT, Loddenkemper T and Baca CB (2014) Diagnostic delays in children with early onset epilepsy: impact, reasons, and opportunities to improve care. *Epilepsia* **55**(1): 123-132.
- Berg LK, Larsson M, Morland C and Gundersen V (2013) Pre- and postsynaptic localization of NMDA receptor subunits at hippocampal mossy fibre synapses. *Neuroscience* 230: 139-150.
- Berger AJ, Dieudonne S and Ascher P (1998) Glycine uptake governs glycine site occupancy at NMDA receptors of excitatory synapses. *J Neurophysiol* **80**(6): 3336-3340.
- Bergeron R, Meyer TM, Coyle JT and Greene RW (1998) Modulation of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor function by glycine transport. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **95**(26): 15730-15734.
- Bernabeu R and Sharp FR (2000) NMDA and AMPA/kainate glutamate receptors modulate dentate neurogenesis and CA3 synapsin-I in normal and ischemic hippocampus. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab* **20**(12): 1669-1680.

- Berretta N and Jones RS (1996) Tonic facilitation of glutamate release by presynaptic N-methyl-D-aspartate autoreceptors in the entorhinal cortex. *Neuroscience* **75**(2): 339-344.
- Bezzi P, Gundersen V, Galbete JL, Seifert G, Steinhauser C, Pilati E and Volterra A (2004) Astrocytes contain a vesicular compartment that is competent for regulated exocytosis of glutamate. *Nat Neurosci* 7(6): 613-620.
- Bhattacharya S, Khatri A, Swanger SA, DiRaddo JO, Yi F, Hansen KB, Yuan H and Traynelis SF (2018) Triheteromeric GluN1/GluN2A/GluN2C NMDARs with Unique Single-Channel Properties Are the Dominant Receptor Population in Cerebellar Granule Cells. *Neuron* 99(2): 315-328 e315.
- Bidoret C, Ayon A, Barbour B and Casado M (2009) Presynaptic NR2A-containing NMDA receptors implement a high-pass filter synaptic plasticity rule. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **106**(33): 14126-14131.
- Bortone D and Polleux F (2009) KCC2 expression promotes the termination of cortical interneuron migration in a voltage-sensitive calcium-dependent manner. *Neuron* **62**(1): 53-71.
- Boyce-Rustay JM and Holmes A (2006) Genetic inactivation of the NMDA receptor NR2A subunit has anxiolytic- and antidepressant-like effects in mice. *Neuropsychopharmacology* **31**(11): 2405-2414.
- Brickley SG, Misra C, Mok MH, Mishina M and Cull-Candy SG (2003) NR2B and NR2D subunits coassemble in cerebellar Golgi cells to form a distinct NMDA receptor subtype restricted to extrasynaptic sites. *J Neurosci* **23**(12): 4958-4966.
- Brigman JL, Feyder M, Saksida LM, Bussey TJ, Mishina M and Holmes A (2008) Impaired discrimination learning in mice lacking the NMDA receptor NR2A subunit. *Learn Mem* 15(2): 50-54.
- Budisantoso T, Harada H, Kamasawa N, Fukazawa Y, Shigemoto R and Matsui K (2013) Evaluation of glutamate concentration transient in the synaptic cleft of the rat calyx of Held. *J Physiol* **591**(1): 219-239.
- Bunk EC, Konig HG, Prehn JH and Kirby BP (2014) Effect of the N-methyl-D-aspartate NR2B subunit antagonist ifenprodil on precursor cell proliferation in the hippocampus. J Neurosci Res 92(6): 679-691.
- Bursztajn S, Falls WA, Berman SA and Friedman MJ (2007) Cell proliferation in the brains of NMDAR NR1 transgenic mice. *Brain Res* **1172**: 10-20.
- Burzomato V, Frugier G, Perez-Otano I, Kittler JT and Attwell D (2010) The receptor subunits generating NMDA receptor mediated currents in oligodendrocytes. *J Physiol* **588**(Pt 18): 3403-3414.
- Bustos FJ, Jury N, Martinez P, Ampuero E, Campos M, Abarzua S, Jaramillo K, Ibing S, Mardones MD, Haensgen H, Kzhyshkowska J, Tevy MF, Neve R, Sanhueza M, Varela-Nallar L, Montecino M and van Zundert B (2017) NMDA receptor subunit composition controls dendritogenesis of hippocampal neurons through CAMKII, CREB-P, and H3K27ac. J Cell Physiol 232(12): 3677-3692.
- Bustos FJ, Varela-Nallar L, Campos M, Henriquez B, Phillips M, Opazo C, Aguayo LG, Montecino M, Constantine-Paton M, Inestrosa NC and van Zundert B (2014) PSD95 suppresses dendritic arbor development in mature hippocampal neurons by occluding the clustering of NR2B-NMDA receptors. *PLoS ONE* 9(4): e94037.

- Calton JL, Kang MH, Wilson WA and Moore SD (2000) NMDA-Receptor-dependent synaptic activation of voltage-dependent calcium channels in basolateral amygdala. *J Neurophysiol* **83**(2): 685-692.
- Cameron HA, McEwen BS and Gould E (1995) Regulation of adult neurogenesis by excitatory input and NMDA receptor activation in the dentate gyrus. *J Neurosci* **15**(6): 4687-4692.
- Camp CR and Yuan H (2020) GRIN2D/GluN2D NMDA receptor: Unique features and its contribution to pediatric developmental and epileptic encephalopathy. *Eur J Paediatr Neurol* 24: 89-99.
- Carta M, Srikumar BN, Gorlewicz A, Rebola N and Mulle C (2018) Activity-dependent control of NMDA receptor subunit composition at hippocampal mossy fibre synapses. *J Physiol* **596**(4): 703-716.
- Carvill GL, Regan BM, Yendle SC, O'Roak BJ, Lozovaya N, Bruneau N, Burnashev N, Khan A, Cook J, Geraghty E, Sadleir LG, Turner SJ, Tsai MH, Webster R, Ouvrier R, Damiano JA, Berkovic SF, Shendure J, Hildebrand MS, Szepetowski P, Scheffer IE and Mefford HC (2013) GRIN2A mutations cause epilepsy-aphasia spectrum disorders. *Nat Genet* 45(9): 1073-1076.
- Cathala L, Misra C and Cull-Candy S (2000) Developmental profile of the changing properties of NMDA receptors at cerebellar mossy fiber-granule cell synapses. *J Neurosci* **20**(16): 5899-5905.
- Cavelier P and Attwell D (2005) Tonic release of glutamate by a DIDS-sensitive mechanism in rat hippocampal slices. *J Physiol* **564**(Pt 2): 397-410.
- Chamberlain SE, Yang J and Jones RS (2008) The role of NMDA receptor subtypes in short-term plasticity in the rat entorhinal cortex. *Neural Plast* **2008**: 872456.
- Charton JP, Herkert M, Becker CM and Schroder H (1999) Cellular and subcellular localization of the 2B-subunit of the NMDA receptor in the adult rat telencephalon. *Brain Res* **816**(2): 609-617.
- Cheffings CM and Colquhoun D (2000) Single channel analysis of a novel NMDA channel from Xenopus oocytes expressing recombinant NR1a, NR2A and NR2D subunits. *J Physiol* 526 Pt 3: 481-491.
- Chen S and Diamond JS (2002) Synaptically released glutamate activates extrasynaptic NMDA receptors on cells in the ganglion cell layer of rat retina. *J Neurosci* **22**(6): 2165-2173.
- Cheriyan J, Balsara RD, Hansen KB and Castellino FJ (2016) Pharmacology of triheteromeric N-Methyl-D-Aspartate Receptors. *Neurosci Lett* **617**: 240-246.
- Chipman PH, Fung CCA, Pazo Fernandez A, Sawant A, Tedoldi A, Kawai A, Ghimire Gautam S, Kurosawa M, Abe M, Sakimura K, Fukai T and Goda Y (2021) Astrocyte GluN2C NMDA receptors control basal synaptic strengths of hippocampal CA1 pyramidal neurons in the stratum radiatum. *Elife* **10**.
- Chittajallu R, Wester JC, Craig MT, Barksdale E, Yuan XQ, Akgul G, Fang C, Collins D, Hunt S, Pelkey KA and McBain CJ (2017) Afferent specific role of NMDA receptors for the circuit integration of hippocampal neurogliaform cells. *Nat Commun* **8**(1): 152.
- Choi DW, Koh JY and Peters S (1988) Pharmacology of glutamate neurotoxicity in cortical cell culture: attenuation by NMDA antagonists. *J Neurosci* **8**(1): 185-196.
- Choi DW, Maulucci-Gedde M and Kriegstein AR (1987) Glutamate neurotoxicity in cortical cell culture. *J Neurosci* 7(2): 357-368.
- Choquet D and Hosy E (2020) AMPA receptor nanoscale dynamic organization and synaptic plasticities. *Curr Opin Neurobiol* **63**: 137-145.

- Clark BA and Cull-Candy SG (2002) Activity-dependent recruitment of extrasynaptic NMDA receptor activation at an AMPA receptor-only synapse. *J Neurosci* **22**(11): 4428-4436.
- Clark BA, Farrant M and Cull-Candy SG (1997) A direct comparison of the single-channel properties of synaptic and extrasynaptic NMDA receptors. *J Neurosci* **17**(1): 107-116.
- Clayton DA, Mesches MH, Alvarez E, Bickford PC and Browning MD (2002) A hippocampal NR2B deficit can mimic age-related changes in long-term potentiation and spatial learning in the Fischer 344 rat. *J Neurosci* **22**(9): 3628-3637.
- Clements JD, Lester RA, Tong G, Jahr CE and Westbrook GL (1992) The time course of glutamate in the synaptic cleft. *Science* **258**(5087): 1498-1501.
- Cline HT and Constantine-Paton M (1989) NMDA receptor antagonists disrupt the retinotectal topographic map. *Neuron* **3**(4): 413-426.
- Cline HT, Debski EA and Constantine-Paton M (1987) N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor antagonist desegregates eye-specific stripes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **84**(12): 4342-4345.
- Collingridge GL, Kehl SJ and McLennan H (1983) Excitatory amino acids in synaptic transmission in the Schaffer collateral-commissural pathway of the rat hippocampus. J Physiol **334**: 33-46.
- Colonnese MT and Constantine-Paton M (2006) Developmental period for N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor-dependent synapse elimination correlated with visuotopic map refinement. *J Comp Neurol* **494**(5): 738-751.
- Corlew R, Brasier DJ, Feldman DE and Philpot BD (2008) Presynaptic NMDA receptors: newly appreciated roles in cortical synaptic function and plasticity. *Neuroscientist* **14**(6): 609-625.
- Corlew R, Wang Y, Ghermazien H, Erisir A and Philpot BD (2007) Developmental switch in the contribution of presynaptic and postsynaptic NMDA receptors to long-term depression. *J Neurosci* **27**(37): 9835-9845.
- Cottrell JR, Dube GR, Egles C and Liu G (2000) Distribution, density, and clustering of functional glutamate receptors before and after synaptogenesis in hippocampal neurons. J Neurophysiol **84**(3): 1573-1587.
- Coultrap SJ, Freund RK, O'Leary H, Sanderson JL, Roche KW, Dell'Acqua ML and Bayer KU (2014) Autonomous CaMKII mediates both LTP and LTD using a mechanism for differential substrate site selection. *Cell reports* **6**(3): 431-437.
- Crabtree JW, Lodge D, Bashir ZI and Isaac JT (2013) GABAA, NMDA and mGlu2 receptors tonically regulate inhibition and excitation in the thalamic reticular nucleus. *Eur J Neurosci* **37**(6): 850-859.
- Cserep C, Szabadits E, Szonyi A, Watanabe M, Freund TF and Nyiri G (2012) NMDA receptors in GABAergic synapses during postnatal development. *PLoS ONE* **7**(5): e37753.
- D'Ascenzo M, Fellin T, Terunuma M, Revilla-Sanchez R, Meaney DF, Auberson YP, Moss SJ and Haydon PG (2007) mGluR5 stimulates gliotransmission in the nucleus accumbens. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **104**(6): 1995-2000.
- D'Souza DC, Gil R, Cassello K, Morrissey K, Abi-Saab D, White J, Sturwold R, Bennett A, Karper LP, Zuzarte E, Charney DS and Krystal JH (2000) IV glycine and oral Dcycloserine effects on plasma and CSF amino acids in healthy humans. *Biol Psychiatry* 47(5): 450-462.
- Das S, Sasaki YF, Rothe T, Premkumar LS, Takasu M, Crandall JE, Dikkes P, Conner DA, Rayudu PV, Cheung W, Chen HS, Lipton SA and Nakanishi N (1998) Increased NMDA

current and spine density in mice lacking the NMDA receptor subunit NR3A. *Nature* **393**(6683): 377-381.

- Diamond JS (2005) Deriving the glutamate clearance time course from transporter currents in CA1 hippocampal astrocytes: transmitter uptake gets faster during development. *J* Neurosci **25**(11): 2906-2916.
- Diering GH and Huganir RL (2018) The AMPA Receptor Code of Synaptic Plasticity. *Neuron* **100**(2): 314-329.
- Dittmer PJ, Dell'Acqua ML and Sather WA (2019) Synaptic crosstalk conferred by a zone of differentially regulated Ca(2+) signaling in the dendritic shaft adjoining a potentiated spine. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **116**(27): 13611-13620.
- Dore K, Aow J and Malinow R (2015) Agonist binding to the NMDA receptor drives movement of its cytoplasmic domain without ion flow. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **112**(47): 14705-14710.
- Dore K, Stein IS, Brock JA, Castillo PE, Zito K and Sjostrom PJ (2017) Unconventional NMDA Receptor Signaling. *J Neurosci* **37**(45): 10800-10807.
- Doyle S, Hansen DB, Vella J, Bond P, Harper G, Zammit C, Valentino M and Fern R (2018) Vesicular glutamate release from central axons contributes to myelin damage. *Nat Commun* 9(1): 1032.
- Dravid SM, Prakash A and Traynelis SF (2008) Activation of recombinant NR1/NR2C NMDA receptors. *J Physiol* **586**(18): 4425-4439.
- Dubois CJ, Lachamp PM, Sun L, Mishina M and Liu SJ (2016) Presynaptic GluN2D receptors detect glutamate spillover and regulate cerebellar GABA release. *J Neurophysiol* **115**(1): 271-285.
- Duguid IC and Smart TG (2004) Retrograde activation of presynaptic NMDA receptors enhances GABA release at cerebellar interneuron-Purkinje cell synapses. *Nat Neurosci* 7(5): 525-533.
- Duguid IC and Smart TG (2009) Presynaptic NMDA Receptors, in *Biology of the NMDA Receptor* (Van Dongen AM ed), Boca Raton (FL).
- Dumas TC (2005) Developmental regulation of cognitive abilities: modified composition of a molecular switch turns on associative learning. *Prog Neurobiol* **76**(3): 189-211.
- Dupuis JP, Ladepeche L, Seth H, Bard L, Varela J, Mikasova L, Bouchet D, Rogemond V, Honnorat J, Hanse E and Groc L (2014) Surface dynamics of GluN2B-NMDA receptors controls plasticity of maturing glutamate synapses. *EMBO J* 33(8): 842-861.
- Ebralidze AK, Rossi DJ, Tonegawa S and Slater NT (1996) Modification of NMDA receptor channels and synaptic transmission by targeted disruption of the NR2C gene. *J Neurosci* **16**: 5014-5025.
- El Gaamouch F, Buisson A, Moustie O, Lemieux M, Labrecque S, Bontempi B, De Koninck P and Nicole O (2012) Interaction between alphaCaMKII and GluN2B controls ERKdependent plasticity. *J Neurosci* **32**(31): 10767-10779.
- Elberger AJ and Deng J (2003) Corpus callosum and visual cortex of mice with deletion of the NMDA-NR1 receptor: I. Accelerated development of callosal projection neurons. *Brain Res Dev Brain Res* 144(2): 121-133.
- Engert F and Bonhoeffer T (1999) Dendritic spine changes associated with hippocampal longterm synaptic plasticity. *Nature* **399**(6731): 66-70.

- Erreger K, Dravid SM, Banke TG, Wyllie DJ and Traynelis SF (2005) Subunit-specific gating controls rat NR1/NR2A and NR1/NR2B NMDA channel kinetics and synaptic signalling profiles. *J Physiol* **563**(Pt 2): 345-358.
- Espinosa JS, Wheeler DG, Tsien RW and Luo L (2009) Uncoupling dendrite growth and patterning: single-cell knockout analysis of NMDA receptor 2B. *Neuron* **62**(2): 205-217.
- Eyo UB, Bispo A, Liu J, Sabu S, Wu R, DiBona VL, Zheng J, Murugan M, Zhang H, Tang Y and Wu LJ (2018) The GluN2A Subunit Regulates Neuronal NMDA receptor-Induced Microglia-Neuron Physical Interactions. *Sci Rep* **8**(1): 828.
- Farinella M, Ruedt DT, Gleeson P, Lanore F and Silver RA (2014) Glutamate-bound NMDARs arising from in vivo-like network activity extend spatio-temporal integration in a L5 cortical pyramidal cell model. *PLoS Comput Biol* **10**(4): e1003590.
- Fedele L, Newcombe J, Topf M, Gibb A, Harvey RJ and Smart TG (2018) Disease-associated missense mutations in GluN2B subunit alter NMDA receptor ligand binding and ion channel properties. *Nat Commun* **9**(1): 957.
- Feldman DE (2012) The spike-timing dependence of plasticity. Neuron 75(4): 556-571.
- Fellin T, Pascual O, Gobbo S, Pozzan T, Haydon PG and Carmignoto G (2004) Neuronal synchrony mediated by astrocytic glutamate through activation of extrasynaptic NMDA receptors. *Neuron* **43**(5): 729-743.
- Fellin T, Pozzan T and Carmignoto G (2006) Purinergic receptors mediate two distinct glutamate release pathways in hippocampal astrocytes. *J Biol Chem* **281**(7): 4274-4284.
- Feng ZJ, Zhang X and Chergui K (2014) Allosteric modulation of NMDA receptors alters neurotransmission in the striatum of a mouse model of Parkinson's disease. *Exp Neurol* 255: 154-160.
- Ferguson GD, Wang H, Herschman HR and Storm DR (2004) Altered hippocampal short-term plasticity and associative memory in synaptotagmin IV (-/-) mice. *Hippocampus* 14(8): 964-974.
- Fernandez-Marmiesse A, Kusumoto H, Rekarte S, Roca I, Zhang J, Myers SJ, Traynelis SF, Couce ML, Gutierrez-Solana L and Yuan H (2018) A novel missense mutation in GRIN2A causes a nonepileptic neurodevelopmental disorder. *Mov Disord* 33(6): 992-999.
- Fernandez LMJ, Pellegrini C, Vantomme G, Beard E, Luthi A and Astori S (2017) Cortical afferents onto the nucleus Reticularis thalami promote plasticity of low-threshold excitability through GluN2C-NMDARs. *Scientific reports* 7(1): 12271.
- Fleming TM, Scott V, Naskar K, Joe N, Brown CH and Stern JE (2011) State-dependent changes in astrocyte regulation of extrasynaptic NMDA receptor signalling in neurosecretory neurons. *J Physiol* **589**(Pt 16): 3929-3941.
- Forrest D, Yuzaki M, Soares HD, Ng L, Luk DC, Sheng M, Stewart CL, Morgan JI, Connor JA and Curran T (1994) Targeted disruption of NMDA receptor 1 gene abolishes NMDA response and results in neonatal death. *Neuron* **13**: 325-338.
- Fortune ES and Rose GJ (2002) Roles for short-term synaptic plasticity in behavior. *J Physiol Paris* **96**(5-6): 539-545.
- Fritschy JM, Weinmann O, Wenzel A and Benke D (1998) Synapse-specific localization of NMDA and GABA(A) receptor subunits revealed by antigen-retrieval immunohistochemistry. J Comp Neurol 390(2): 194-210.
- Frizelle PA, Chen PE and Wyllie DJ (2006) Equilibrium constants for (R)-[(S)-1-(4-bromophenyl)-ethylamino]-(2,3-dioxo-1,2,3,4-tetrahydroquinoxalin-5 -yl)-methyl]-phosphonic

acid (NVP-AAM077) acting at recombinant NR1/NR2A and NR1/NR2B N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors: Implications for studies of synaptic transmission. *Mol Pharmacol* **70**(3): 1022-1032.

- Fry AE, Fawcett KA, Zelnik N, Yuan H, Thompson BAN, Shemer-Meiri L, Cushion TD, Mugalaasi H, Sims D, Stoodley N, Chung SK, Rees MI, Patel CV, Brueton LA, Layet V, Giuliano F, Kerr MP, Banne E, Meiner V, Lerman-Sagie T, Helbig KL, Kofman LH, Knight KM, Chen W, Kannan V, Hu C, Kusumoto H, Zhang J, Swanger SA, Shaulsky GH, Mirzaa GM, Muir AM, Mefford HC, Dobyns WB, Mackenzie AB, Mullins JGL, Lemke JR, Bahi-Buisson N, Traynelis SF, Iago HF and Pilz DT (2018) De novo mutations in GRIN1 cause extensive bilateral polymicrogyria. *Brain* 141(3): 698-712.
- Fukata Y, Dimitrov A, Boncompain G, Vielemeyer O, Perez F and Fukata M (2013) Local palmitoylation cycles define activity-regulated postsynaptic subdomains. *J Cell Biol* 202(1): 145-161.
- Gambrill AC and Barria A (2011) NMDA receptor subunit composition controls synaptogenesis and synapse stabilization. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **108**(14): 5855-5860.
- Gao J, Stevenson TJ, Douglass AD, Barrios JP and Bonkowsky JL (2018) The Midline Axon Crossing Decision Is Regulated through an Activity-Dependent Mechanism by the NMDA Receptor. *eNeuro* **5**(2): ENEURO.0389-0317.2018.
- Gao K, Tankovic A, Zhang Y, Kusumoto H, Zhang J, Chen W, XiangWei W, Shaulsky GH, Hu C, Traynelis SF, Yuan H and Jiang Y (2017) A de novo loss-of-function GRIN2A mutation associated with childhood focal epilepsy and acquired epileptic aphasia. *PLoS ONE* **12**(2): e0170818.
- Garst-Orozco J, Malik R, Lanz TA, Weber ML, Xi H, Arion D, Enwright JF, 3rd, Lewis DA, O'Donnell P, Sohal VS and Buhl DL (2020) GluN2D-mediated excitatory drive onto medial prefrontal cortical PV+ fast-spiking inhibitory interneurons. *PLoS One* **15**(6): e0233895.
- Gilbert ME and Mack CM (1990) The NMDA antagonist, MK-801, suppresses long-term potentiation, kindling, and kindling-induced potentiation in the perforant path of the unanesthetized rat. *Brain Res* **519**(1-2): 89-96.
- Gill I, Droubi S, Giovedi S, Fedder KN, Bury LA, Bosco F, Sceniak MP, Benfenati F and Sabo SL (2015) Presynaptic NMDA receptors dynamics and distribution in developing axons in vitro and in vivo. *J Cell Sci* **128**(4): 768-780.
- Gladding CM, Collett VJ, Jia Z, Bashir ZI, Collingridge GL and Molnar E (2009) Tyrosine dephosphorylation regulates AMPAR internalisation in mGluR-LTD. *Mol Cell Neurosci* 40(2): 267-279.
- Glitsch M and Marty A (1999) Presynaptic effects of NMDA in cerebellar Purkinje cells and interneurons. *J Neurosci* **19**(2): 511-519.
- Goncalves J, Bartol TM, Camus C, Levet F, Menegolla AP, Sejnowski TJ, Sibarita JB, Vivaudou M, Choquet D and Hosy E (2020) Nanoscale co-organization and coactivation of AMPAR, NMDAR, and mGluR at excitatory synapses. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 117(25): 14503-14511.
- Goodell DJ, Zaegel V, Coultrap SJ, Hell JW and Bayer KU (2017) DAPK1 Mediates LTD by Making CaMKII/GluN2B Binding LTP Specific. *Cell reports* **19**(11): 2231-2243.
- Gould E, Cameron HA and McEwen BS (1994) Blockade of NMDA receptors increases cell death and birth in the developing rat dentate gyrus. *J Comp Neurol* **340**(4): 551-565.

- Grand T, Abi Gerges S, David M, Diana MA and Paoletti P (2018) Unmasking GluN1/GluN3A excitatory glycine NMDA receptors. *Nat Commun* **9**(1): 4769.
- Gray JA, Shi Y, Usui H, During MJ, Sakimura K and Nicoll RA (2011) Distinct modes of AMPA receptor suppression at developing synapses by GluN2A and GluN2B: single-cell NMDA receptor subunit deletion in vivo. *Neuron* **71**(6): 1085-1101.
- Groc L, Bard L and Choquet D (2009) Surface trafficking of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors: physiological and pathological perspectives. *Neuroscience* **158**(1): 4-18.
- Gu X, Zhou L and Lu W (2016) An NMDA Receptor-Dependent Mechanism Underlies Inhibitory Synapse Development. *Cell reports* 14(3): 471-478.
- Gundersen V, Holten AT and Storm-Mathisen J (2004) GABAergic synapses in hippocampus exocytose aspartate on to NMDA receptors: quantitative immunogold evidence for co-transmission. *Mol Cell Neurosci* **26**(1): 156-165.
- Gupta SC, Ravikrishnan A, Liu J, Mao Z, Pavuluri R, Hillman BG, Gandhi PJ, Stairs DJ, Li M, Ugale RR, Monaghan DT and Dravid SM (2016) The NMDA receptor GluN2C subunit controls cortical excitatory-inhibitory balance, neuronal oscillations and cognitive function. *Sci Rep* **6**: 38321.
- Haas KT, Compans B, Letellier M, Bartol TM, Grillo-Bosch D, Sejnowski TJ, Sainlos M, Choquet D, Thoumine O and Hosy E (2018) Pre-post synaptic alignment through neuroligin-1 tunes synaptic transmission efficiency. *Elife* **7**.
- Halt AR, Dallapiazza RF, Zhou Y, Stein IS, Qian H, Juntti S, Wojcik S, Brose N, Silva AJ and Hell JW (2012) CaMKII binding to GluN2B is critical during memory consolidation. *EMBO J* 31(5): 1203-1216.
- Hamilton NB and Attwell D (2010) Do astrocytes really exocytose neurotransmitters? *Nat Rev Neurosci* **11**(4): 227-238.
- Hansel D and Mato G (2013) Short-term plasticity explains irregular persistent activity in working memory tasks. *J Neurosci* **33**(1): 133-149.
- Hansen KB, Ogden KK, Yuan H and Traynelis SF (2014) Distinct functional and pharmacological properties of Triheteromeric GluN1/GluN2A/GluN2B NMDA receptors. *Neuron* **81**(5): 1084-1096.
- Hansen KB, Wollmuth LP, Bowie D, Furukawa H, Menniti FS, Sobolevsky AI, Swanson GT, Swanger SA, Greger IH, Nakagawa T, McBain CJ, Jayaraman V, Low CM, Dell'Acqua ML, Diamond JS, Camp CR, Perszyk RE, Yuan H and Traynelis SF (2021) Structure, Function, and Pharmacology of Glutamate Receptor Ion Channels. *Pharmacol Rev* 73(4): 298-487.
- Hansen KB, Yi F, Perszyk RE, Menniti FS and Traynelis SF (2017) NMDA Receptors in the Central Nervous System. *Methods Mol Biol* **1677**: 1-80.
- Hanson E, Armbruster M, Lau LA, Sommer ME, Klaft ZJ, Swanger SA, Traynelis SF, Moss SJ, Noubary F, Chadchankar J and Dulla CG (2019) Tonic Activation of GluN2C/GluN2D-Containing NMDA Receptors by Ambient Glutamate Facilitates Cortical Interneuron Maturation. J Neurosci 39(19): 3611-3626.
- Hardingham GE and Bading H (2010) Synaptic versus extrasynaptic NMDA receptor signalling: implications for neurodegenerative disorders. *Nat Rev Neurosci* **11**(10): 682-696.
- Haroon E, Miller AH and Sanacora G (2017) Inflammation, Glutamate, and Glia: A Trio of Trouble in Mood Disorders. *Neuropsychopharmacology* **42**(1): 193-215.
- Harris AZ and Pettit DL (2007) Extrasynaptic and synaptic NMDA receptors form stable and uniform pools in rat hippocampal slices. *J Physiol* **584**(Pt 2): 509-519.

- Harris AZ and Pettit DL (2008) Recruiting extrasynaptic NMDA receptors augments synaptic signaling. *J Neurophysiol* **99**(2): 524-533.
- Helassa N, Durst CD, Coates C, Kerruth S, Arif U, Schulze C, Wiegert JS, Geeves M, Oertner TG and Torok K (2018) Ultrafast glutamate sensors resolve high-frequency release at Schaffer collateral synapses. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **115**(21): 5594-5599.
- Henle F, Dehmel M, Leemhuis J, Fischer C and Meyer DK (2012) Role of GluN2A and GluN2B subunits in the formation of filopodia and secondary dendrites in cultured hippocampal neurons. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol* 385(2): 171-180.
- Henneberger C, Bard L, Panatier A, Reynolds JP, Kopach O, Medvedev NI, Minge D, Herde MK, Anders S, Kraev I, Heller JP, Rama S, Zheng K, Jensen TP, Sanchez-Romero I, Jackson CJ, Janovjak H, Ottersen OP, Nagelhus EA, Oliet SHR, Stewart MG, Nagerl UV and Rusakov DA (2020) LTP Induction Boosts Glutamate Spillover by Driving Withdrawal of Perisynaptic Astroglia. *Neuron* 108(5): 919-936 e911.
- Henneberger C, Juttner R, Schmidt SA, Walter J, Meier JC, Rothe T and Grantyn R (2005) GluR- and TrkB-mediated maturation of GABA receptor function during the period of eye opening. *Eur J Neurosci* **21**(2): 431-440.
- Herman MA and Jahr CE (2007) Extracellular glutamate concentration in hippocampal slice. J Neurosci 27(36): 9736-9741.
- Herman MA, Nahir B and Jahr CE (2011) Distribution of extracellular glutamate in the neuropil of hippocampus. *PLoS ONE* **6**(11): e26501.
- Hildebrand ME, Pitcher GM, Harding EK, Li H, Beggs S and Salter MW (2014) GluN2B and GluN2D NMDARs dominate synaptic responses in the adult spinal cord. *Sci Rep* **4**: 4094.
- Hillman BG, Gupta SC, Stairs DJ, Buonanno A and Dravid SM (2011) Behavioral analysis of NR2C knockout mouse reveals deficit in acquisition of conditioned fear and working memory. *Neurobiol Learn Mem* **95**(4): 404-414.
- Hirai K, Yoshioka H, Kihara M, Hasegawa K, Sakamoto T, Sawada T and Fushiki S (1999) Inhibiting neuronal migration by blocking NMDA receptors in the embryonic rat cerebral cortex: a tissue culture study. *Brain Res Dev Brain Res* 114(1): 63-67.
- Hirasawa T, Wada H, Kohsaka S and Uchino S (2003) Inhibition of NMDA receptors induces delayed neuronal maturation and sustained proliferation of progenitor cells during neocortical development. *J Neurosci Res* **74**(5): 676-687.
- Hodge RD, Bakken TE, Miller JA, Smith KA, Barkan ER, Graybuck LT, Close JL, Long B, Johansen N, Penn O, Yao Z, Eggermont J, Hollt T, Levi BP, Shehata SI, Aevermann B, Beller A, Bertagnolli D, Brouner K, Casper T, Cobbs C, Dalley R, Dee N, Ding SL, Ellenbogen RG, Fong O, Garren E, Goldy J, Gwinn RP, Hirschstein D, Keene CD, Keshk M, Ko AL, Lathia K, Mahfouz A, Maltzer Z, McGraw M, Nguyen TN, Nyhus J, Ojemann JG, Oldre A, Parry S, Reynolds S, Rimorin C, Shapovalova NV, Somasundaram S, Szafer A, Thomsen ER, Tieu M, Quon G, Scheuermann RH, Yuste R, Sunkin SM, Lelieveldt B, Feng D, Ng L, Bernard A, Hawrylycz M, Phillips JW, Tasic B, Zeng H, Jones AR, Koch C and Lein ES (2019) Conserved cell types with divergent features in human versus mouse cortex. *Nature* 573(7772): 61-68.
- Howell KB, Eggers S, Dalziel K, Riseley J, Mandelstam S, Myers CT, McMahon JM, Schneider A, Carvill GL, Mefford HC, Victorian Severe Epilepsy of Infancy Study G, Scheffer IE and Harvey AS (2018) A population-based cost-effectiveness study of early genetic testing in severe epilepsies of infancy. *Epilepsia* 59(6): 1177-1187.

- Huang Z and Gibb AJ (2014) Mg2+ block properties of triheteromeric GluN1-GluN2B-GluN2D NMDA receptors on neonatal rat substantia nigra pars compacta dopaminergic neurones. *J Physiol* **592**(10): 2059-2078.
- Iacobucci GJ and Popescu GK (2017) NMDA receptors: linking physiological output to biophysical operation. *Nat Rev Neurosci* **18**(4): 236-249.
- Ikeda K, Araki K, Takayama C, Inoue Y, Yagi T, Aizawa S and Mishina M (1995a) Reduced spontaneous activity of mice defective in the epsilon 4 subunit of the NMDA receptor channel. *Brain Res Mol Brain Res* **33**(1): 61-71.
- Ikeda K, Araki K, Takayama C, Inoue Y, Yagi T, Aizawa S and Mishina M (1995b) Reduced spontaneous activity of mice defective in the î4 subunit of the NMDA receptor channel. *MolBrain Res* **33**: 61-71.
- Incontro S, Diaz-Alonso J, Iafrati J, Vieira M, Asensio CS, Sohal VS, Roche KW, Bender KJ and Nicoll RA (2018) The CaMKII/NMDA receptor complex controls hippocampal synaptic transmission by kinase-dependent and independent mechanisms. *Nat Commun* **9**(1): 2069.
- Isaacson JS and Murphy GJ (2001) Glutamate-mediated extrasynaptic inhibition: direct coupling of NMDA receptors to Ca(2+)-activated K+ channels. *Neuron* **31**(6): 1027-1034.
- Ito I, Futai K, Katagiri H, Watanabe M, Sakimura K, Mishina M and Sugiyama H (1997) Synapse-selective impairment of NMDA receptor functions in mice lacking NMDA receptor epsilon 1 or epsilon 2 subunit. *J Physiol* **500** (**Pt 2**): 401-408.
- Iwasato T, Datwani A, Wolf AM, Nishiyama H, Taguchi Y, Tonegawa S, Knopfel T, Erzurumlu RS and Itohara S (2000) Cortex-restricted disruption of NMDAR1 impairs neuronal patterns in the barrel cortex. *Nature* **406**(6797): 726-731.
- Iwasato T, Erzurumlu RS, Huerta PT, Chen DF, Sasaoka T, Ulupinar E and Tonegawa S (1997) NMDA receptor-dependent refinement of somatotopic maps. *Neuron* **19**(6): 1201-1210.
- Jaaskelainen IP, Ahveninen J, Andermann ML, Belliveau JW, Raij T and Sams M (2011) Shortterm plasticity as a neural mechanism supporting memory and attentional functions. *Brain Res* 1422: 66-81.
- Jackman SL and Regehr WG (2017) The Mechanisms and Functions of Synaptic Facilitation. *Neuron* **94**(3): 447-464.
- Jiao J, Li L, Sun M, Fang J, Meng L, Zhang Y, Jia C and Ma L (2021) Identification of a novel GRIN2D variant in a neonate with intractable epileptic encephalopathy-a case report. BMC Pediatr 21(1): 5.
- Johnston D, Williams S, Jaffe D and Gray R (1992) NMDA-receptor-independent long-term potentiation. *Annu Rev Physiol* **54**: 489-505.
- Jonas P (2000) The Time Course of Signaling at Central Glutamatergic Synapses. *News Physiol Sci* **15**: 83-89.
- Jones S and Gibb AJ (2005) Functional NR2B- and NR2D-containing NMDA receptor channels in rat substantia nigra dopaminergic neurones. *J Physiol* **569**(Pt 1): 209-221.
- Joo JY, Kim BW, Lee JS, Park JY, Kim S, Yun YJ, Lee SH, Lee SH, Rhim H and Son H (2007) Activation of NMDA receptors increases proliferation and differentiation of hippocampal neural progenitor cells. *J Cell Sci* **120**(Pt 8): 1358-1370.
- Jourdain P, Bergersen LH, Bhaukaurally K, Bezzi P, Santello M, Domercq M, Matute C, Tonello F, Gundersen V and Volterra A (2007) Glutamate exocytosis from astrocytes controls synaptic strength. *Nat Neurosci* **10**(3): 331-339.
- Kadotani H, Hirano T, Masugi M, Nakamura K, Nakao K, Katsuki M and Nakanishi S (1996)
 Motor discoordination results from combined gene disruption of the NMDA receptor
 NR2A and NR2C subunits, but not from single disruption of the NR2A or NR2C subunit. J Neurosci 16(24): 7859-7867.
- Kaindl AM, Degos V, Peineau S, Gouadon E, Chhor V, Loron G, Le Charpentier T, Josserand J, Ali C, Vivien D, Collingridge GL, Lombet A, Issa L, Rene F, Loeffler JP, Kavelaars A, Verney C, Mantz J and Gressens P (2012) Activation of microglial N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors triggers inflammation and neuronal cell death in the developing and mature brain. *Ann Neurol* 72(4): 536-549.
- Kalb RG (1994) Regulation of motor neuron dendrite growth by NMDA receptor activation. *Development* **120**(11): 3063-3071.
- Kalbaugh TL, Zhang J and Diamond JS (2009) Coagonist release modulates NMDA receptor subtype contributions at synaptic inputs to retinal ganglion cells. *J Neurosci* **29**(5): 1469-1479.
- Karadottir R, Cavelier P, Bergersen LH and Attwell D (2005) NMDA receptors are expressed in oligodendrocytes and activated in ischaemia. *Nature* **438**(7071): 1162-1166.
- Karakas E and Furukawa H (2014) Crystal structure of a heterotetrameric NMDA receptor ion channel. *Science* **344**(6187): 992-997.
- Karavanova I, Vasudevan K, Cheng J and Buonanno A (2007) Novel regional and developmental NMDA receptor expression patterns uncovered in NR2C subunit-beta-galactosidase knock-in mice. *Mol Cell Neurosci* **34**(3): 468-480.
- Kaufman AM, Milnerwood AJ, Sepers MD, Coquinco A, She K, Wang L, Lee H, Craig AM, Cynader M and Raymond LA (2012) Opposing roles of synaptic and extrasynaptic NMDA receptor signaling in cocultured striatal and cortical neurons. *J Neurosci* 32(12): 3992-4003.
- Kellermayer B, Ferreira JS, Dupuis J, Levet F, Grillo-Bosch D, Bard L, Linares-Loyez J, Bouchet D, Choquet D, Rusakov DA, Bon P, Sibarita JB, Cognet L, Sainlos M, Carvalho AL and Groc L (2018) Differential Nanoscale Topography and Functional Role of GluN2-NMDA Receptor Subtypes at Glutamatergic Synapses. *Neuron* 100(1): 106-119 e107.
- Kelsch W, Li Z, Wieland S, Senkov O, Herb A, Gongrich C and Monyer H (2014) GluN2Bcontaining NMDA receptors promote glutamate synapse development in hippocampal interneurons. *J Neurosci* **34**(48): 16022-16030.
- Kemp N, McQueen J, Faulkes S and Bashir ZI (2000) Different forms of LTD in the CA1 region of the hippocampus: role of age and stimulus protocol. *Eur J Neurosci* **12**(1): 360-366.
- Kessler JP (2013) Control of cleft glutamate concentration and glutamate spill-out by perisynaptic glia: uptake and diffusion barriers. *PLoS ONE* **8**(8): e70791.
- Kharazia VN and Weinberg RJ (1999) Immunogold localization of AMPA and NMDA receptors in somatic sensory cortex of albino rat. *J Comp Neurol* **412**(2): 292-302.
- Kitayama T, Yoneyama M and Yoneda Y (2003) Possible regulation by N-methyl-d-aspartate receptors of proliferative progenitor cells expressed in adult mouse hippocampal dentate gyrus. *J Neurochem* **84**(4): 767-780.
- Kofuji P and Araque A (2020) G-Protein-Coupled Receptors in Astrocyte-Neuron Communication. *Neuroscience*.
- Kohr G (2006) NMDA receptor function: subunit composition versus spatial distribution. *Cell Tissue Res* **326**(2): 439-446.

- Komuro H and Rakic P (1993) Modulation of neuronal migration by NMDA receptors. *Science* **260**(5104): 95-97.
- Kumar SS and Huguenard JR (2003) Pathway-specific differences in subunit composition of synaptic NMDA receptors on pyramidal neurons in neocortex. *J Neurosci* **23**(31): 10074-10083.
- Kuner T and Schoepfer R (1996) Multiple structural elements determine subunit specificity of Mg2+ block in NMDA receptor channels. *J Neurosci* **16**(11): 3549-3558.
- Kuperberg M, Lev D, Blumkin L, Zerem A, Ginsberg M, Linder I, Carmi N, Kivity S, Lerman-Sagie T and Leshinsky-Silver E (2016) Utility of Whole Exome Sequencing for Genetic Diagnosis of Previously Undiagnosed Pediatric Neurology Patients. *J Child Neurol* 31(14): 1534-1539.
- Kutsuwada T, Sakimura K, Manabe T, Takayama C, Katakura N, Kushiya E, Natsume R, Watanabe M, Inoue Y, Yagi T, Aizawa S, Arakawa M, Takahashi T, Nakamura Y, Mori H and Mishina M (1996a) Impairment of suckling response, trigeminal neuronal pattern formation, and hippocampal LTD in NMDA receptor epsilon 2 subunit mutant mice. *Neuron* 16(2): 333-344.
- Kutsuwada T, Sakimura K, Manabe T, Takayama C, Katakura N, Kushiya E, Natsume R,
 Watanabe M, Inoue Y, Yagi T, Aizawa S, Arakawa M, Takahashi T, Nakamura Y, Mori H and Mishina M (1996b) Impairment of suckling response, trigeminal neuronal pattern formation, and hippocampal LTD in NMDA receptor î2 subunit mutant mice. *Neuron* 16: 333-344.
- Kwon HB and Sabatini BL (2011) Glutamate induces de novo growth of functional spines in developing cortex. *Nature* **474**(7349): 100-104.
- Larkum ME, Nevian T, Sandler M, Polsky A and Schiller J (2009) Synaptic integration in tuft dendrites of layer 5 pyramidal neurons: a new unifying principle. *Science* **325**(5941): 756-760.
- Larsen RS, Corlew RJ, Henson MA, Roberts AC, Mishina M, Watanabe M, Lipton SA, Nakanishi N, Perez-Otano I, Weinberg RJ and Philpot BD (2011) NR3A-containing NMDARs promote neurotransmitter release and spike timing-dependent plasticity. *Nat Neurosci* 14(3): 338-344.
- Larson J and Munkacsy E (2015) Theta-burst LTP. Brain Res 1621: 38-50.
- Laurie DJ and Seeburg PH (1994) Regional and developmental heterogeneity in splicing of the rat brain NMDAR1 mRNA. *J Neurosci* 14(5 Pt 2): 3180-3194.
- Lavzin M, Rapoport S, Polsky A, Garion L and Schiller J (2012) Nonlinear dendritic processing determines angular tuning of barrel cortex neurons in vivo. *Nature* **490**(7420): 397-401.
- Le Bail M, Martineau M, Sacchi S, Yatsenko N, Radzishevsky I, Conrod S, Ait Ouares K, Wolosker H, Pollegioni L, Billard JM and Mothet JP (2015) Identity of the NMDA receptor coagonist is synapse specific and developmentally regulated in the hippocampus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **112**(2): E204-213.
- Le Meur K, Galante M, Angulo MC and Audinat E (2007) Tonic activation of NMDA receptors by ambient glutamate of non-synaptic origin in the rat hippocampus. *J Physiol* **580**(Pt. 2): 373-383.
- Lee CH, Lu W, Michel JC, Goehring A, Du J, Song X and Gouaux E (2014) NMDA receptor structures reveal subunit arrangement and pore architecture. *Nature* **511**(7508): 191-197.
- Lee CJ, Mannaioni G, Yuan H, Woo DH, Gingrich MB and Traynelis SF (2007) Astrocytic control of synaptic NMDA receptors. *J Physiol* **581**(Pt 3): 1057-1081.

- Lee HK, Kameyama K, Huganir RL and Bear MF (1998) NMDA induces long-term synaptic depression and dephosphorylation of the GluR1 subunit of AMPA receptors in hippocampus. *Neuron* **21**(5): 1151-1162.
- Lee HK, Min SS, Gallagher M and Kirkwood A (2005) NMDA receptor-independent long-term depression correlates with successful aging in rats. *Nat Neurosci* **8**(12): 1657-1659.
- Lee HK, Takamiya K, Han JS, Man H, Kim CH, Rumbaugh G, Yu S, Ding L, He C, Petralia RS, Wenthold RJ, Gallagher M and Huganir RL (2003) Phosphorylation of the AMPA receptor GluR1 subunit is required for synaptic plasticity and retention of spatial memory. *Cell* 112(5): 631-643.
- Lemke JR, Lal D, Reinthaler EM, Steiner I, Nothnagel M, Alber M, Geider K, Laube B, Schwake M, Finsterwalder K, Franke A, Schilhabel M, Jahn JA, Muhle H, Boor R, Van Paesschen W, Caraballo R, Fejerman N, Weckhuysen S, De Jonghe P, Larsen J, Moller RS, Hjalgrim H, Addis L, Tang S, Hughes E, Pal DK, Veri K, Vaher U, Talvik T, Dimova P, Guerrero Lopez R, Serratosa JM, Linnankivi T, Lehesjoki AE, Ruf S, Wolff M, Buerki S, Wohlrab G, Kroell J, Datta AN, Fiedler B, Kurlemann G, Kluger G, Hahn A, Haberlandt DE, Kutzer C, Sperner J, Becker F, Weber YG, Feucht M, Steinbock H, Neophythou B, Ronen GM, Gruber-Sedlmayr U, Geldner J, Harvey RJ, Hoffmann P, Herms S, Altmuller J, Toliat MR, Thiele H, Nurnberg P, Wilhelm C, Stephani U, Helbig I, Lerche H, Zimprich F, Neubauer BA, Biskup S and von Spiczak S (2013) Mutations in GRIN2A cause idiopathic focal epilepsy with rolandic spikes. *Nat Genet* 45(9): 1067-1072.
- Leonard AS, Lim IA, Hemsworth DE, Horne MC and Hell JW (1999) Calcium/calmodulindependent protein kinase II is associated with the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **96**(6): 3239-3244.
- Lesca G, Rudolf G, Bruneau N, Lozovaya N, Labalme A, Boutry-Kryza N, Salmi M, Tsintsadze T, Addis L, Motte J, Wright S, Tsintsadze V, Michel A, Doummar D, Lascelles K, Strug L, Waters P, de Bellescize J, Vrielynck P, de Saint Martin A, Ville D, Ryvlin P, Arzimanoglou A, Hirsch E, Vincent A, Pal D, Burnashev N, Sanlaville D and Szepetowski P (2013) GRIN2A mutations in acquired epileptic aphasia and related childhood focal epilepsies and encephalopathies with speech and language dysfunction. *Nat Genet* 45(9): 1061-1066.
- Lester RA, Clements JD, Westbrook GL and Jahr CE (1990) Channel kinetics determine the time course of NMDA receptor-mediated synaptic currents. *Nature* **346**(6284): 565-567.
- Li D, Yuan H, Ortiz-Gonzalez XR, Marsh ED, Tian L, McCormick EM, Kosobucki GJ, Chen W, Schulien AJ, Chiavacci R, Tankovic A, Naase C, Brueckner F, von Stulpnagel-Steinbeis C, Hu C, Kusumoto H, Hedrich UB, Elsen G, Hortnagel K, Aizenman E, Lemke JR, Hakonarson H, Traynelis SF and Falk MJ (2016) GRIN2D Recurrent De Novo Dominant Mutation Causes a Severe Epileptic Encephalopathy Treatable with NMDA Receptor Channel Blockers. *Am J Hum Genet* **99**(4): 802-816.
- Li H, Rajani V, Han L, Chung D, Cooke JE, Sengar AS and Salter MW (2021) Alternative splicing of GluN1 gates glycine site-dependent nonionotropic signaling by NMDAR receptors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **118**(27).
- Li J, Zhang J, Tang W, Mizu RK, Kusumoto H, XiangWei W, Xu Y, Chen W, Amin JB, Hu C, Kannan V, Keller SR, Wilcox WR, Lemke JR, Myers SJ, Swanger SA, Wollmuth LP, Petrovski S, Traynelis SF and Yuan H (2019) De novo GRIN variants in NMDA receptor

M2 channel pore-forming loop are associated with neurological diseases. *Hum Mutat* **40**(12): 2393-2413.

- Li M, Zhang DQ, Wang XZ and Xu TJ (2011) NR2B-containing NMDA receptors promote neural progenitor cell proliferation through CaMKIV/CREB pathway. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **411**(4): 667-672.
- Li W and Pozzo-Miller L (2019) Differences in GluN2B-Containing NMDA Receptors Result in Distinct Long-Term Plasticity at Ipsilateral versus Contralateral Cortico-Striatal Synapses. *eNeuro* **6**(6).
- Li Y, Erzurumlu RS, Chen C, Jhaveri S and Tonegawa S (1994) Whisker-related neuronal patterns fail to develop in the trigeminal brainstem nuclei of NMDAR1 knockout mice. *Cell* **76**(3): 427-437.
- Lind GE, Mou TC, Tamborini L, Pomper MG, De Micheli C, Conti P, Pinto A and Hansen KB (2017) Structural basis of subunit selectivity for competitive NMDA receptor antagonists with preference for GluN2A over GluN2B subunits. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **114**(33): E6942-E6951.
- Lisman J (1989) A mechanism for the Hebb and the anti-Hebb processes underlying learning and memory. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **86**(23): 9574-9578.
- Lisman J, Yasuda R and Raghavachari S (2012) Mechanisms of CaMKII action in long-term potentiation. *Nat Rev Neurosci* **13**(3): 169-182.
- Liu J, Shelkar GP, Sarode LP, Gawande DY, Zhao F, Clausen RP, Ugale RR and Dravid SM (2021) Facilitation of GluN2C-containing NMDA receptors in the external globus pallidus increases firing of fast spiking neurons and improves motor function in a hemiparkinsonian mouse model. *Neurobiol Dis* **150**: 105254.
- Liu J, Shelkar GP, Zhao F, Clausen RP and Dravid SM (2019) Modulation of burst firing of neurons in nucleus reticularis of the thalamus by GluN2C-containing NMDA receptors. *Mol Pharmacol.*
- Lopez de Armentia M and Sah P (2003) Development and subunit composition of synaptic NMDA receptors in the amygdala: NR2B synapses in the adult central amygdala. *J Neurosci* **23**(17): 6876-6883.
- Losonczy A and Magee JC (2006) Integrative properties of radial oblique dendrites in hippocampal CA1 pyramidal neurons. *Neuron* **50**(2): 291-307.
- Lu W, Bushong EA, Shih TP, Ellisman MH and Nicoll RA (2013) The cell-autonomous role of excitatory synaptic transmission in the regulation of neuronal structure and function. *Neuron* **78**(3): 433-439.
- Lu W, Du J, Goehring A and Gouaux E (2017) Cryo-EM structures of the triheteromeric NMDA receptor and its allosteric modulation. *Science* **355**(6331).
- Lu W, Man H, Ju W, Trimble WS, MacDonald JF and Wang YT (2001) Activation of synaptic NMDA receptors induces membrane insertion of new AMPA receptors and LTP in cultured hippocampal neurons. *Neuron* **29**(1): 243-254.
- Luk KC, Kennedy TE and Sadikot AF (2003) Glutamate promotes proliferation of striatal neuronal progenitors by an NMDA receptor-mediated mechanism. *J Neurosci* **23**(6): 2239-2250.
- Luque JM, Bleuel Z, Malherbe P and Richards JG (1994) Alternatively spliced isoforms of the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor subunit 1 are differentially distributed within the rat spinal cord. *Neuroscience* **63**(3): 629-635.

- Luscher C and Malenka RC (2012) NMDA receptor-dependent long-term potentiation and long-term depression (LTP/LTD). *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol* **4**(6).
- Luthi A, Schwyzer L, Mateos JM, Gahwiler BH and McKinney RA (2001) NMDA receptor activation limits the number of synaptic connections during hippocampal development. *Nat Neurosci* 4(11): 1102-1107.
- Lynch G, Larson J, Kelso S, Barrionuevo G and Schottler F (1983) Intracellular injections of EGTA block induction of hippocampal long-term potentiation. *Nature* **305**(5936): 719-721.
- MacGillavry HD, Song Y, Raghavachari S and Blanpied TA (2013) Nanoscale scaffolding domains within the postsynaptic density concentrate synaptic AMPA receptors. *Neuron* **78**(4): 615-622.
- Madeira C, Lourenco MV, Vargas-Lopes C, Suemoto CK, Brandao CO, Reis T, Leite RE, Laks J, Jacob-Filho W, Pasqualucci CA, Grinberg LT, Ferreira ST and Panizzutti R (2015) d-serine levels in Alzheimer's disease: implications for novel biomarker development. *Transl Psychiatry* **5**: e561.
- Mahmoud H, Martin N and Hildebrand ME (2020) Conserved contributions of NMDA receptor subtypes to synaptic responses in lamina II spinal neurons across early postnatal development. *Mol Brain* **13**(1): 31.
- Major G, Polsky A, Denk W, Schiller J and Tank DW (2008) Spatiotemporally graded NMDA spike/plateau potentials in basal dendrites of neocortical pyramidal neurons. *J Neurophysiol* **99**(5): 2584-2601.
- Maletic-Savatic M, Malinow R and Svoboda K (1999) Rapid dendritic morphogenesis in CA1 hippocampal dendrites induced by synaptic activity. *Science* **283**(5409): 1923-1927.
- Malinow R, Schulman H and Tsien RW (1989) Inhibition of postsynaptic PKC or CaMKII blocks induction but not expression of LTP. *Science* **245**(4920): 862-866.
- Mameli M, Carta M, Partridge LD and Valenzuela CF (2005) Neurosteroid-induced plasticity of immature synapses via retrograde modulation of presynaptic NMDA receptors. *J Neurosci* **25**(9): 2285-2294.
- Mancini JD and Atchison WD (2007) The NR2B subunit in NMDA receptors is functionally important during cerebellar granule cell migration. *Neurosci Lett* **429**(2-3): 87-90.
- Manent JB, Jorquera I, Ben-Ari Y, Aniksztejn L and Represa A (2006) Glutamate acting on AMPA but not NMDA receptors modulates the migration of hippocampal interneurons. *J Neurosci* **26**(22): 5901-5909.
- Manita S, Miyazaki K and Ross WN (2011) Synaptically activated Ca2+ waves and NMDA spikes locally suppress voltage-dependent Ca2+ signalling in rat pyramidal cell dendrites. *J Physiol* **589**(Pt 20): 4903-4920.
- Mann EO and Mody I (2010) Control of hippocampal gamma oscillation frequency by tonic inhibition and excitation of interneurons. *Nat Neurosci* **13**(2): 205-212.
- Mannaioni G, Marino MJ, Valenti O, Traynelis SF and Conn PJ (2001) Metabotropic glutamate receptors 1 and 5 differentially regulate CA1 pyramidal cell function. *J Neurosci* **21**(16): 5925-5934.
- Marret S, Gressens P and Evrard P (1996) Arrest of neuronal migration by excitatory amino acids in hamster developing brain. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **93**(26): 15463-15468.
- Massey PV, Johnson BE, Moult PR, Auberson YP, Brown MW, Molnar E, Collingridge GL and Bashir ZI (2004) Differential roles of NR2A and NR2B-containing NMDA receptors in cortical long-term potentiation and long-term depression. *J Neurosci* **24**(36): 7821-7828.

- McGuinness L, Taylor C, Taylor RD, Yau C, Langenhan T, Hart ML, Christian H, Tynan PW, Donnelly P and Emptage NJ (2010) Presynaptic NMDARs in the hippocampus facilitate transmitter release at theta frequency. *Neuron* **68**(6): 1109-1127.
- McKay S, Ryan TJ, McQueen J, Indersmitten T, Marwick KFM, Hasel P, Kopanitsa MV, Baxter PS, Martel MA, Kind PC, Wyllie DJA, O'Dell TJ, Grant SGN, Hardingham GE and Komiyama NH (2018) The Developmental Shift of NMDA Receptor Composition Proceeds Independently of GluN2 Subunit-Specific GluN2 C-Terminal Sequences. *Cell reports* 25(4): 841-851 e844.
- McKinney RA (2010) Excitatory amino acid involvement in dendritic spine formation, maintenance and remodelling. *J Physiol* **588**(Pt 1): 107-116.
- Messersmith EK, Feller MB, Zhang H and Shatz CJ (1997) Migration of neocortical neurons in the absence of functional NMDA receptors. *Mol Cell Neurosci* **9**(5-6): 347-357.
- Micu I, Jiang Q, Coderre E, Ridsdale A, Zhang L, Woulfe J, Yin X, Trapp BD, McRory JE, Rehak R, Zamponi GW, Wang W and Stys PK (2006) NMDA receptors mediate calcium accumulation in myelin during chemical ischaemia. *Nature* **439**(7079): 988-992.
- Mierau SB, Patrizi A, Hensch TK and Fagiolini M (2016) Cell-Specific Regulation of N-Methyl-D-Aspartate Receptor Maturation by Mecp2 in Cortical Circuits. *Biol Psychiatry* **79**(9): 746-754.
- Milojkovic BA, Radojicic MS, Goldman-Rakic PS and Antic SD (2004) Burst generation in rat pyramidal neurones by regenerative potentials elicited in a restricted part of the basilar dendritic tree. *J Physiol* **558**(Pt 1): 193-211.
- Miyata M and Imoto K (2006) Different composition of glutamate receptors in corticothalamic and lemniscal synaptic responses and their roles in the firing responses of ventrobasal thalamic neurons in juvenile mice. *J Physiol* **575**(Pt 1): 161-174.
- Mochizuki N, Takagi N, Kurokawa K, Kawai T, Besshoh S, Tanonaka K and Takeo S (2007) Effect of NMDA receptor antagonist on proliferation of neurospheres from embryonic brain. *Neurosci Lett* **417**(2): 143-148.
- Mohamad O, Song M, Wei L and Yu SP (2013) Regulatory roles of the NMDA receptor GluN3A subunit in locomotion, pain perception and cognitive functions in adult mice. J Physiol **591**(1): 149-168.
- Moldavski A, Behr J, Bading H and Bengtson CP (2020) A novel method using ambient glutamate for the electrophysiological quantification of extrasynaptic NMDA receptor function in acute brain slices. *J Physiol* **598**(4): 633-650.
- Momiyama A (2000) Distinct synaptic and extrasynaptic NMDA receptors identified in dorsal horn neurones of the adult rat spinal cord. *J Physiol* **523 Pt 3**: 621-628.
- Monyer H, Burnashev N, Laurie DJ, Sakmann B and Seeburg PH (1994) Developmental and regional expression in the rat brain and functional properties of four NMDA receptors. *Neuron* **12**(3): 529-540.
- Monyer H, Sprengel R, Schoepfer R, Herb A, Higuchi M, Lomeli H, Burnashev N, Sakmann B and Seeburg PH (1992) Heteromeric NMDA receptors: molecular and functional distinction of subtypes. *Science* **256**(5060): 1217-1221.
- Morishita W, Lu W, Smith GB, Nicoll RA, Bear MF and Malenka RC (2007) Activation of NR2B-containing NMDA receptors is not required for NMDA receptor-dependent long-term depression. *Neuropharmacology* **52**(1): 71-76.
- Moriyoshi K, Masu M, Ishii T, Shigemoto R, Mizuno N and Nakanishi S (1991) Molecular cloning and characterization of the rat NMDA receptor. *Nature* **354**(6348): 31-37.

- Morris PG, Mishina M and Jones S (2018) Altered Synaptic and Extrasynaptic NMDA Receptor Properties in Substantia Nigra Dopaminergic Neurons From Mice Lacking the GluN2D Subunit. *Frontiers in cellular neuroscience* **12**: 354.
- Mothet JP, Le Bail M and Billard JM (2015) Time and space profiling of NMDA receptor coagonist functions. *J Neurochem* **135**(2): 210-225.
- Mulkey RM, Endo S, Shenolikar S and Malenka RC (1994) Involvement of a calcineurin/inhibitor-1 phosphatase cascade in hippocampal long-term depression. *Nature* **369**(6480): 486-488.
- Musleh W, Bi X, Tocco G, Yaghoubi S and Baudry M (1997) Glycine-induced long-term potentiation is associated with structural and functional modifications of alpha-amino-3-hydroxyl-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid receptors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **94**(17): 9451-9456.
- Nabavi S, Fox R, Proulx CD, Lin JY, Tsien RY and Malinow R (2014) Engineering a memory with LTD and LTP. *Nature* **511**(7509): 348-352.
- Nabavi S, Kessels HW, Alfonso S, Aow J, Fox R and Malinow R (2013) Metabotropic NMDA receptor function is required for NMDA receptor-dependent long-term depression. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **110**(10): 4027-4032.
- Nacher J, Alonso-Llosa G, Rosell DR and McEwen BS (2003) NMDA receptor antagonist treatment increases the production of new neurons in the aged rat hippocampus. *Neurobiol Aging* **24**(2): 273-284.
- Nacher J, Rosell DR, Alonso-Llosa G and McEwen BS (2001) NMDA receptor antagonist treatment induces a long-lasting increase in the number of proliferating cells, PSA-NCAM-immunoreactive granule neurons and radial glia in the adult rat dentate gyrus. *Eur J Neurosci* **13**(3): 512-520.
- Nair D, Hosy E, Petersen JD, Constals A, Giannone G, Choquet D and Sibarita JB (2013) Superresolution imaging reveals that AMPA receptors inside synapses are dynamically organized in nanodomains regulated by PSD95. *J Neurosci* **33**(32): 13204-13224.
- Nakanishi N, Axel R and Shneider NA (1992) Alternative splicing generates functionally distinct N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **89**(18): 8552-8556.
- Nakazawa T, Komai S, Watabe AM, Kiyama Y, Fukaya M, Arima-Yoshida F, Horai R, Sudo K, Ebine K, Delawary M, Goto J, Umemori H, Tezuka T, Iwakura Y, Watanabe M, Yamamoto T and Manabe T (2006) NR2B tyrosine phosphorylation modulates fear learning as well as amygdaloid synaptic plasticity. *EMBO J* 25(12): 2867-2877.
- Nicoll RA and Schmitz D (2005) Synaptic plasticity at hippocampal mossy fibre synapses. *Nat Rev Neurosci* **6**(11): 863-876.
- Nie H and Weng HR (2010) Impaired glial glutamate uptake induces extrasynaptic glutamate spillover in the spinal sensory synapses of neuropathic rats. *J Neurophysiol* **103**(5): 2570-2580.
- Niemann S, Kanki H, Fukui Y, Takao K, Fukaya M, Hynynen MN, Churchill MJ, Shefner JM, Bronson RT, Brown RH, Jr., Watanabe M, Miyakawa T, Itohara S and Hayashi Y (2007) Genetic ablation of NMDA receptor subunit NR3B in mouse reveals motoneuronal and nonmotoneuronal phenotypes. *Eur J Neurosci* **26**(6): 1407-1420.
- Nouhi M, Zhang X, Yao N and Chergui K (2018) CIQ, a positive allosteric modulator of GluN2C/D-containing N-methyl-d-aspartate receptors, rescues striatal synaptic plasticity deficit in a mouse model of Parkinson's disease. *CNS Neurosci Ther* **24**(2): 144-153.

- Ogden KK, Chen W, Swanger SA, McDaniel MJ, Fan LZ, Hu C, Tankovic A, Kusumoto H, Kosobucki GJ, Schulien AJ, Su Z, Pecha J, Bhattacharya S, Petrovski S, Cohen AE, Aizenman E, Traynelis SF and Yuan H (2017) Molecular Mechanism of Disease-Associated Mutations in the Pre-M1 Helix of NMDA Receptors and Potential Rescue Pharmacology. *PLoS Genet* **13**(1): e1006536.
- Oh SJ, Han KS, Park H, Woo DH, Kim HY, Traynelis SF and Lee CJ (2012) Protease activated receptor 1-induced glutamate release in cultured astrocytes is mediated by Bestrophin-1 channel but not by vesicular exocytosis. *Mol Brain* **5**: 38.
- Ohno T, Maeda H, Murabe N, Kamiyama T, Yoshioka N, Mishina M and Sakurai M (2010) Specific involvement of postsynaptic GluN2B-containing NMDA receptors in the developmental elimination of corticospinal synapses. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **107**(34): 15252-15257.
- Oikonomou KD, Short SM, Rich MT and Antic SD (2012) Extrasynaptic glutamate receptor activation as cellular bases for dynamic range compression in pyramidal neurons. *Frontiers in physiology* **3**: 334.
- Okuyama N, Takagi N, Kawai T, Miyake-Takagi K and Takeo S (2004) Phosphorylation of extracellular-regulating kinase in NMDA receptor antagonist-induced newly generated neurons in the adult rat dentate gyrus. *J Neurochem* **88**(3): 717-725.
- Oliet SH, Malenka RC and Nicoll RA (1997) Two distinct forms of long-term depression coexist in CA1 hippocampal pyramidal cells. *Neuron* **18**(6): 969-982.
- Otmakhov N, Khibnik L, Otmakhova N, Carpenter S, Riahi S, Asrican B and Lisman J (2004) Forskolin-induced LTP in the CA1 hippocampal region is NMDA receptor dependent. J Neurophysiol 91(5): 1955-1962.
- Otmakhova NA, Otmakhov N, Mortenson LH and Lisman JE (2000) Inhibition of the cAMP pathway decreases early long-term potentiation at CA1 hippocampal synapses. *J Neurosci* **20**(12): 4446-4451.
- Otsu Y, Darcq E, Pietrajtis K, Matyas F, Schwartz E, Bessaih T, Abi Gerges S, Rousseau CV, Grand T, Dieudonne S, Paoletti P, Acsady L, Agulhon C, Kieffer BL and Diana MA (2019) Control of aversion by glycine-gated GluN1/GluN3A NMDA receptors in the adult medial habenula. *Science* **366**(6462): 250-254.
- Paas Y (1998) The macro- and microarchitectures of the ligand-binding domain of glutamate receptors. *Trends Neurosci* **21**(3): 117-125.
- Pafundo DE, Miyamae T, Lewis DA and Gonzalez-Burgos G (2018) Presynaptic Effects of N-Methyl-D-Aspartate Receptors Enhance Parvalbumin Cell-Mediated Inhibition of Pyramidal Cells in Mouse Prefrontal Cortex. *Biol Psychiatry* 84(6): 460-470.
- Palmer LM, Shai AS, Reeve JE, Anderson HL, Paulsen O and Larkum ME (2014) NMDA spikes enhance action potential generation during sensory input. *Nat Neurosci* 17(3): 383-390.
- Paoletti P, Bellone C and Zhou Q (2013) NMDA receptor subunit diversity: impact on receptor properties, synaptic plasticity and disease. *Nat Rev Neurosci* 14(6): 383-400.
- Paolicelli RC, Bolasco G, Pagani F, Maggi L, Scianni M, Panzanelli P, Giustetto M, Ferreira TA, Guiducci E, Dumas L, Ragozzino D and Gross CT (2011) Synaptic pruning by microglia is necessary for normal brain development. *Science* 333(6048): 1456-1458.
- Papouin T, Ladepeche L, Ruel J, Sacchi S, Labasque M, Hanini M, Groc L, Pollegioni L, Mothet JP and Oliet SH (2012) Synaptic and extrasynaptic NMDA receptors are gated by different endogenous coagonists. *Cell* 150(3): 633-646.

- Papouin T and Oliet SH (2014) Organization, control and function of extrasynaptic NMDA receptors. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci* **369**(1654): 20130601.
- Park H, Han KS, Seo J, Lee J, Dravid SM, Woo J, Chun H, Cho S, Bae JY, An H, Koh W, Yoon BE, Berlinguer-Palmini R, Mannaioni G, Traynelis SF, Bae YC, Choi SY and Lee CJ (2015) Channel-mediated astrocytic glutamate modulates hippocampal synaptic plasticity by activating postsynaptic NMDA receptors. *Mol Brain* 8: 7.
- Parsons MP and Raymond LA (2014) Extrasynaptic NMDA receptor involvement in central nervous system disorders. *Neuron* **82**(2): 279-293.
- Paupard MC, Friedman LK and Zukin RS (1997) Developmental regulation and cell-specific expression of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor splice variants in rat hippocampus. *Neuroscience* **79**(2): 399-409.
- Pearlstein E, Gouty-Colomer LA, Michel FJ, Cloarec R and Hammond C (2015) Glutamatergic synaptic currents of nigral dopaminergic neurons follow a postnatal developmental sequence. *Front Cell Neurosci* **9**: 210.
- Perez-Otano I, Larsen RS and Wesseling JF (2016) Emerging roles of GluN3-containing NMDA receptors in the CNS. *Nat Rev Neurosci* 17(10): 623-635.
- Perez-Otano I, Schulteis CT, Contractor A, Lipton SA, Trimmer JS, Sucher NJ and Heinemann SF (2001) Assembly with the NR1 subunit is required for surface expression of NR3A-containing NMDA receptors. *J Neurosci* **21**(4): 1228-1237.
- Personius KE, Slusher BS and Udin SB (2016) Neuromuscular NMDA Receptors Modulate Developmental Synapse Elimination. *J Neurosci* **36**(34): 8783-8789.
- Perszyk RE, DiRaddo JO, Strong KL, Low CM, Ogden KK, Khatri A, Vargish GA, Pelkey KA, Tricoire L, Liotta DC, Smith Y, McBain CJ and Traynelis SF (2016) GluN2D-Containing N-methyl-d-Aspartate Receptors Mediate Synaptic Transmission in Hippocampal Interneurons and Regulate Interneuron Activity. *Mol Pharmacol* 90(6): 689-702.
- Petralia RS (2012) Distribution of extrasynaptic NMDA receptors on neurons. *ScientificWorldJournal* **2012**: 267120.
- Petralia RS, Wang YX, Hua F, Yi Z, Zhou A, Ge L, Stephenson FA and Wenthold RJ (2010) Organization of NMDA receptors at extrasynaptic locations. *Neuroscience* **167**(1): 68-87.
- Petrovski S, Wang Q, Heinzen EL, Allen AS and Goldstein DB (2013) Genic intolerance to functional variation and the interpretation of personal genomes. *PLoS Genet* **9**(8): e1003709.
- Petrus DS, Fabel K, Kronenberg G, Winter C, Steiner B and Kempermann G (2009) NMDA and benzodiazepine receptors have synergistic and antagonistic effects on precursor cells in adult hippocampal neurogenesis. *Eur J Neurosci* **29**(2): 244-252.
- Philpot BD, Weisberg MP, Ramos MS, Sawtell NB, Tang YP, Tsien JZ and Bear MF (2001) Effect of transgenic overexpression of NR2B on NMDA receptor function and synaptic plasticity in visual cortex. *Neuropharmacology* 41(6): 762-770.
- Pla R, Stanco A, Howard MA, Rubin AN, Vogt D, Mortimer N, Cobos I, Potter GB, Lindtner S, Price JD, Nord AS, Visel A, Schreiner CE, Baraban SC, Rowitch DH and Rubenstein JLR (2018) Dlx1 and Dlx2 Promote Interneuron GABA Synthesis, Synaptogenesis, and Dendritogenesis. *Cereb Cortex* 28(11): 3797-3815.
- Platzer K and Lemke JR (1993) GRIN2B-Related Neurodevelopmental Disorder, in *GeneReviews((R))* (Adam MP, Ardinger HH, Pagon RA, Wallace SE, Bean LJH, Mirzaa G and Amemiya A eds), Seattle (WA).

- Platzer K, Yuan H, Schutz H, Winschel A, Chen W, Hu C, Kusumoto H, Heyne HO, Helbig KL, Tang S, Willing MC, Tinkle BT, Adams DJ, Depienne C, Keren B, Mignot C, Frengen E, Stromme P, Biskup S, Docker D, Strom TM, Mefford HC, Myers CT, Muir AM, LaCroix A, Sadleir L, Scheffer IE, Brilstra E, van Haelst MM, van der Smagt JJ, Bok LA, Moller RS, Jensen UB, Millichap JJ, Berg AT, Goldberg EM, De Bie I, Fox S, Major P, Jones JR, Zackai EH, Abou Jamra R, Rolfs A, Leventer RJ, Lawson JA, Roscioli T, Jansen FE, Ranza E, Korff CM, Lehesjoki AE, Courage C, Linnankivi T, Smith DR, Stanley C, Mintz M, McKnight D, Decker A, Tan WH, Tarnopolsky MA, Brady LI, Wolff M, Dondit L, Pedro HF, Parisotto SE, Jones KL, Patel AD, Franz DN, Vanzo R, Marco E, Ranells JD, Di Donato N, Dobyns WB, Laube B, Traynelis SF and Lemke JR (2017) GRIN2B encephalopathy: novel findings on phenotype, variant clustering, functional consequences and treatment aspects. *J Med Genet* 54(7): 460-470.
- Polsky A, Mel B and Schiller J (2009) Encoding and decoding bursts by NMDA spikes in basal dendrites of layer 5 pyramidal neurons. *J Neurosci* **29**(38): 11891-11903.
- Povysheva NV and Johnson JW (2012) Tonic NMDA receptor-mediated current in prefrontal cortical pyramidal cells and fast-spiking interneurons. *J Neurophysiol* **107**(8): 2232-2243.
- Prius-Mengual J, Perez-Rodriguez M, Andrade-Talavera Y and Rodriguez-Moreno A (2019) NMDA Receptors Containing GluN2B/2C/2D Subunits Mediate an Increase in Glutamate Release at Hippocampal CA3-CA1 Synapses. *Mol Neurobiol* **56**(3): 1694-1706.
- Prybylowski K, Rumbaugh G, Wolfe BB and Vicini S (2000) Increased exon 5 expression alters extrasynaptic NMDA receptors in cerebellar neurons. *J Neurochem* **75**(3): 1140-1146.
- Rabacchi S, Bailly Y, Delhaye-Bouchaud N and Mariani J (1992) Involvement of the N-methyl D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor in synapse elimination during cerebellar development. *Science* **256**(5065): 1823-1825.
- Raghunatha P, Vosoughi A, Kauppinen TM and Jackson MF (2020) Microglial NMDA receptors drive pro-inflammatory responses via PARP-1/TRMP2 signaling. *Glia* **68**(7): 1421-1434.
- Rajan I and Cline HT (1998) Glutamate receptor activity is required for normal development of tectal cell dendrites in vivo. *J Neurosci* **18**(19): 7836-7846.
- Rajan I, Witte S and Cline HT (1999) NMDA receptor activity stabilizes presynaptic retinotectal axons and postsynaptic optic tectal cell dendrites in vivo. *J Neurobiol* **38**(3): 357-368.
- Rajani V, Sengar AS and Salter MW (2020) Tripartite signalling by NMDA receptors. *Mol Brain* **13**(1): 23.
- Ramoa AS, Mower AF, Liao D and Jafri SI (2001) Suppression of cortical NMDA receptor function prevents development of orientation selectivity in the primary visual cortex. *J Neurosci* **21**(12): 4299-4309.
- Rao A and Craig AM (1997) Activity regulates the synaptic localization of the NMDA receptor in hippocampal neurons. *Neuron* **19**(4): 801-812.
- Rauner C and Kohr G (2011) Triheteromeric NR1/NR2A/NR2B receptors constitute the major N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor population in adult hippocampal synapses. *J Biol Chem* 286(9): 7558-7566.
- Ravikrishnan A, Gandhi PJ, Shelkar GP, Liu J, Pavuluri R and Dravid SM (2018) Regionspecific Expression of NMDA Receptor GluN2C Subunit in Parvalbumin-Positive Neurons and Astrocytes: Analysis of GluN2C Expression using a Novel Reporter Model. *Neuroscience* 380: 49-62.

- Regan MC, Grant T, McDaniel MJ, Karakas E, Zhang J, Traynelis SF, Grigorieff N and Furukawa H (2018) Structural Mechanism of Functional Modulation by Gene Splicing in NMDA Receptors. *Neuron* 98(3): 521-529 e523.
- Reiprich P, Kilb W and Luhmann HJ (2005) Neonatal NMDA receptor blockade disturbs neuronal migration in rat somatosensory cortex in vivo. *Cereb Cortex* **15**(3): 349-358.
- Riebe I, Seth H, Culley G, Dosa Z, Radi S, Strand K, Frojd V and Hanse E (2016) Tonically active NMDA receptors--a signalling mechanism critical for interneuronal excitability in the CA1 stratum radiatum. *Eur J Neurosci* **43**(2): 169-178.
- Ritter LM, Unis AS and Meador-Woodruff JH (2001) Ontogeny of ionotropic glutamate receptor expression in human fetal brain. *Brain Res Dev Brain Res* **127**(2): 123-133.
- Ritter LM, Vazquez DM and Meador-Woodruff JH (2002) Ontogeny of ionotropic glutamate receptor subunit expression in the rat hippocampus. *Brain Res Dev Brain Res* **139**(2): 227-236.
- Robert A, Black JA and Waxman SG (1998) Endogenous NMDA-receptor activation regulates glutamate release in cultured spinal neurons. *J Neurophysiol* **80**(1): 196-208.
- Rodenas-Ruano A, Chavez AE, Cossio MJ, Castillo PE and Zukin RS (2012) REST-dependent epigenetic remodeling promotes the developmental switch in synaptic NMDA receptors. *Nat Neurosci* **15**(10): 1382-1390.
- Rosato-Siri M, Grandolfo M and Ballerini L (2002) Activity-dependent modulation of GABAergic synapses in developing rat spinal networks in vitro. *Eur J Neurosci* **16**(11): 2123-2135.
- Rossi B, Ogden D, Llano I, Tan YP, Marty A and Collin T (2012) Current and calcium responses to local activation of axonal NMDA receptors in developing cerebellar molecular layer interneurons. *PLoS ONE* 7(6): e39983.
- Rostas JA, Brent VA, Voss K, Errington ML, Bliss TV and Gurd JW (1996) Enhanced tyrosine phosphorylation of the 2B subunit of the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor in long-term potentiation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **93**(19): 10452-10456.
- Rumbaugh G, Prybylowski K, Wang JF and Vicini S (2000) Exon 5 and spermine regulate deactivation of NMDA receptor subtypes. *J Neurophysiol* **83**(3): 1300-1306.
- Rumpel S, Hatt H and Gottmann K (1998) Silent synapses in the developing rat visual cortex: evidence for postsynaptic expression of synaptic plasticity. *J Neurosci* **18**(21): 8863-8874.
- Ruthazer ES, Akerman CJ and Cline HT (2003) Control of axon branch dynamics by correlated activity in vivo. *Science* **301**(5629): 66-70.
- Sadikot AF, Burhan AM, Belanger MC and Sasseville R (1998) NMDA receptor antagonists influence early development of GABAergic interneurons in the mammalian striatum. *Brain Res Dev Brain Res* **105**(1): 35-42.
- Sah P, Hestrin S and Nicoll RA (1989) Tonic activation of NMDA receptors by ambient glutamate enhances excitability of neurons. *Science* **246**(4931): 815-818.
- Sakimura K, Kutsuwada T, Ito I, Manabe T, Takayama C, Kushiya E, Yagi T, Aizawa S, Inoue T, Sugiyama H and Mishina M (1995a) Reduced hippocampal LTP and spatial learning in mice lacking NMDA receptor 2A subunit. *Nature* **373**: 151-155.
- Sakimura K, Kutsuwada T, Ito I, Manabe T, Takayama C, Kushiya E, Yagi T, Aizawa S, Inoue Y, Sugiyama H and et al. (1995b) Reduced hippocampal LTP and spatial learning in mice lacking NMDA receptor epsilon 1 subunit. *Nature* 373(6510): 151-155.

- Salimando GJ, Hyun M, Boyt KM and Winder DG (2020) BNST GluN2D-Containing NMDA Receptors Influence Anxiety- and Depressive-like Behaviors and ModulateCell-Specific Excitatory/Inhibitory Synaptic Balance. *J Neurosci* **40**(20): 3949-3968.
- Salmi M, Bolbos R, Bauer S, Minlebaev M, Burnashev N and Szepetowski P (2018) Transient microstructural brain anomalies and epileptiform discharges in mice defective for epilepsy and language-related NMDA receptor subunit gene Grin2a. *Epilepsia* **59**(10): 1919-1930.
- Salmi M, Del Gallo F, Minlebaev M, Zakharov A, Pauly V, Perron P, Pons-Bennaceur A, Corby-Pellegrino S, Aniksztejn L, Lenck-Santini PP, Epsztein J, Khazipov R, Burnashev N, Bertini G and Szepetowski P (2019) Impaired vocal communication, sleep-related discharges, and transient alteration of slow-wave sleep in developing mice lacking the GluN2A subunit of N-methyl-d-aspartate receptors. *Epilepsia* 60(7): 1424-1437.
- Salter MG and Fern R (2005) NMDA receptors are expressed in developing oligodendrocyte processes and mediate injury. *Nature* **438**(7071): 1167-1171.
- Sanderson JL, Gorski JA and Dell'Acqua ML (2016) NMDA Receptor-Dependent LTD Requires Transient Synaptic Incorporation of Ca(2)(+)-Permeable AMPARs Mediated by AKAP150-Anchored PKA and Calcineurin. *Neuron* **89**(5): 1000-1015.
- Santos-Gomez A, Miguez-Cabello F, Garcia-Recio A, Locubiche-Serra S, Garcia-Diaz R, Soto-Insuga V, Guerrero-Lopez R, Julia-Palacios N, Ciruela F, Garcia-Cazorla A, Soto D, Olivella M and Altafaj X (2021) Disease-associated GRIN protein truncating variants trigger NMDA receptor loss-of-function. *Hum Mol Genet* 29(24): 3859-3871.
- Sattler R, Xiong Z, Lu WY, MacDonald JF and Tymianski M (2000) Distinct roles of synaptic and extrasynaptic NMDA receptors in excitotoxicity. *J Neurosci* **20**(1): 22-33.
- Sceniak MP, Berry CT and Sabo SL (2012) Facilitation of neocortical presynaptic terminal development by NMDA receptor activation. *Neural Dev* 7: 8.
- Sceniak MP, Fedder KN, Wang Q, Droubi S, Babcock K, Patwardhan S, Wright-Zornes J, Pham L and Sabo SL (2019) An autism-associated mutation in GluN2B prevents NMDA receptor trafficking and interferes with dendrite growth. *J Cell Sci* **132**(20).
- Schiller J, Major G, Koester HJ and Schiller Y (2000) NMDA spikes in basal dendrites of cortical pyramidal neurons. *Nature* **404**(6775): 285-289.
- Schmidt JT (2004) Activity-driven sharpening of the retinotectal projection: the search for retrograde synaptic signaling pathways. *J Neurobiol* **59**(1): 114-133.
- Schwartzkroin PA and Wester K (1975) Long-lasting facilitation of a synaptic potential following tetanization in the in vitro hippocampal slice. *Brain Res* **89**(1): 107-119.
- Scimemi A, Fine A, Kullmann DM and Rusakov DA (2004) NR2B-containing receptors mediate cross talk among hippocampal synapses. *J Neurosci* **24**(20): 4767-4777.
- Semple BD, Blomgren K, Gimlin K, Ferriero DM and Noble-Haeusslein LJ (2013) Brain development in rodents and humans: Identifying benchmarks of maturation and vulnerability to injury across species. *Prog Neurobiol* **106-107**: 1-16.
- Sepulveda FJ, Bustos FJ, Inostroza E, Zuniga FA, Neve RL, Montecino M and van Zundert B (2010) Differential roles of NMDA Receptor Subtypes NR2A and NR2B in dendritic branch development and requirement of RasGRF1. *J Neurophysiol* **103**(4): 1758-1770.
- Serulle Y, Zhang S, Ninan I, Puzzo D, McCarthy M, Khatri L, Arancio O and Ziff EB (2007) A GluR1-cGKII interaction regulates AMPA receptor trafficking. *Neuron* **56**(4): 670-688.

- Shelkar GP, Gandhi PJ, Liu J and Dravid SM (2022) Cocaine preference and neuroadaptations are maintained by astrocytic NMDA receptors in the nucleus accumbens. *Sci Adv* 8(29): eabo6574.
- Shelkar GP, Pavuluri R, Gandhi PJ, Ravikrishnan A, Gawande DY, Liu J, Stairs DJ, Ugale RR and Dravid SM (2019) Differential effect of NMDA receptor GluN2C and GluN2D subunit ablation on behavior and channel blocker-induced schizophrenia phenotypes. *Sci Rep* **9**(1): 7572.
- Sheng M, Cummings J, Roldan LA, Jan YN and Jan LY (1994) Changing subunit composition of heteromeric NMDA receptors during development of rat cortex. *Nature* **368**(6467): 144-147.
- Shibata T, Watanabe M, Ichikawa R, Inoue Y and Koyanagi T (1999) Different expressions of alpha-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazole propionic acid and N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor subunit mRNAs between visceromotor and somatomotor neurons of the rat lumbosacral spinal cord. *J Comp Neurol* **404**(2): 172-182.
- Shigetomi E, Bowser DN, Sofroniew MV and Khakh BS (2008) Two forms of astrocyte calcium excitability have distinct effects on NMDA receptor-mediated slow inward currents in pyramidal neurons. *J Neurosci* **28**(26): 6659-6663.
- Shin W, Kim K, Serraz B, Cho YS, Kim D, Kang M, Lee EJ, Lee H, Bae YC, Paoletti P and Kim E (2020) Early correction of synaptic long-term depression improves abnormal anxiety-like behavior in adult GluN2B-C456Y-mutant mice. *PLoS Biol* 18(4): e3000717.
- Shinohara Y (2012) Quantification of postsynaptic density proteins: glutamate receptor subunits and scaffolding proteins. *Hippocampus* **22**(5): 942-953.
- Shinohara Y, Hirase H, Watanabe M, Itakura M, Takahashi M and Shigemoto R (2008) Leftright asymmetry of the hippocampal synapses with differential subunit allocation of glutamate receptors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **105**(49): 19498-19503.
- Silver RA, Colquhoun D, Cull-Candy SG and Edmonds B (1996a) Deactivation and desensitization of non-NMDA receptors in patches and the time course of EPSCs in rat cerebellar granule cells. *J Physiol* **493 (Pt 1)**: 167-173.
- Silver RA, Cull-Candy SG and Takahashi T (1996b) Non-NMDA glutamate receptor occupancy and open probability at a rat cerebellar synapse with single and multiple release sites. *J Physiol* **494** (**Pt 1**): 231-250.
- Simon DK, Prusky GT, O'Leary DD and Constantine-Paton M (1992) N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor antagonists disrupt the formation of a mammalian neural map. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **89**(22): 10593-10597.
- Sitzia G, Mantas I, Zhang X, Svenningsson P and Chergui K (2020) NMDA receptors are altered in the substantia nigra pars reticulata and their blockade ameliorates motor deficits in experimental parkinsonism. *Neuropharmacology* **174**: 108136.
- Sjostedt E, Zhong W, Fagerberg L, Karlsson M, Mitsios N, Adori C, Oksvold P, Edfors F, Limiszewska A, Hikmet F, Huang J, Du Y, Lin L, Dong Z, Yang L, Liu X, Jiang H, Xu X, Wang J, Yang H, Bolund L, Mardinoglu A, Zhang C, von Feilitzen K, Lindskog C, Ponten F, Luo Y, Hokfelt T, Uhlen M and Mulder J (2020) An atlas of the protein-coding genes in the human, pig, and mouse brain. *Science* **367**(6482).
- Sjostrom PJ, Turrigiano GG and Nelson SB (2003) Neocortical LTD via coincident activation of presynaptic NMDA and cannabinoid receptors. *Neuron* **39**(4): 641-654.
- Smith SL, Smith IT, Branco T and Hausser M (2013) Dendritic spikes enhance stimulus selectivity in cortical neurons in vivo. *Nature* **503**(7474): 115-120.

- Srivastava S, Love-Nichols JA, Dies KA, Ledbetter DH, Martin CL, Chung WK, Firth HV, Frazier T, Hansen RL, Prock L, Brunner H, Hoang N, Scherer SW, Sahin M, Miller DT and Group NDDESRW (2019) Meta-analysis and multidisciplinary consensus statement: exome sequencing is a first-tier clinical diagnostic test for individuals with neurodevelopmental disorders. *Genet Med* 21(11): 2413-2421.
- Standaert DG, Landwehrmeyer GB, Kerner JA, Penney JB, Jr. and Young AB (1996) Expression of NMDAR2D glutamate receptor subunit mRNA in neurochemically identified interneurons in the rat neostriatum, neocortex and hippocampus. *Brain Res Mol Brain Res* 42(1): 89-102.
- Standaert DG, Testa CM, Young AB and Penney JB, Jr. (1994) Organization of N-methyl-Daspartate glutamate receptor gene expression in the basal ganglia of the rat. *J Comp Neurol* **343**(1): 1-16.
- Stein IS, Gray JA and Zito K (2015) Non-Ionotropic NMDA Receptor Signaling Drives Activity-Induced Dendritic Spine Shrinkage. *J Neurosci* **35**(35): 12303-12308.
- Stein IS, Park DK, Flores JC, Jahncke JN and Zito K (2020) Molecular Mechanisms of Nonionotropic NMDA Receptor Signaling in Dendritic Spine Shrinkage. J Neurosci 40(19): 3741-3750.
- Strack S and Colbran RJ (1998) Autophosphorylation-dependent targeting of calcium/ calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II by the NR2B subunit of the N-methyl- Daspartate receptor. *J Biol Chem* **273**(33): 20689-20692.
- Strack S, McNeill RB and Colbran RJ (2000) Mechanism and regulation of calcium/calmodulindependent protein kinase II targeting to the NR2B subunit of the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor. J Biol Chem 275(31): 23798-23806.
- Strehlow V, Heyne HO, Vlaskamp DRM, Marwick KFM, Rudolf G, de Bellescize J, Biskup S, Brilstra EH, Brouwer OF, Callenbach PMC, Hentschel J, Hirsch E, Kind PC, Mignot C, Platzer K, Rump P, Skehel PA, Wyllie DJA, Hardingham GE, van Ravenswaaij-Arts CMA, Lesca G, Lemke JR and group GAs (2019) GRIN2A-related disorders: genotype and functional consequence predict phenotype. *Brain* 142(1): 80-92.
- Stroebel D, Carvalho S, Grand T, Zhu S and Paoletti P (2014) Controlling NMDA receptor subunit composition using ectopic retention signals. *J Neurosci* **34**(50): 16630-16636.
- Stuart GJ and Spruston N (2015) Dendritic integration: 60 years of progress. *Nat Neurosci* **18**(12): 1713-1721.
- Sun W, Hansen KB and Jahr CE (2017) Allosteric Interactions between NMDA Receptor Subunits Shape the Developmental Shift in Channel Properties. *Neuron* **94**(1): 58-64 e53.
- Sundstrom E, Whittemore S, Mo LL and Seiger A (1997) Analysis of NMDA receptors in the human spinal cord. *Exp Neurol* **148**(2): 407-413.
- Suzuki M, Nelson AD, Eickstaedt JB, Wallace K, Wright LS and Svendsen CN (2006) Glutamate enhances proliferation and neurogenesis in human neural progenitor cell cultures derived from the fetal cortex. *Eur J Neurosci* **24**(3): 645-653.
- Swanger SA, Chen W, Wells G, Burger PB, Tankovic A, Bhattacharya S, Strong KL, Hu C, Kusumoto H, Zhang J, Adams DR, Millichap JJ, Petrovski S, Traynelis SF and Yuan H (2016) Mechanistic Insight into NMDA Receptor Dysregulation by Rare Variants in the GluN2A and GluN2B Agonist Binding Domains. *Am J Hum Genet* **99**(6): 1261-1280.
- Swanger SA, Vance KM, Acker TM, Zimmerman SS, DiRaddo JO, Myers SJ, Bundgaard C, Mosley CA, Summer SL, Menaldino DS, Jensen HS, Liotta DC and Traynelis SF (2018) A Novel Negative Allosteric Modulator Selective for GluN2C/2D-Containing NMDA

Receptors Inhibits Synaptic Transmission in Hippocampal Interneurons. ACS Chem Neurosci 9(2): 306-319.

- Swanger SA, Vance KM, Pare JF, Sotty F, Fog K, Smith Y and Traynelis SF (2015) NMDA Receptors Containing the GluN2D Subunit Control Neuronal Function in the Subthalamic Nucleus. J Neurosci 35(48): 15971-15983.
- Szabadits E, Cserep C, Szonyi A, Fukazawa Y, Shigemoto R, Watanabe M, Itohara S, Freund TF and Nyiri G (2011) NMDA receptors in hippocampal GABAergic synapses and their role in nitric oxide signaling. *J Neurosci* **31**(16): 5893-5904.
- Takahashi T, Feldmeyer D, Suzuki N, Onodera K, Cull-Candy SG, Sakimura K and Mishina M (1996) Functional correlation of NMDA receptor epsilon subunits expression with the properties of single-channel and synaptic currents in the developing cerebellum. J Neurosci 16(14): 4376-4382.
- Tang AH, Chen H, Li TP, Metzbower SR, MacGillavry HD and Blanpied TA (2016) A transsynaptic nanocolumn aligns neurotransmitter release to receptors. *Nature* **536**(7615): 210-214.
- Tang YP, Wang H, Feng R, Kyin M and Tsien JZ (2001) Differential effects of enrichment on learning and memory function in NR2B transgenic mice. *Neuropharmacology* 41(6): 779-790.
- Tarabeux J, Kebir O, Gauthier J, Hamdan FF, Xiong L, Piton A, Spiegelman D, Henrion E, Millet B, team SD, Fathalli F, Joober R, Rapoport JL, DeLisi LE, Fombonne E, Mottron L, Forget-Dubois N, Boivin M, Michaud JL, Drapeau P, Lafreniere RG, Rouleau GA and Krebs MO (2011) Rare mutations in N-methyl-D-aspartate glutamate receptors in autism spectrum disorders and schizophrenia. *Transl Psychiatry* 1: e55.
- Tarnok K, Czondor K, Jelitai M, Czirok A and Schlett K (2008) NMDA receptor NR2B subunit over-expression increases cerebellar granule cell migratory activity. *J Neurochem* **104**(3): 818-829.
- Tolle TR, Berthele A, Zieglgansberger W, Seeburg PH and Wisden W (1993) The differential expression of 16 NMDA and non-NMDA receptor subunits in the rat spinal cord and in periaqueductal gray. *J Neurosci* **13**(12): 5009-5028.
- Tomita S, Stein V, Stocker TJ, Nicoll RA and Bredt DS (2005) Bidirectional synaptic plasticity regulated by phosphorylation of stargazin-like TARPs. *Neuron* **45**(2): 269-277.
- Tovar KR, McGinley MJ and Westbrook GL (2013) Triheteromeric NMDA receptors at hippocampal synapses. *J Neurosci* **33**(21): 9150-9160.
- Tovar KR and Westbrook GL (1999) The incorporation of NMDA receptors with a distinct subunit composition at nascent hippocampal synapses in vitro. *J Neurosci* **19**(10): 4180-4188.
- Traynelis J, Silk M, Wang Q, Berkovic SF, Liu L, Ascher DB, Balding DJ and Petrovski S (2017) Optimizing genomic medicine in epilepsy through a gene-customized approach to missense variant interpretation. *Genome Res* **27**(10): 1715-1729.
- Traynelis SF, Hartley M and Heinemann SF (1995) Control of proton sensitivity of the NMDA receptor by RNA splicing and polyamines. *Science* **268**(5212): 873-876.
- Traynelis SF, Wollmuth LP, McBain CJ, Menniti FS, Vance KM, Ogden KK, Hansen KB, Yuan H, Myers SJ and Dingledine R (2010) Glutamate receptor ion channels: structure, regulation, and function. *Pharmacol Rev* **62**(3): 405-496.
- Tsuchida N, Hamada K, Shiina M, Kato M, Kobayashi Y, Tohyama J, Kimura K, Hoshino K, Ganesan V, Teik KW, Nakashima M, Mitsuhashi S, Mizuguchi T, Takata A, Miyake N,

Saitsu H, Ogata K, Miyatake S and Matsumoto N (2018) GRIN2D variants in three cases of developmental and epileptic encephalopathy. *Clin Genet* **94**(6): 538-547.

- Turecek J, Jackman SL and Regehr WG (2016) Synaptic Specializations Support Frequency-Independent Purkinje Cell Output from the Cerebellar Cortex. *Cell reports* **17**(12): 3256-3268.
- Turner SJ, Mayes AK, Verhoeven A, Mandelstam SA, Morgan AT and Scheffer IE (2015) GRIN2A: an aptly named gene for speech dysfunction. *Neurology* **84**(6): 586-593.
- Ulbrich MH and Isacoff EY (2007) Subunit counting in membrane-bound proteins. *Nat Methods* **4**(4): 319-321.
- Ulbrich MH and Isacoff EY (2008) Rules of engagement for NMDA receptor subunits. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **105**(37): 14163-14168.
- Valtschanoff JG, Burette A, Wenthold RJ and Weinberg RJ (1999) Expression of NR2 receptor subunit in rat somatic sensory cortex: synaptic distribution and colocalization with NR1 and PSD-95. J Comp Neurol 410(4): 599-611.
- Van Horn MR, Strasser A, Miraucourt LS, Pollegioni L and Ruthazer ES (2017) The Gliotransmitter d-Serine Promotes Synapse Maturation and Axonal Stabilization In Vivo. J Neurosci 37(26): 6277-6288.
- Vance KM, Hansen KB and Traynelis SF (2012) GluN1 splice variant control of GluN1/GluN2D NMDA receptors. *J Physiol* **590**(16): 3857-3875.
- Vance KM, Hansen KB and Traynelis SF (2013) Modal gating of GluN1/GluN2D NMDA receptors. *Neuropharmacology* 71: 184-190.
- Vanhoutte P and Bading H (2003) Opposing roles of synaptic and extrasynaptic NMDA receptors in neuronal calcium signalling and BDNF gene regulation. *Curr Opin Neurobiol* **13**(3): 366-371.
- Vardalaki D, Chung K and Harnett MT (2022) Filopodia are a structural substrate for silent synapses in adult neocortex. *Nature* **612**(7939): 323-327.
- Vicini S, Wang JF, Li JH, Zhu WJ, Wang YH, Luo JH, Wolfe BB and Grayson DR (1998) Functional and pharmacological differences between recombinant N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors. J Neurophysiol 79(2): 555-566.
- Volianskis A, Bannister N, Collett VJ, Irvine MW, Monaghan DT, Fitzjohn SM, Jensen MS, Jane DE and Collingridge GL (2013) Different NMDA receptor subtypes mediate induction of long-term potentiation and two forms of short-term potentiation at CA1 synapses in rat hippocampus in vitro. *J Physiol* **591**(4): 955-972.
- Volianskis A, France G, Jensen MS, Bortolotto ZA, Jane DE and Collingridge GL (2015) Longterm potentiation and the role of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors. *Brain Res* 1621: 5-16.
- von Engelhardt J, Bocklisch C, Tonges L, Herb A, Mishina M and Monyer H (2015) GluN2Dcontaining NMDA receptors-mediate synaptic currents in hippocampal interneurons and pyramidal cells in juvenile mice. *Front Cell Neurosci* **9**: 95.
- Vyklicky V, Krausova B, Cerny J, Ladislav M, Smejkalova T, Kysilov B, Korinek M, Danacikova S, Horak M, Chodounska H, Kudova E and Vyklicky L (2018) Surface Expression, Function, and Pharmacology of Disease-Associated Mutations in the Membrane Domain of the Human GluN2B Subunit. *Front Mol Neurosci* **11**: 110.
- Wang CC, Held RG, Chang SC, Yang L, Delpire E, Ghosh A and Hall BJ (2011) A critical role for GluN2B-containing NMDA receptors in cortical development and function. *Neuron* 72(5): 789-805.

- Wang HX and Gao WJ (2009) Cell type-specific development of NMDA receptors in the interneurons of rat prefrontal cortex. *Neuropsychopharmacology* **34**(8): 2028-2040.
- Wang YQ, Huang YH, Balakrishnan S, Liu LD, Wang YT, Nestler EJ, Schluter OM and Dong Y (2021) AMPA and NMDA Receptor Trafficking at Cocaine-Generated Synapses. J Neurosci.
- Washbourne P, Bennett JE and McAllister AK (2002) Rapid recruitment of NMDA receptor transport packets to nascent synapses. *Nat Neurosci* **5**(8): 751-759.
- Watanabe M, Inoue Y, Sakimura K and Mishina M (1992) Developmental changes in distribution of NMDA receptor channel subunit mRNAs. *Neuroreport* **3**(12): 1138-1140.
- Watanabe M, Inoue Y, Sakimura K and Mishina M (1993) Distinct spatio-temporal distributions of the NMDA receptor channel subunit mRNAs in the brain. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* **707**: 463-466.
- Wei DS, Mei YA, Bagal A, Kao JP, Thompson SM and Tang CM (2001) Compartmentalized and binary behavior of terminal dendrites in hippocampal pyramidal neurons. *Science* 293(5538): 2272-2275.
- Wenzel A, Fritschy JM, Mohler H and Benke D (1997) NMDA receptor heterogeneity during postnatal development of the rat brain: differential expression of the NR2A, NR2B, and NR2C subunit proteins. J Neurochem 68(2): 469-478.
- Wenzel A, Villa M, Mohler H and Benke D (1996) Developmental and regional expression of NMDA receptor subtypes containing the NR2D subunit in rat brain. J Neurochem 66(3): 1240-1248.
- Wild AR, Bollands M, Morris PG and Jones S (2015) Mechanisms regulating spill-over of synaptic glutamate to extrasynaptic NMDA receptors in mouse substantia nigra dopaminergic neurons. *Eur J Neurosci* 42(9): 2633-2643.
- Wild AR, Sinnen BL, Dittmer PJ, Kennedy MJ, Sather WA and Dell'Acqua ML (2019) Synapseto-Nucleus Communication through NFAT Is Mediated by L-type Ca(2+) Channel Ca(2+) Spike Propagation to the Soma. *Cell reports* 26(13): 3537-3550 e3534.
- Wo ZG and Oswald RE (1995) Unraveling the modular design of glutamate-gated ion channels. *Trends Neurosci* **18**(4): 161-168.
- Wong JM and Gray JA (2018) Long-Term Depression Is Independent of GluN2 Subunit Composition. *J Neurosci* **38**(19): 4462-4470.
- Woodhall G, Evans DI, Cunningham MO and Jones RS (2001) NR2B-containing NMDA autoreceptors at synapses on entorhinal cortical neurons. *J Neurophysiol* **86**(4): 1644-1651.
- Wroge CM, Hogins J, Eisenman L and Mennerick S (2012) Synaptic NMDA receptors mediate hypoxic excitotoxic death. *J Neurosci* **32**(19): 6732-6742.
- Wu LJ, Zhao MG, Toyoda H, Ko SW and Zhuo M (2005) Kainate receptor-mediated synaptic transmission in the adult anterior cingulate cortex. *J Neurophysiol* **94**(3): 1805-1813.
- Wu YN and Johnson SW (2015) Memantine selectively blocks extrasynaptic NMDA receptors in rat substantia nigra dopamine neurons. *Brain Res* **1603**: 1-7.
- Wu YW, Grebenyuk S, McHugh TJ, Rusakov DA and Semyanov A (2012) Backpropagating action potentials enable detection of extrasynaptic glutamate by NMDA receptors. *Cell reports* 1(5): 495-505.
- Wyllie DJ, Behe P and Colquhoun D (1998) Single-channel activations and concentration jumps: comparison of recombinant NR1a/NR2A and NR1a/NR2D NMDA receptors. *J Physiol* 510 (Pt 1): 1-18.

- XiangWei W, Jiang Y and Yuan H (2018) De Novo Mutations and Rare Variants Occurring in NMDA Receptors. *Curr Opin Physiol* **2**: 27-35.
- XiangWei W, Kannan V, Xu Y, Kosobucki GJ, Schulien AJ, Kusumoto H, Moufawad El Achkar C, Bhattacharya S, Lesca G, Nguyen S, Helbig KL, Cuisset JM, Fenger CD, Marjanovic D, Schuler E, Wu Y, Bao X, Zhang Y, Dirkx N, Schoonjans AS, Syrbe S, Myers SJ, Poduri A, Aizenman E, Traynelis SF, Lemke JR, Yuan H and Jiang Y (2019a) Heterogeneous clinical and functional features of GRIN2D-related developmental and epileptic encephalopathy. *Brain*.
- XiangWei W, Kannan V, Xu Y, Kosobucki GJ, Schulien AJ, Kusumoto H, Moufawad El Achkar C, Bhattacharya S, Lesca G, Nguyen S, Helbig KL, Cuisset JM, Fenger CD, Marjanovic D, Schuler E, Wu Y, Bao X, Zhang Y, Dirkx N, Schoonjans AS, Syrbe S, Myers SJ, Poduri A, Aizenman E, Traynelis SF, Lemke JR, Yuan H and Jiang Y (2019b) Heterogeneous clinical and functional features of GRIN2D-related developmental and epileptic encephalopathy. *Brain* 142(10): 3009-3027.
- Xie JD, Chen SR, Chen H, Zeng WA and Pan HL (2016) Presynaptic N-Methyl-d-aspartate (NMDA) Receptor Activity Is Increased Through Protein Kinase C in Paclitaxel-induced Neuropathic Pain. *J Biol Chem* **291**(37): 19364-19373.
- Xu J, Kurup P, Zhang Y, Goebel-Goody SM, Wu PH, Hawasli AH, Baum ML, Bibb JA and Lombroso PJ (2009) Extrasynaptic NMDA receptors couple preferentially to excitotoxicity via calpain-mediated cleavage of STEP. *J Neurosci* **29**(29): 9330-9343.
- Yamamoto H, Kamegaya E, Hagino Y, Takamatsu Y, Sawada W, Matsuzawa M, Ide S, Yamamoto T, Mishina M and Ikeda K (2017) Loss of GluN2D subunit results in social recognition deficit, social stress, 5-HT2C receptor dysfunction, and anhedonia in mice. *Neuropharmacology* **112**(Pt A): 188-197.
- Yamasaki M, Okada R, Takasaki C, Toki S, Fukaya M, Natsume R, Sakimura K, Mishina M, Shirakawa T and Watanabe M (2014) Opposing role of NMDA receptor GluN2B and GluN2D in somatosensory development and maturation. *J Neurosci* **34**(35): 11534-11548.
- Yasuda M, Johnson-Venkatesh EM, Zhang H, Parent JM, Sutton MA and Umemori H (2011) Multiple forms of activity-dependent competition refine hippocampal circuits in vivo. *Neuron* **70**(6): 1128-1142.
- Yi F, Bhattacharya S, Thompson CM, Traynelis SF and Hansen KB (2019a) Functional and pharmacological properties of triheteromeric GluN1/2B/2D NMDA receptors. *J Physiol* 597(22): 5495-5514.
- Yi F, Bhattacharya S, Thompson CM, Traynelis SF and Hansen KB (2019b) Functional and pharmacological properties of triheteromeric GluN1/2B/2D NMDA receptors. *Journal of Physiology* In press.
- Yi F, Rouzbeh N, Hansen KB, Xu Y, Fanger CM, Gordon E, Paschetto K, Menniti FS and Volkmann RA (2020) PTC-174, a positive allosteric modulator of NMDA receptors containing GluN2C or GluN2D subunits. *Neuropharmacology* **173**: 107971.
- Yi F, Zachariassen LG, Dorsett KN and Hansen KB (2018) Properties of Triheteromeric N-Methyl-d-Aspartate Receptors Containing Two Distinct GluN1 Isoforms. *Mol Pharmacol* 93(5): 453-467.
- Yu Y, Lin Y, Takasaki Y, Wang C, Kimura H, Xing J, Ishizuka K, Toyama M, Kushima I, Mori D, Arioka Y, Uno Y, Shiino T, Nakamura Y, Okada T, Morikawa M, Ikeda M, Iwata N, Okahisa Y, Takaki M, Sakamoto S, Someya T, Egawa J, Usami M, Kodaira M, Yoshimi

A, Oya-Ito T, Aleksic B, Ohno K and Ozaki N (2018) Rare loss of function mutations in N-methyl-D-aspartate glutamate receptors and their contributions to schizophrenia susceptibility. *Transl Psychiatry* **8**(1): 12.

- Yuan H, Hansen KB, Zhang J, Pierson TM, Markello TC, Fajardo KV, Holloman CM, Golas G, Adams DR, Boerkoel CF, Gahl WA and Traynelis SF (2014) Functional analysis of a de novo GRIN2A missense mutation associated with early-onset epileptic encephalopathy. *Nat Commun* 5: 3251.
- Zhang J and Diamond JS (2009) Subunit- and pathway-specific localization of NMDA receptors and scaffolding proteins at ganglion cell synapses in rat retina. *J Neurosci* **29**(13): 4274-4286.
- Zhang LI, Tao HW and Poo M (2000) Visual input induces long-term potentiation of developing retinotectal synapses. *Nat Neurosci* **3**(7): 708-715.
- Zhang X, Feng ZJ and Chergui K (2014a) Allosteric modulation of GluN2C/GluN2D-containing NMDA receptors bidirectionally modulates dopamine release: implication for Parkinson's disease. Br J Pharmacol 171(16): 3938-3945.
- Zhang X, Feng ZJ and Chergui K (2014b) GluN2D-containing NMDA receptors inhibit neurotransmission in the mouse striatum through a cholinergic mechanism: implication for Parkinson's disease. *J Neurochem* **129**(4): 581-590.
- Zhang Y, Buonanno A, Vertes RP, Hoover WB and Lisman JE (2012) NR2C in the thalamic reticular nucleus; effects of the NR2C knockout. *PLoS ONE* **7**(7): e41908.
- Zhang ZW, Peterson M and Liu H (2013) Essential role of postsynaptic NMDA receptors in developmental refinement of excitatory synapses. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **110**(3): 1095-1100.
- Zhong J, Carrozza DP, Williams K, Pritchett DB and Molinoff PB (1995) Expression of mRNAs encoding subunits of the NMDA receptor in developing rat brain. *J Neurochem* **64**(2): 531-539.
- Zhou X, Chen Z, Yun W, Ren J, Li C and Wang H (2015) Extrasynaptic NMDA Receptor in Excitotoxicity: Function Revisited. *Neuroscientist* **21**(4): 337-344.
- Zhou X, Ding Q, Chen Z, Yun H and Wang H (2013a) Involvement of the GluN2A and GluN2B subunits in synaptic and extrasynaptic N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor function and neuronal excitotoxicity. *J Biol Chem* **288**(33): 24151-24159.
- Zhou X, Hollern D, Liao J, Andrechek E and Wang H (2013b) NMDA receptor-mediated excitotoxicity depends on the coactivation of synaptic and extrasynaptic receptors. *Cell Death Dis* **4**: e560.
- Zhou Y, Takahashi E, Li W, Halt A, Wiltgen B, Ehninger D, Li GD, Hell JW, Kennedy MB and Silva AJ (2007) Interactions between the NR2B receptor and CaMKII modulate synaptic plasticity and spatial learning. J Neurosci 27(50): 13843-13853.
- Zhu Z, Yi F, Epplin MP, Liu D, Summer SL, Mizu R, Shaulsky G, XiangWei W, Tang W, Burger PB, Menaldino DS, Myers SJ, Liotta DC, Hansen KB, Yuan H and Traynelis SF (2020) Negative allosteric modulation of GluN1/GluN3 NMDA receptors. *Neuropharmacology* 176: 108117.
- Zucker RS and Regehr WG (2002) Short-term synaptic plasticity. *Annu Rev Physiol* **64**: 355-405.

CHAPTER 2: Mouse Models of Gain-of-Function NMDAR Variants

2.1 Introduction

Functional information gathered from heterologous systems expressing human patientderived NMDAR variants, can advance our understanding of which regions of the receptor are most critical for its function. Unsurprisingly, variants within the agonist-binding domain (ABD) and around the transmembrane domain (TMD) helices, regardless of NMDAR subunit, are usually the most deleterious (Strehlow et al., 2019). For example, variants in the ABD and TMD regions show the most change from wildtype NMDARs in terms of a variety of measurable factors such as: agonist potency, magnesium block, deactivation time course, rise time, and/or open-channel probability (Benke et al., 2021). Functional analysis is a necessary step that provides a wealth of opportunities to advance understanding of each variant as well as overall receptor biology. It allows stratification of individuals for future approaches to precision therapies, as individuals with variants that produce similar changes in receptor function are more likely to identify a signal in clinical trials than variants that simply happen to be close to each other on the polypeptide chain. This is because similar changes in receptor function are likely to have similar action on circuit function.

Given the expense and time investment associated with generating and investigating human variants using knock-in mouse models, a prudent selection strategy would be to pick variants that show the most drastic changes from wildtype receptors *in vitro* and/or those that produce the most severe phenotypes in humans. An agnostic evaluation of gain-of-function (receptor performs better than wildtype receptor, *e.g.*, a prolongation of deactivation time) versus loss-of-function (receptor performs worse than wildtype receptor, *e.g.*, a shortening of deactivation time) *GRIN2A* variants showed gain-of-function *GRIN2A* variants were more likely to be associated with more severe phenotypes, such as epileptic spasms and detrimental levels of intellectual disability (Strehlow et

al., 2019). Moreover, this study revealed that severe gain-of-function *GRIN2A* variants were centered around the TMD and its associated linker regions which are responsible for transducing motion in the agonist binding into channel opening (Strehlow et al., 2019).

Using variant severity as a selection strategy, one of the first knock-in mouse models generated by Dr. Wayne Frankel and Jackson Laboratories in Bar Harbor, was the gain-of-function (GoF) GluN2A-P552R mouse. In humans, this missense variant is associated with severe intellectual disability (de Ligt et al., 2012) and in transfected HEK cells, this variant produces a unique prolongation of the activation rise time not seen in many other GoF GRIN2A variants (Ogden et al., 2017). Collaborations with over a hundred clinicians developed by the Center for Functional Evaluation of Rare Variants at Emory allowed us to sample a large number of human variants, from which we selected an additional variant to study from a patient with intractable seizures. This new GRIN2A variant, GluN2A-S644G, produced a strong GoF when studied in vitro. Dr. Frankel generated a second knock-in mouse model containing this GoF GRIN2A variant, GluN2A-S644G, and in collaboration we were able to show efficacy of FDA-approved NMDAR modulators in reducing seizure burden (Amador et al., 2020). Given our relative success with these first two mouse models of human NMDAR variants, we generated a third mouse model based on a GoF GRIN2D variant, GluN2D-V667I. We picked a variant in the GluN2D gene as GRIN2D variants also show severe epileptic phenotypes. Additionally, given GluN2D's sparse expression pattern which includes cortical GABAergic interneurons, investigation of a GoF GRIN2D variant provides us with a unique opportunity to learn more about GluN2D's role in neurobiology.

Here, I describe experiments with three different gain-of-function NMDAR mouse models that were generated to serve as mammalian model systems to understand human disease. Results from this modelling approach provide some of the first insights into the nature of NMDAR variantmediated disease at the synaptic and circuit level. Moreover, mouse models of human disease provide a starting point to test new therapeutic approaches such as gene replacement and/or silencing therapies.

2.2 Methods

2.2.1 Mouse Model Generation

All mouse procedures were conducted at The Jackson Laboratory, Columbia University Irving Medical Center, or Emory University, each fully accredited by AAALAC, approved by respective IACUC and performed in accordance with state and federal Animal Welfare Acts and Public Health Service policies. Grin2a^{P552R} and Grin2a^{S644G} mice were generated in the C57BL/6NJ (B6NJ) mouse strain using CRISPR/Cas9 and an oligonucleotide donor sequence as part of the JAX Center for Precision Genetics (JCPG) and maintained by backcrossing heterozygous males to wildtype B6NJ females. For GluN2D-V667I, the conditional knock-in mice were generated using a knockout-first strategy. Briefly, a DNA cassette containing LoxP-Stop-LoxP V664I knockin cassette was inserted between exon 7 and 8 and injected into single-cell mouse embryos of founder mice. Genotypes were confirmed by long- and short-range Sanger sequencing and heterozygotes crossed with wildtype C57BL/6J for maintenance. Experimental mice that remove the knock-in cassette (allowing expression of the mutated exon) were generated following crosses with suitable cre driver strains, such as the Sox2-Cre line used induced recombination in all neuronal cells. Mice were housed in ventilated cages at controlled temperature (22–23°C), humidity ~60%, and 12h:12h light:dark cycles. Mice had *ad libitum* to regular chow and water.

2.2.2 Electroconvulsive Threshold

Tests on adult mice between 8 and 13 weeks of age were performed using transcorneal electrodes with the Ugo Basile Model 7801 electroconvulsive device as described previously (Asinof et al., 2015). Settings for minimal or maximal generalized seizure endpoints were 299 Hz, 1.6 ms pulse width, 0.2 s duration, variable current; those for 6 Hz partial or psychomotor seizure endpoints were 6 Hz, 0.2 ms pulse width, 3.0 s duration, variable current. Data were analyzed as the integrated root mean square (iRMS, area under the curve) as (square root of Hz) × current × pulse width × duration.

2.2.3 Acute Hippocampal Slice Preparation and Electrophysiological Recordings

P14-20 (GluN2A-P552R and GluN2A-S644G) or P21-26 (GluN2D-V667I) mice from both sexes were overdosed with inhaled isoflurane, brains were rapidly removed and immediately placed in an ice-cold, sucrose-based artificial cerebrospinal fluid (aCSF) containing the following (in mM): 88 sucrose, 80 NaCl, 2.5 KCl, 1.25 HNa₂PO₄, 26 HNaCO₃, 10 glucose, 2 thiourea, 3 sodium pyruvate, 5 sodium ascorbate, 12 N-acetylcysteine, 10 MgSO₄, and 0.5 CaCl₂ bubbled in 95% O₂/5% CO₂. 300-µm thick horizontal hippocampal sections were obtained using a vibratome (Lecia, VT1200S). After sectioning, slices were incubated in a sucrose-based aCSF as described above but with 4 mM MgSO₄ at 32°C for 30 minutes then returned to room temperature for at least an hour before use. Cells were visualized using an upright Olympus BX50W microscope with IR-DIC optics coupled to a Dage IR-2000 camera. Whole-cell patch clamp recordings were obtained using an Axopatch 200B (Molecular Devices) or a Multiclamp 700B (Molecular Devices, digitized at 20 kHz using a Digidata 1440a (Molecular Devices) controlled by pClamp 10.6 software (Molecular Devices). All signals were low-pass filtered at 2 kHz using a Bessel 8-pole filter (Warner, LPF-8).

For NMDAR-mediated EPSCs, the following intracellular solution was used (in mM): 100 Cs-gluconate, 5 CsCl, 0.6 EGTA, 5 BAPTA, 5 MgCl₂, 8 NaCl, 2 Na-ATP, 0.3 Na-GTP, 40 HEPES, 5 Na-phosphocreatine, and 3 QX-314. All recordings were made in the following aCSF extracellular solution (in mM): 126 NaCl, 2.5 KCl, 1.25 HNa₂PO₄, 26 HNaCO₃, 20 glucose, 0.2 MgSO₄, and 1.5 CaCl₂ bubbled with 95% O₂/5% CO₂ and held at 30-32°C using an inline heater (Warner, SH-27B). A monopolar iridium-platinum stimulating electrode (FHC, Inc.) was placed in the upper $1/3^{rd}$ of the Schaffer collaterals to elicit a single 50 µs stimulation at a frequency of 0.03 Hz and the NMDAR-mediated EPSC was pharmacologically isolated with 10 µM NBQX and 10 µM gabazine. For GluN2A-P552R and GluN2A-S644G mouse recordings, cells were held at -30 mV while cells from GluN2D-V667I mice were recorded at +40 mV. For all cells, stimulation intensity was chosen to be near 50% of the maximum peak amplitude of the EPSC. A total of 8-12 epochs were recorded and averaged together. At the conclusion of recording, 200 µM DL-APV was applied to ensure responses were mediated via NMDARs. The APV-sensitive leak was calculated as a leak current after 5 minutes of 200 µM DL-APV application subtracted from the leak current at the beginning of the NMDAR-mediated EPSC experiment. A weighted time constant was calculated using the following formula by fitting a dual-exponential function to each composite EPSC trace in ChanneLab (Synaptosoft):

(1) $\tau_W = (\tau_{FAST} \text{ amplitude}_{FAST} + \tau_{SLOW} \text{ amplitude}_{SLOW}) / (\text{amplitude}_{FAST} + \text{amplitude}_{SLOW})$.

For sIPSCs and mIPSCs, cells were held at -60 mV to minimize depolarization-induced suppression of inhibition (Diana and Marty, 2003) in normal aCSF (1.5 mM Mg^{2+}) with NBQX (10 μ M) present at all times. A high chloride internal solution was used, containing the following

(in mM): 135 cesium chloride, 3.5 NaCl, 1 MgCl₂, 10 HEPES, 0.6 EGTA, 2 Na₂ATP, 0.3 Na₂GTP, 5 sodium phosphocreatine, and 3 QX-314. sIPSCs recordings were made for a total of five minutes (with the last two minutes being used for analysis). 1 μ M TTx was washed onto the slice for ten minutes and then mIPSC recordings were made for a total of five minutes (with the last two minutes being used for analysis). All experiments ended by washing on 10 μ M gabazine to ensure all responses were mediated by GABA_A receptors. Data were analyzed offline using MiniAnalysis (Synaptosoft) with an 8-pA amplitude threshold for event detection.

For all electrophysiological recordings, series resistance was monitored throughout all experiments and was typically 8–20 M Ω . For voltage clamp recordings, a 50 ms, 5-mV square wave was included in the stimulation paradigm or inserted once every 30 seconds in gap-free mode for sIPSCs and mIPSCs. Series resistance was monitored throughout the entire recording. All series resistances were measured offline by analyzing the peak of the capacitive charging spike and applying Ohm's law. If the series resistance changed >25% during the experiment, or ever exceeded 30 M Ω , then the cell was excluded.

2.2.4 Statistical Analysis and Figure Preparation

Two-tailed, unpaired Student's t-test, one-way ANOVA with Bonferroni's correction method for multiple comparisons, and the Kolomorgov-Smirnov tests were used were appropriate. For experiments where multiple statistical analyses were performed on the same dataset, our significance threshold was lowered to correct for family-wise error rate (FWER) using the Bonferroni post-hoc correction method. All studies were designed so that an effect size of at least 1 was detected at 80% or greater power. All statistical analyses were performed in Prism's GraphPad software all figures were generated in Microsoft's PowerPoint.

2.3 Results

All three variants – GluN2A-P552R, GluN2A-S644G, and GluN2D-V667I – are in the regions determined to be intolerant to variation based on lack of variants in these regions in the healthy population (Ogden et al., 2017). The P552 residue is in the pre-M1 helix of the TMD (Figure 2.1). This portion of the receptor is critical for gating, helping to transduce molecular motion in the ABD from ligand binding into motion within the TMD sufficient for pore opening (McDaniel et al., 2020; Ogden et al., 2017). Both the S644 and V667 residues are part of the M3 helix within the TMD, with the GluN2A-S644G variant being the start of the highly conserved SYTANLAAF motif (Jones et al., 2002) (Figure 2.1). This SYTANLAAF motif is found in all iGluRs and is also one of the most intolerant regions of the entire receptor. Moreover, SYTANLAAF and the M3 helix, in cooperation with the pre-M1 helix and M4 helix of a neighboring subunit within the NMDAR complex form the gating 'triad' as these key regions lie within 5 Å of each other (Gibb et al., 2018; McDaniel et al., 2020; Ogden et al., 2017). In essence, these three regions of the receptor work together to initiate pore opening facilitating ion flux. Thus, each of these variants are in highly conserved and functionally important portions of the receptor, explaining why these were some of the first mouse models we generated. Moreover, as evident from Table 2.1, each of these variants show severe human phenotypes.

The GluN2A-P552R mutant mouse model did not display spontaneous seizures. Heterozygous knock-in mice showed no premature lethality, however, homozygous GluN2A-P552R/GluN2A-P552R mice died of lethal seizures around 30 days postnatally (P) (data not shown). Maximum (tonic-clonic) electroconvulsive threshold (ECT) did not appear to be unchanged between wildtype (+/+) and heterozygous GluN2A-P552R mice, regardless of sex (**Figure 2.2A**). Data were not tested for significance as current data are underpowered. Unlike the



Figure 2.1. Topographical location of variants used in mouse model experiments. A) Cartoon structure of a typical NMDAR subunit. The location of each variant is denoted with a red star. Figure adapted from (Hansen et al., 2017) B) *Top*: cartoon structure of the polypeptide chain showing each domain of a typical subunit. The pre-M1 and M3 regions are highlighted to demonstrate where each variant lies along the protein. *Bottom: GRIN2A* genetic intolerance plot showing sliding window of observed versus expected (OE) variant estimates (black full line), neutrality expected OE-ratio estimate (blue full line), median OE-ratio for the gene (dark grey dashed line), 25th percentile of OE-ratio (green dashed line), and 5th percentile of OE-ratio (red dashed line). Red dashed boxes are around pre-M1 and M3 to highlight absolute intolerance to genetic mutation. Data represented are for the *GRIN2A* gene, however, the OE-ratio sliding window plot for *GRIN2D* also shows absolute intolerance in pre-M1 and M3. Figure adapted from (Hansen et al., 2017).

| | Variant Origin | Epilepsy? | Other clinical manifestations? | Impacted Individuals | Response to NMDAR modulators | |
|--------------|-------------------|--|--|-------------------------|--|--|
| GluN2A-P552R | De novo | Yes – refractory; since 9 months of age | Yes – severe developmental and intellectual delay; no speech, aphasia | One to date | Currently unknown | |
| GluN2A-S644G | De novo | Yes — refractory; over 200 seizures/month | Yes – severe developmental and intellectual delay, no independent head control | One to date | Limited: Memantine and dextromethorphan limited seizure burden, but daily seizures still exist; no recovery from other clinical symptoms; magnesium treatment not given at time of report | |
| GluN2D-V667I | De novo | Yes – refractory; multiple seizures a day | Yes – severe developmental and intellectual delay | Two to date | Depends on age at administration: patient 1 given memantine at 6.5 years which worsened seizures, but patient did respond to magnesium and ketamine; patient 2 was given memantine at 2.5 years which improved seizure burden | |

 Table 2.1. Human patient data of gain-of-function missense NMDAR variants.

Data for GluN2A-P552R patient from (de Ligt et al., 2012; Ogden et al., 2017)

Data for GluN2A-S644G patient from (Amador et al., 2020)

Data for GluN2D-V667I patient from (Camp and Yuan, 2020; Li et al., 2016)





Figure 2.2. Seizure phenotypes of mouse models of human NMDAR variants. A) Maximum (generalized tonic-clonic) electroconvulsive current threshold (ECT) in both GluN2A-P552R (left) and GluN2A-S644G (right) mouse models. Data from GluN2A-P552R are underpowered and thus could not be subjected to statistical testing. Maximal ECT is significantly lower compared in GluN2A-S644G mice compared to agematched +/+ littermates, regardless of sex (female: n=7 for +/+ and n=6 for GluN2A-S644G/+, p = 0.0434, Mann-Whitney rank-sum test; male: n=9 for +/+ and n=15 for GluN2A-S644G/+, p = 0.0007, Mann-Whitney rank-sum test). B) Partial (6 Hz) ECT in both GluN2A-P552R (left) and GluN2A-S644G (right) mouse models. Partial ECT is significantly higher in both GluN2A-P552R mice (n=21 for +/+ and n=10 for GluN2A-S644G; p=0.003, Mann-Whitney rank-sum test) and GluN2A-S644G mice (n=31 for +/+ and n=33 for GluN2A-S644G; p=4.1e-12, Mann-Whitney rank-sum test). C) Cortical electroencephalographic (EEG) recordings from preadolescent (postnatal 16-22) +/+ (n=2 mice) and GluN2D-V667I (n=4 mice).

Data collection is on-going. Data are mean \pm SEM. ** = p<0.01; *** = p<0.001; **** = p<0.0001. GluN2A-P552R and GluN2D-V667I data are unpublished. GluN2A-S644G data adapted from (Amador et al., 2020).

GluN2A-P552R mice, heterozygous GluN2A-S644G mice have a significantly lower current on the maximum ECT assay compared to wildtype (+/+) mice, in both males and females (**Figure 2.2A**). Surprisingly, both heterozygous GluN2A-P552R mice (**Figure 2.2B**) and heterozygous GluN2A-S644G mice (**Figure 2.2B**) showed a statistically significant decreased current threshold for partial (6 Hz) corneal seizures compared to their respective wildtype littermates. In all, these data suggest that both GoF GluN2A mouse models show signs of altered circuit excitability.

Heterozygous GluN2D-V667I mice appear to have the most robust epileptic phenotype as these mice died from spontaneous lethal seizures before P35 (data not shown). Obtaining homozygous GluN2D-V667I mice has not been attempted. Cortical EEG recordings from preadolescent mice show epileptiform activity with large spike-and-wave discharges not observed in wildtype littermates (**Figure 2.2C**). ECT assays in these mice are currently on-going. Given the lethal seizure phenotype observed in adolescent heterozygous GluN2D-V667I mice, an alternative strategy for generating F1 and F2 generations had to be employed since mice never reach sexual maturity (see methods for details).

After mouse model generation, we wanted to compare NMDAR-mediated EPSC kinetic properties to responses obtained in heterologous expression systems. This would allow us to see how well our heterologous data translates to native synapses, as well as verify that the mutant receptor is made by the cell, is trafficked to the postsynaptic density, and can participate in synaptic neurotransmission. HEK cell recordings can be designed to mimic a single synaptic event in that a transfected cell can be rapidly exposed (1-5 ms) to saturating concentrations of glutamate (1 mM) in presence of glycine to generate a synaptic-like activation and deactivation time course. These data can then be compared to synaptic data as a means of mouse model validation and to



Figure 2.3. Comparison of GluN2A-P552R kinetic properties in HEK cells and at native synapses. A) Representative, normalized whole-cell current time course from HEK cells in response to brief (1–5 ms) application of maximally effective concentrations of glutamate (100 μM) and glycine (30 μM) in wildtype (N2A/N2A; black), triheteromeric GluN2A-P552R (N2A-P552R/N2A; blue), and diheteromeric GluN2A-P552R (N2A-P552R/N2A; blue), and diheteromeric GluN2A-P552R (N2A-P552R/N2A- P552R; red) NMDARs. B) Rise time of the activation phase of the response to a brief pulse saturating glutamate and glycine shows that only diheteromeric GluN2A-P552R constructs have a significant prolongation of the rise time (p<0.0001, one-way ANOVA with multiple comparisons) while triheteromeric GluN2A-P552R receptors show no difference from wildtype. C) Tau weighted describing the deactivation show significant prolongations of deactivation in both triheteromeric GluN2A-P552R and diheteromeric GluN2A-P552R constructs (one-way ANOVA with multiple comparisons). D) Representative, normalized NMDAR-mediated EPSC onto CA1 pyramidal cells in +/+ mice (black) and heterozygous GluN2A-P552R mice (blue). E) The rise time of the activation phase of the EPSC, with F) the tau weighted of the decaying phase of the EPSC. G) APV-sensitive leak current recorded at the end of

the EPSC experiments. All data are underpowered and thus cannot be subjected to statistical testing. See methods for more details. Data are mean \pm SEM. HEK cell data are adapted from (Ogden et al., 2017) and synaptic data are unpublished. * = p<0.05; **** = p<0.0001; n.s. = not significant.

| | Rise Time (ms) | Peak Amplitude (pA) | Tau Weighted (ms) | APV-Sensitive Leak (pA) | Charge Transfer (pC) |
|--------------------------------------|-------------------|------------------------|----------------------|----------------------------|-------------------------|
| GluN2A-P552R/+ (n=7 cells/4 mice) | 28 ± 6.4 | -136 ± 34 | 473 ± 52 | 106 ± 21 | -53 ± 13 |
| WT Littermate (n=3 cells/2 mice) | 6.9 ± 0.5 | -152 ± 26 | 124 ± 12 | 22 ± 7.4 | -19 ± 4.8 |
| | | | | | |
| GluN2A-S644G/+ (n=9 cells/4 mice) | 7.6 ± 0.6 | -178 ± 24 | 150 ± 9.6 | 29 ± 3.8 | -18 ± 4.0 |
| WT Littermate (n=15 cells/5 mice) | 7.2 ± 0.4 | -158 ± 39 | 104 ± 4.1 | 15 ± 3.2 | -29 ± 4.3 |

Table 2.2. Kinetic properties of NMDAR-mediated EPSCs onto CA1 pyramidal cells from GoF GluN2A missense mouse models. All data represented are mean ± SEM. GluN2A-P552R data are unpublished and GluN2A-S644G data are adapted from (Amador et al., 2020).

learn how the mutant receptor may impact the kinetic profile of an NMDAR-mediated EPSC. Moreover, thanks to clever molecular engineering, we can selectively express one or two copies of our mutant subunit in a single receptor complex as described in (Hansen et al., 2014). These data are clinically relevant in that the majority of human patients have only heterozygous missense mutations and most native NMDARs are triheteromeric.

Heterologous data from GluN2A-P552R containing receptors show a prolongation of both the activation and deactivation time course in response to a synaptic-like pulse of saturating glutamate (**Figure 2.3A-C**) (**Table 2.2**). There was a subunit dependent prolongation of the deactivation time course, with only one copy of the mutant GluN2A-P552R subunit showing an intermediate deactivation time course compared to wildtype and NMDARs containing two copies of GluN2A-P552R (**Figure 2.3A** and **Figure 2.3C**). Surprisingly, NMDARs containing two copies of GluN2A-P552R also showed a significant prolongation of the activation time course not seen in constructs with only one copy of the GluN2A-P552R subunit (**Figure 2.3A-B**). Here, the current response continued to rise after glutamate application had concluded and the cell had been returned to glutamate-free wash solution. Thus, glutamate was most likely able to bind during the 5 ms application, which suggests that the prolonged activation time course is due to a slowing of the conformational changes that precede channel opening. In fact, this change to the activation time course helped to establish the pre-M1 helix as crucial for helping translate molecular motion within the agonist binding domain into channel opening.

Given the drastic slowing of channel opening, we were particularly interested to study the knock-in GluN2A-P552R mouse as changes in the temporal resolution of NMDAR activation *in vivo* would likely have a host of unexplored outcomes on circuit function and behavior. Unfortunately, however, we later discovered that during the generation of our knock-in mouse, we
inadvertently introduced an alternative splice site that could be utilized by the cell to synthesize a transcript where glutamine was inserted before (551E) the desired P552R mutation. Our best estimates suggest that this alterative splice site would be used 1/4th of the time, ultimately limiting any real conclusions that could be gleaned from this mouse. This also explains why synaptic data shown for this mouse in **Figure 2.3** are incomplete. We did, however, obtain promising NMDAR-mediated EPSCs that contained both a prolongation of the activation and deactivation time course at native synapses onto CA1 pyramidal cells from juvenile (P14-20) mice. (**Figure 2.3D-G**). These data suggest that, despite some NMDARs containing an extra glutamine at residue 551 of GluN2A, we were able to successfully show our GluN2A-P552R subunit trafficked to the synapse and could participate in synaptic neurotransmission. Our preliminary synaptic data show robust APV-mediated changes in the basal leak current, suggesting an underlying tonic activation of NMDARs (**Figure 2.3G**).

Heterologous data from GluN2A-S644G containing receptors show a prolongation of the deactivation time course in response to a synaptic-like pulse of saturating glutamate (**Figure 2.4A and Figure 2.4C**) (**Table 2.2**). There was a subunit dependent prolongation of the deactivation time course, with only one copy of the mutant GluN2A-S644G subunit showing an intermediate deactivation time course compared to wildtype and NMDARs containing two copies of GluN2A-S644G (**Figure 2.3A** and **Figure 2.3C**). Unlike the pre-M1 P552R mutant, GluN2A-S644G-containing NMDARs show no change in their activation time course or the rise time of the EPSC (**Figure 2.4B**). Synaptic data from juvenile (P14-20) heterozygous GluN2A-S644G mice confirm no changes in the activation time course (**Figure 2.4D-E**) but do show a significant prolongation of the deactivation time course, shown as a change in the weighted tau (**Figure 2.4D** and **Figure 2.4F**). There were, however, no detectable changes in the APV-sensitive leak current, a measure



Figure 2.4. Comparison of GluN2A-S644G kinetic properties in HEK cells and native synapses. A) Representative, normalized whole-cell current time course from HEK cells in response to brief (1–5 ms) application of maximally effective concentrations of glutamate (100 μ M) and glycine (30 μ M) in wildtype (N2A/N2A; black), triheteromeric GluN2A-S644G (N2A-S644G/N2A; blue), and diheteromeric GluN2A-S644G (N2A-S644G/N2A-S644G; red) NMDARs. B) No significant change in the rise time of the activation phase of the response to a brief pulse saturating glutamate and glycine. C) Tau weighted describing the deactivation show significant prolongations of deactivation in both triheteromeric GluN2A-S644G and diheteromeric GluN2A-S644G constructs (one-way ANOVA with multiple comparisons). D) Representative, normalized NMDAR-mediated EPSC onto CA1 pyramidal cells from +/+ mice (black) and heterozygous GluN2A-P552R mice (blue). E) No significant difference observed in the rise time of the EPSC. F) The weighted tau describing the decaying phase of the EPSC shows a significant prolongation in GluN2A-S644G/+ mice (Student's two-sample *t*-test, *p* = 0.0000053). G) Significant increase in the APVsensitive leak current recorded at the end of the EPSC experiments in GluN2A-S644G/+ mice (Student's

data represented in this figure are adapted from (Amador et al., 2020).

of potential tonic activation of NMDARs (Figure 2.4G).

Heterologous data from diheteromeric GluN2D-V667I receptors show a prolongation of the deactivation time course in response to a synaptic-like pulse of saturating glutamate (**Figure 2.5A-B**) (**Table 2.3**). Data on GluN2D/GluN2D-V667I receptors has not yet been collected. Diheteromeric GluN2D-V667I channels have an open channel probability 10-fold higher than wildtype GluN2D receptors (**Figure 2.5C-E**). An increase in P_{OPEN} helps explain the prolongation of the deactivation time course given the modest, but significant, increased glutamate potency caused by this variant (0.4 μ M for wildtype vs 0.3 μ M for diheteromeric GluN2D-V667I) (Li et al., 2016).

Unlike GluN2A-containing NMDARs which is expressed in both principal cells and GABAergic interneurons, GluN2D-containing NMDARs are primarily expressed in interneurons only. Thus, we measured NMDAR-mediated EPSCs onto both CA1 pyramidal cells and CA1 *stratum radiation* interneurons. As expected, we observed no change in tau weighted describing the deactivation time course of the NMDAR-mediated EPSCs onto CA1 pyramidal cells (**Figure 2.5F** and **Figure 2.5H**), but we did see a significant prolongation of tau weighted describing the deactivation time course of the NMDAR-mediated EPSCs onto CA1 radiatum interneurons (**Figure 2.5H**), but we did see a significant prolongation of tau weighted describing the deactivation time course of the NMDAR-mediated EPSCs onto CA1 radiatum interneurons (**Figure 2.5G-H**). We also observed a significant change in the APV-sensitive basal leak current in interneurons (**Figure 2.5I**), but not in CA1 pyramidal cells (**Figure 2.5I**). This suggests that the V6671 variant may increase excitatory drive of GABAergic interneurons, potentially via tonically active GluN2D-containing NMDARs activated by ambient glutamte present in the extracellular space. These data also suggest that, like both the GluN2A-P552R and GluN2A-S644G mouse models, NMDARs containing the GluN2D-V667I mutant subunit traffic to the postsynaptic density and can participate in synaptic neurotransmission. Moreover, we do not see ectopic



Figure 2.5. Comparison of GluN2D-V6671 kinetic properties in HEK cells and native synapses. A) Representative, normalized whole-cell current time course from HEK cells in response to brief (1–5 ms) application of maximally effective concentrations of glutamate (100 μ M) and glycine (30 μ M) in wildtype (N2D/N2D; black) and diheteromeric GluN2D-V6671 (N2D-V6671/N2D-V6671; red) NMDARs. B) Tau weighted describing the deactivation time course is significantly prolonged in the GluN2D-V667I receptors (Student's two-sample t-test, p = 0.0014). Representative single-channel recordings of C) wildtype (+/+) and D) diheteromeric GluN2D-V667I (N2D-V667I/N2D-V667I) NMDARs. E) POPEN is significantly increased in the GluN2D-V667I receptors (Student's two-sample t-test, p < 0.000001). Normalized NMDAR-mediated EPSCs onto F) CA1 pyramidal cells and G) stratum radiatum GABAergic interneurons from preadolescent (postnatal 20-26) +/+ mice (black) and heterozygous GluN2D-V667I mice (blue). H) The weighted tau describing the decaying phase of the EPSC is unchanged in CA1 pyramidal cells but is significantly prolonged in radiatum interneurons from heterozygous GluN2D-V667I mice (Student's twosample t-test, p = 0.036). I) APV-sensitive leak current recorded at the end of the EPSC experiments in unchanged in CA1 pyramidal cells but is significantly increased in heterozygous GluN2D-V667I mice (Student's twosample t-test, p = 0.038). See methods for more details. Data are mean±SEM. **** =

p<0.0001. Heterologous expression data adapted from (Li et al., 2016) and all synaptic data are unpublished.

| | Rise Time (ms) | Peak Amplitude (pA) | Tau Weighted (ms) | APV-Sensitive Leak (pA) | Charge Transfer (pC) | | |
|---------------------------------------|--------------------------|------------------------|----------------------|----------------------------|-------------------------|--|--|
| CA1 Pyramidal Cells | | | | | | | |
| GluN2D-V667I/+ (n=5 cells/3 mice) | 11 ± 1.6 | 199 ± 77 | 105 ± 9.6 | 98 ± 21 | 24 ± 11 | | |
| WT Littermate (n=5 cells/3 mice) | 9.5 ± 1.9 | 126 ± 33 | 118 ± 12 | 72 ± 35 | 17 ± 4.7 | | |
| CA1 Radiatum Interneurons | | | | | | | |
| GluN2D-V667I/+ (n=11 cells/4 mice) | 10 ± 1.5 | 179 ± 30 | 159 ± 23 | 109 ± 16 | 23 ± 3.9 | | |
| WT Littermate (n=10 cells/4 mice) | 11 ± 1.8 | 149 ± 19 | 100 ± 8.6 | 60 ± 13 | 13 ± 1.4 | | |

Table 2.3. Kinetic properties of NMDAR-mediated EPSCs onto CA1 pyramidal cells and CA1 stratum

radiatum from GluN2D-V667I mice. All data represented are mean \pm SEM. All data are unpublished.

receptor expression in CA1 pyramidal cells.

Next, we wanted to probe spontaneous and miniature inhibitory tone onto pyramidal cells given a probable dysfunction in the interneuron network. The spontaneous postsynaptic inhibitory current (sIPSC) interevent interval and sIPSC amplitude cumulative histogram plots are both significantly shifted to the left (Kolmogorov-Smirnov test; p<0.000001, Kolmogorov-Smirnov D=0.36 for interevent interval; p<0.000001, Kolmogorov-Smirnov D=0.25 for amplitude; N=14 cells/4 animals for each genotype; Figure 2.6A-D) (Table 2.4). These data suggest that the gainof-function GluN2D-V667I variant produces an increase in spontaneous inhibitory tone, while generating a decrease in overall amplitude. Additionally, we wanted to probe the miniature inhibitory postsynaptic tone (mIPSC) to gain information on the phasic inhibitory tone. The mIPSC interevent interval is significantly shifted to the left (Kolmogorov-Smirnov test; p<0.000001, Kolmogorov-Smirnov D=0.27; N=14 cells/4 animals for each genotype), while mIPSC amplitude is unchanged (Figure 2.6E-H). Given that mIPSCs represent single quantal events (Nusser et al., 1997), a leftward shift in interevent interval suggests that heterozygous GluN2D-V667I mice may have a decreased presynaptic release probability and/or changes in the number of inhibitory synaptic connections made onto CA1 pyramidal cells. Moreover, the lack of impact on mIPSC amplitude and decay time (Figure 2.7A-B) (Table 2.4). suggests that the number of postsynaptic GABA_A receptors per inhibitory synapse and the subunit composition of postsynaptic GABA_A receptors, respectively, is unlikely unchanged (Nusser et al., 1997).

2.4 Discussion

Data presented in this chapter are from neurons in acute brain slices prepared from mice harboring each of three different gain-of-function missense NMDAR variants with severe



Figure 2.6. Spontaneous and miniature inhibitory postsynaptic currents (IPSCs) onto CA1 pyramidal cells. All recordings were made using preadolescent mice (P20-26) at -60 mV in presense of normal aCSF (1.5 mM Mg²⁺) with 10 μ M NBQX. Miniature IPSCs (mIPSCs) were isolated via application of 1 μ M TTx. Representative traces of spontaneous IPSCs (sIPSCs) from A) wildtype (+/+) and B) heterozygous GluN2D-V667I (GluN2D-V667I/+) mice. C) The sIPSC interevent interval (p<0.00001; Kolmogorov-Smirnov D = 0.36) and D) amplitude (p<0.00001; Kolmogorov-Smirnov D = 0.25) cumulative histogram plots were both significantly shifted to the left in heterozygous GluN2D-V667I (GluN2D-V667I/+) and B) heterozygous GluN2D-V667I (GluN2D-V667I/+) mice. G) The mIPSCs from A) wildtype (+/+) and B) heterozygous GluN2D-V667I (GluN2D-V667I/+) mice. G) The mIPSC interevent interval cumulative histogram plot was significantly shifted to the left in heterozygous GluN2D-V667I (GluN2D-V667I/+) mice. G) The mIPSC interevent interval cumulative histogram plot was significantly shifted to the left in heterozygous GluN2D-V667I (GluN2D-V667I/+) mice. G) The mIPSC interevent interval cumulative histogram plot was significantly shifted to the left in heterozygous GluN2D-V667I (GluN2D-V667I/+) mice. G) The mIPSC interevent interval cumulative histogram plot was significantly shifted to the left in heterozygous GluN2D-V667I (GluN2D-V667I mice (p<0.00001; Kolmogorov-Smirnov D = 0.26) while the H) amplitude cumulative histogram plot was unchanged. **** = p<0.0001. Data represented are from n=14 cells/4 mice per genotype. All data are unpublished.

| | slPSC Freq. (Hz) | sIPSC Amplitude (pA) | mIPSC Freq. (Hz) | mIPSC Amplitude (pA) | mIPSC Decay (ms) |
|---------------------------------------|---------------------|-------------------------|---------------------|-------------------------|---------------------|
| GluN2D-V667I/+ (n=14 cells/4 mice) | 14 ± 2.7 | -24 ± 1.6 | 8.4 ± 1.2 | -19 ± 1.0 | 13 ± 0.9 |
| WT Littermate (n=14 cells/4 mice) | 9.2 ± 1.1 | -25 ± 2.1 | 5.9 ± 0.7 | -21 ± 1.0 | 14 ± 1.0 |

Table 2.4. Properties of spontaneous inhibitory postsynaptic currents (sIPSCs) and miniature inhibitorypostsynaptic currents (mIPSCs) onto CA1 pyramidal cells from GluN2D-V667I mice. Freq. = frequency.All data represented are mean \pm SEM. All data are unpublished.



Figure 2.7. The decay time of mIPSCs onto CA1 pyramidal cells is unchanged in GluN2D-V667I/+ mice. A) Representative, normalized mIPSC traces from +/+ (black) and GluN2D-V667I/+ (blue) mice. B) No significant change in the decay time of mIPSCs onto CA1 pyramidal cells in GluN2D-V667I/+ mice. Data represented are from n=14 cells/4 mice per genotype. n.s. = not significant. All data are unpublished.

developmental and epileptic encephalopathy (DEE). The severity of the human phenotypes associated with these variants are likely to due each variant being found within the highly intolerant TMD. This region of the NMDAR is cruical for gating – the act of transducing molecular motion from ligand binding within the ABD into pore opening for ion flux and signal propagation. Given its important role in channel opening it seems logical that there is abolute selection against mutations within this region. To our surprise, however, only one our mouse models displayed spontaneous seizures – the heterozygous GluN2D-V667I mouse. Heterozygous gain-of-function GluN2A-P552R and GluN2A-S644G mice showed no spontaneous seizures, despite those same heterozygous variants causing multiple seizures a day in humans. Interpretation of data obtained from the GluN2A-P552R mouse model was complicated by the introduction of an unplanned additional amino acid which may impact any oberseved epileptic phenotypes. This information was not obtained until after experimentation was started, and led to early termination of that project. While the GluN2A-S644G mice do not have spontaneous seizures, they do display some signs of DEE including seizure susceptibility and distinct neurobehavioral features described in (Amador et al., 2020).

Whereas we observed some features of the expected phenotypes observed in patients in the GluN2A-S644G mice, the etiology of DEE resulting from the GluN2A-S644G variant is biologically complex. Depending on mutant gene dosage and seizure assessment, GluN2A-S644G mice are both seizure-susceptible (spontaneous lethal seizures in homozygous GluN2A-S644G mice, not shown; lower threshold to electroconvulsive minimal and maximal seizure endpoints in heterozygous GluN2A-S644G) and seizure-resistance (elevated threshold to electroconvulsive partial seizures; relative resistance to PTZ-induced tonic-clonic seizures, not shown). Interestingly, mice lacking the excitatory postsynapse scaffold protein IQSEC2, which also exhibit lethal

spontaneous seizures and seizure resistance in 6 Hz ECT and PTZ tests, have increased excitatory drive onto hippocampal interneurons and altered intrinsic hippocampal interneuron properties (Sah et al., 2020). The two models compared suggest possible convergence of mechanisms of genetically diverse DEE's, which might help in identifying common therapies - invaluable given the extensive genetic heterogeneity of DEE.

Functional characterization of mutant channel activity shows a strong gain-of-function effect for all three variants. There does, however, appear to be a quantitative difference between the level of gain-of-function properties (i.e. deactivation/decay times) between heterologous data and data obtained from native synapses. Although all three mutant mouse models show that, at the synaptic level, gain-of-function properties such as a prolongation of the synaptic decay are present, they appear less striking than those observed in HEK recordings. The reasons for this are numerous and these discrepancies have been observed with other mouse models of NMDAR dysfunction (Benke et al., 2021). The most likely explanation is the binomial probability of receptors having 0, 1, or 2 copies of the mutant, with the inclusion of any wildtype subunits conferring faster synaptic decay times. Moreover, even within the same brain region (CA1 hippocampus) synaptic biology is heterogeneous, with synaptic receptor turnover being activity-dependent. Each of these heterogeneous synapses will be activated during Schaffer collateral stimulation and summed together with the confound of electrotonic filtering through a large dendritic tree, to generate a single macroscopic current response.

In addition to uncertainty in terms of true synaptic expression of each mutant subunit, several other factors – such as age, cell type selection, and human bias – will also impact observed synaptic decay times. All recordings were made in young mice (P14-26), mainly out of expediency and efficiency, which will not capture the true breadth of synaptic decay times possible. At this

age, pyramidal cells still express GluN2B-containing NMDARs in the synapse (Hansen et al., 2014). For GluN2A variants, this means the number of possible subunit combinations – both diheteromeric and triheteromeric – is large. For the GluN2D-V667I mouse, random *stratum radiatum* interneurons were picked, with no regard to interneuron subtype. Although the general consensus is that GABAergic interneurons express GluN2D (Perszyk et al., 2016; von Engelhardt et al., 2015), this canonical view has not been confirmed for all subtypes of interneuron (see Chapter 4, for example). Thus, some of the cells recorded may not even contain functional GluN2D-containing receptors at the postsynaptic density, let alone the mutant GluN2D-V667I subunit. There also may be systematic bias towards healthy neurons that allowed stable patch clamp recording, which may have been selected against cells with strong expression of our mutants across all three models.

Overall, data from these mutant mouse lines confirms many features of patient-derived variants studied in heterologous expression systems. Furthermore, these data support the initial goal of creating new models of neurological disease based on existing mutations observed in patients. Such models are not only relevant for individuals with *GRIN* variants, but also useful as models of synaptic dysfunction. Thus, they could allow evaluation of ideas and therapeutic strategies to address synaptic pathology arising from a broad range of factors, both genetic and independent of genetic variation.

2.5 References for Chapter 2

Amador A, Bostick CD, Olson H, Peters J, Camp CR, Krizay D, Chen W, Han W, Tang W, Kanber A, Kim S, Teoh J, Sah M, Petri S, Paek H, Kim A, Lutz CM, Yang M, Myers SJ, Bhattacharya S, Yuan H, Goldstein DB, Poduri A, Boland MJ, Traynelis SF and Frankel WN (2020) Modelling and treating GRIN2A developmental and epileptic encephalopathy in mice. *Brain* 143(7): 2039-2057.

- Asinof SK, Sukoff Rizzo SJ, Buckley AR, Beyer BJ, Letts VA, Frankel WN and Boumil RM (2015) Independent Neuronal Origin of Seizures and Behavioral Comorbidities in an Animal Model of a Severe Childhood Genetic Epileptic Encephalopathy. *PLoS Genet* 11(6): e1005347.
- Benke TA, Park K, Krey I, Camp CR, Song R, Ramsey AJ, Yuan H, Traynelis SF and Lemke J (2021) Clinical and therapeutic significance of genetic variation in the GRIN gene family encoding NMDARs. *Neuropharmacology* **199**: 108805.
- Camp CR and Yuan H (2020) GRIN2D/GluN2D NMDA receptor: Unique features and its contribution to pediatric developmental and epileptic encephalopathy. *Eur J Paediatr Neurol* **24**: 89-99.
- de Ligt J, Willemsen MH, van Bon BW, Kleefstra T, Yntema HG, Kroes T, Vulto-van Silfhout AT, Koolen DA, de Vries P, Gilissen C, del Rosario M, Hoischen A, Scheffer H, de Vries BB, Brunner HG, Veltman JA and Vissers LE (2012) Diagnostic exome sequencing in persons with severe intellectual disability. *N Engl J Med* 367(20): 1921-1929.
- Diana MA and Marty A (2003) Characterization of depolarization-induced suppression of inhibition using paired interneuron--Purkinje cell recordings. *J Neurosci* **23**(13): 5906-5918.
- Gibb AJ, Ogden KK, McDaniel MJ, Vance KM, Kell SA, Butch C, Burger P, Liotta DC and Traynelis SF (2018) A structurally derived model of subunit-dependent NMDA receptor function. *J Physiol* **596**(17): 4057-4089.
- Hansen KB, Ogden KK, Yuan H and Traynelis SF (2014) Distinct functional and pharmacological properties of Triheteromeric GluN1/GluN2A/GluN2B NMDA receptors. *Neuron* **81**(5): 1084-1096.
- Hansen KB, Yi F, Perszyk RE, Menniti FS and Traynelis SF (2017) NMDA Receptors in the Central Nervous System. *Methods Mol Biol* **1677**: 1-80.
- Jones KS, VanDongen HM and VanDongen AM (2002) The NMDA receptor M3 segment is a conserved transduction element coupling ligand binding to channel opening. *J Neurosci* **22**(6): 2044-2053.
- Li D, Yuan H, Ortiz-Gonzalez XR, Marsh ED, Tian L, McCormick EM, Kosobucki GJ, Chen W, Schulien AJ, Chiavacci R, Tankovic A, Naase C, Brueckner F, von Stulpnagel-Steinbeis C, Hu C, Kusumoto H, Hedrich UB, Elsen G, Hortnagel K, Aizenman E, Lemke JR, Hakonarson H, Traynelis SF and Falk MJ (2016) GRIN2D Recurrent De Novo Dominant Mutation Causes a Severe Epileptic Encephalopathy Treatable with NMDA Receptor Channel Blockers. *Am J Hum Genet* **99**(4): 802-816.
- McDaniel MJ, Ogden KK, Kell SA, Burger PB, Liotta DC and Traynelis SF (2020) NMDA receptor channel gating control by the pre-M1 helix. *J Gen Physiol* **152**(4).
- Nusser Z, Cull-Candy S and Farrant M (1997) Differences in synaptic GABA(A) receptor number underlie variation in GABA mini amplitude. *Neuron* **19**(3): 697-709.
- Ogden KK, Chen W, Swanger SA, McDaniel MJ, Fan LZ, Hu C, Tankovic A, Kusumoto H, Kosobucki GJ, Schulien AJ, Su Z, Pecha J, Bhattacharya S, Petrovski S, Cohen AE, Aizenman E, Traynelis SF and Yuan H (2017) Molecular Mechanism of Disease-Associated Mutations in the Pre-M1 Helix of NMDA Receptors and Potential Rescue Pharmacology. *PLoS Genet* **13**(1): e1006536.
- Perszyk RE, DiRaddo JO, Strong KL, Low CM, Ogden KK, Khatri A, Vargish GA, Pelkey KA, Tricoire L, Liotta DC, Smith Y, McBain CJ and Traynelis SF (2016) GluN2D-Containing

N-methyl-d-Aspartate Receptors Mediate Synaptic Transmission in Hippocampal Interneurons and Regulate Interneuron Activity. *Mol Pharmacol* **90**(6): 689-702.

- Sah M, Shore A, Petri S, Kanber A, Yang M, Weston MC and Frankel WN (2020) Altered excitatory transmission onto hippocampal interneurons in the IQSEC2 mouse model of X-linked neurodevelopmental disease. *Neurobiology of Disease* <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbd.2020.104758</u>.
- Strehlow V, Heyne HO, Vlaskamp DRM, Marwick KFM, Rudolf G, de Bellescize J, Biskup S, Brilstra EH, Brouwer OF, Callenbach PMC, Hentschel J, Hirsch E, Kind PC, Mignot C, Platzer K, Rump P, Skehel PA, Wyllie DJA, Hardingham GE, van Ravenswaaij-Arts CMA, Lesca G, Lemke JR and group GAs (2019) GRIN2A-related disorders: genotype and functional consequence predict phenotype. *Brain* 142(1): 80-92.
- von Engelhardt J, Bocklisch C, Tonges L, Herb A, Mishina M and Monyer H (2015) GluN2Dcontaining NMDA receptors-mediate synaptic currents in hippocampal interneurons and pyramidal cells in juvenile mice. *Front Cell Neurosci* **9**: 95.

CHAPTER 3: GRIN2A Null Variants and Parvalbumin-Positive Interneuron Maturation

Adapted from:

<u>Camp CR</u>, Vlachos A, Klöckner C, Banke TG, Shariatzadeh N, Ruggiero SM, Galer P, Helbig I, Yuan H, McBain CJ, Benke TA, Lemke JR, Pelkey KA, Traynelis SF (2022) Loss of *Grin2a* Causes a Transient Delay in the Electrophysiological Maturation of Hippocampal Parvalbumin Interneurons: A Possible Mechanism for Transient Seizure Burden in Patients with Null *GRIN2A* Variants.

3.1 Introduction

N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors (NMDARs) comprise a family of ligand-gated ionotropic glutamate receptors that mediate a calcium-permeable component to fast excitatory neurotransmission (Hansen et al., 2021). NMDARs are heterotetrameric assemblies of two obligate GluN1 subunits (encoded by the *GRIN1* gene) and two GluN2 subunits (encoded by the *GRIN2A-GRIN2D* genes) (Hansen et al., 2021). Given their ubiquitous expression, participation in glutamatergic neurotransmission, and facilitation of calcium entry into cells, NMDARs have been implicated in a host of physiological and developmental roles including learning, memory, spatial navigation, coordinated movement, decision making, neuronal migration, morphological development, and synaptic connectivity (Adesnik et al., 2008; Collingridge, 1987; Hansen et al., 2021; Komuro and Rakic, 1993; Nakazawa et al., 2004; Nash and Brotchie, 2000; Ultanir et al., 2007; Wang, 2002; Watanabe et al., 1998).

A growing volume of sequencing data implicates genetic variation within NMDARs as a contributing factor to neuropathological conditions including epilepsy, schizophrenia, autism, intellectual disability, and developmental delay (Benke et al., 2021; Yuan et al., 2009). These genetic variants, which are absent from the healthy population, illustrate a critical role for NMDARs in basic and higher-level cognitive function (Amin et al., 2021; Perszyk et al., 2020). Moreover, when stratified by subunit, 43% (297/679) of all currently known NMDAR genetic variants are within the *GRIN2A* gene, which encodes the GluN2A subunit (Benke et al., 2021; Hansen et al., 2021). Neurological conditions associated with *GRIN2A* variation present with a range of symptoms, with the most common being epilepsy and intellectual disability, coupled with some form of aphasia (Benke et al., 2021; Carvill et al., 2013; Hansen et al., 2021). Additionally, mutations in the *GRIN2A* gene have been identified as a high-risk factor for schizophrenia in

genome-wide association studies (Schizophrenia Working Group of the Psychiatric Genomics, 2014; Singh et al., 2022). Nearly one-third (98/297) of *GRIN2A* variants can be classified as null variants (Hansen et al., 2021), mainly nonsense mediated single nucleotide polymorphisms and chromosomal deletions, in which no functional GluN2A protein would be made. Here, we show that unlike those with loss-of-function or gain-of-function missense *GRIN2A* variants, the majority of those affected with a null *GRIN2A* variant demonstrate a transient period of seizure susceptibility that begins during infancy and diminishes near adolescence.

To investigate the cellular mechanisms for this transient seizure burden, we used global $Grin2a^{+/-}$ and $Grin2a^{-/-}$ mice as models for null *GRIN2A* variants. While individuals with null GRIN2A variants are only haploinsufficient, current data on $Grin2a^{+/-}$ mice is limited. $Grin2a^{-/-}$ mice, however, display neurological characteristics similar to those affected with null GRIN2A variants, such as transient cortical epileptiform discharges and deficits in spatial learning (Sakimura et al., 1995b; Salmi et al., 2019). Given that this transient seizure burden manifests early in life, we hypothesized that this may be a neurodevelopmental disease, in which aberrant circuit activity during the critical plasticity period of development disrupts the excitatory-to-inhibitory balance. Loss of early GluN2A signaling would promote profound network disruptions as the GluN2B-to-GluN2A switch, a period in which the relative ratio of GluN2B:GluN2A transcript tilts in favor of GluN2A being in the majority, confers cells with faster NMDAR-mediated excitatory postsynaptic currents and less overall calcium transfer per synaptic event (Carmignoto and Vicini, 1992; Erreger et al., 2005; Kirson and Yaari, 1996; Sans et al., 2000; Schneggenburger, 1996; Williams et al., 1993). This change in postsynaptic calcium signaling coincides with immense periods of neurodevelopment in which cells display morphological changes, synaptic

113

connections are established and pruned, and various ion channels regulating cellular excitability are upregulated (Oswald and Reyes, 2008; Piatti et al., 2011; Zhang, 2004).

The GluN2A subunit is expressed in excitatory glutamatergic pyramidal cells (Hansen et al., 2021; Perszyk et al., 2016) and multiple interneuron subtypes (Perszyk et al., 2016). Inhibition or targeted knockdown of the GluN1, GluN2B, or GluN2D subunits impede interneuron development, suggesting an active role for NMDARs in interneuron function and maturation (Chittajallu et al., 2017; Hanson et al., 2019; Hanson et al., 2013; Kelsch et al., 2014). Given the transient nature of seizure susceptibility observed in null *GRIN2A* patients, the temporal expression pattern of GluN2A, and potential roles of NMDARs in circuit refinement and interneuron maturation, we hypothesized that the reduced GluN2A signaling may impact interneuron function and thereby contribute to the formation of a transiently hyperexcitable network. Our data suggest that *Grin2a^{+/-}* and *Grin2a^{-/-}* mice show a delay in parvalbumin-positive (PV) interneuron maturation, with resolution of aberrant interneuron function occurring at a time – post adolescence – roughly corresponding to the time null *GRIN2A* variant patients show seizure offset. These data suggest a molecular mechanism for the transient seizure burden observed in null *GRIN2A* patients and provide further evidence for GluN2A's role in circuit maturation.

3.2 Methods

3.2.1 Animals and Breeding

All procedures involving the use of animals performed at Emory University were reviewed and approved by the Emory University IACUC, and were performed in full accordance with state and federal Animal Welfare Acts and Public Health Service policies. *Grin2a^{-/-}* mice were obtained from the laboratory of Masayoshi Mishina (University of Tokyo, Japan) and were generated via insertion of a neomycin resistance gene and Pau sequence (mRNA destabilizing and transcription-

114

pausing signals) into the coding region of the transmembrane domain of the *Grin2a* gene as previously described (Sakimura et al., 1995b). These mice were then backcrossed more than 15 times to a C57BL/6J (Jax stock number: 00664) background at Emory before use.

Mice were genotyped by performing PCRs for the neomycin cassette (forward: GGGCGCCCGGTTCTT; reverse: CCTCGTCCTGCAGTTCATTCA) and the WT Grin2a gene (forward: GCCCGTCCAGAATCCTAAAGG; reverse: GCAAAGAAGGCCCACACTGATA). Heterozygous $Grin2a^{+/-}$ mice were identified as being positive for both probes. In order to visualize PV cells for use in electrophysiological experiments, Grin2a^{-/-} mice were crossed with Pvalb-TdTomato mice (Jax stock number: 027395 - Tg(Pvalb-tdTomato15Gfng)) to generate Grin2a^{+/+}:Pvalb-TdTom, Grin2a^{+/-}:Pvalb-TdTom, and Grin2a^{-/-}:Pvalb-TdTom mice. This reporter line has already been backcrossed to a C57BL/6J background and has been previously validated to be selective and specific for PV⁺-GABAergic interneurons, including those within the CA1 subfield (Ekins et al., 2020; Kaiser et al., 2016). For identification of neonatal PV cells in acutely prepared hippocampal tissue, Tacl-Cre (Jax stock number: 021877 - B6;129S-Tac1^{tm1.1(cre)Hze}/J) driver mice were crossed with eGFP-Floxed (Jax stock number: 004077 – B6;129-Gt(ROSA)26Sor^{tm2Sho}/J) mice to produce *Tac1*-Cre:eGFP mice. *Tac1* has previously been described to be specifically expressed in PV cells, with no expression in MGE-derived somatostatin-positive cells (Que et al., 2021).

The following definitions are used for mice of various ages: neonatal (P6-8), juvenile (P13-15), preadolescent (P20-26), and adult (P70-125) as described previously (Spear, 2000). All mice were maintained in a conventional vivarium, given standard chow and water *ad libitum*, with a 12hour light cycle. Both male and female mice were used in all experiments. Both male and female mice were used in all experiments.

3.2.2 Human Patient Data

Deidentified data on seizure onset and offset were obtained from consented patients under protocols approved by the University of Colorado IRB, the University of Pennsylvania IRB, or University of Leizig IRB. Freedom from seizures was defined as no seizures for at least 365 consecutive days.

3.2.3 Acute Hippocampal Slice Preparation and Electrophysiological Recordings

After mice were overdosed with inhaled isoflurane, brains were rapidly removed and immediately placed in ice-cold ACSF (see below), and 300-µm thick horizontal hippocampal slices were made using a vibratome (Lecia, VT-1200S) in an ice-cold, sucrose-based artificial cerebrospinal fluid (aCSF) containing the following (in mM): 88 sucrose, 80 NaCl, 2.5 KCl, 1.25 HNa₂PO₄, 26 HNaCO₃, 10 glucose, 2 thiourea, 3 sodium pyruvate, 5 sodium ascorbate, 12 Nacetylcysteine, 10 MgSO₄, and 0.5 CaCl₂ bubbled in 95% O₂/5% CO₂. After sectioning, slices were incubated in a sucrose-based aCSF as described above but with 4 mM MgSO₄ at 32°C for 30 minutes then returned to room temperature for at least an hour before use. All recordings were made in the following aCSF extracellular solution (in mM): 126 NaCl, 2.5 KCl, 1.25 HNa₂PO₄, 26 HNaCO₃, 20 glucose, 1.5 MgSO₄, and 1.5 CaCl₂ bubbled with 95% O₂/5% CO₂ and held at 30-32°C using an inline heater (Warner, SH-27B). Cells were visualized using an upright Olympus BX50W microscope with IR-DIC optics coupled to a Dage IR-2000 camera. Whole-cell patch clamp recordings were obtained using an Axopatch 200B (Molecular Devices) or a Multiclamp 700B (Molecular Devices, digitized at 20 kHz using a Digidata 1440a (Molecular Devices) controlled by pClamp 10.6 software (Molecular Devices). All signals were low-pass filtered at 2 kHz using a Bessel 8-pole filter (Warner, LPF-8). Patch clamp electrodes were pulled using a Sutter P1000 horizontal puller from thin-walled borosilicate capillary tubes (WPI), with a typical resistance of 4-8 M Ω .

For current clamp recordings (action-potential spiking probability, intrinsic excitability, and action potential firing properties), the following intracellular solution was used (in mM): 115 potassium gluconate, 0.6 EGTA, 2 MgCl₂, 2 Na₂ATP, 0.3 Na₂GTP, 10 HEPES, 5 sodium phosphocreatine, 8 KCl, and 0.3-0.5% biocytin. After obtaining a whole-cell configuration, all cells were allowed to dialyze for 5 minutes in current-clamp mode at I=0. The liquid junction potential was not corrected and all current-clamp responses were automatically bridge-balanced using the Multiclamp 700B clamp commander software. For action-potential spiking probability experiments, a monopolar iridium-platinum stimulating electrode (FHC, Inc.) was placed in the upper $1/3^{rd}$ of the Schaffer collaterals to elicit a single 50 µs stimulation at a frequency of 0.03 Hz. This stimulation paradigm was used to find a stimulation intensity that would be just below a threshold that would produce a single action-potential spike of the patched CA1 pyramidal cell held at -60 mV in current-clamp mode (typically 40-70 µA). Once this stimulation intensity was established, the stimulation paradigm was shifted to deliver five 50 µs bursts at a frequency of 100 Hz every 30 seconds as previously described (Jami et al., 2021). A total of five epochs were recorded per cell with action-potential spiking probability calculated per stimulation number as number of spikes/5. Input resistance was calculated using the slope of voltage deflections in response to 500 ms current injections of -200, -150, -100, -50, 0, and 50 pA, with an inter-sweep interval of 2 seconds. The membrane time constant was calculated in response 20-30 sweeps of a 500 ms, -50 pA current injection, with an inter-sweep interval of 2 seconds. Composite responses were made by averaging 20-25 traces together using Clampfit (Molecular Devices). A weighted time constant was calculated using formula (1) by fitting a dual-exponential to each response in ChanneLab (Synaptosoft). Rheobase was calculated in response to 500 ms current injections starting at 0 pA and increasing by 2 pA every 2 seconds. Rheobase was defined as the minimal current injection required to elicit an action potential during the current injection period. Action potential firing frequency was calculated in response a 500 ms current injection every 2 seconds starting at -100 pA, and increasing by 20 pA for neonate and juvenile mice and 50 pA for preadolescent and adult mice, until the cell displayed depolarization-induced block of firing. Number of action potentials per current injection were calculated using pClamp (Molecular Devices). Action potential half-width, action potential amplitude, action potential threshold, and afterhyperpolarization amplitude were calculated using pClamp (Molecular Devices), from action potentials obtained during rheobase recordings.

For voltage clamp experiments (NMDAR-mediate EPSCs), the following intracellular solution was used (in mM): 100 Cs-gluconate, 5 CsCl, 0.6 EGTA, 5 BAPTA, 5 MgCl₂, 8 NaCl, 2 Na-ATP, 0.3 Na-GTP, 40 HEPES, 5 Na-phosphocreatine, and 3 QX-314. A monopolar iridium-platinum stimulating electrode (FHC, Inc.) was placed in the upper $1/3^{rd}$ of the Schaffer collaterals to elicit a single 50 µs stimulation at a frequency of 0.03 Hz and the NMDAR-mediated EPSC was pharmacologically isolated with 10 µM NBQX and 10 µM gabazine. Cells were held at +40 mV and stimulation intensity was chosen to be near 50% of the maximum peak amplitude of the EPSC. A total of 8-12 epochs were recorded and averaged together. At the conclusion of recording, 200 µM DL-APV was applied to ensure responses were mediated via NMDARs. A weighted time constant was calculated using the following formula by fitting a dual-exponential function to each composite mIPSC trace in ChanneLab (Synaptosoft):

(2) $\tau_{W} = (\tau_{FAST} \text{ amplitude}_{FAST} + \tau_{SLOW} \text{ amplitude}_{SLOW}) / (\text{amplitude}_{FAST} + \text{amplitude}_{SLOW})$

For all electrophysiological recordings, series resistance was monitored throughout all experiments and was typically 8–20 M Ω . For current clamp recordings, cells were briefly switched to voltage clamp and held at -60 mV while a series of 50 ms, 5-mV square waveforms were applied to the cell. For voltage clamp recordings, this 50 ms, 5-mV square wave was included in the stimulation paradigm. Series resistance was monitored throughout the entire recording, while current clamp recordings had series resistance measurements made at the beginning and at the end of each experiment, which usually lasted 5-7 minutes total. All series resistances were measured offline by analyzing the peak of the capacitive charging spike and applying Ohm's law. If the series resistance changed >25% during the experiment, or ever exceeded 30 M Ω , then the cell was excluded.

3.2.4 Interneuron Anatomical Reconstructions

After biocytin filling during whole-cell recordings, slices were fixed with 4% PFA in 1x PBS overnight, then permeabilized with 0.3% Triton-X in 1x PBS and incubated with streptavidin Alexa546 (Invitrogen, S11225; 1:500). Resectioned slices (75-µm) were mounted on gelatin-coated slides using Mowiol mounting medium. We also found similar axonal recovery success by filling cells with 0.5% biocytin and permeabilizing slices with 1.2% Triton-X in 1x PBS for 10 minutes prior to incubation in streptavidin AlexaFluor546 without resectioning. Cells were visualized using epifluorescence microscopy and images for representative examples were obtained with confocal microscopy. Cells were reconstructed and analyzed with Sholl analysis using Neurolucida software (MBF Bioscience). Polar histograms of dendrites and axons were created using the Neurolucida function (10 degree bins). Polarity preference was determined by

calculating the percentage of horizontally (150–210, 330–30 degrees) or vertically (60–120, 240– 300 degrees) oriented axons for each genotype.

3.2.5 Immunohistochemistry for GABAergic Interneuron Markers

After mice were overdosed with inhaled isoflurane, they were transcardially perfused with cold 1x phosphate buffered saline (PBS; pH 7.35), and subsequently perfused with cold 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) in 1x PBS. Brains were removed and fixed for 24 hours in 4% PFA in 1X PBS before being transferred to a 30% sucrose solution dissolved in 1x PBS until the brains sank. After cryoprotection, brains were frozen in optimal cutting temperature solution (OCT, Fisher) and serial 50-µm coronal hippocampal sections were obtained, with a total of five sections per animal, spaced roughly 250-µm apart. Slices were then transferred to a permeabilization solution containing 1.2% Triton-X in 1x PBS for 10 minutes, as previously described (Kaiser et al., 2016), before they were incubated in blocking solution containing 15% normal goat serum, 1% bovine serum albumin, and 0.5% Triton-X for 2-4 hours at room temperature. Primary antibodies were diluted in this same blocking solution at the following concentrations and incubated at 4°C for 72 hours: rabbit anti-parvalbumin (Swant, PV27; 1:5000) and rabbit anti-preprocholecystokinin (Frontier Institute Co., Ab-Rf350; 1:1000). After primary incubation, slices were washed 3 times in 1x PBS for 10 minutes then incubated in blocking solution containing AlexaFlour488 conjugated secondary antibodies (Abcam, ab150077; 1:1000) for 2-4 hours at room temperature. Slices were then washed 3 times in 1x PBS for 10 minutes then incubated in DAPI counterstain (Abcam, ab228549; 2 µM) for 30 minutes before being washed 3 more times in 1x PBS for 10 minutes. Slices were mounted on Superfrost Plus slides (Fisher Scientific, 12-550-15) and coverslipped with #1.5 coverslips (Thomas Scientific, 64-0717) using ProLong Gold

Antifade mounting media (ThermoFisher, P36930). After mounting media had cured, slides were sealed with CoverGrip (Biotium, 23005).

3.2.6 Image Acquisition and Analysis

All GABAergic interneuron marker images were acquired using a Nikon A1R HD25 linescanning confocal microscope using NIS Elements software. The following argon laser lines were used (in nm): 405 and 488 collected using GaAsP PMTs. All images were a series of z-stacks captured using a piezo motor z-controller, with software set to acquire data in 1024 x 1024 pixel format at a 1/8th frame rate dwell time. One experimenter performed all analyses and was blinded to genotype during acquisition and counting of confocal microscopy data. All GABAergic interneuron marker images were captured using Plan Apo 10x 0.45 NA objective, with some representative images captured using a Plan Apo 20x 0.75 NA objective, with images consisting of 11-14 stacks with a z-stack distance of 1 µm and a pinhole size of 19.4 µm. 4-5 hippocampi from each animal were imaged across 4 animals per genotype. All images were analyzed in Imaris 9.5 (Bitplane) by manually drawing hippocampal subregion boundaries and hand-counted.

3.2.7 Statistical Analysis and Figure Preparation

One-way or two-way ANOVA statistical tests were performed where appropriate. For experiments where multiple statistical analyses were performed on the same dataset, our significance threshold was lowered to correct for family-wise error rate (FWER) using the Bonferroni post-hoc correction method. All studies were designed so that an effect size of at least 1 was detected at 80% or greater power. All statistical analyses were performed in Prism's GraphPad software all figures were generated in Adobe's Illustrator software.

3.3.1 Null GRIN2A Variants May Have a Transient Seizure Burden

Despite strong selective pressure against mutation in various GRIN genes, hundreds of human variants have been reported (Hansen et al., 2021). Summarizing variant data from Hansen et. al. 2021, Figure 3.1A highlights that the *GRIN2A* gene contains 44% (297/679) of all known GRIN variants. Figure 3.1B shows that only 67% (199/297) of GRIN2A variants are missense, while the remaining 33% (98/297) are null variants. Given this striking number of null GRIN2A variants, we utilized publicly available patient data (https://grin-portal.broadinstitute.org/) and unpublished clinical data (Supplemental Table S3.1), to evaluate seizure burden. Figure 3.1C reports a total of 92 null *GRIN2A* variants, with a mean age of seizure onset of 4.5 ± 0.2 years. We also report that 22 null *GRIN2A* patients with previous history of seizures have been seizure-free for at least two years, with a mean seizure offset of 10.2 ± 0.8 years. These data are in stark contrast to missense *GRIN2A* variants with available seizure onset/offset data. Figure 3.1D reports a total of 47 missense GRIN2A variants, with a mean age of seizure onset of 4.9 ± 0.7 years (Supplemental Table S3.2). To date, only one missense GRIN2A patient has been deemed seizure-free at the age of 1.7 years. These data suggest seizure susceptibility in null GRIN2A patients is transient, while seizure burden in missense *GRIN2A* patients may be more permanent. More data is needed to make concrete conclusions from these findings; however, they do raise the possibility that loss of *GRIN2A* produces a transient increase in circuit excitability.

3.3.2 Developing Hippocampus Shows Hyperexcitability in Grin2a^{+/-} and Grin2a^{-/-} Mice

Previous data using *Grin2a^{-/-}* mice has shown cortical epileptiform activity in preadolescent mice (Salmi et al., 2019), as well as a prolongation of the NMDA receptor-mediated



Figure 3.1. Null *GRIN2A* null patients display a transient seizure burden not seen in missense *GRIN2A* patients. **A)** Summary data adapted from Hansen et. al. 2021 showing that most *GRIN* variants are found in the *GRIN2A* (43.7%; 297/679) gene. **B)** Summary data adapted from Hansen et. al. 2021 highlighting that $1/3^{rd}$ (98/297) of all *GRIN2A* variants are null variants, which include nonsense variants, as well as chromosomal insertions, deletions, inversions, and translocations. **C)** Null *GRIN2A* patient data shows both a seizure onset (4.5 ± 0.2 years; n=92) as well as a seizure offset (10.4 ± 0.8 years; n=22). Seizure offset is defined as being seizure-free for two consecutive years in a patient that had a previous history of seizures. **D)** Missense *GRIN2A* patient data shows seizure onset (4.9 ± 0.7 years; n=47), with only one patient being described as seizure-free at the time of reporting. For violin plots, solid middle line represents the median, with the dashed lines representing the 25th and 75th quantile.

excitatory postsynaptic current (EPSC) onto CA1 pyramidal cells (Booker et al., 2021) and dentate gyrus granule cells (Kannangara et al., 2015). The prolongation of the NMDA receptor-mediated EPSC is expected given the mixed expression of rapidly deactivating GluN2A- and slowly deactivating GluN2B-containing NMDA receptors on excitatory cells and the decay kinetics of a pure GluN2B-containing NMDA receptor population. Moreover, these data suggest that the loss of GluN2A-mediated signaling generates an increased excitability of cortical and hippocampal circuits given the longer time course of the NMDA receptor-mediated EPSC, however, the exact age range in when this excitability change occurs has not been explored. Since GluN2A expression shows a strong upregulation of expression during early postnatal development (Monyer et al., 1994), we explored the impact of developmental age on the prolongation of the NMDA receptormediated EPSC (data not shown).

Since juvenile mice have the most divergent NMDA receptor-mediated EPSC decay time across the three genotypes, this age was our benchmark to explore what other changes to hippocampal circuit function, if any, occur in $Grin2a^{+/-}$ and $Grin2a^{-/-}$ mice. Thus, we recorded action-potential generation probability in juvenile CA1 pyramidal cells during five Schaffer collateral stimulations at 100 Hz (e.g. a 50 ms burst of 5 pulses) to assess circuit output after excitatory afferent signaling. Two-way ANOVA shows a statistically significant main effect for both stimulation number and genotype (**Figure 3.2B-2C; Supplemental Table S3.3**), however, there are no significant interactions nor differences in the total number of action-potentials generated (**Figure 3.2D**; **Supplemental Table S3.3**). These data suggest that $Grin2a^{+/-}$ and $Grin2a^{-/-}$ mice are more likely to fire action-potentials when subjected to similar excitatory afferent activity compared to $Grin2a^{+/+}$ mice. One possible interpretation of these data is that the loss of Grin2a impacts the intrinsic excitability of the CA1 pyramidal cells themselves. We show no



Figure 3.2. Juvenile CA1 circuit shows hyperexcitability in *Grin2a^{+/-}* and *Grin2a^{-/-}* mice. **A)** CA1 pyramidal cells from juvenile (P14-16) mice were current clamped at -60 mV and Schaffer collateral afferents were stimulated five times at 100 Hz for a total of 5 epochs. Stimulation intensity was set just below threshold to produce an action-potential spike after a single Schaffer collateral stimulation. **B)** Representative traces showing action-potential spiking in response to successive Schaffer collateral stimulations. **C)** Action-potential spiking probability for each stimulus averaged over 5 epochs across all genotypes. Two-way ANOVA showed significant main effects for both genotype (F_{2, 225} = 6.351; p = 0.0021) and stimulation number (F_{4, 225} = 16.82; p < 0.0001), however, there was no interaction. **D)** Total number of action potentials elicited over 5 epochs of 5-burst Schaffer collateral stimulation. One-way ANOVA showed there was no significant difference across the three genotypes (F = 2.997; p = 0.06). Data represented show mean ± SEM. AP = action-potential; *s.o. = stratum oriens; s.p. = stratum pyramidale; s.r. = stratum radiatum*; n.s. = not significant

difference in any measurable electrophysiological passive property such as resting membrane potential or input resistance, as well as no changes in action-potential firing (**Supplemental Figure S3.1**; **Supplemental Table S3.4**). Thus, changes in action-potential firing probability are not due to alterations in pyramidal cell intrinsic excitability. In addition to providing direct excitatory afferent signaling onto pyramidal cells, Schaffer collateral stimulation will also provide excitatory tone onto feedforward GABAergic interneurons. Alternatively, the loss of *Grin2a* may cause compensatory alterations in other glutamatergic neurotransmitter receptors which could impact action-potential spiking probability.

3.3.3 Alterations in Hippocampal PV Cell Density

Alterations in synaptic excitability as described Figure 2 could be due to changes in several features of the hippocampal circuit, including GABAergic inhibition which is mediated by a wide range of different interneurons. Inhibitory GABAergic basket cells primarily make somatic inhibitory synaptic connections where they exert profound control on pyramidal cell firing, and in CA1, are heavily innervated by Schaffer collateral afferents. CA1 basket cells can be split into two main subtypes: parvalbumin (PV)-expressing cells and cholecystokinin (CCK)-expressing cells. PV and CCK cells have opposing transcriptomic profiles and each represents a major subtype of interneuron arising from the medial ganglionic eminence (MGE) and caudal ganglionic eminence (CGE), respectively (Pelkey et al., 2017). Since early pyramidal cell activity has been shown to control interneuron apoptosis (Wong et al., 2018), and we report alterations to the NMDA receptor-mediated EPSC onto young pyramidal cells, we hypothesized that the loss of *Grin2a* may impact basket cell density in CA1. We therefore determined cell density of PV and CCK interneurons in *Grin2a*^{+/+}, *Grin2a*^{+/+}, and *Grin2a*^{-/-} mice via immunohistochemical staining.

The total loss of *Grin2a* promotes an upregulation of PV cells in CA1 (Figure 3.3A-B; Supplemental Table S3.5) compared to both $Grin2a^{+/+}$ and $Grin2a^{+/-}$ mice. Although the overall cell density of PV cells is altered in $Grin2a^{-/-}$ mice, there is no difference in PV cellular lamination (Figure 3.3A and 3.3C; Supplemental Table S3.5) regardless of genotype, with most PV cells residing in *stratum oriens* and *stratum pyramidale* as previously reported (Pelkey et al., 2017). Unlike PV cells, we show that the loss of *Grin2a* does not impact CCK cell density (Supplemental Figure S3.2A-S2B; Supplemental Table S3.6) or CCK cellular lamination (Supplemental Figure S3.2A and S3.2C; Supplemental Table S3.6). Thus, these data indicate that the loss of Grin2a may preferentially impact PV interneuron survival/apoptosis in CA1. Moreover, the effect of increased cell density in only $Grin2a^{-/-}$ mice suggests that a threshold of aberrant pyramidal cell activity must be reached before PV cell survival/apoptosis is impacted. Pyramidal cell activity thus far has only been shown to impact MGE-derived interneurons, with no data on survival/apoptosis of CGE-derived interneurons (Wong et al., 2018). Alternatively, CCK-expressing cells may not be affected since previous reports have shown that these cells have little to no GluN2A-mediated synaptic signaling (Booker et al., 2021; Matta et al., 2013).

<u>3.3.4 Age-Dependent Changes in Passive and Action-Potential Firing Properties of CA1 PV</u> <u>Cells</u>

In addition to controlling interneuron survival/apoptosis, local pyramidal cell activity has also been implicated in controlling the maturation of GABAergic interneurons (Lim et al., 2018; Wong et al., 2018). Given that our transcriptomic data highlights differences in several voltagegated sodium and potassium channels and the lack of intrinsic excitability perturbations in pyramidal cells, we hypothesized that the loss of *Grin2a* may be impacting PV cell intrinsic excitability. Previous work has shown that PV cells undergo an electrophysiological maturation of both their



Figure 3.3. Loss of *Grin2a* causes an increase in parvalbumin (PV) cell density in CA1. **A)** Representative images of CA1 hippocampal sections stained for PV in preadolescent mice. **B)** CA1 PV cell density is significantly increased in *Grin2a^{-/-}* mice compared to *Grin2a^{+/+}* mice (6,488 \pm 276 cells per mm³ in *Grin2a^{-/-}* vs 4,875 \pm 162 cells per mm³ in *Grin2a^{+/+}*; one-way ANOVA, p<0.0001) and *Grin2a^{+/-}* mice (6,488 \pm 276 cells per mm³ in *Grin2a^{-/-}* vs 4,542 \pm 198 cells per mm³ in *Grin2a^{+/-}*; one-way ANOVA, p<0.0001). There is no difference in CA1 PV cell density between *Grin2a^{+/+}* and *Grin2a^{+/-}* mice (one-way ANOVA, p=0.58). **C)** Despite an increase in cell density in *Grin2a^{-/-}* mice, there is no difference in PV CA1 cellular lamination across all three genotypes. Data represented show mean \pm SEM. *s.o.* = *stratum oriens*; *s.p.* = *stratum pyramidale*; *s.r.* = *stratum radiatum*; *s.l.m.* = *stratum lacunosum moleculare*; PV = parvalbumin; **** = p<0.0001; n.s. = not significant.

passive and action-potential firing properties, however, many of these studies have been performed in cortical PV cells (Goldberg et al., 2011; Miyamae et al., 2017; Okaty et al., 2009) and dentate gyrus PV cells (Doischer et al., 2008). Since clear data highlighting an electrophysiological maturation in CA1 is limited (however, see (Que et al., 2021)), we first wanted to demonstrate that hippocampal PV cells also show an electrophysiological maturation pattern like those seen in cortex.

Detailed analysis of the electrophysiological maturation pattern in young PV cells has been hampered by the age-dependent expression of the PV gene itself, which begins around P14 (de Lecea et al., 1995). To bypass this limitation, we used another driver mouse line, *Tac1*-Cre (Jax #:021877), to obtain neonatal (P6-8) PV cells recordings in developing hippocampus. Tac1 is exclusively expressed in PV cells, with no expression reported in MGE-derived somatostatin cells (Que et al., 2021). Additionally, Tac1 expression begins early in embryogenesis and is sustained well into the third week of development (Allen Developing Mouse Brain Atlas). To confirm that *Tac1*-Cre mice are a viable tool for studying neonatal PV cells, we compared several passive and action-potential firing properties in juvenile (P13-15) *Tac1*-Cre positive cells against a traditional *Pvalb*-TdTomato driver line (Jax #:027395) and found no differences (See **Supplemental Figure S3.3A-H**). Each *Tac1*-Cre cell was also filled with biocytin, with all visually confirmed to be of the basket cell subtype (See **Supplemental Figure S3.3I-J**), as previously reported (Que et al., 2021).

Using *Tac1*-Cre mice for neonatal recordings and *Pvalb*-TdTomato mice for juvenile, preadolescent, and adult recordings we recorded various passive and action-potential firing properties of CA1 PV cells at four stages during neurodevelopment. We report that neonatal CA1 PV cells show a transient prolongation of their membrane time constant, which is significantly

increased compared to juvenile, preadolescent, and adult CA1 PV cells (Figure 3.4B-C; Supplemental Table S3.7). A similar trend is observed for input resistance in neonatal CA1 PV Cells (See Supplemental Table S3.7). The action-potential half-width of neonatal CA1 PV cells is also transiently prolonged and is significantly increased compared to juvenile, preadolescent, and adult cells (Figure 3.4D-E; Supplemental Table S3.7). A transient prolongation of the membrane time constant and action-potential half-width observed here matches previously reported data for developing cortical PV cells. Additionally, it suggests that the excitability of neonatal PV cells is increased, but that their signaling is not temporally precise, typical of a fledging network.

We also report dampening of the maximum action-potential firing frequency in developing CA1 PV cells. Neonatal CA1 PV cells maximum action-potential firing capacity is significantly decreased compared to juvenile, preadolescent, and adult CA1 PV cells (**Figure 3.4F-G; Supplemental Table S3.7**). The maximum action-potential firing frequency in juvenile CA1 PV cells is also significantly decreased compared to adult cells (**Figure 3.4F-G; Supplemental Table S3.7**). An age-dependent increase in the fast-spiking nature of PV cells has been well characterized and is thought to be driven by a delay in the upregulation of the rapid Kv3-family of voltage-gated potassium channels (Goldberg et al., 2011). The current required for depolarization-induced block of action-potential firing in neonatal CA1 PV cells is significantly decreased compared to juvenile, preadolescent, and adult cells (**Figure 3.4F and 3.4H; Supplemental Table S3.7**). Here, the decreased current for depolarization-induced block is likely caused by an increased input resistance measured in neonatal mice. In all, we show that CA1 PV cells do undergo significant electrophysiological maturation programs, which helps transform them from simple signal propagators to precise signaling machines.


Figure 3.4. CA1 PV cells undergo electrophysiological maturation of passive and action-potential firing properties. **A)** PV cells were visualized using either PV-tdTomato or Tac1-CREx floxed GFP (See Supplemental Figure S6). T**B**) Representative, amplitude-normalized repolarization traces to highlight differences in membrane time constant following a -50 pA current injection at different developmental timepoints. **C)** Membrane time constant is significantly prolonged in neonatal mice (F = 40.68, one-way

ANOVA; p < 0.0001 for post-hoc multiple comparisons with every other developmental timepoint). D) Action-potential half-width is significantly prolonged in neonatal mice (F = 28, one-way ANOVA; p<0.0001 for post-hoc multiple comparisons with every other developmental timepoint). E) Representative, amplitude-normalized single action-potential traces to highlight differences in half-width at different developmental timepoints. F) Representative action-potential trains elicited by various current injections depicted below each train to illustrate change in maximum action-potential firing frequency during development. Traces shown are those just below threshold for depolarization-induced block of actionpotential firing. G) Maximum action-potential firing frequency is significantly decreased in neonatal mice (F = 28.3, one-way ANOVA; p < 0.001 for post-hoc multiple comparison test with juvenile mice, and p<0.0001 for post-hoc multiple comparison test with preadolescent and adult mice). Juvenile mice also show a significantly decreased maximum action-potential firing frequency compared to preadolescent mice (one-way ANOVA post-hoc multiple comparison test; p=0.0039). F) Current required for depolarizationinduced block of action-potential firing is significantly decreased in neonatal mice (F = 8.36, one-way ANOVA; p<0.01 for post-hoc multiple comparison test with juvenile and adult mice, and p<0.0001 for post-hoc multiple comparison test with preadolescent mice). Symbols are mean \pm SEM. AP = actionpotential; depolarization block = Current required for depolarization-induced block of action-potential firing. ** = p < 0.01; ****p < 0.001; **** = p < 0.0001; # = juvenile mice significantly different than adult mice in one-way ANOVA post-hoc multiple comparison

3.3.5 Electrophysiological Maturation of PV Cells is Delayed in Grin2a^{+/-} and Grin2a^{-/-} Mice

After showing that WT CA1 PV cells undergo electrophysiological maturation of their passive and action-potential firing properties, we tested our hypothesis that altered network activity may impact the rate of PV cell maturation in $Grin2a^{+/-}$ and $Grin2a^{-/-}$ mice. We generated $Grin2a^{+/-}$ x *Pvalb*-TdTomato and $Grin2a^{-/-}$ x *Pvalb*-TdTomato mice via selective breeding (see methods) to visualize PV cells in CA1 across our three genotypes. We found no difference in the resting membrane potential of juvenile, preadolescent, or adult CA1 PV cells in *Grin2a^{+/-}*, *Grin2a^{+/-}*, and *Grin2a^{-/-}* mice (Figure 3.5B; Supplemental Table S8). While we did not find any statistically significant main effects of age or genotype for PV celluar capacitance, we did find a statistically significant interaction such that juvenile PV cells from $Grin2a^{+/-}$ mice (Figure 3.5C; Supplemental Table S8). The membrane time constant and input resistance both had statistically significant main effects for age and genotype, indicating a transient increase in both measures of passive membrane excitability (Figure 3.5E-F; Supplemental Table S8).

Statistically significant interactions for membrane time constant values indicate that juvenile CA1 PV cells from $Grin2a^{+/+}$ mice are significantly lower compared to juvenile CA1 PV cells from both $Grin2a^{+/-}$ and $Grin2a^{-/-}$ mice (Figure 3.5D-E; Supplemental Table S8). In preadolescent mice, the membrane constant of CA1 PV cells from $Grin2a^{+/+}$ mice are significantly lower than CA1 PV cells from $Grin2a^{-/-}$ mice, while there is no difference in membrane time constant of CA1 PV cells from preadolescent $Grin2a^{+/+}$ and $Grin2a^{+/-}$ mice (Figure 3.5D-E; Supplemental Table S8). All membrane time constant values were not significantly different in adult mice, regardless of genotype (Figure 3.5D-E; Supplemental Table S8). Statistically significant interactions for input resistance values indicate that juvenile and preadolescent CA1



Figure 3.5. The loss of *Grin2a* causes a transient change in passive electrophysiological properties in CA1 PV cells. A) Mouse model used to visualize PV cells in CA1 next to examples of a biocytin backfilled CA1 PV cell that was stained for TdTomato to indicate successful cellular identification.
B) No change in resting membrane potential across all three genotypes at different developmental time points (two-way ANOVA). C) No main effect of cellular capacitance across genotype (F_{2, 136})

= 1.3; p=0.28; two-way ANOVA) or age ($F_{2, 136} = 0.32$; p=0.72; two-way ANOVA), however, there is a statistically significant interaction such that juvenile $Grin2a^{+/-}$ mice have a higher cellular capacitance than both $Grin2a^{+/+}$ mice (150 ± 8.0 pF for $Grin2a^{+/-}$ vs 110 ± 6.5 pF for $Grin2a^{+/+}$; p=0.0061) and $Grin2a^{-/-}$ mice (150 ± 8.0 pF for $Grin2a^{+/-}$ vs 111 ± 11 pF for $Grin2a^{-/-}$; p=0.014). D) Representative, amplitude-normalized repolarization traces to highlight differences in membrane time constant following a -50 pA current injection at different developmental timepoints. E) Membrane time constant measurements show statistically significant main effects for both age ($F_{2, 136} = 6.9$; p=0.0014; two-way ANOVA) and genotype ($F_{2, 136} = 6.8$; p=0.0016; two-way ANOVA). There are also several statistically significant interactions such that both juvenile $Grin2a^{+/-}$ mice (20 ± 2.7 ms for $Grin2a^{+/-}$ vs 10 ± 0.6 ms for $Grin2a^{+/+}$; p=0.0011) and $Grin2a^{-/-}$ mice (22 ± 4.4 ms for $Grin2a^{-/-}$ vs 10 ± 0.6 ms for $Grin2a^{+/+}$; p<0.0001) displayed higher membrane time constants than $Grin2a^{+/+}$ mice. Additionally, preadolescent $Grin2a^{-/-}$ mice showed a higher membrane time constant than $Grin2a^{+/+}$ mice $(17 \pm 1.9 \text{ ms for } Grin2a^{-/-} \text{ vs } 11 \pm 0.9 \text{ ms})$ for $Grin2a^{+/+}$; p=0.048). F) Input resistance measurements show statistically significant main effects for both age ($F_{2, 133} = 5.0$; p=0.0082; two-way ANOVA) and genotype ($F_{2, 133} = 12.2$; p<0.0001; two-way ANOVA). There are also several statistically significant interactions such that juvenile $Grin2a^{-/-}$ mice displayed higher input resistances than $Grin2a^{+/+}$ mice (184 ± 23 M Ω for Grin2a^{-/-} vs 96 ± 6.1 M Ω for Grin2a^{+/+}; p<0.0001) and Grin2a^{+/-} mice (184 ± 23 M Ω for Grin2a⁻ ^{/-} vs $128 \pm 12 \text{ M}\Omega$ for $Grin2a^{+/+}$; p=0.0054). Additionally, preadolescent $Grin2a^{-/-}$ mice showed a higher input resistance than $Grin2a^{+/+}$ mice (149 ± 15 M Ω for $Grin2a^{-/-}$ vs 96 ± 7.9 M Ω for *Grin2a*^{+/+}; p=0.0031) and *Grin2a*^{+/-} mice (149 ± 15 MΩ for *Grin2a*^{-/-} vs 108 ± 9.3 MΩ for *Grin2a*^{+/+}; p=0.043). The sum of these data indicates an age- and gene-dependent transient delay in various passive electrical properties of CA1 PV cells. Symbols are mean \pm SEM. RMP = resting membrane potential; $\# = Grin2a^{+/-}$ significantly different than both $Grin2a^{+/+}$ and $Grin2a^{-/-}$ at that age; $\$ = Grin2a^{+/+}$ significantly different than both $Grin2a^{+/-}$ and $Grin2a^{-/-}$ at that age; $^{-} = Grin2a^{-/-}$ significantly different than $Grin2a^{+/+}$ at that age; $\& = Grin2a^{-/-}$ significantly different than both $Grin2a^{+/+}$ at that age; * = p < 0.01; * * * p < 0.001.

PV cells from *Grin2a^{-/-}* mice are significantly higher than juvenile and preadolescent CA1 PV cells from both *Grin2a^{+/+}* and *Grin2a^{+/-}* mice (**Figure 3.5F**; **Supplemental Table S8**). All input resistance values were not significantly different in adult mice, regardless of genotype (**Figure 3.5F**; **Supplemental Table S8**). The sum of these data illustrates that there is an age- and genotype-dependent transient delay in the passive membrane excitability of CA1 PV cells.

We also examined the action-potential waveform and firing properties of CA1 PV cells in $Grin2a^{+/-}$ and $Grin2a^{-/-}$ mice during development. We show no statistically significant effects of age or genotype on rheobase or action-potential amplitude, as well as no significant interactions for each measure (Figure 3.6A-B; Supplemental Table S9). Action-potential half-width shows statistically significant effects for both age and genotype (Figure 3.6C-D; Supplemental Table **S9**). Statistically significant interactions for the action-potential half-width indicate that juvenile CA1 PV cells from Grin2a^{-/-} mice have significantly broader action potentials compared to juvenile CA1 PV cells from both $Grin2a^{+/+}$ and $Grin2a^{+/-}$ mice (Figure 3.6C-D; Supplemental Table S9). In preadolescent mice, the action-potential half-width of CA1 cells from Grin2a^{-/-} mice is significantly higher than CA1 PV cells from $Grin2a^{-/-}$ mice, while there is no difference in the action-potential half-width of CA1 PV cells from preadolescent $Grin2a^{+/+}$ and $Grin2a^{+/-}$ mice (Figure 3.6C-D; Supplemental Table S9). All action-potential half-width values were not significantly different in adult mice, regardless of genotype (Figure 3.6C-D; Supplemental Table **S3.9**). These data indicate a significant but transient prolongation of the action-potential half-width that is dependent on both age and genotype. The afterhyperpolarization amplitude shows a statistically significant main effect for age, but not for genotype, which suggests that the channels responsible for afterhyperpolarization amplitude are not subjected to the same delay observed for other measures like membrane time constant, input resistance, and action-potential half-width



Figure 3.6. The loss of *Grin2a* causes a transient change in action-potential waveform properties of CA1 PV cells. There are no differences in A) rheobase or B) action-potential amplitude regardless of age or genotype in CA1 PV cells. C) Representative, amplitude-normalized single action-potential traces to highlight differences in half-width at different developmental timepoints.
D) Action-potential half-width measurements show statistically significant main effects for both

age (F_{2, 134} = 47; p<0.0001; two-way ANOVA) and genotype (F_{2, 134} = 9.3; p=0.0002; two-way ANOVA). There are also several statistically significant interactions such that both juvenile $Grin2a^{+/+}$ mice (0.58 ± 0.02 ms for $Grin2a^{+/+}$ vs 0.82 ± 0.07 ms for $Grin2a^{-/-}$; p<0.0001) and $Grin2a^{+/-}$ mice (0.68 ± 0.04 ms for $Grin2a^{+/-}$ vs 0.82 ± 0.07 for $Grin2a^{-/-}$; p<0.005) displayed longer action-potential half-widths than $Grin2a^{-/-}$ mice. Additionally, preadolescent $Grin2a^{-/-}$ mice showed longer action-potential half-widths than $Grin2a^{+/+}$ mice (0.54 ± 0.03 ms for $Grin2a^{-/-}$ vs 0.42 ± 0.01 ms for $Grin2a^{+/+}$; p=0.0152). E) Afterhyperpolarization amplitude of the action-potential waveform showed a significant main effect for age (F_{2, 127} = 6.36; p=0.0023; two-way ANOVA), but no main effect for genotype (F_{2, 127} = 2; p=0.14; two-way ANOVA). Symbols are mean ± SEM. AP = action-potential; AHP = afterhyperpolarization; ^ = $Grin2a^{-/-}$ significantly different than $Grin2a^{+/+}$ at that age; & = $Grin2a^{-/-}$ significantly different than both $Grin2a^{+/+}$ and $Grin2a^{+/+}$ at that age; ** = p<0.01; ***p<0.001; **** = p<0.0001.

(Figure 3.6E; Supplemental Table S3.9).

We also found that both the maximum action-potential firing frequency before depolarization-induced block and the current required to reach depolarization-induced block of action potential firing show statistically significant main effects for age and genotype (Figure **3.7A-E**; Supplemental Table S9). The transient delay in the maximum action-potential firing frequency suggests a delay in the upregulation of Kv3-family of voltage-gated potassium channels, while the transient decrease in the current required for depolarization-induced block is likely caused by the transient increase in input resistance described above. The sum of these data suggests that although PV cells from preadolescent $Grin2a^{-/-}$ mice may be fast to fire given their increased input resistance, they are also fast to retire given their alterations in depolarization-induced block and action-potential firing frequency. That is, inhibitory firing will fade in response high frequency firing, as might occur during initial runup toward seizure initiation. This diminished action potential generation could have profound consequences on circuit excitability and network wiring during the critical plasticity period during preadolescent development, which may manifest as epileptiform activity, maladaptive plasticity, or cognitive impairment. Moreover, if the transient nature of these reported alterations in PV cell function for $Grin2a^{-/-}$ interneurons also occur in PV interneurons from GRIN2A null variant patients, this could provide a molecular mechanism driving hyperexcitability and hypersynchronous epileptiform activity in these patients.

3.4 Discussion

The most important finding of this study is that *GRIN2A* null human patients display a largely transient seizure burden, that can resolve with age. We report that *Grin2a^{-/-}* mice, a model for *GRIN2A* null variants, also display transient excitability changes in hippocampal parvalbumin interneuron excitability that correlates developmentally with the period of seizure susceptibility in



Figure 3.7. The loss of *Grin2a* causes a transient change in action-potential firing properties of CA1 PV cells. Representative action-potential trains elicited by current injections depicted below each train to illustrate the maximum action-potential firing frequency and the current required for depolarization-induced block of action-potential firing for **A**) *Grin2a*^{+/+}, **B**) *Grin2a*^{+/-}, and **C**)

Grin2a^{-/-} mice during development. **D)** Maximum action potential firing frequencies show a significant main effect for both age ($F_{2, 135} = 29.8$; p<0.0001; two-way ANOVA) and genotype ($F_{2, 135} = 6.7$; p=0.0017; two-way ANOVA). **E)** Currents required to reach depolarization-induced block of action potential firing show a significant main effect for both age ($F_{2, 135} = 4.2$; p=0.017; two-way ANOVA) and genotype ($F_{2, 135} = 5.4$; p=0.006; two-way ANOVA). Symbols are mean \pm SEM. AP = action-potential; depolarization block = current required to reach depolarization-induced block of action-potential firing; * = p<0.05; ** = p<0.01; ***p<0.001; **** = p<0.0001.

human patients with null *GRIN2A* variants. This appears to primarily reflect a change in PV cell spike firing propensity, and thus we suggest that this transient change in PV cell function as a plausible mechanism that may contribute to the transient seizure susceptibility in *GRIN2A* null variant patients. These deficits in PV cell function largely mirror a delay in the electrophysiological maturation and likely shift network excitability towards excessive pyramidal cell firing, allowing synchronized epileptiform discharge formation. This perturbation resolves with further development, as adult PV cells show similar electrophysiological properties as age-matched WT cells, corresponding developmentally to the time patients show reduced seizure burden. In addition to the perturbations in PV interneuron function, these data highlight a previously unrecognized role for GluN2A signaling in the cellular maturation and preservation of the PV interneuron population in hippocampal CA1. Alterations in circuit excitability, the changes in the number of PV cells, which are the most common interneuron in the CNS, could have far reaching impact on other aspects of brain function and development.

The data we report here suggests multiple potential roles for the GluN2A subunit of NMDARs in the regulation of function, development, and maturation of GABAergic interneurons in the mouse hippocampus. We show that CA1 PV cells from *Grin2a^{-/-}* mice display genotypeand age-dependent alterations in passive electrical and action-potential firing properties. By examining both passive intrinsic properties and action potential firing characteristics, we can estimate how these cells may respond to excitatory afferent activity and how efficiently they can transduce somatic depolarizations into signal-carrying action potentials. The exact mechanism for this transcriptional shift from immature to mature PV electrophysiological properties is not fully understood but has been shown to be activity-dependent (Dehorter et al., 2015; Miller et al., 2011). Thus, the loss of *Grin2a* in developing PV interneurons appears to slow cellular maturation, potentially stemming from a loss of GluN2A signaling on PV cell dendrites or changes in non-cell autonomous signaling. All these properties ultimately reach wild type levels in adult mice, suggesting that although GluN2A signaling may be sufficient to initiate these maturation transcriptional programs, it is not absolutely required. While the overall effects of a prolonged immature electrophysiological profile in preadolescent PV cells are not known, this period coincides with critical period plasticity in various brain regions (Hensch, 2005; Takesian and Hensch, 2013), and thus, could critically alter circuit formation in the hippocampus, and other regions. Specifically, larger input resistances and lower peak action potential firing frequencies will likely dampen the temporal resolution of inhibitory tone in a developing network, which may promote maladaptive plasticity and incorrect circuit wiring. Additionally, changes in depolarization-induced block of action potentials correlates with neural excitability and propagation of epileptiform activity (Calin et al., 2021). Thus, disruption of PV cell function during development could have profound consequences for eventual mature networks that arise.

3.5 References for Chapter 3

- Adesnik, H., G. Li, M. J. During, S. J. Pleasure, and R. A. Nicoll. 2008. 'NMDA receptors inhibit synapse unsilencing during brain development', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 105: 5597-602.
- Amin, J. B., G. R. Moody, and L. P. Wollmuth. 2021. 'From bedside-to-bench: What diseaseassociated variants are teaching us about the NMDA receptor', *J Physiol*, 599: 397-416.
- Benke, T. A., K. Park, I. Krey, C. R. Camp, R. Song, A. J. Ramsey, H. Yuan, S. F. Traynelis, and J. Lemke. 2021. 'Clinical and therapeutic significance of genetic variation in the GRIN gene family encoding NMDARs', *Neuropharmacology*, 199: 108805.
- Booker, S. A., A. Sumera, P. C. Kind, and D. J. A. Wyllie. 2021. 'Contribution of NMDA Receptors to Synaptic Function in Rat Hippocampal Interneurons', *eNeuro*, 8.
- Calin, A., A. S. Ilie, and C. J. Akerman. 2021. 'Disrupting epileptiform activity by preventing parvalbumin interneuron depolarization block', *J Neurosci*.
- Carmignoto, G., and S. Vicini. 1992. 'Activity-dependent decrease in NMDA receptor responses during development of the visual cortex', *Science*, 258: 1007-11.
- Carvill, G. L., B. M. Regan, S. C. Yendle, B. J. O'Roak, N. Lozovaya, N. Bruneau, N. Burnashev, A. Khan, J. Cook, E. Geraghty, L. G. Sadleir, S. J. Turner, M. H. Tsai, R. Webster, R. Ouvrier, J. A. Damiano, S. F. Berkovic, J. Shendure, M. S. Hildebrand, P.

Szepetowski, I. E. Scheffer, and H. C. Mefford. 2013. 'GRIN2A mutations cause epilepsy-aphasia spectrum disorders', *Nat Genet*, 45: 1073-6.

- Chittajallu, R., J. C. Wester, M. T. Craig, E. Barksdale, X. Q. Yuan, G. Akgul, C. Fang, D. Collins, S. Hunt, K. A. Pelkey, and C. J. McBain. 2017. 'Afferent specific role of NMDA receptors for the circuit integration of hippocampal neurogliaform cells', *Nat Commun*, 8: 152.
- Collingridge, G. 1987. 'Synaptic plasticity. The role of NMDA receptors in learning and memory', *Nature*, 330: 604-5.
- de Lecea, L., J. A. del Rio, and E. Soriano. 1995. 'Developmental expression of parvalbumin mRNA in the cerebral cortex and hippocampus of the rat', *Brain Res Mol Brain Res*, 32: 1-13.
- Dehorter, N., G. Ciceri, G. Bartolini, L. Lim, I. del Pino, and O. Marin. 2015. 'Tuning of fastspiking interneuron properties by an activity-dependent transcriptional switch', *Science*, 349: 1216-20.
- Doischer, D., J. A. Hosp, Y. Yanagawa, K. Obata, P. Jonas, I. Vida, and M. Bartos. 2008.
 'Postnatal differentiation of basket cells from slow to fast signaling devices', *J Neurosci*, 28: 12956-68.
- Ekins, T. G., V. Mahadevan, Y. Zhang, J. A. D'Amour, G. Akgul, T. J. Petros, and C. J. McBain. 2020. 'Emergence of non-canonical parvalbumin-containing interneurons in hippocampus of a murine model of type I lissencephaly', *Elife*, 9.
- Erreger, K., S. M. Dravid, T. G. Banke, D. J. Wyllie, and S. F. Traynelis. 2005. 'Subunit-specific gating controls rat NR1/NR2A and NR1/NR2B NMDA channel kinetics and synaptic signalling profiles', *J Physiol*, 563: 345-58.
- Goldberg, E. M., H. Y. Jeong, I. Kruglikov, R. Tremblay, R. M. Lazarenko, and B. Rudy. 2011. 'Rapid developmental maturation of neocortical FS cell intrinsic excitability', *Cereb Cortex*, 21: 666-82.
- Hansen, K. B., L. P. Wollmuth, D. Bowie, H. Furukawa, F. S. Menniti, A. I. Sobolevsky, G. T. Swanson, S. A. Swanger, I. H. Greger, T. Nakagawa, C. J. McBain, V. Jayaraman, C. M. Low, M. L. Dell'Acqua, J. S. Diamond, C. R. Camp, R. E. Perszyk, H. Yuan, and S. F. Traynelis. 2021. 'Structure, Function, and Pharmacology of Glutamate Receptor Ion Channels', *Pharmacol Rev*, 73: 298-487.
- Hanson, E., M. Armbruster, L. A. Lau, M. E. Sommer, Z. J. Klaft, S. A. Swanger, S. F. Traynelis, S. J. Moss, F. Noubary, J. Chadchankar, and C. G. Dulla. 2019. 'Tonic Activation of GluN2C/GluN2D-Containing NMDA Receptors by Ambient Glutamate Facilitates Cortical Interneuron Maturation', *J Neurosci*, 39: 3611-26.
- Hanson, J. E., M. Weber, W. J. Meilandt, T. Wu, T. Luu, L. Deng, M. Shamloo, M. Sheng, K. Scearce-Levie, and Q. Zhou. 2013. 'GluN2B antagonism affects interneurons and leads to immediate and persistent changes in synaptic plasticity, oscillations, and behavior', *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 38: 1221-33.
- Hensch, T. K. 2005. 'Critical period plasticity in local cortical circuits', *Nat Rev Neurosci*, 6: 877-88.
- Jami, S. A., S. Cameron, J. M. Wong, E. R. Daly, A. K. McAllister, and J. A. Gray. 2021. 'Increased excitation-inhibition balance and loss of GABAergic synapses in the serine racemase knockout model of NMDA receptor hypofunction', *J Neurophysiol*, 126: 11-27.
- Kaiser, T., J. T. Ting, P. Monteiro, and G. Feng. 2016. 'Transgenic labeling of parvalbuminexpressing neurons with tdTomato', *Neuroscience*, 321: 236-45.

- Kannangara, T. S., B. D. Eadie, C. A. Bostrom, K. Morch, P. S. Brocardo, and B. R. Christie. 2015. 'GluN2A-/- Mice Lack Bidirectional Synaptic Plasticity in the Dentate Gyrus and Perform Poorly on Spatial Pattern Separation Tasks', *Cereb Cortex*, 25: 2102-13.
- Kelsch, W., Z. Li, S. Wieland, O. Senkov, A. Herb, C. Gongrich, and H. Monyer. 2014. 'GluN2B-containing NMDA receptors promote glutamate synapse development in hippocampal interneurons', *J Neurosci*, 34: 16022-30.
- Kirson, E. D., and Y. Yaari. 1996. 'Synaptic NMDA receptors in developing mouse hippocampal neurones: functional properties and sensitivity to ifenprodil', *J Physiol*, 497 (Pt 2): 437-55.
- Komuro, H., and P. Rakic. 1993. 'Modulation of neuronal migration by NMDA receptors', *Science*, 260: 95-7.
- Lim, L., D. Mi, A. Llorca, and O. Marin. 2018. 'Development and Functional Diversification of Cortical Interneurons', *Neuron*, 100: 294-313.
- Matta, J. A., K. A. Pelkey, M. T. Craig, R. Chittajallu, B. W. Jeffries, and C. J. McBain. 2013. 'Developmental origin dictates interneuron AMPA and NMDA receptor subunit composition and plasticity', *Nat Neurosci*, 16: 1032-41.
- Miller, M. N., B. W. Okaty, S. Kato, and S. B. Nelson. 2011. 'Activity-dependent changes in the firing properties of neocortical fast-spiking interneurons in the absence of large changes in gene expression', *Dev Neurobiol*, 71: 62-70.
- Miyamae, T., K. Chen, D. A. Lewis, and G. Gonzalez-Burgos. 2017. 'Distinct Physiological Maturation of Parvalbumin-Positive Neuron Subtypes in Mouse Prefrontal Cortex', *J Neurosci*, 37: 4883-902.
- Monyer, H., N. Burnashev, D. J. Laurie, B. Sakmann, and P. H. Seeburg. 1994. 'Developmental and regional expression in the rat brain and functional properties of four NMDA receptors', *Neuron*, 12: 529-40.
- Nakazawa, K., T. J. McHugh, M. A. Wilson, and S. Tonegawa. 2004. 'NMDA receptors, place cells and hippocampal spatial memory', *Nat Rev Neurosci*, 5: 361-72.
- Nash, J. E., and J. M. Brotchie. 2000. 'A common signaling pathway for striatal NMDA and adenosine A2a receptors: implications for the treatment of Parkinson's disease', *J Neurosci*, 20: 7782-9.
- Okaty, B. W., M. N. Miller, K. Sugino, C. M. Hempel, and S. B. Nelson. 2009. 'Transcriptional and electrophysiological maturation of neocortical fast-spiking GABAergic interneurons', *J Neurosci*, 29: 7040-52.
- Oswald, A. M., and A. D. Reyes. 2008. 'Maturation of intrinsic and synaptic properties of layer 2/3 pyramidal neurons in mouse auditory cortex', *J Neurophysiol*, 99: 2998-3008.
- Pelkey, K. A., R. Chittajallu, M. T. Craig, L. Tricoire, J. C. Wester, and C. J. McBain. 2017. 'Hippocampal GABAergic Inhibitory Interneurons', *Physiol Rev*, 97: 1619-747.
- Perszyk, R. E., J. O. DiRaddo, K. L. Strong, C. M. Low, K. K. Ogden, A. Khatri, G. A. Vargish, K. A. Pelkey, L. Tricoire, D. C. Liotta, Y. Smith, C. J. McBain, and S. F. Traynelis. 2016. 'GluN2D-Containing N-methyl-d-Aspartate Receptors Mediate Synaptic Transmission in Hippocampal Interneurons and Regulate Interneuron Activity', *Mol Pharmacol*, 90: 689-702.
- Perszyk, R. E., S. J. Myers, H. Yuan, A. J. Gibb, H. Furukawa, A. I. Sobolevsky, and S. F. Traynelis. 2020. 'Hodgkin-Huxley-Katz Prize Lecture: Genetic and pharmacological control of glutamate receptor channel through a highly conserved gating motif', *J Physiol*, 598: 3071-83.

- Piatti, V. C., M. G. Davies-Sala, M. S. Esposito, L. A. Mongiat, M. F. Trinchero, and A. F. Schinder. 2011. 'The timing for neuronal maturation in the adult hippocampus is modulated by local network activity', *J Neurosci*, 31: 7715-28.
- Que, L., D. Lukacsovich, W. Luo, and C. Foldy. 2021. 'Transcriptional and morphological profiling of parvalbumin interneuron subpopulations in the mouse hippocampus', *Nat Commun*, 12: 108.
- Sakimura, K., T. Kutsuwada, I. Ito, T. Manabe, C. Takayama, E. Kushiya, T. Yagi, S. Aizawa, Y. Inoue, H. Sugiyama, and et al. 1995. 'Reduced hippocampal LTP and spatial learning in mice lacking NMDA receptor epsilon 1 subunit', *Nature*, 373: 151-5.
- Salmi, M., F. Del Gallo, M. Minlebaev, A. Zakharov, V. Pauly, P. Perron, A. Pons-Bennaceur, S. Corby-Pellegrino, L. Aniksztejn, P. P. Lenck-Santini, J. Epsztein, R. Khazipov, N. Burnashev, G. Bertini, and P. Szepetowski. 2019. 'Impaired vocal communication, sleep-related discharges, and transient alteration of slow-wave sleep in developing mice lacking the GluN2A subunit of N-methyl-d-aspartate receptors', *Epilepsia*, 60: 1424-37.
- Sans, N., R. S. Petralia, Y. X. Wang, J. Blahos, 2nd, J. W. Hell, and R. J. Wenthold. 2000. 'A developmental change in NMDA receptor-associated proteins at hippocampal synapses', *J Neurosci*, 20: 1260-71.
- Schizophrenia Working Group of the Psychiatric Genomics, Consortium. 2014. 'Biological insights from 108 schizophrenia-associated genetic loci', *Nature*, 511: 421-7.
- Schneggenburger, R. 1996. 'Simultaneous measurement of Ca2+ influx and reversal potentials in recombinant N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor channels', *Biophys J*, 70: 2165-74.
- Singh, T., T. Poterba, D. Curtis, H. Akil, M. Al Eissa, J. D. Barchas, N. Bass, T. B. Bigdeli, G. Breen, E. J. Bromet, P. F. Buckley, W. E. Bunney, J. Bybjerg-Grauholm, W. F. Byerley, S. B. Chapman, W. J. Chen, C. Churchhouse, N. Craddock, C. M. Cusick, L. DeLisi, S. Dodge, M. A. Escamilla, S. Eskelinen, A. H. Fanous, S. V. Faraone, A. Fiorentino, L. Francioli, S. B. Gabriel, D. Gage, S. A. Gagliano Taliun, A. Ganna, G. Genovese, D. C. Glahn, J. Grove, M. H. Hall, E. Hamalainen, H. O. Heyne, M. Holi, D. M. Hougaard, D. P. Howrigan, H. Huang, H. G. Hwu, R. S. Kahn, H. M. Kang, K. J. Karczewski, G. Kirov, J. A. Knowles, F. S. Lee, D. S. Lehrer, F. Lescai, D. Malaspina, S. R. Marder, S. A. McCarroll, A. M. McIntosh, H. Medeiros, L. Milani, C. P. Morley, D. W. Morris, P. B. Mortensen, R. M. Myers, M. Nordentoft, N. L. O'Brien, A. M. Olivares, D. Ongur, W. H. Ouwehand, D. S. Palmer, T. Paunio, D. Quested, M. H. Rapaport, E. Rees, B. Rollins, F. K. Satterstrom, A. Schatzberg, E. Scolnick, L. J. Scott, S. I. Sharp, P. Sklar, J. W. Smoller, J. L. Sobell, M. Solomonson, E. A. Stahl, C. R. Stevens, J. Suvisaari, G. Tiao, S. J. Watson, N. A. Watts, D. H. Blackwood, A. D. Borglum, B. M. Cohen, A. P. Corvin, T. Esko, N. B. Freimer, S. J. Glatt, C. M. Hultman, A. McQuillin, A. Palotie, C. N. Pato, M. T. Pato, A. E. Pulver, D. St Clair, M. T. Tsuang, M. P. Vawter, J. T. Walters, T. M. Werge, R. A. Ophoff, P. F. Sullivan, M. J. Owen, M. Boehnke, M. C. O'Donovan, B. M. Neale, and M. J. Daly. 2022. 'Rare coding variants in ten genes confer substantial risk for schizophrenia', Nature, 604: 509-16.
- Spear, L. P. 2000. 'The adolescent brain and age-related behavioral manifestations', *Neurosci Biobehav Rev*, 24: 417-63.
- Takesian, A. E., and T. K. Hensch. 2013. 'Balancing plasticity/stability across brain development', *Prog Brain Res*, 207: 3-34.

- Ultanir, S. K., J. E. Kim, B. J. Hall, T. Deerinck, M. Ellisman, and A. Ghosh. 2007. 'Regulation of spine morphology and spine density by NMDA receptor signaling in vivo', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 104: 19553-8.
- Wang, X. J. 2002. 'Probabilistic decision making by slow reverberation in cortical circuits', *Neuron*, 36: 955-68.
- Watanabe, D., H. Inokawa, K. Hashimoto, N. Suzuki, M. Kano, R. Shigemoto, T. Hirano, K. Toyama, S. Kaneko, M. Yokoi, K. Moriyoshi, M. Suzuki, K. Kobayashi, T. Nagatsu, R. J. Kreitman, I. Pastan, and S. Nakanishi. 1998. 'Ablation of cerebellar Golgi cells disrupts synaptic integration involving GABA inhibition and NMDA receptor activation in motor coordination', *Cell*, 95: 17-27.
- Williams, K., S. L. Russell, Y. M. Shen, and P. B. Molinoff. 1993. 'Developmental switch in the expression of NMDA receptors occurs in vivo and in vitro', *Neuron*, 10: 267-78.
- Wong, F. K., K. Bercsenyi, V. Sreenivasan, A. Portales, M. Fernandez-Otero, and O. Marin. 2018. 'Pyramidal cell regulation of interneuron survival sculpts cortical networks', *Nature*, 557: 668-73.
- Yuan, H., K. B. Hansen, K. M. Vance, K. K. Ogden, and S. F. Traynelis. 2009. 'Control of NMDA receptor function by the NR2 subunit amino-terminal domain', *J Neurosci*, 29: 12045-58.
- Zhang, Z. W. 2004. 'Maturation of layer V pyramidal neurons in the rat prefrontal cortex: intrinsic properties and synaptic function', *J Neurophysiol*, 91: 1171-82.



Supplemental Figure S3.1. Juvenile CA1 circuit hyperexcitability is not due to changes in CA1 pyramidal cell intrinsic or action-potential firing properties. Data from juvenile (P14-16) CA1 pyramidal cells show no significant differences in **A**) resting membrane potential, **B**) cell capacitance, **C**) input resistance, **D**) membrane time constant, **E**) sag ratio, **F**) rheobase, **G**) maximum action-potential firing rate, or **H**) current required to reach depolarization-induced blockade of action-potential firing when assayed via one-way ANOVA. Data represented show mean \pm SEM. RMP = resting membrane potential; AP = action-potential; depolarization block = current required to reach depolarization-induced blockade of action-potential firing membrane potential; AP = action-potential firing; n.s. = not significant.



Supplemental Figure S3.2. Loss of *Grin2a* does not alter cholecystokinin (CCK) cell density in CA1. **A)** Representative images of CA1 hippocampal sections stained for CCK in preadolescent mice. **B)** CA1 CCK cell density is unchanged across all three genotypes (one-way ANOVA, p=0.49). **C)** There is no difference in CCK CA1 cellular lamination across all three genotypes. Data represented show mean \pm SEM. *s.o.* = *stratum oriens*; *s.p.* = *stratum pyramidale*; *s.r.* = *stratum radiatum*; *s.l.m.* = *stratum lacunosum moleculare*; CCK = cholecystokinin; n.s. = not significant.



Supplemental Figure S3.3. CA1 PV cells undergo electrophysiological maturation of passive and action-potential firing properties. **A)** Strategy to visualize PV cells in acute hippocampal slices. Since the parvalbumin gene is developmentally regulated, Tac1-Cre mice were used in neonate (P6-8) mice to patch immature, fast-spiking interneurons.

| Variant Type | Nucleotide Information | Protein Information | Amino Acid Number | Seizure Onset (Years) | Seizure Offset (Years) |
|-----------------|--|------------------------|----------------------|-----------------------------|------------------------------|
| Deletion | N/A | del exon 1-3 | N/A | 10 | |
| Deletion | chr16:10,227,326-10,300,839x1 | del exon 1-3 | N/A | 7 | |
| Deletion | chr16:10,227,326-10,300,839x1 | del exon 1-3 | N/A | 3 | |
| Deletion | chr16:10,227,326-10,300,839x1 | del exon 1-3 | N/A | 10 | |
| Deletion | chr16:10,227,326-10,300,839x1 | del exon 1-3 | N/A | 2.5 | |
| Deletion | chr16:10,241,998-10,300,800x1 | del exon 1-3 | N/A | 8 | |
| Deletion | chr16:10,241,998-10,300,800x1 | del exon 1-3 | N/A | 6 | |
| Deletion | chr16:10,246,239 <u+0096>10,321,593</u+0096> | del exon 1-3 | N/A | 6 | |
| Deletion | chr16:10,246,239 <u+0096>10,321,593</u+0096> | del exon 1-3 | N/A | 6 | |
| Deletion | chr16:10,246,239-10,354,862x1 | del exon 1-3 | N/A | 4 | |
| Deletion | possible c.1-? | Deletion exon 3 | possible 1-? | 6 | 6 |
| Deletion | | Deletion exon 3 | | 6.6 | |
| Deletion | c.280 283delCGCA | p.(Arg94Serfs*15) | 94 | 6.2 | 12.1 |
| Deletion | c.280_283delCGCA | p.(Arg94Serfs*15) | 94 | 6.2 | 12.2 |
| Deletion | chr16:10,000,670-10,197,654x1 | del exon 4 | possible 139-? | 2 | |
| Deletion | 16p13 deletion | del exon-? | possible 139-? | 2 | |
| Deletion | 16p13.2 292,09 kb | del exon 4-14 | possible 139-? | 2 | |
| Deletion | 16p13.2 deletion (6907020-10415739) | uei exoli 4-14 | possible 139-! | 2.4 | |
| Deletion | $c.(414+1 \ 415-1) \ (1007+1 \ 1008-1)$ | del exon 4 | possible 139-? | 4 | |
| Deletion | chr16:9,825,755-10,069,792x1 | | · · | 7.7 | |
| Deletion | | del exon 4-14 | possible 139-? | | |
| Deletion | possible c.415-?; del 292,09kb | del exon 4-14 | possible 139-? | 4 | |
| Deletion | possible c.415-? | Deletion exon 4 | possible 139-? | | 12 |
| Deletion | possible c.415-? | Deletion exon 4 | possible 139-? | 5 | 5 |
| | possible c.415-? | del exon 4 | possible 139-? | - | |
| Deletion | possible c.415-1122 | dup exon 4-5 | possible 139-? | 0.25 | |
| Deletion | possible c.1009-? | Deletion exon 5 | possible 337-? | 1.5 | |
| Deletion | possible c.1123-? | Deletion exon 6 | possible 375-? | 3 | |
| Deletion | possible c.1123-? | del exon 6-11 | possible 375-? | 3 | |
| Deletion | possible c.1123-? | del exon 6-7 | possible 375-? | 3 | |
| Deletion | possible c.1123-? | del exon 6-7 | possible 375-? | 1 | |
| Deletion | possible c.1123-? | del exon 6-7 | possible 375-? | 8 | |
| Deletion | c.1585delG | p.(Val529Trpfs*22) | 529 | 2 | |
| Deletion | c.1586delT | p.(Val529Glyfs*22) | 529 | 5.75 | |
| Deletion | c.1650_1651delAGGTGTGT | p.(Leu-?) | 550 | 4 | 8 |
| Deletion | c.1650_1651delAGGTGTGT | (0) 0) | | | 11 |
| Deletion | c.1651+1del | p.(Glu-?) | 551 | 7 | |
| Deletion | c.1686del | p.(Phe562Leufs*2) | 562 | 2 | |
| Deletion | 9,915,756 <u+0096>9,915,815<d7>1</d7></u+0096> | del exon 11 | possible 670-? | 5 | |
| Deletion | 9,915,756 <u+0096>9,915,815<d7>1</d7></u+0096> | del exon 11 | possible 670-? | 5 | |
| Deletion | 9,915,756 <u+0096>9,915,815<d7>1</d7></u+0096> | del exon 11 | possible 670-? | 4.5 | |
| Deletion | possible c.2170-? | del exon 12-14 | possible 724-? | | 12 |
| Deletion | c.2334_2338delCTTGC | p.(Leu779Serfs*5) | 779 | 4 | |
| Deletion | c.2408del | p.(Glu803Glyfs*5) | 803 | 2 | |
| Deletion | c.3596delC | p.(Pro1199Arg*32) | 1199 | | 10.2 |
| Deletion | c.3596delC | p.(Pro1199Arg*32) | 1199 | | 10.2 |
| Del/Insert | c.2341_2343delinsAT | p.(Gln781llefs*27) | 781 | 6 | |
| Duplication | c.90dupT | p.(Pro31Serfs*107) | 31 | 4 | |
| Duplication | c.176_179dupAGGC | p.(Ala61Glyfs*78) | 61 | 6 | |
| Duplication | possible c.415-1122 | dup exon 4-5 | possible 139-? | 0.25 | |
| Duplication | c.2007+2dup | p.(Lys-?) | 669 | 10 | |
| Duplication | c.2253dupG | p.(Ser752Glufs*34) | 752 | 5 | |

| Nonsense | c.2T>C | p.(Met1?) | 1 | 3.5 | |
|----------|-------------|--------------------|-----|------|------|
| Nonsense | c.2T>C | p.(Met1?) | 1 | 2 | |
| Nonsense | ? | p.(Ala27Glyfs*112) | 27 | | 16 |
| Nonsense | c.172G>T | p.(Glu58*) | 58 | 5 | |
| Nonsense | ? | p.(Ala61Glyfs*78) | 61 | | 8 |
| Nonsense | c.500G>A | p.(Trp167*) | 167 | 4 | |
| Nonsense | c.594G>A | p.(Trp198*) | 198 | 5 | |
| Nonsense | c.594G>A | p.(Trp198*) | 198 | 4 | |
| Nonsense | c.594G>A | p.(Trp198*) | 198 | 3 | |
| Nonsense | ? | p.(Trp198*) | 198 | | 12 |
| Nonsense | c.627delC | p.Phe210Leufsx10 | 210 | 7.75 | 15.1 |
| Nonsense | c.652C>T | p.(Gln218*) | 218 | 1 | |
| Nonsense | c.652C>T | p.(Gln218*) | 218 | 0.9 | |
| Nonsense | c.703G>T | p.Glu235X | 235 | 3 | 9 |
| Nonsense | c.1001T>A | p.(Leu334*) | 334 | 3 | |
| Nonsense | c.1001T>A | p.(Leu334*) | 334 | 1 | |
| Nonsense | c.1001T>A | p.(Leu334*) | 334 | 4 | |
| Nonsense | c.1036A>T | p.Lys346Ter | 346 | 11 | |
| Nonsense | C.1115G>A | p.Trp372 | 372 | 0.04 | 3 |
| Nonsense | ? | p.(Pro415Hisfs*8) | 415 | | 10 |
| Nonsense | ? | p.(Pro415Hisfs*8) | 415 | | 20 |
| Nonsense | c.1613C>G | p.(Ser538*) | 538 | 4 | |
| Nonsense | c.1818G>A | p.(Trp606*) | 606 | 3.5 | |
| Nonsense | c.2041C>T | p.(Arg681*) | 681 | 4 | |
| Nonsense | c.2041C>T | p.(Arg681*) | 681 | 2.5 | |
| Nonsense | c.2407G>T | p.(Glu803*) | 803 | 3.5 | |
| Nonsense | ? | p.(Arg847*) | 847 | | 10.8 |
| Unknown | c.415-2A>G | p.(Asp-?) | 139 | 10 | |
| Unknown | c.1007+1G>A | p.(?) | 336 | 6 | |
| Unknown | c.1007+1G>A | p.(?) | 336 | 3 | |
| Unknown | c.1007+1G>A | p.(?) | 336 | 4 | |
| Unknown | c.1007+1G>A | p.(?) | 336 | 6 | |
| Unknown | c.1007+1G>A | p.(?) | 336 | 1.5 | |
| Unknown | c.1007+1G>A | p.(?) | 336 | 2 | |
| Unknown | c.1007+1G>A | p.(?) | 336 | 4 | |
| Unknown | c.1007+1G>A | p.(?) | 336 | 4 | |
| Unknown | c.1007+1G>A | p.(?) | 336 | 5.5 | |
| Unknown | c.1007+1G>A | p.(?) | 336 | 2.5 | |
| Unknown | c.1007+1G>A | p.(?) | 336 | 6 | |
| Unknown | c.1007+1G>A | p.(?) | 336 | 10 | |
| Unknown | c.1007+1G>A | p.(?) | 336 | | 9 |
| Unknown | c.1007+1G>T | p.(?) | 336 | 4 | |
| Unknown | c.1123-1G>T | p.(Val-?) | 375 | 4 | |
| Unknown | c.1123-1G>T | p.(Val-?) | 375 | 3.5 | |
| Unknown | c.1123-2A>G | p.(Val-?) | 375 | 2 | |
| Unknown | c.1123-2A>G | p.(Val-?) | 375 | 4 | |
| Unknown | c.1123-2A>G | p.(Val-?) | 375 | 6 | |
| Unknown | c.1123-2A>G | p.(Val-?) | 375 | 5 | |
| Unknown | c.1123-2A>G | p.(Val-?) | 375 | 4 | |
| Unknown | c.1123-2A>G | p.(Val-?) | 375 | 5 | |
| | | F (· •·· ·) | | | |
| Unknown | c.1123-2A>G | p.(Val-?) | 375 | 5 | |

Supplemental Table S3.1. Null GRIN2A variant patient data with time when seizures began

and/or ended. Data represented are gathered from the GRIN portal (https://grin-

portal.broadinstitute.org/), University of Leipzig, Children's Hospital of Philadelphia, or University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Center. Seizure offset is defined as freedom from seizures for two consecutive years. N/A = not applicable. '---' = data not available at time of publication. Some patients had not reached an age where offset was expected.

| Gene | Variant Type | Nucleotide Information | Protein Information | Amino Acid Number | Seizure Onset (Years) | Seizure Offset |
|------------------|-----------------|------------------------|---------------------|-------------------------|-----------------------------|-------------------|
| GRIN2A | Missense | c.583T>C | p.(Phe195Leu) | 195 | 23 | (Years) |
| GRIN2A GRIN2A | Missense | c.583T>C | p.(Phe195Leu) | 195 | 23 | |
| GRIN2A GRIN2A | Missense | c.1667C>T | p.(Arg217Trp) | 217 | 0.25 | 1.7 |
| GRIN2A GRIN2A | Missense | c.692G>A | p.(Cys231Tyr) | 231 | 3 | |
| GRIN2A | Missense | c.1232T>A | p.(Leu411Gln) | 411 | 3 | |
| GRIN2A | Missense | c.1251C>T | p.(Val417Val) | 417 | 0.8 | |
| GRIN2A | Missense | c.1306T>C | p.(Cys436Arg) | 436 | 4 | |
| GRIN2A | Missense | c.1447G>A | p.(Gly483Arg) | 483 | 4 | |
| GRIN2A | Missense | c.1492G>A | p.(Gly498Ser) | 498 | 8 | |
| GRIN2A | Missense | c.1532C>T | p.(Ser511Leu) | 511 | 2.5 | |
| GRIN2A | Missense | c.1552C>T | p.(Arg518Cys) | 518 | 3 | |
| GRIN2A | Missense | c.1553G>A | p.(Arg518His) | 518 | 3 | |
| GRIN2A | Missense | c.1553G>A | p.(Arg518His) | 518 | 2 | |
| GRIN2A | Missense | c.1592C>T | p.(Thr531Met) | 531 | 6.7 | |
| GRIN2A | Missense | c.1592C>T | p.(Thr531Met) | 531 | 7 | |
| GRIN2A | Missense | c.1592C>T | p.(Thr531Met) | 531 | 11 | |
| GRIN2A | Missense | c.1642G>A | p.(Ala548Thr) | 548 | 6 | |
| GRIN2A | Missense | c.1655C>G | p.(Pro552Arg) | 552 | 0.75 | |
| GRIN2A | Missense | c.1655C>G | p.(Pro552Arg) | 552 | 0.75 | |
| GRIN2A | Missense | c.1841A>G | p.(Asn614Ser) | 614 | 0.4 | |
| GRIN2A | Missense | c.1845C>A | p.(Asn615Lys) | 615 | 0.75 | |
| GRIN2A | Missense | c.1845C>A | p.(Asn615Lys) | 615 | 0.25 | |
| GRIN2A | Missense | c.1903G>A | p.(Ala635Thr) | 635 | 0.6 | |
| GRIN2A | Missense | c.1930A>G | p.(Ser644Gly) | 644 | 0.5 | |
| GRIN2A | Missense | c.1936A>G | p.(Thr646Ala) | 646 | 0.7 | |
| GRIN2A | Missense | c.1936A>G | p.(Thr646Ala) | 646 | 0.25 | |
| GRIN2A | Missense | c.1945C>G | p.(Leu649Val) | 649 | 0.75 | |
| GRIN2A | Missense | c.1946 1947delin | p.(Leu649Pro) | 649 | 1 | |
| GRIN2A | Missense | c.1948G>T | p.(Ala650Ser) | 650 | 1.5 | |
| GRIN2A | Missense | c.1954T>G | p.(Phe652Val) | 652 | 2 | |
| GRIN2A | Missense | c.1961T>C | p.(Ile654Thr) | 654 | 0.2 | |
| GRIN2A | Missense | c.2081T>C | p.(lle694Thr) | 694 | 2.5 | |
| GRIN2A | Missense | c.2095C>T | p.(Pro699Ser) | 699 | 8 | |
| GRIN2A | Missense | c.2113A>G | p.(Met705Val) | 705 | 8 | |
| GRIN2A | Missense | c.2191 G>A | p.Asp731Asn | 731 | 1.9 | |
| GRIN2A | Missense | c.2191G>A | p.(Asp731Asn) | 731 | 4 | |
| GRIN2A | Missense | c.2191G>A | p.Asp731Asn | 731 | 3.9 | |
| GRIN2A | Missense | c.2326G>T | p.(Asp776Tyr) | 776 | 7 | |
| GRIN2A | Missense | c.2434C>A | p.(Leu812Met) | 812 | 1.5 | |
| GRIN2A | Missense | c.2449A>G | p.(Met817Val) | 817 | 2 | |
| GRIN2A | Missense | c.2450T>C | p.(Met817Thr) | 817 | 2 | |
| GRIN2A | Missense | c.2450T>C | p.(Met817Thr) | 817 | 1.25 | |
| GRIN2A | Missense | c.2452G>A | p.(Ala818Thr) | 818 | 3 | |
| GRIN2A | Missense | c.2453C>A | p.(Ala818Glu) | 818 | 1 | |
| GRIN2A | Missense | c.2907C>G | p.(Asn969Lys) | 969 | 2.5 | |
| GRIN2A | Missense | c.3664C>G | p.(Pro1222Ala) | 1222 | 7.9 | |
| GRIN2A | Missense | c.3664C>G | p.(Pro1222Ala) | 1222 | 7.8 | |

Supplemental Table S3.2. Missense *GRIN2A* variant patient data with information on when seizure burden began and/or ended. Data represented are gathered from the *GRIN* portal (<u>https://grin-portal.broadinstitute.org/</u>), University of Leipzig, Children's Hospital of Philadelphia,

or University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Center. Seizure offset is defined as freedom from seizures for two consecutive years. '--' = data not available at time of publication.

| | AP Probability 1 st Stimulation | AP Probability 2 nd Stimulation | AP Probability 3 rd Stimulation | AP Probability 4 th Stimulation | AP Probability 5 th Stimulation | Total Number of APs Generated |
|--|---|---|---|---|---|-------------------------------------|
| <i>Grin2a</i> ^{+/+} mice N=16 cells/5 mice | 0.05 ± 0.04 | 0.17 ± 0.07 | 0.2 ± 0.07 | 0.08 ± 0.03 | 0.05 ± 0.05 | 2.75 ± 0.91 |
| <i>Grin2a</i> ^{+/-} mice N=16 cells/4 mice | 0.06 ± 0.02 | 0.58 ± 0.1 | 0.29 ± 0.09 | 0.13 ± 0.05 | 0.1 ± 0.04 | 5.88 ± 1.18 |
| <i>Grin2a^{-/-}</i> mice N=16 cells/4 mice | 0.03 ± 0.04 | 0.51 ± 0.1 | 0.38 ± 0.09 | 0.21 ± 0.06 | 0.09 ± 0.04 | 6.06 ± 1.12 |

Supplemental Table S3.3. Action-potential spiking probability in $Grin2a^{+/+}$, $Grin2a^{+/-}$, and

 $Grin2a^{-/-}$ juvenile (P14-16) mice. Data are mean \pm SEM. AP = action potential.

| | RMP (mV) | Capacitance (pF) | Input Resistance (MΩ) | Time Constant (ms) | Rheobase (pA) | Sag Ratio | Max AP Firing (Hz) | Depolarization Block (pA) | |
|--|---------------|---------------------|-----------------------------|--------------------------|------------------|---|--------------------------|------------------------------|--|
| Grin2a ^{+/+} mice N=16 cells/5 mice | -62 ± 1.3 | 89 ± 5.8 | 231 ± 22 | 21 ± 2.4 | 20 ± 4.4 | $\begin{array}{c} 1.06 \pm \\ 0.01 \end{array}$ | 35 ± 2.4 | 301 ± 35 | |
| Grin2a ^{+/-} mice N=15 cells/4 mice | -61 ± 1.1 | 114 ± 12 | 179 ± 12 | 21 ± 2.4 | 23 ± 5.2 | 1.1 ± 0.01 | 41 ± 2 | 389 ± 27 | |
| Grin2a ^{-/-} mice N=16 cells/4 mice | -63 ± 1.2 | 106 ± 7.3 | 190 ± 8.9 | 20 ± 1.4 | 19 ± 4 | 1.1 ± 0.01 | 40 ± 1.9 | 391 ± 36 | |
| Supplemental Table S3.4. Passive and action-potential firing properties of CA1 pyramidal cells | | | | | | | | | |

in $Grin2a^{+/+}$, $Grin2a^{+/-}$, and $Grin2a^{-/-}$ juvenile (P14-16) mice. Data are mean \pm SEM. RMP = resting membrane potential; AP = action potential; depolarization block = current required for depolarization-induced block of AP firing.

| | CA1 Cell Density (# / mm ³) | <i>stratum oriens</i> (% total CA1 PV cells) | stratum pyramidale (% total CA1 PV cells) | <i>stratum radiatum</i> (% total CA1 PV cells) | stratum lacuosum moleculare (% total CA1 PV cells) |
|--|--|--|---|--|---|
| Grin2a ^{+/+} mice N=17 slices/4 mice | 4875 ± 162 | 42 ± 2.8 | 51 ± 2.8 | 7.5 ± 1.5 | 0 |
| Grin2a ^{+/-} mice N=16 slices/4 mice | 4542 ± 198 | 40 ± 2.7 | 49 ± 2.4 | 11 ± 8.4 | 0 |
| Grin2a ^{-/-} mice N=20 slices/4 mice | 6488 ± 276 | 40 ± 2.3 | 52 ± 2.3 | 9.4 ± 5.4 | 0 |

| Supplemental Table 3.5. Pa | valbumin-positive CA | 1 density and cellular | lamination in $Grin2a^{+/+}$, |
|----------------------------|----------------------|------------------------|--------------------------------|
|----------------------------|----------------------|------------------------|--------------------------------|

 $Grin2a^{+/-}$, and $Grin2a^{-/-}$ preadolescent (P21-26) mice. Data are mean ± SEM. 4-5 hippocampi from

each animal were imaged across 4 animals per genotype for all staining and cell counts.

| | CA1 Cell Density (# / mm ³) | <i>stratum oriens</i> (% total CA1 CCK cells) | <i>stratum pyramidale</i> (% total CA1 CCK cells) | <i>stratum radiatum</i> (% total CA1 CCK cells) | <i>stratum lacuosum moleculare</i> (% total CA1 CCK cells) |
|--|--|---|---|---|---|
| Grin2a ^{+/+} mice N=20 slices/4 mice | 4060 ± 210 | 24 ± 2.4 | 11 ± 2.1 | 47 ± 2.2 | 17 ± 2.4 |
| Grin2a ^{+/-} mice N=16 slices/4 mice | 3790 ± 177 | 23 ± 1.9 | 10 ± 1.7 | 50 ± 1.9 | 17 ± 1.6 |
| Grin2a ^{-/-} mice N=20 slices/4 mice | 4209 ± 299 | 27 ± 2.3 | 16 ± 1.7 | 45 ± 2.8 | 12 ± 9 |

Supplemental Table S3.6. Cholecystokinin-positive CA1 density and cellular lamination in

 $Grin2a^{+/+}$, $Grin2a^{+/-}$, and $Grin2a^{-/-}$ preadolescent (P21-26) mice. Data are mean \pm SEM.

| | RMP (mV) | Capacitance (pF) | Input Resistance (MΩ) | Time Constant (ms) | Rheobase (pA) | Sag Ratio |
|---|------------------------|----------------------|--------------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|------------------------------|
| Neonate (P6-7) N=7 cells/3 mice | $\textbf{-57}\pm4.5$ | 193 ± 27 | 211 ± 28 | 40 ± 6.4 | 33 ± 12 | 1.11 ± 0.02 |
| Juvenile (P13-15) N=19 cells/6 mice | $\textbf{-64} \pm 1.1$ | 110 ± 6.5 | 96 ± 6.1 | 10 ± 0.6 | 147 ± 12 | 1.01 ± 0.01 |
| Preadolescent (P21-26) N=21 cells/6 mice | -65 ± 1.3 | 121 ± 7 | 96 ± 8.3 | 11 ± 0.9 | 134 ± 21 | 0.96 ± 0.05 |
| Adult (P70+) N=12 cells/6 mice | -62 ± 1.7 | 127 ± 13 | 101 ± 9.7 | 12 ± 0.8 | 128 ± 21 | 0.99 ± 0.01 |
| | AP Half-Width (ms) | AP Amplitude (mV) | AHP Amplitude (mV) | AP Threshold (mV) | Max AP Firing (Hz) | Depolarization Block (pA) |
| Neonate (P6-7) N=7 cells/3 mice | 1.4 ± 0.25 | 45 ± 4.0 | 10 ± 2.7 | 41 ± 2.7 | 83.9 ± 13 | 425.7 ± 91 |
| Juvenile (P13-15) N=19 cells/6 mice | 0.58 ± 0.02 | 49 ± 2.0 | 10 ± 1.1 | 56 ± 3.2 | 177 ± 11 | 1072 ± 87 |
| Preadolescent (P21-26) N=21 cells/6 mice | 0.40 ± 0.01 | 47 ± 1.0 | 13 ± 0.8 | 54 ± 4.9 | 268 ± 13 | 1355 ± 101 |
| Adult (P70+) N=12 cells/6 mice | 0.48 ± 0.02 | 39 ± 2.5 | 11 ± 1.0 | 58 ± 3.4 | 247 ± 16 | 1150 ± 161 |

Supplemental Table S3.7. Electrophysiological properties of wildtype CA1 PV cells during development. Data represented are mean \pm SEM. RMP = resting membrane potential; AP = action potential; AHP = afterhyperpolarization of the AP; depolarization block = current required for depolarization-induced block of AP firing.

| | RMP (mV) | Capacitance (pF) | Input Resistance (MΩ) | Time Constant (ms) | Sag Ratio |
|--|---------------|---------------------|--------------------------|-----------------------|----------------|
| Juvenile Grin2a ^{+/+} N=19 cells/6 mice | -64 ± 1.1 | 110 ± 6.5 | 96 ± 6.1 | 10 ± 0.6 | 1.01 ± 0.01 |
| Juvenile Grin2a ^{+/-} N=19 cells/6 mice | -63 ± 1.6 | 145 ± 8.1 | 133 ± 13 | 19 ± 2.5 | 1.02 ± 0.01 |
| Juvenile Grin2a ^{-/-} N=14 cells/4 mice | -59 ± 3 | 111 ± 11 | 184 ± 23 | 22 ± 4.4 | 1.04 ± 0.02 |
| | | | | | |
| Preadolescent Grin2a ^{+/+} N=21 cells/6 mice | -65 ± 1.3 | 121 ± 7 | 96 ± 8.3 | 11 ± 0.9 | 0.96 ± 0.05 |
| Preadolescent Grin2a ^{+/-} N=19 cells/5 mice | -61 ± 1.1 | 126 ± 12 | 113 ± 9.4 | 13 ± 1.1 | 1.01 ± 0.004 |
| Preadolescent Grin2a ^{-/-} N=19 cells/5 mice | -63 ± 3.8 | 117 ± 10 | 149 ± 17 | 17 ± 2 | 1.01 ± 0.05 |
| | | | | | |
| Adult Grin2a ^{+/+} N=12 cells/6 mice | -62 ± 1.7 | 127 ± 13 | 101 ± 9.7 | 12 ± 0.8 | 0.99 ± 0.01 |
| Adult Grin2a ^{+/-} N=12 cells/4 mice | -59 ± 2.5 | 107 ± 5.8 | 99 ± 7.9 | 11 ± 1.0 | 1.01 ± 0.003 |
| Adult Grin2a ^{-/-} N=14 cells/5 mice | -62 ± 1.8 | 117 ± 9.3 | 107 ± 12 | 12 ± 0.8 | 1.00 ± 0.002 |

Supplemental Table S3.8. Passive electrophysiological properties during development in

 $Grin2a^{+/+}$, $Grin2a^{+/-}$, and $Grin2a^{-/-}$ CA1 PV cells. RMP = resting membrane potential.

| | Rheobase (pA) | AP Half-Width (mV) | AP Amplitude (mV) | AHP Amplitude (mV) | Max AP Firing (Hz) | Depolarizatio n Block (pA) |
|---|------------------|-----------------------|----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-------------------------------|
| Juvenile Grin2a ^{+/+} N=19 cells/6 mice | 147 ± 12 | 0.58 ± 0.02 | 49 ± 2.0 | 10 ± 1.1 | 177 ± 11 | 1072 ± 87 |
| Juvenile Grin2a ^{+/-} N=19 cells/6 mice | 100 ± 14 | 0.69 ± 0.04 | 47 ± 1.1 | 11 ± 1.1 | 153 ± 12 | 861 ± 78 |
| Juvenile Grin2a ^{-/-} N=14 cells/4 mice | 82 ± 22 | 0.82 ± 0.07 | 46 ± 4.5 | 10 ± 1.3 | 135 ± 15 | 725 ± 116 |
| | | | | | | |
| Preadolescent Grin2a ^{+/+} N=21 cells/6 mice | 128 ± 21 | 0.40 ± 0.01 | 47 ± 1.0 | 13 ± 0.8 | 268 ± 13 | 1355 ± 101 |
| Preadolescent Grin2a ^{+/-} N=18 cells/5 mice | 135 ± 21 | 0.45 ± 0.05 | 46 ± 2 | 14 ± 0.6 | 227 ± 14 | 1083 ± 108 |
| Preadolescent Grin2a ^{-/-} N=18 cells/5 mice | 93 ± 19 | 0.54 ± 0.04 | 45 ± 3 | 11 ± 1.6 | 186 ± 18 | 761 ± 111 |
| | | | | | | |
| Adult Grin2a ^{+/+} N=12 cells/6 mice | 128 ± 21 | 0.48 ± 0.02 | 39 ± 2.5 | 11 ± 1.0 | 247 ± 16 | 1150 ± 161 |
| Adult Grin2a ^{+/-} N=12 cells/4 mice | 103 ± 13 | 0.46 ± 0.03 | 46 ± 2.1 | 12 ± 0.6 | 225 ± 20 | 1145 ± 124 |
| Adult Grin2a ^{-/-} N=14 cells/5 mice | 130 ± 19 | 0.45 ± 0.02 | 38 ± 3.3 | 10 ± 0.9 | 244 ± 18 | 1161 ± 170 |

Supplemental Table S3.9. Action-potential waveform and firing properties during development in $Grin2a^{+/+}$, $Grin2a^{+/-}$, and $Grin2a^{-/-}$ CA1 PV cells. AP = action potential; AHP = afterhyperpolarization of the AP; depolarization block = current required for depolarizationinduced block of AP firing.

CHAPTER 4: Subunit-Specific Modulation of NMDARs for Therapeutic Gain

4.1 Introduction

N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors (NMDARs) comprise a family of ligand-gated ionotropic glutamate receptors that mediate a calcium-permeable component to fast excitatory neurotransmission (Hansen et al., 2021). NMDARs are heterotetrameric assemblies of two obligate GluN1 subunits (encoded by the *GRIN1* gene) and two GluN2 subunits (encoded by the *GRIN2A-GRIN2D* genes) (Hansen et al., 2021). Given their ubiquitous expression, participation in glutamatergic neurotransmission, and facilitation of calcium entry into cells, NMDARs have been implicated in a host of physiological and developmental roles including learning, memory, spatial navigation, coordinated movement, decision making, neuronal migration, morphological development, and synaptic connectivity (Adesnik et al., 2008; Collingridge, 1987; Hansen et al., 2021; Komuro and Rakic, 1993; Nakazawa et al., 2004; Nash and Brotchie, 2000; Ultanir et al., 2007; Wang, 2002; Watanabe et al., 1998).

Modulation of NMDARs for therapeutic gain caught early traction in the '90s with the emergence of the NMDAR-mediated excitotoxicity hypothesis for neuropathological diseases like Alzheimer's, Huntington's, and Parkinson's as well as reperfusion injury after acute injury such as ischemic stroke or traumatic brain injury (Hoyte et al., 2004; Kemp and McKernan, 2002; Lipton, 2004; Lipton and Nicotera, 1998; Lipton and Rosenberg, 1994). Although these non-selective NMDAR inhibitors were protective against excitotoxicity in preclinical models, they also inhibited the channel's ability to operate normally, which led to many undesirable side effects such as drowsiness, hallucinations, motor dysfunction, sedation, and even coma (Hoyte et al., 2004; Lipton, 2004). The failure of these compounds in the clinic had multiple underlying causes to their mechanism of action, off target liabilities, and lack of subunit-specific action. Early NMDAR inhibitors were either competitive antagonists (*e.g.*, Selfotel and analogs) or pore blockers such as

memantine, dextromethorphan, and its metabolite dextrorphan. These inhibitors can produce complete block of all NMDARs, compromising the endogenous signaling ability of NMDARs within the circuit and blunting of basal NMDAR activity required for normal brain function. Moreover, these classes of inhibitors lacked NMDAR subunit specificity in that they were efficacious on GluN2A, GluN2B, GluN2C, and GluN2D-containing NMDARs. Thus, all NMDARs within the CNS were targeted, including those with regulatory functions such as those involved in cardiovascular function and motor control (Lipton, 2004).

Allosteric modulators of NMDARs can diminish some of the problems associated with traditional pore blockers and competitive antagonists by fine-tuning channel activity instead of acting as a binominal on/off switch. Ifenprodil and its derivatives were the first subunit-selective allosteric modulators (NAMs) developed for NMDARs, and showed promising pre-clinical efficacy in combating treatment-resistance depression (Preskorn et al., 2008) and excitotoxicitymediated injury after ischemic stroke (Yuan et al., 2015). However, early stage GluN2B NAMs such as eliprodil failed clinical trials, partly due to poor study design, as well as undesirable off target side-effects. These early stage GluN2B-selective NAMs had multiple off target liabilities that newer generations of GluN2B NAMs lack (Perszyk et al., 2020). Thus, whereas the prospects for clinically relevant GluN2B modulation initially seemed limited, newer GluN2B inhibitors are well tolerated and have shown promise in preclinical and clinical studies. GluN2A-selective inhibitors based on the TCN-210 scaffold (Bettini et al., 2010) have also been developed and shown promise in preclinical studies. These NAMs bind at the dimer interface (Hackos et al., 2016; Hanson et al., 2020) act by reducing the glycine affinity (Hansen et al., 2012). While this class of NAMs has yet to be tested in humans, there is strong interest and therapeutic potential.
Modulation of GluN2D-containing NMDARs has recently become appreciated as an attractive target due to their limited expression profile in the adult CNS. Although highly expressed during embryogenesis and early neonatal development, GluN2D expression in the mature brain is limited to cortical GABAergic interneurons (Perszyk et al., 2016; von Engelhardt et al., 2015), as well as select neurons the spinal cord (Tolle et al., 1993), thalamus (O'Hara et al., 1995), olfactory bulb (Akazawa et al., 1994), basal ganglia (Swanger et al., 2015), and cerebellum (Akazawa et al., 1994). GluN2D hypofunction hypotheses have been suggested for both schizophrenia (Lisman et al., 2008; Schmitt et al., 2010) and Parkinson's disease (Tozzi et al., 2016), with pre-clinical models suggesting that GluN2D PAMs can modulate(Suryavanshi et al., 2014) prepulse inhibition and dopamine release from basal ganglia neurons (Nouhi et al., 2018), respectively. Moreover, since GluN2D-containing NMDARs are expressed on GABAergic interneurons, GluN2D PAMs could potentially alter overall network excitability proving advantageous for a host of neurological disorders.

CIQ or (3-chlorophenyl)(6,7-dimethoxy-1-((4-methoxyphenoxy)-methyl)-3,4dihydroisoquinolin-2(1*H*)-yl)methanone), was the first-in-class GluN2C/GluN2D-selective positive allosteric modulator (PAM). This compound shows strong selectivity over GluN2A- and GluN2B-containing NMDARs (no significant potentiation at 30 μ M) and has enabled significant progress towards understanding the effects of GluN2C/GluN2D modulation *in vivo* (Nouhi et al., 2018; Suryavanshi et al., 2014). CIQ's potency and solubility (see results), however, are poor and need to be improved. Recently, a new derivative of CIQ – (+)-EU1180-453 (hereafter referred to as **EU1180-465**) – has been synthesized with more than 15-fold improvements in doubling concentration (*i.e.*, the concentration needed to double a current response) and more than 7-fold improvements in aqueous solubility (Epplin et al., 2020). Here, the effects of EU1180-465 on circuit excitability and ability to potentiate multiple classes of GABAergic interneuron are examined, with the aim of providing useful data to inform future pre-clinical studies designed to investigate GluN2D-selective PAMs as viable therapeutic agents.

4.2 Methods

4.2.1 Animals and Breeding

All mouse procedures were conducted at Emory University, which is fully accredited by AAALAC and IACUC and performed in accordance with state and federal Animal Welfare Acts and Public Health Service policies. C57BL/6J mice from the Jackson Laboratory (catalog number: 000664) were used as wild type mice. NPY-hrGFP mice from the Jackson Laboratory (catalog number: 006417) were used to identify NPY-positive neurogliaform cells. VIP-IRES-Cre mice from the Jackson Laboratory (catalog number: 010908) were crossed with TdTomato-floxed (Ai9) mice (catalog number: 007909) to identify VIP-positive cells. All transgenic mice were backcrossed to a C57BL/6J background.

Preadolescent (P20-26) mice of both sexes were used in all experiments. Mice were housed in ventilated cages at controlled temperature (22–23°C), humidity ~60%, and 12h light:dark cycles. Mice had *ad libitum* to regular chow and water.

4.2.2 Acute Hippocampal Slice Preparation and Electrophysiological Recordings

Mice were overdosed with inhaled isoflurane, brains were rapidly removed and immediately placed in an ice-cold, sucrose-based artificial cerebrospinal fluid (aCSF) containing the following (in mM): 88 sucrose, 80 NaCl, 2.5 KCl, 1.25 HNa₂PO₄, 26 HNaCO₃, 10 glucose, 2 thiourea, 3 sodium pyruvate, 5 sodium ascorbate, 12 N-acetylcysteine, 10 MgSO₄, and 0.5 CaCl₂ bubbled in 95% O₂/5% CO₂. 300-µm thick horizontal hippocampal sections were obtained using

a vibratome (Lecia, VT1200S). After sectioning, slices were incubated in the sucrose-based aCSF as described above but with 4 mM MgSO₄ at 32°C for 30 minutes then returned to room temperature for at least an hour before use. All cells were visualized using an upright Olympus BX50W microscope with IR-DIC optics coupled to a Dage IR-2000 camera. Whole-cell patch clamp recordings were obtained using a Multiclamp 700B (Molecular Devices, digitized at 20 kHz using a Digidata 1440a (Molecular Devices) controlled by pClamp 10.6 software (Molecular Devices). All signals were low-pass filtered at 2 kHz using a Bessel 8-pole filter (Warner, LPF-8).

For all patch-clamp experiments, the following intracellular solution was used (in mM): 100 Cs-gluconate, 5 CsCl, 0.6 EGTA, 5 BAPTA, 5 MgCl₂, 8 NaCl, 2 Na-ATP, 0.3 Na-GTP, 40 HEPES, 5 Na-phosphocreatine, and 3 QX-314 supplemented with 0.5% biocytin. Evoked NMDAR-mediated EPSC recordings were made in the following aCSF extracellular solution (in mM): 126 NaCl, 2.5 KCl, 1.25 HNa₂PO₄, 26 HNaCO₃, 20 glucose, 0.2 MgSO₄, and 1.5 CaCl₂ bubbled with 95% O₂/5% CO₂ and held at 30-32°C using an inline heater (Warner, SH-27B). sIPSC data were obtained with the same extracellular solution, except with 1.5 mM Mg²⁺.

For sIPSCs, cells were held at +10 mV sIPSCs, which is the reversal potential for iGluRs. Baseline recordings were made for a total of five minutes. Then DMSO or 10 μ M EU1180-465 was washed onto the slice for ten minutes and response recordings were made for a total of five minutes. All experiments ended by washing on 10 μ M gabazine to ensure all responses were mediated by GABA_A receptors. Data were analyzed offline using MiniAnalysis (Synaptosoft) with an 8-pA amplitude threshold for event detection.

For evoked NMDAR-mediated EPSCs, a monopolar iridium-platinum stimulating electrode (FHC, Inc.) was placed in the upper $1/3^{rd}$ of the Schaffer collaterals to elicit a single 50 μ s stimulation at a frequency of 0.03 Hz and the NMDAR-mediated EPSC was pharmacologically

isolated with 10 μ M NBQX and 10 μ M gabazine. Cells were held at -30 mV and stimulation intensity was chosen to be near 50% of the maximum peak amplitude of the NMDAR-mediated EPSC. Baseline recordings were made for a total of five minutes. Then DMSO or 10 μ M EU1180-465 was washed onto the slice for ten minutes and response recordings were made for a total of five minutes. A total of 8-12 epochs were obtained and averaged together for each baseline and response period. At the conclusion of recording, 400 μ M DL-APV was applied to ensure responses were mediated via NMDARs. A weighted time constant was calculated using the following formula by fitting a dual-exponential function to each composite EPSC trace in ChanneLab (Synaptosoft):

(3) $\tau_W = (\tau_{FAST} \text{ amplitude}_{FAST} + \tau_{SLOW} \text{ amplitude}_{SLOW}) / (\text{amplitude}_{FAST} + \text{amplitude}_{SLOW})$.

For all electrophysiological recordings, a wash-in period of 10 minutes was used with EU1180-465 application as previous experiments showed this period of time was sufficient to achieve maximal and steady-state levels of drug action. Aliquots of 10 mM EU1180-465 in DMSO were made from fresh powder daily and never frozen and re-used. After each experiment, lines were washed with 70% ethanol and then diH20 to remove any remaining compound. Series resistance was monitored throughout all experiments and was typically 8–20 M Ω . For voltage clamp recordings, a 50 ms, 5-mV square wave was included in the stimulation paradigm or inserted once every 30 seconds in gap-free mode for sIPSCs. Series resistance was monitored throughout the entire recording. All series resistances were measured offline by analyzing the peak of the capacitive charging spike and applying Ohm's law. If the series resistance changed >25% during the experiment, or ever exceeded 30 M Ω , then the cell was excluded.

4.2.3 Cell Selection and Post-Hoc Slice Processing

All fluorescently labeled cells were visualized with appropriate ThorLabs LEDs and ThorLabs or Chroma filter cube sets. Only NPY-expressing cells near the *stratum radiautm/stratum lacunosum-moleculare* border were chosen as this is where all neurogliaform cells reside. For VIP-expressing TdTomato cells, only cells within the *stratum radiatum* were selected. All cells from fluorescently labeled transgenic mice were backfilled with 0.5% biocytin, and the electrode tip was removed slowly to close the soma's cell membrane. Slices were then immediately placed into 4% paraformaldehyde in 1x PBS overnight. After fixation, slices were washed 3x for 10 minutes each in 1x PBS, permeabilized with 1.2% Triton-X in 1x PBS for 10 minutes, then incubated overnight in 1x PBS with 10% normal goat serum, 1% bovine serum albumin, 0.5% Triton-X, and streptavidin Alexa Flour 555 (1:500, Invitrogen). Slices were washed 3x for 10 minutes each in 1x PBS. Slices from NPY-hrGFP mice were mounted and coverslipped with ProLong gold mounting media. Neurogliaform morphology was confirmed on a spinning-disc microscope (Olympus).

Slices from VIP-Cre x Floxed-TdTomato mice were then incubated in in 1x PBS with 10% normal goat serum, 1% bovine serum albumin, 0.5% Triton-X, and rabbit anti-cholecystokinin (1:500; Frontier Institute) for 1-2 days at 4C. Slices were washed 3x for 10 minutes each in 1x PBS then incubated in 1x PBS with 10% normal goat serum, 1% bovine serum albumin, 0.5% Triton-X with anti-rabbit Alexa Flour 488 (1:500, Jackson Immuno) for 3 hours. Slices were washed 3x for 10 minutes each in 1x PBS. Slices were then mounted and coverslipped with ProLong gold mounting media.

A line-scanning confocal microscope (Nikon A1R) was used to image biocytin and CCK overlap. This microscope allowed custom detector thresholds to ensure that no false positives were identified given how close Alexa Flour 488 and Alexa Flour 555 are on the spectral wavelength

scale. This technique was verified via inclusion of several biocytin-backfilled parvalbuminpositive cells which do not express CCK (**see Figure 4.10**). In addition to classification of VIPexpressing interneuron-selective interneurons or VIP/CCK co-expressing basket cells based on CCK post-hoc staining, successful recovery of axonal morphology was also required for inclusion. VIP-expressing interneuron-selective interneurons had to have axons in either *stratum oriens* (type II) or be multiple polar with some axonal projections in *stratum lacunosum-moleculare* (type III). VIP/CCK co-expressing basket cells had to have axonal projections within *stratum pyramidale*

4.2.4 Statistical Analysis and Figure Preparation

Two-tailed, unpaired Student's t-test and the Kolomorgov-Smirnov tests were used were appropriate. For experiments where multiple statistical analyses were performed on the same dataset, our significance threshold was lowered to correct for family-wise error rate (FWER) using the Bonferroni post-hoc correction method. All studies were designed so that an effect size of at least 1 was detected at 80% or greater power. All statistical analyses were performed in Prism's GraphPad software all figures were generated in Adobe's Illustrator software.

4.3 Results

CIQ was the first-in-class GluN2C/GluN2D selective PAM of NMDARs. Its chemical structure involves a tetrahydroisoquinoline scaffold that was recently modified to generate EU1180-465 (**Figure 4.1A**) (Epplin et al., 2020). These modifications resulted in a significant increase in potency (EC₅₀ 5.0 μ M for CIQ vs EC₅₀ 3.2 μ M for EU1180-465 at GluN2D) and maximal achievable potentiation at saturating concentrations (350% over baseline for both GluN2C and GluN2C). Together these two enhancements produce robust improvement in

172



B)



| | EC ₅₀ (μM) (% Max) | | Doubling Concentration (µM) | | Solubility (μM) | [Brain]: [Plasma] | Half-Life (h) |
|------------|----------------------------------|---------------|--------------------------------|--------|--------------------|----------------------|------------------|
| | GluN2C | GluN2D | GluN2C | GluN2D | | | |
| (+)-CIQ | 5.0 (230%) | 5.0 (220%) | 12.6 | 31.6 | 8 | 6.7 ± 2.2 | 1.4 ± 0.1 |
| EU1180-465 | 3.2 (350%) | 3.2 (350%) | 2.0 | 2.0 | 74 | 1.4 ± 0.5 | 1.1 ± 0.04 |

Figure 4.1. Distinctions between the exemplar GluN2C/GluN2D positive allosteric modulator, CIQ, and its predecessor, EU1180-465. A) Compound structure of CIQ and EU1180-465, with differences made to the tetrahydroisoquinoline scaffold highlighted in red. B) Various pharmacological and pharmacokinetic properties of EU1180-465 compared to CIQ. EC₅₀ and doubling concentration data were obtained in *Xenopus* oocytes after rat mRNA injection of each construct in presence of saturating concentrations of glutamate (100 μ M) and glycine (30 μ M). Doubling concentration was defined as the concentration required to increase basal receptor response to agonist only by 2-fold. For pharmacokinetic experiments, compounds were dosed i.p. in either 1:4:5 dimethylacetamide:PEG400:(5% dextrose in water) (**CIQ at 20** μ **M**, *n* = 3/group) or 1:1 PEG400:water (**EU-1180–453 at 10** μ M, *n* = 3/group). Brain and plasma concentrations in ng/g and ng/mL, respectively, at *C*_{max}. See methods for more details. All data adapted from (Epplin et al., 2020). doubling concentration (31.6 μ M for CIQ vs 2.0 μ M for EU1180-465 at GluN2D), which is the concentration required to increase the basal response without the modulator to saturating concentrations of agonist (100 μ M glutamate/30 μ M glycine) by 2-fold (**Figure 4.1B**). The aqueous solubility has also been improved by over 7-fold, from 8 μ M for CIQ to 74 μ M for EU1180-465, while still possessing favorable brain penetration and half-life suitable for acute *in vivo* preclinical experiments (**Figure 4.1B**). Although further refinement of the core scaffold is needed before this compound series is introduced into clinical trials, these advances represent an important step forward in terms of GluN2C/GluN2D PAM drug discovery.

Since GluN2D-containing NMDARs are found in cortical GABAergic interneurons (Figure 4.2B-C), we assessed the ability of EU1180-465 to potentiate spontaneous inhibitory postsynaptic currents (IPSCs) onto principal cells. The mouse CA1 region of the hippocampus was chosen as a model circuit given its well-defined cellular architecture and robust durability in acute slice preparations. CA1 pyramidal cells from preadolescent (postnatal day (P) 20-26) were recorded under whole cell voltage clamp at +10 mV, which is the reversal potential for ionotropic glutamate receptors. This allows spontaneous IPSCs to be recorded without the need to block spontaneous AMPAR-mediated synaptic events, which are critical for interneuron excitation. Unfortunately, depolarizing pyramidal cells will generate depolarization-induced suppression of inhibition (DSI) via endocannabinoid release (Pitler and Alger, 1992; Wilson and Nicoll, 2001) which alters the overall content of IPSCs recorded from various interneuron populations. Nevertheless, we were able to show a proof-of-concept enhancement of inhibitory tone as the application of 10 µM EU1180-465 caused a significant increase in the sIPSC frequency and significantly shifted the intervent interval (Figure 4.3A-F and Table 4.1). EU1180-465 did not increase the overall amplitude sIPSCs (Figure 4.4A and Table 4.1), but the cumulative probability



Figure 4.2. *Grin2d* mRNA is found in GABAergic interneurons in mouse hippocampus. A) Spatiotemporal expression profile of *Grin2d* from in-situ hybridization experiments in rat. B) Results from single-cell rtPCR experiments in patched CA1 GABAergic interneurons in juvenile (P14-20) mice. Data are reported as percentage of cells that express said NMDAR subunit mRNA, stratified by different neurochemical markers for GABAergic interneurons. C) RNAScope data showing overlay of *Grin2d* positive puncta being co-expressed by cells that express various neurochemical markers for GABAergic interneurons. PV = parvalbumin; CCK = cholecystokinin; SOM = somatostatin; NPY = neuropeptide-Y; CB1R = endocannabinoid receptor 1. Data in panel A are adapted from (Akazawa et al., 1994); Data in panels B and C are adapted from (Perszyk et al., 2016).



Figure 4.3. Application of EU1180-465 increases inhibitory tone in CA1. All data shown are spontaneous inhibitory postsynaptic currents (sIPSCs) recorded at +10 mV onto CA1 pyramidal cells from preadolescent mice (P20-26) mice. Representative traces of sIPSCs A) before and after vehicle (DMSO) application and B) before and after 10 μ M EU1180-465. C) sIPSC frequency is significantly increased after 10 μ M EU1180-465 application (7.7 \pm 0.9 Hz for baseline vs 10 \pm 1.0 Hz for 10 μ M EU1180-465; paired *t*-test, p=0.008), but was unchanged in vehicle. D) sIPSC frequency normalized to baseline show a mean increase of 40% in sIPSC frequency after 10 μ M EU1180-465. E) Cumulative probability plots of interevent interval are E) unchanged with vehicle but are F) significantly shifted to the left after 10 μ M EU1180-465 (Kolmogorov-Smirnov test, p<0.0001). Data are mean \pm SEM; n=11 cells/4 mice per group. ** = p<0.01; **** = p<0.0001; n.s. = not significant.

| | Baseline | Vehicle (DMSO) (n=11) | Fold Change | Baseline | 10 μM EU1180-465 (n=11) | Fold Change |
|---------------------------|----------|--------------------------|----------------|----------|-----------------------------------|----------------|
| Frequency (Hz) | 16 ± 2.4 | 16 ± 2.0 | 0.98 | 7.7 ± 1 | 10 ± 1.1 | 1.35 |
| Amplitude (pA) | 20 ± 1.0 | 19 ± 1.1 | 0.98 | 23 ± 1.8 | 24 ± 2.5 | 1.02 |
| Weighted Decay (ms) | 14 ± 1.0 | 15 ± 0.9 | 1.08 | 11 ± 0.5 | 18 ± 1.0 | 1.02 |
| Access Resistance (MΩ) | 15 ± 0.7 | 14 ± 0.7 | 0.97 | 15 ± 1.2 | 16 ± 0.9 | 1.01 |

Table 4.1. Summary of sIPSCs onto hippocampal CA1 pyramidal cells with EU1180-465. All data are mean \pm SEM determined using MiniAnalysis; n is the number of cells. Each cell was recorded from a different slice. Slices were prepared from 4 mice for each condition. Slices from each animal were prepared on a separate day along with new solutions for that day.



Figure 4.4. Application of EU1180-465 increases amplitude, but not decay time, of sIPSCs onto CA1 pyramidal cells. All data shown are spontaneous inhibitory postsynaptic currents (sIPSCs) recorded at +10 mV onto CA1 pyramidal cells from preadolescent mice (P20-26) mice. A) sIPSC amplitude is not significantly increased after vehicle or 10 μ M EU1180-465 application. Cumulative probability plots of sIPSC amplitude show B) no significant shifts for vehicle, but C) a statistically significant to the right after 10 μ M EU1180-465 application (Kolmogorov-Smirnov test, p<0.0001). Representative normalized sIPSC traces after D) vehicle or E) 10 μ M EU1180-465 application. F) sIPSC decay times are unchanged in response to vehicle or 10 μ M EU1180-465. Data are mean±SEM; n=11 cells/4 mice per group. **** = p<0.0001; n.s. = not significant.

plot of sIPSC amplitude was significantly shifted to the right (Figure 4.4C). Application of vehicle for EU1180-465 (DMSO) did not produce any changes in sIPSC frequency (Figure 4.3C), sIPSC amplitude (Figure 4.4A) nor the cumulative probability plots of sIPSC interevent interval (Figure 4.3E) or amplitude (Figure 4.4B). Application of 10 μ M EU1180-465 or vehicle did not impact the decay time of sIPSCs (Figure 4.4D-F). In all, EU1180-465 increased spontaneous inhibitory tone onto excitatory principle cells by increasing frequency of inhibitory events and by increasing amplitude distribution of each event. This is likely accomplished by EU1180-465 increasing the excitatory tone onto GABAergic interneurons.

To provide direct evidence for an increased excitatory tone onto GABAergic interneurons, NMDAR-mediated EPSCs were recorded onto interneurons in *stratum radiatum* before and after EU1180-465. CA1 *stratum radiatum* has been previously shown to exclusively contain interneurons (and glia), and many of which receive Schaffer collateral excitation. Random CA1 *radiatum* interneurons were patch-clamped in 0.2 Mg²⁺ and held at -30 mV as these conditions increased success of obtaining quality recordings during extended drug applications. Application of 10 μ M EU1180-465 significantly increased the peak amplitude (**Figure 4.5C** and **Table 4.2**) and charge transfer (**Figure 4.5E**) of NMDAR-mediated EPSCs. The weighted decay time of the EPSC appears to be increased (**Figure 4.5D**), however, it was not statistically significant. As expected, EU1180-465 did not alter the rise time of the EPSC (**Figure 4.5F**).

Upon closer examination of the NMDAR-mediated EPSC data, there appeared to be two different groups of cells: those with clear potentiation from EU1180-465 and those which did not respond to the drug. Data were parsed using a 25% increase of charge transfer over baseline as our threshold for considering a cell 'potentiated'. Charge transfer was chosen as this measure combines both peak amplitude and decay time into one value. After stratification, seven cells met the 25%



Figure 4.5. EU1180-465 potentiates CA1 *stratum radiatum* GABAergic interneurons. A) Diagram of CA1 *stratum radiatum* where GABAergic interneurons reside. B) Representative, normalized NMDARmediated EPSC onto CA1 *stratum radiatum* interneurons at baseline (black) and after application of 10 μ M EU1180-465 (gray). C) Peak amplitude is significantly increased after 10 μ M EU1180-465 (-69 ± 11 pA baseline vs -93 ± 15 pA for 10 μ M EU1180-465; paired *t*-test, p = 0.02). D) No significant potentiation of synaptic decay time, however, E) overall charge transfer is significantly increased (-6.0 ± 4.5 pC baseline vs -9.2 ± 6.4 pC for 10 μ M EU1180-465; paired *t*-test, p = 0.003). F) Application of 10 μ M EU1180-465 does not alteration activation time course. All data are from wildtype preadolescent mice (P20-26). N=14 cells/4 mice for all recordings. * = p<0.05; ** = p<0.01; n.s. = not significant. s.r. = *stratum radiatum*; s.p. = *stratum pyramidale;* s.o. = *stratum oriens*.

| | Baseline | 10 μΜ ΕU1180-465 (n=14) | Fold Change |
|---------------------------|------------|-----------------------------------|-------------|
| Rise Time (ms) | 9.5 ± 1.6 | 9.7 ± 1.8 | 1.02 |
| Peak Amplitude (pA) | -69 ± 11 | -93 ± 15 | 1.35 |
| Tau Weighted (ms) | 171 ± 23 | 198 ± 27 | 1.16 |
| Charge Transfer (pC) | -6.0 ± 1.2 | -9.2 ± 1.7 | 1.53 |
| Access Resistance (MΩ) | 15.9 ± 2.3 | 16.3 ± 1.8 | 1.03 |

 Table 4.2. Summary data from all evoked NMDAR-mediated EPSCs onto stratum radiatum interneurons.

All data are mean \pm SEM.

threshold and were classified as 'responders' (**Figure 4.6A**), while the remaining seven cells which fell below the 25% threshold were classified as 'non-responders' (**Figure 4.6B**). Considering that the CA1 *stratum radiatum* contains many different subtypes of GABAergic interneurons (**Figure 4.6C**), we hypothesize that this binominal distribution of responses to EU1180-465 may be due to certain interneuron subtypes not expressing GluN2D-containing NMDARs. These cells may also exist as a continuum, with some cells showing an intermediate expression of GluN2D, or even use GluN2D under certain activity-dependent conditions.

To understand the functional expression of GluN2D in various interneuron subtypes further, we utilized several neurochemical driver Cre lines to identify select interneuron groups in acute hippocampal slices. CA1 stratum radiatum contains four major groups of GABAergic interneurons: neurogliaform cells, interneuron-selective interneurons (ISIs), ivy cells, cholecystokinin (CCK)-expressing cells (Pelkey et al., 2017). First, neurogliaform cells were targeted using the NPY-hrGFP mouse line from Jackson labs. Nearly all neurogliaform cells express neuropeptide-y (NPY), however, NPY is also expressed by some ivy cells and some O-LM somatostatin (SST) cells (Figure 4.7A) (Pelkey et al., 2017). Ivy cells traditionally reside at the stratum pyramidale/stratum radiatum border and SST cells are exclusively expressed in stratum oriens so both can be easily avoided. Thus, only NPY-positive cells at the stratum radiatum/stratum lacunosum-moleculare border were chosen and typified neurogliaform cellular morphology was confirmed via biocytin backfilling. Application of 10 µM EU1180-465 significantly increased the charge transfer of NMDAR-mediated EPSCs onto NPY-expressing neurogliaform cells (Figure 4.7D and Table 4.3), indicating that this class of interneuron likely expresses GluN2D-containing NMDARs.

Interneuron-selective interneurons (ISIs) were targeted using the vasoactive intestinal



Figure 4.6. EU1180-465 response on *stratum radiatum* interneurons can be stratified into responders and non-responders. A) Time versus charge transfer plots of cells classified as responders (> 25% potentiation of charge transfer compared to baseline; n=7 cells) and B) time versus charge transfer plots of cells classified as non-responders (< 25% potentiation of charge transfer compared to baseline; n=7 cells). Data show a clear dichotomy of responses, which was hypothesized to be due to interneuron subtype. C) Diagram of all GABAergic interneuron subtypes found in mouse CA1. Panel C adapted from (Pelkey et al., 2017). MGE = medial ganglionic eminence; CGE = caudal ganglionic eminence; PV = parvalbumin; O-LM = *oriens-lacunosum moleculare*; CCK = cholecystokinin; VIP = vasoactive intestinal peptide; ISI = interneuron-specific interneuron; s.l.m. = *stratum lacunosum-moleculare*; s.r. = *stratum radiatum*; s.p. = *stratum pyramidale*; s.o. = *stratum oriens*.



Figure 4.7. NPY-expressing neurogliaform cells are potentiated by EU1180-465. A) Diagram of all interneuron subtypes labeled by a neuropeptide-y (NPY) driver mouse line. In order to avoid NPY-positive somatostatin and NPY-positive Ivy cells, only cells at the *stratum radiatum/stratum lacunosum-moleculare* border were selected. B) Biocytin backfilled NPY-positive neurogliaform cell. C) Representative, normalized NMDAR-mediated EPSC onto NPY-positive neurogliaform cells at baseline (black) and after application of 10 μ M EU1180-465 (green). D) Overall charge transfer was significantly potentiated after application of 10 μ M EU1180-465 (-10 \pm 1.8 pC baseline vs -16 \pm 2.9 pC for 10 μ M EU1180-465; paired *t*-test, p = 0.002). E) Tau weighted and F) peak amplitude also appear to be potentiated but were not tested for statistical significance. All data are from N=13 cells/4 mice. NPY = neuropeptide-y; SST = somatostatin; NGFC = neurogliaform cell; MGE = medial ganglionic eminence; CGE = caudal ganglionic eminence; s.l.m. = *stratum lacunosum-moleculare*; s.r. = *stratum radiatum*; s.p. = *stratum pyramidale*; s.o. = *stratum oriens*.

| | Baseline | 10 μΜ EU1180-465 (n=12) | Fold Change |
|---------------------------|------------|-----------------------------------|-------------|
| Rise Time (ms) | 7.3 ± 2.6 | 7.9 ± 1.3 | 1.08 |
| Peak Amplitude (pA) | -131 ± 13 | -157 ± 17 | 1.20 |
| Tau Weighted (ms) | 105 ± 13 | 132 ± 14 | 1.26 |
| Charge Transfer (pC) | -10 ± 1.8 | -16 ± 2.9 | 1.60 |
| Access Resistance (MΩ) | 14.6 ± 1.9 | 15.4 ± 1.1 | 1.05 |

Table 4.3. Summary data from all evoked NMDAR-mediated EPSCs onto NPY-expressing neurogliaformcells. All data are mean \pm SEM.

peptide (VIP)-Cre mouse line from Jackson labs. These mice were crossed with an Ai9 TdTomatofloxed mouse to visualize VIP-positive cells in acute hippocampal slices. The VIP-cre line will label type II and type III ISIs as desired, however, it will also label VIP/CCK co-expressing basket cells (**Figure 4.8A**). Since both VIP-expressing ISIs and VIP/CCK-expressing basket cells both reside in *stratum radiatum*, all cells from the VIP-Cre line were backfilled with biocytin and all slices were post-hoc stained for streptavidin and CCK. Validation of staining strategy and CCK antibody selectivity are shown in **Figure 4.10**. Only cells from the VIP-Cre line that stained negative for CCK *and* had clearly discernable axons were included in the ISI dataset. This selection strategy led to many (>7) cells being excluded from analysis. Application of 10 μM EU1180-465 did not change the charge transfer of NMDAR-mediated EPSCs onto VIP-expressing ISIs (**Figure 4.8D** and **Table 4.4**), indicating that this class of interneuron likely does not express functional GluN2D-containing synaptic NMDARs. Type I ISI's do not express VIP and thus will have to be targeted using another driver line, likely via Calretinin-Cre mice.

Cells from the VIP-Cre line that stained positive for CCK *and* had clearly discernable axons were included in the VIP/CCK dataset. Again, this selection strategy led to many (>7) cells being excluded from analysis. Application of 10 μ M EU1180-465 significantly increased the charge transfer of NMDAR-mediated EPSCs onto VIP/CCK-expressing basket cells (**Figure 4.9D** and **Table 4.5**), indicating that VIP/CCK-positive basket cells likely express GluN2D-containing synaptic NMDARs. Other subtypes of CCK-expressing cells including CCK-positive/VIPnegative basket cells, CCK-expressing Schaffer collateral associated cells, CCK-expressing dendrite targeting cells, and CCK-expressing perforant pathway associated cells still need to be investigated. All these subtypes can be effectively targeted using the CCK-Cre mouse line combined with post-hoc morphological analysis. Moreover, Ivy cells can be effectively targeted



Figure 4.8. VIP-expressing interneuron-selective interneurons are not potentiated by EU1180-465. A) Diagram of all interneuron subtypes labeled by a vasoactive intestinal peptide (VIP) driver mouse line. In order to avoid VIP/CCK-positive basket cells, all cells were stained for CCK post-hoc and evaluated for overlap with biocytin (see methods for more details). B) Biocytin backfilled VIP-positive interneuron-selective interneuron (ISI). C) Representative, normalized NMDAR-mediated EPSC onto VIP-positive ISIs at baseline (black) and after application of 10 μ M EU1180-465 (red). D) Overall charge transfer was not significantly potentiated after application of 10 μ M EU1180-465 (-11 ± 3.6 pC baseline vs -13 ± 3.9 pC for 10 μ M EU1180-465; paired *t*-test, p = 0.25). E) Tau weighted and F) peak amplitude also appear to be potentiated but were not tested for statistical significance. All data are from N=6 cells/5 mice. VIP = vasoactive intestinal peptide; CCK = cholecystokinin; s.r. = *stratum radiatum;* s.p. = *stratum pyramidale;* s.o. = *stratum oriens*.

| | Baseline | 10 μM EU1180-465 (n=6) | Fold Change |
|---------------------------|------------|----------------------------------|-------------|
| Rise Time (ms) | 8.3 ± 1.2 | 8.7 ± 1.8 | 1.05 |
| Peak Amplitude (pA) | -40 ± 4.5 | -43 ± 5.0 | 1.08 |
| Tau Weighted (ms) | 305 ± 69 | 355 ± 68 | 1.16 |
| Charge Transfer (nC) | -11 ± 3.6 | -13 ± 3.9 | 1.18 |
| Access Resistance (MΩ) | 21.6 ± 1.6 | 22.4 ± 1.1 | 1.04 |

Table 4.4. Summary data from all evoked NMDAR-mediated EPSCs onto VIP-expressing interneuron-selective interneurons. All data are mean \pm SEM.



Figure 4.9. VIP/CCK-expressing basket cells are potentiated by EU1180-465. A) Diagram of all interneuron subtypes labeled by a vasoactive intestinal peptide (VIP) driver mouse line. To avoid VIP-expressing interneuron-selective interneurons, all cells were stained for CCK post-hoc and evaluated for overlap with biocytin (see methods for more details). B) Biocytin backfilled VIP/CCK-positive basket cell. C) Representative, normalized NMDAR-mediated EPSC onto CCK/VIP-positive basket cells at baseline (black) and after application of 10 μ M EU1180-465 (blue). D) Overall charge transfer was significantly potentiated after application of 10 μ M EU1180-465 (-12 ± 4.65 pC baseline vs -17 ± 1.5 pC for 10 μ M EU1180-465; paired *t*-test, p = 0.035). E) Tau weighted and F) peak amplitude also appear to be potentiated but were not tested for statistical significance. All data are from N=5 cells/3 mice. VIP = vasoactive intestinal peptide; CCK = cholecystokinin; s.r. = *stratum radiatum*; s.p. = *stratum pyramidale*; s.o. = *stratum oriens*.

| | Baseline | 10 μM EU1180-465 (n=5) | Fold Change |
|---------------------------|------------|----------------------------------|-------------|
| Rise Time (ms) | 8.1 ± 0.9 | 7.8 ± 1.4 | 0.96 |
| Peak Amplitude (pA) | -85 ± 33 | -101 ± 32 | 1.19 |
| Tau Weighted (ms) | 229 ± 42 | 293 ± 45 | 1.28 |
| Charge Transfer (pC) | -12 ± 4.5 | -17 ± 4.6 | 1.42 |
| Access Resistance (MΩ) | 18.6 ± 1.8 | 19.3 ± 1.1 | 1.04 |

 Table 4.5. Summary data from all evoked NMDAR-mediated EPSCs onto VIP/CCK co-expressing basket

 cells. All data are mean ± SEM.



Figure 4.10. Validation of CCK antibody and post-hoc staining technique. Data shown are from *Pvalb* - TdTomato (top two rows) and VIP-Cre x Ai9 Td-Tomato (bottom row) mouse reporter lines. Two different cells from the *Pvalb* -TdTomato mouse were patched, backfilled with biocytin, fixed, post-hoc stained for streptavidin and CCK, and then imaged. These top two rows indicate that PV cells, which do not express CCK, do not stain positive for CCK. The bottom row is an example of a positive overlap between a VIP-positive identified cell (biocytin) that also expresses CCK. Images were acquired on a line-scanning microscope, where detector limits were set to avoid any fluorescent overlap between the two channels. PV = parvalbumin; CCK = cholecystokinin; VIP = vasoactive intestinal protein. Scale bar is 20 μ m.

using the neuronal nitric oxide synthase (nNOS)-Cre mouse line (Pelkey et al., 2017).

4.4 Discussion

NMDAR modulation has tremendous therapeutic benefit, however, past efforts to develop clinically useful agents have been unsuccessful, due in part to a lack of subunit-selective tools. Here, we describe a novel GluN2C/GluN2D PAM – EU1180-465 – with improved drug-like properties such as increased aqueous solubility and increased doubling concentration compared to the exemplar GluN2C/GluN2D PAM (+)-CIQ. Moreover, EU1180-465 application increases spontaneous inhibitory tone in acute hippocampal slices via potentiation of GluN2D-containing NMDARs on GABAergic interneurons. By increasing the overall excitatory charge transfer onto GABAergic interneurons, EU1180-465 shows the ability to enhance overall circuit inhibition which could prove advantageous for numerous neurological diseases such as depression, movement disorders, epilepsy, and schizophrenia.

More importantly, we present data to challenge the ideal that all GABAergic interneurons express synaptic GluN2D-containing NMDARs. Although we present data showing that some interneurons subtypes have no synaptic GluN2D-expression, this does not mean they do not express GluN2D-containing NMDAR entirely. Thus far, the majority of data suggesting that GABAergic interneurons express GluN2D have been via single-cell rtPCR (Perszyk et al., 2016; Porter et al., 1998) and/or in situ hybridization studies (Alsaad et al., 2019; Monyer et al., 1994). A transgenic mouse model expressing eGFP under the GluN2D promoter has also generated some supporting data, however, it provided little evidence of functional GluN2D-containing NMDARs at the synapse (von Engelhardt et al., 2015). Functional studies with GluN2D knockout mice indicate GluN2D's involvement in interneuron function (Dubois and Liu, 2021; Hanson et al., 2019). However, given the ubiquitous expression of GluN2D during early neurodevelopment (Monyer et al., 1994), it's difficult to interpret these data as they could just be artifacts of aberrant development instead of the acute absence of GluN2D. Pharmacological evidence using GluN2C/GluN2D selective potentiators and inhibitors provide functional data of GluN2D's involvement in synaptic neurotransmission in hippocampal GABAergic interneurons (Perszyk et al., 2016; Swanger et al., 2018; Yi et al., 2020). These studies, however, do not indicate which interneuron subtype is studied, or if they do, it is only in a select few, such as parvalbumin-positive interneurons (Garst-Orozco et al., 2020). Thus, a detailed functional investigation of GluN2D's role in synaptic neurotransmission, stratified by interneuron subtype, is needed to help guide future studies using GluN2D modulation of interneurons as a potential therapeutic target.

Agnostic selection of GABAergic interneurons in CA1 *stratum radiatum* led to a binominal distribution of EU1180-465's ability to potentiate NMDAR-mediated EPSCs. Stratification of charge transfer responses following EU1180-465 application showed that only half (n=7) of randomly selected *stratum radiatum* interneurons were potentiated more than 25% over baseline. Given that the *stratum radiatum* interneuron population is heterogeneous, a plausible explanation for these data is that not all GABAergic interneurons utilize GluN2D-containing NMDARs for synaptic neurotransmission. Through the use of transgenic mouse lines combined with post-hoc antibody staining and morphological analysis, we have shown that Type II and Type III interneuron-selective interneurons (ISIs) (Pelkey et al., 2017) are not responsive to EU1180-465. Thus, these data suggest that Type II and Type III ISIs may not rely on synaptic GluN2D-containing NMDARS. We have also shown that NPY-expressing neurogliaform cells show robust potentiation from EU1180-465. VIP/CCK co-expressing cells also show EU1180-465 potentiation, although the small size of our current dataset warrants limited conclusions at this time.

These data also highlight the relatively large NMDAR-mediated EPSCs onto NPYexpressing neurogliaform cells, which has been shown previously (Chittajallu et al., 2017). Neurogliaform cells are unique in that they can signal through 'volume transmission' in that they release bolus amounts of GABA (Karayannis et al., 2010; Price et al., 2005), with many making 'en passant' synaptic connections (Naegele and Katz, 1990; Vida et al., 1998). Neurogliaformmediated volume transmission helps control the tonic GABA current (Bryson et al., 2020; Tamas et al., 2003), suggesting that potentiation of excitatory drive onto neurogliaform cells via EU1180-465 will likely impact circuit function outside of the canonical increased IPSC onto principle cells. Moreover, the lack of EU1180-465's effect on ISIs appears at odds with single-cell rtPCR from cortical ISIs which were shown to express GluN2D mRNA (Porter et al., 1998). However, other studies have shown little GluN2D expression in calretinin-positive cells which is another neurochemical marker for ISIs (von Engelhardt et al., 2015). Future studies on Type I ISIs are needed to flesh out the trio of ISI subtypes, however, current data suggests that any effect of EU1180-465 on circuit excitability is not due to disinhibition.

Future studies will be aimed at elucidating EU1180-465's potentiation ability of CCK expressing cells, which is one of the largest subsets of GABAergic interneuron (Pelkey et al., 2017). Within *stratum radiatum*, CCK-expressing interneurons make up the majority of all GABAergic interneurons, and given their relative size compared to ISIs and neurogliaform cells, are the most likely to be picked for patch-clamp experiments. Thus, it seems likely that some CCK cells will also not respond to EU1180-465. Although there are multiple subsets of CCK-expressing interneurons, such as Schaffer collateral and perforant-pathway associated, it is unlikely that if some CCK cells are unresponsive to EU1180-465, they will neatly be stratified into one of these

many subsets. The more probable finding is that CCK-expressing cells utilize GluN2D-containing

NMDARs in a synapse- and activity-dependent manner.

4.5 References for Chapter 4

- Aamodt SM, Shi J, Colonnese MT, Veras W and Constantine-Paton M (2000) Chronic NMDA exposure accelerates development of GABAergic inhibition in the superior colliculus. *J* Neurophysiol **83**(3): 1580-1591.
- Abeles M (1991) Corticonics: Neural Circuits of the Cerebral Cortex. *Cambridge University Press*: 280.
- Addis L, Virdee JK, Vidler LR, Collier DA, Pal DK and Ursu D (2017) Epilepsy-associated GRIN2A mutations reduce NMDA receptor trafficking and agonist potency molecular profiling and functional rescue. *Scientific reports* 7(1): 66.
- Adesnik H, Li G, During MJ, Pleasure SJ and Nicoll RA (2008) NMDA receptors inhibit synapse unsilencing during brain development. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **105**(14): 5597-5602.
- Akazawa C, Shigemoto R, Bessho Y, Nakanishi S and Mizuno N (1994) Differential expression of five N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor subunit mRNAs in the cerebellum of developing and adult rats. J Comp Neurol 347(1): 150-160.
- Akesson E, Kjaeldgaard A, Samuelsson EB, Seiger A and Sundstrom E (2000) Ionotropic glutamate receptor expression in human spinal cord during first trimester development. *Brain Res Dev Brain Res* 119(1): 55-63.
- Alsaad HA, DeKorver NW, Mao Z, Dravid SM, Arikkath J and Monaghan DT (2019) In the Telencephalon, GluN2C NMDA Receptor Subunit mRNA is Predominately Expressed in Glial Cells and GluN2D mRNA in Interneurons. *Neurochem Res* **44**(1): 61-77.
- Alvarez VA, Ridenour DA and Sabatini BL (2007) Distinct structural and ionotropic roles of NMDA receptors in controlling spine and synapse stability. *J Neurosci* **27**(28): 7365-7376.
- Amador A, Bostick CD, Olson H, Peters J, Camp CR, Krizay D, Chen W, Han W, Tang W, Kanber A, Kim S, Teoh J, Sah M, Petri S, Paek H, Kim A, Lutz CM, Yang M, Myers SJ, Bhattacharya S, Yuan H, Goldstein DB, Poduri A, Boland MJ, Traynelis SF and Frankel WN (2020) Modelling and treating GRIN2A developmental and epileptic encephalopathy in mice. *Brain* 143(7): 2039-2057.
- Amin JB, Leng X, Gochman A, Zhou HX and Wollmuth LP (2018) A conserved glycine harboring disease-associated mutations permits NMDA receptor slow deactivation and high Ca(2+) permeability. *Nat Commun* 9(1): 3748.
- Amin JB, Moody GR and Wollmuth LP (2021) From bedside-to-bench: What disease-associated variants are teaching us about the NMDA receptor. *J Physiol* **599**(2): 397-416.
- Andreae LC and Burrone J (2015) Spontaneous Neurotransmitter Release Shapes Dendritic Arbors via Long-Range Activation of NMDA Receptors. *Cell reports* **10**(6): 873-882.
- Angulo MC, Kozlov AS, Charpak S and Audinat E (2004) Glutamate released from glial cells synchronizes neuronal activity in the hippocampus. *J Neurosci* **24**(31): 6920-6927.

- Aoki C, Rhee J, Lubin M and Dawson TM (1997) NMDA-R1 subunit of the cerebral cortex colocalizes with neuronal nitric oxide synthase at pre- and postsynaptic sites and in spines. *Brain Res* 750(1-2): 25-40.
- Aoki C, Venkatesan C, Go CG, Mong JA and Dawson TM (1994) Cellular and subcellular localization of NMDA-R1 subunit immunoreactivity in the visual cortex of adult and neonatal rats. *J Neurosci* 14(9): 5202-5222.
- Aow J, Dore K and Malinow R (2015) Conformational signaling required for synaptic plasticity by the NMDA receptor complex. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **112**(47): 14711-14716.
- Arnth-Jensen N, Jabaudon D and Scanziani M (2002) Cooperation between independent hippocampal synapses is controlled by glutamate uptake. *Nat Neurosci* **5**(4): 325-331.
- Asinof SK, Sukoff Rizzo SJ, Buckley AR, Beyer BJ, Letts VA, Frankel WN and Boumil RM (2015) Independent Neuronal Origin of Seizures and Behavioral Comorbidities in an Animal Model of a Severe Childhood Genetic Epileptic Encephalopathy. *PLoS Genet* 11(6): e1005347.
- Asztely F, Erdemli G and Kullmann DM (1997) Extrasynaptic glutamate spillover in the hippocampus: dependence on temperature and the role of active glutamate uptake. *Neuron* **18**(2): 281-293.
- Babiec WE, Guglietta R, Jami SA, Morishita W, Malenka RC and O'Dell TJ (2014) Ionotropic NMDA receptor signaling is required for the induction of long-term depression in the mouse hippocampal CA1 region. *J Neurosci* **34**(15): 5285-5290.
- Bannerman DM, Niewoehner B, Lyon L, Romberg C, Schmitt WB, Taylor A, Sanderson DJ, Cottam J, Sprengel R, Seeburg PH, Kohr G and Rawlins JN (2008a) NMDA receptor subunit NR2A is required for rapidly acquired spatial working memory but not incremental spatial reference memory. *J Neurosci* 28(14): 3623-3630.
- Bannerman DM, Niewoehner B, Lyon L, Romberg C, Schmitt WB, Taylor A, Sanderson DJ, Cottam J, Sprengel R, Seeburg PH and Rawlins JNP (2008b) NMDA receptor subunit NR2A is required for rapidly acquired spatial working memory but not incremental spatial reference memory. *JNeuroscience* 28(14): 3623-3630.

Barbour B (2001) An evaluation of synapse independence. J Neurosci 21(20): 7969-7984.

- Bardoni R, Ghirri A, Zonta M, Betelli C, Vitale G, Ruggieri V, Sandrini M and Carmignoto G (2010) Glutamate-mediated astrocyte-to-neuron signalling in the rat dorsal horn. *J Physiol* **588**(Pt 5): 831-846.
- Bardoni R, Torsney C, Tong CK, Prandini M and MacDermott AB (2004) Presynaptic NMDA receptors modulate glutamate release from primary sensory neurons in rat spinal cord dorsal horn. *J Neurosci* 24(11): 2774-2781.
- Barria A and Malinow R (2002) Subunit-specific NMDA receptor trafficking to synapses. *Neuron* **35**(2): 345-353.
- Barria A and Malinow R (2005) NMDA receptor subunit composition controls synaptic plasticity by regulating binding to CaMKII. *Neuron* **48**(2): 289-301.
- Behar TN, Scott CA, Greene CL, Wen X, Smith SV, Maric D, Liu QY, Colton CA and Barker JL (1999) Glutamate acting at NMDA receptors stimulates embryonic cortical neuronal migration. *J Neurosci* **19**(11): 4449-4461.
- Bekkers JM and Stevens CF (1989) NMDA and non-NMDA receptors are co-localized at individual excitatory synapses in cultured rat hippocampus. *Nature* **341**(6239): 230-233.

- Benke TA, Park K, Krey I, Camp CR, Song R, Ramsey AJ, Yuan H, Traynelis SF and Lemke J (2021) Clinical and therapeutic significance of genetic variation in the GRIN gene family encoding NMDARs. *Neuropharmacology* **199**: 108805.
- Berg AT, Loddenkemper T and Baca CB (2014) Diagnostic delays in children with early onset epilepsy: impact, reasons, and opportunities to improve care. *Epilepsia* **55**(1): 123-132.
- Berg LK, Larsson M, Morland C and Gundersen V (2013) Pre- and postsynaptic localization of NMDA receptor subunits at hippocampal mossy fibre synapses. *Neuroscience* 230: 139-150.
- Berger AJ, Dieudonne S and Ascher P (1998) Glycine uptake governs glycine site occupancy at NMDA receptors of excitatory synapses. *J Neurophysiol* **80**(6): 3336-3340.
- Bergeron R, Meyer TM, Coyle JT and Greene RW (1998) Modulation of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor function by glycine transport. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **95**(26): 15730-15734.
- Bernabeu R and Sharp FR (2000) NMDA and AMPA/kainate glutamate receptors modulate dentate neurogenesis and CA3 synapsin-I in normal and ischemic hippocampus. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab* **20**(12): 1669-1680.
- Berretta N and Jones RS (1996) Tonic facilitation of glutamate release by presynaptic N-methyl-D-aspartate autoreceptors in the entorhinal cortex. *Neuroscience* **75**(2): 339-344.
- Bezzi P, Gundersen V, Galbete JL, Seifert G, Steinhauser C, Pilati E and Volterra A (2004) Astrocytes contain a vesicular compartment that is competent for regulated exocytosis of glutamate. *Nat Neurosci* 7(6): 613-620.
- Bhattacharya S, Khatri A, Swanger SA, DiRaddo JO, Yi F, Hansen KB, Yuan H and Traynelis SF (2018) Triheteromeric GluN1/GluN2A/GluN2C NMDARs with Unique Single-Channel Properties Are the Dominant Receptor Population in Cerebellar Granule Cells. *Neuron* 99(2): 315-328 e315.
- Bidoret C, Ayon A, Barbour B and Casado M (2009) Presynaptic NR2A-containing NMDA receptors implement a high-pass filter synaptic plasticity rule. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **106**(33): 14126-14131.
- Booker SA, Sumera A, Kind PC and Wyllie DJA (2021) Contribution of NMDA Receptors to Synaptic Function in Rat Hippocampal Interneurons. *eNeuro* **8**(4).
- Bortone D and Polleux F (2009) KCC2 expression promotes the termination of cortical interneuron migration in a voltage-sensitive calcium-dependent manner. *Neuron* **62**(1): 53-71.
- Boyce-Rustay JM and Holmes A (2006) Genetic inactivation of the NMDA receptor NR2A subunit has anxiolytic- and antidepressant-like effects in mice. *Neuropsychopharmacology* **31**(11): 2405-2414.
- Brickley SG, Misra C, Mok MH, Mishina M and Cull-Candy SG (2003) NR2B and NR2D subunits coassemble in cerebellar Golgi cells to form a distinct NMDA receptor subtype restricted to extrasynaptic sites. *J Neurosci* **23**(12): 4958-4966.
- Brigman JL, Feyder M, Saksida LM, Bussey TJ, Mishina M and Holmes A (2008) Impaired discrimination learning in mice lacking the NMDA receptor NR2A subunit. *Learn Mem* 15(2): 50-54.
- Bryson A, Hatch RJ, Zandt BJ, Rossert C, Berkovic SF, Reid CA, Grayden DB, Hill SL and Petrou S (2020) GABA-mediated tonic inhibition differentially modulates gain in functional subtypes of cortical interneurons. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 117(6): 3192-3202.

- Budisantoso T, Harada H, Kamasawa N, Fukazawa Y, Shigemoto R and Matsui K (2013) Evaluation of glutamate concentration transient in the synaptic cleft of the rat calyx of Held. *J Physiol* **591**(1): 219-239.
- Bunk EC, Konig HG, Prehn JH and Kirby BP (2014) Effect of the N-methyl-D-aspartate NR2B subunit antagonist ifenprodil on precursor cell proliferation in the hippocampus. *J* Neurosci Res **92**(6): 679-691.
- Bursztajn S, Falls WA, Berman SA and Friedman MJ (2007) Cell proliferation in the brains of NMDAR NR1 transgenic mice. *Brain Res* **1172**: 10-20.
- Burzomato V, Frugier G, Perez-Otano I, Kittler JT and Attwell D (2010) The receptor subunits generating NMDA receptor mediated currents in oligodendrocytes. *J Physiol* **588**(Pt 18): 3403-3414.
- Bustos FJ, Jury N, Martinez P, Ampuero E, Campos M, Abarzua S, Jaramillo K, Ibing S, Mardones MD, Haensgen H, Kzhyshkowska J, Tevy MF, Neve R, Sanhueza M, Varela-Nallar L, Montecino M and van Zundert B (2017) NMDA receptor subunit composition controls dendritogenesis of hippocampal neurons through CAMKII, CREB-P, and H3K27ac. J Cell Physiol 232(12): 3677-3692.
- Bustos FJ, Varela-Nallar L, Campos M, Henriquez B, Phillips M, Opazo C, Aguayo LG, Montecino M, Constantine-Paton M, Inestrosa NC and van Zundert B (2014) PSD95 suppresses dendritic arbor development in mature hippocampal neurons by occluding the clustering of NR2B-NMDA receptors. *PLoS ONE* 9(4): e94037.
- Calin A, Ilie AS and Akerman CJ (2021) Disrupting epileptiform activity by preventing parvalbumin interneuron depolarization block. *J Neurosci*.
- Calton JL, Kang MH, Wilson WA and Moore SD (2000) NMDA-Receptor-dependent synaptic activation of voltage-dependent calcium channels in basolateral amygdala. *J Neurophysiol* **83**(2): 685-692.
- Cameron HA, McEwen BS and Gould E (1995) Regulation of adult neurogenesis by excitatory input and NMDA receptor activation in the dentate gyrus. *J Neurosci* **15**(6): 4687-4692.
- Camp CR and Yuan H (2020) GRIN2D/GluN2D NMDA receptor: Unique features and its contribution to pediatric developmental and epileptic encephalopathy. *Eur J Paediatr Neurol* 24: 89-99.
- Carmignoto G and Vicini S (1992) Activity-dependent decrease in NMDA receptor responses during development of the visual cortex. *Science* **258**(5084): 1007-1011.
- Carta M, Srikumar BN, Gorlewicz A, Rebola N and Mulle C (2018) Activity-dependent control of NMDA receptor subunit composition at hippocampal mossy fibre synapses. *J Physiol* **596**(4): 703-716.
- Carvill GL, Regan BM, Yendle SC, O'Roak BJ, Lozovaya N, Bruneau N, Burnashev N, Khan A, Cook J, Geraghty E, Sadleir LG, Turner SJ, Tsai MH, Webster R, Ouvrier R, Damiano JA, Berkovic SF, Shendure J, Hildebrand MS, Szepetowski P, Scheffer IE and Mefford HC (2013) GRIN2A mutations cause epilepsy-aphasia spectrum disorders. *Nat Genet* 45(9): 1073-1076.
- Cathala L, Misra C and Cull-Candy S (2000) Developmental profile of the changing properties of NMDA receptors at cerebellar mossy fiber-granule cell synapses. *J Neurosci* **20**(16): 5899-5905.
- Cavelier P and Attwell D (2005) Tonic release of glutamate by a DIDS-sensitive mechanism in rat hippocampal slices. *J Physiol* **564**(Pt 2): 397-410.

- Chamberlain SE, Yang J and Jones RS (2008) The role of NMDA receptor subtypes in short-term plasticity in the rat entorhinal cortex. *Neural Plast* **2008**: 872456.
- Charton JP, Herkert M, Becker CM and Schroder H (1999) Cellular and subcellular localization of the 2B-subunit of the NMDA receptor in the adult rat telencephalon. *Brain Res* **816**(2): 609-617.
- Cheffings CM and Colquhoun D (2000) Single channel analysis of a novel NMDA channel from Xenopus oocytes expressing recombinant NR1a, NR2A and NR2D subunits. *J Physiol* **526 Pt 3**: 481-491.
- Chen S and Diamond JS (2002) Synaptically released glutamate activates extrasynaptic NMDA receptors on cells in the ganglion cell layer of rat retina. *J Neurosci* **22**(6): 2165-2173.
- Cheriyan J, Balsara RD, Hansen KB and Castellino FJ (2016) Pharmacology of triheteromeric N-Methyl-D-Aspartate Receptors. *Neurosci Lett* **617**: 240-246.
- Chipman PH, Fung CCA, Pazo Fernandez A, Sawant A, Tedoldi A, Kawai A, Ghimire Gautam S, Kurosawa M, Abe M, Sakimura K, Fukai T and Goda Y (2021) Astrocyte GluN2C NMDA receptors control basal synaptic strengths of hippocampal CA1 pyramidal neurons in the stratum radiatum. *Elife* **10**.
- Chittajallu R, Wester JC, Craig MT, Barksdale E, Yuan XQ, Akgul G, Fang C, Collins D, Hunt S, Pelkey KA and McBain CJ (2017) Afferent specific role of NMDA receptors for the circuit integration of hippocampal neurogliaform cells. *Nat Commun* **8**(1): 152.
- Choi DW, Koh JY and Peters S (1988) Pharmacology of glutamate neurotoxicity in cortical cell culture: attenuation by NMDA antagonists. *J Neurosci* **8**(1): 185-196.
- Choi DW, Maulucci-Gedde M and Kriegstein AR (1987) Glutamate neurotoxicity in cortical cell culture. *J Neurosci* 7(2): 357-368.
- Choquet D and Hosy E (2020) AMPA receptor nanoscale dynamic organization and synaptic plasticities. *Curr Opin Neurobiol* **63**: 137-145.
- Clark BA and Cull-Candy SG (2002) Activity-dependent recruitment of extrasynaptic NMDA receptor activation at an AMPA receptor-only synapse. *J Neurosci* **22**(11): 4428-4436.
- Clark BA, Farrant M and Cull-Candy SG (1997) A direct comparison of the single-channel properties of synaptic and extrasynaptic NMDA receptors. *J Neurosci* **17**(1): 107-116.
- Clayton DA, Mesches MH, Alvarez E, Bickford PC and Browning MD (2002) A hippocampal NR2B deficit can mimic age-related changes in long-term potentiation and spatial learning in the Fischer 344 rat. *J Neurosci* **22**(9): 3628-3637.
- Clements JD, Lester RA, Tong G, Jahr CE and Westbrook GL (1992) The time course of glutamate in the synaptic cleft. *Science* **258**(5087): 1498-1501.
- Cline HT and Constantine-Paton M (1989) NMDA receptor antagonists disrupt the retinotectal topographic map. *Neuron* **3**(4): 413-426.
- Cline HT, Debski EA and Constantine-Paton M (1987) N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor antagonist desegregates eye-specific stripes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **84**(12): 4342-4345.
- Collingridge G (1987) Synaptic plasticity. The role of NMDA receptors in learning and memory. *Nature* **330**(6149): 604-605.
- Collingridge GL, Kehl SJ and McLennan H (1983) Excitatory amino acids in synaptic transmission in the Schaffer collateral-commissural pathway of the rat hippocampus. J Physiol **334**: 33-46.
- Colonnese MT and Constantine-Paton M (2006) Developmental period for N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor-dependent synapse elimination correlated with visuotopic map refinement. *J Comp Neurol* **494**(5): 738-751.

- Corlew R, Brasier DJ, Feldman DE and Philpot BD (2008) Presynaptic NMDA receptors: newly appreciated roles in cortical synaptic function and plasticity. *Neuroscientist* **14**(6): 609-625.
- Corlew R, Wang Y, Ghermazien H, Erisir A and Philpot BD (2007) Developmental switch in the contribution of presynaptic and postsynaptic NMDA receptors to long-term depression. *J Neurosci* **27**(37): 9835-9845.
- Cottrell JR, Dube GR, Egles C and Liu G (2000) Distribution, density, and clustering of functional glutamate receptors before and after synaptogenesis in hippocampal neurons. J Neurophysiol 84(3): 1573-1587.
- Coultrap SJ, Freund RK, O'Leary H, Sanderson JL, Roche KW, Dell'Acqua ML and Bayer KU (2014) Autonomous CaMKII mediates both LTP and LTD using a mechanism for differential substrate site selection. *Cell reports* **6**(3): 431-437.
- Crabtree JW, Lodge D, Bashir ZI and Isaac JT (2013) GABAA, NMDA and mGlu2 receptors tonically regulate inhibition and excitation in the thalamic reticular nucleus. *Eur J Neurosci* **37**(6): 850-859.
- Cserep C, Szabadits E, Szonyi A, Watanabe M, Freund TF and Nyiri G (2012) NMDA receptors in GABAergic synapses during postnatal development. *PLoS ONE* **7**(5): e37753.
- D'Ascenzo M, Fellin T, Terunuma M, Revilla-Sanchez R, Meaney DF, Auberson YP, Moss SJ and Haydon PG (2007) mGluR5 stimulates gliotransmission in the nucleus accumbens. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **104**(6): 1995-2000.
- D'Souza DC, Gil R, Cassello K, Morrissey K, Abi-Saab D, White J, Sturwold R, Bennett A, Karper LP, Zuzarte E, Charney DS and Krystal JH (2000) IV glycine and oral Dcycloserine effects on plasma and CSF amino acids in healthy humans. *Biol Psychiatry* 47(5): 450-462.
- Das S, Sasaki YF, Rothe T, Premkumar LS, Takasu M, Crandall JE, Dikkes P, Conner DA, Rayudu PV, Cheung W, Chen HS, Lipton SA and Nakanishi N (1998) Increased NMDA current and spine density in mice lacking the NMDA receptor subunit NR3A. *Nature* 393(6683): 377-381.
- de Lecea L, del Rio JA and Soriano E (1995) Developmental expression of parvalbumin mRNA in the cerebral cortex and hippocampus of the rat. *Brain Res Mol Brain Res* **32**(1): 1-13.
- de Ligt J, Willemsen MH, van Bon BW, Kleefstra T, Yntema HG, Kroes T, Vulto-van Silfhout AT, Koolen DA, de Vries P, Gilissen C, del Rosario M, Hoischen A, Scheffer H, de Vries BB, Brunner HG, Veltman JA and Vissers LE (2012) Diagnostic exome sequencing in persons with severe intellectual disability. N Engl J Med 367(20): 1921-1929.
- Dehorter N, Ciceri G, Bartolini G, Lim L, del Pino I and Marin O (2015) Tuning of fast-spiking interneuron properties by an activity-dependent transcriptional switch. *Science* **349**(6253): 1216-1220.
- Diamond JS (2005) Deriving the glutamate clearance time course from transporter currents in CA1 hippocampal astrocytes: transmitter uptake gets faster during development. *J* Neurosci **25**(11): 2906-2916.
- Diana MA and Marty A (2003) Characterization of depolarization-induced suppression of inhibition using paired interneuron--Purkinje cell recordings. *J Neurosci* 23(13): 5906-5918.
- Diering GH and Huganir RL (2018) The AMPA Receptor Code of Synaptic Plasticity. *Neuron* **100**(2): 314-329.

- Dittmer PJ, Dell'Acqua ML and Sather WA (2019) Synaptic crosstalk conferred by a zone of differentially regulated Ca(2+) signaling in the dendritic shaft adjoining a potentiated spine. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **116**(27): 13611-13620.
- Doischer D, Hosp JA, Yanagawa Y, Obata K, Jonas P, Vida I and Bartos M (2008) Postnatal differentiation of basket cells from slow to fast signaling devices. *J Neurosci* 28(48): 12956-12968.
- Dore K, Aow J and Malinow R (2015) Agonist binding to the NMDA receptor drives movement of its cytoplasmic domain without ion flow. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **112**(47): 14705-14710.
- Dore K, Stein IS, Brock JA, Castillo PE, Zito K and Sjostrom PJ (2017) Unconventional NMDA Receptor Signaling. *J Neurosci* **37**(45): 10800-10807.
- Doyle S, Hansen DB, Vella J, Bond P, Harper G, Zammit C, Valentino M and Fern R (2018) Vesicular glutamate release from central axons contributes to myelin damage. *Nat Commun* 9(1): 1032.
- Dravid SM, Prakash A and Traynelis SF (2008) Activation of recombinant NR1/NR2C NMDA receptors. *J Physiol* **586**(18): 4425-4439.
- Dubois CJ, Lachamp PM, Sun L, Mishina M and Liu SJ (2016) Presynaptic GluN2D receptors detect glutamate spillover and regulate cerebellar GABA release. *J Neurophysiol* **115**(1): 271-285.
- Dubois CJ and Liu SJ (2021) GluN2D NMDA Receptors Gate Fear Extinction Learning and Interneuron Plasticity. *Front Synaptic Neurosci* **13**: 681068.
- Duguid IC and Smart TG (2004) Retrograde activation of presynaptic NMDA receptors enhances GABA release at cerebellar interneuron-Purkinje cell synapses. *Nat Neurosci* 7(5): 525-533.
- Duguid IC and Smart TG (2009) Presynaptic NMDA Receptors, in *Biology of the NMDA Receptor* (Van Dongen AM ed), Boca Raton (FL).
- Dumas TC (2005) Developmental regulation of cognitive abilities: modified composition of a molecular switch turns on associative learning. *Prog Neurobiol* **76**(3): 189-211.
- Dupuis JP, Ladepeche L, Seth H, Bard L, Varela J, Mikasova L, Bouchet D, Rogemond V, Honnorat J, Hanse E and Groc L (2014) Surface dynamics of GluN2B-NMDA receptors controls plasticity of maturing glutamate synapses. *EMBO J* 33(8): 842-861.
- Ebralidze AK, Rossi DJ, Tonegawa S and Slater NT (1996) Modification of NMDA receptor channels and synaptic transmission by targeted disruption of the NR2C gene. *J Neurosci* **16**: 5014-5025.
- Ekins TG, Mahadevan V, Zhang Y, D'Amour JA, Akgul G, Petros TJ and McBain CJ (2020) Emergence of non-canonical parvalbumin-containing interneurons in hippocampus of a murine model of type I lissencephaly. *Elife* **9**.
- El Gaamouch F, Buisson A, Moustie O, Lemieux M, Labrecque S, Bontempi B, De Koninck P and Nicole O (2012) Interaction between alphaCaMKII and GluN2B controls ERKdependent plasticity. *J Neurosci* **32**(31): 10767-10779.
- Elberger AJ and Deng J (2003) Corpus callosum and visual cortex of mice with deletion of the NMDA-NR1 receptor: I. Accelerated development of callosal projection neurons. *Brain Res Dev Brain Res* **144**(2): 121-133.
- Engert F and Bonhoeffer T (1999) Dendritic spine changes associated with hippocampal longterm synaptic plasticity. *Nature* **399**(6731): 66-70.

- Epplin MP, Mohan A, Harris LD, Zhu Z, Strong KL, Bacsa J, Le P, Menaldino DS, Traynelis SF and Liotta DC (2020) Discovery of Dihydropyrrolo[1,2-a]pyrazin-3(4H)-one-Based Second-Generation GluN2C- and GluN2D-Selective Positive Allosteric Modulators (PAMs) of the N-Methyl-d-Aspartate (NMDA) Receptor. J Med Chem 63(14): 7569-7600.
- Erreger K, Dravid SM, Banke TG, Wyllie DJ and Traynelis SF (2005) Subunit-specific gating controls rat NR1/NR2A and NR1/NR2B NMDA channel kinetics and synaptic signalling profiles. *J Physiol* **563**(Pt 2): 345-358.
- Espinosa JS, Wheeler DG, Tsien RW and Luo L (2009) Uncoupling dendrite growth and patterning: single-cell knockout analysis of NMDA receptor 2B. *Neuron* **62**(2): 205-217.
- Eyo UB, Bispo A, Liu J, Sabu S, Wu R, DiBona VL, Zheng J, Murugan M, Zhang H, Tang Y and Wu LJ (2018) The GluN2A Subunit Regulates Neuronal NMDA receptor-Induced Microglia-Neuron Physical Interactions. *Sci Rep* **8**(1): 828.
- Farinella M, Ruedt DT, Gleeson P, Lanore F and Silver RA (2014) Glutamate-bound NMDARs arising from in vivo-like network activity extend spatio-temporal integration in a L5 cortical pyramidal cell model. *PLoS Comput Biol* **10**(4): e1003590.
- Fedele L, Newcombe J, Topf M, Gibb A, Harvey RJ and Smart TG (2018) Disease-associated missense mutations in GluN2B subunit alter NMDA receptor ligand binding and ion channel properties. *Nat Commun* **9**(1): 957.
- Feldman DE (2012) The spike-timing dependence of plasticity. Neuron 75(4): 556-571.
- Fellin T, Pascual O, Gobbo S, Pozzan T, Haydon PG and Carmignoto G (2004) Neuronal synchrony mediated by astrocytic glutamate through activation of extrasynaptic NMDA receptors. *Neuron* **43**(5): 729-743.
- Fellin T, Pozzan T and Carmignoto G (2006) Purinergic receptors mediate two distinct glutamate release pathways in hippocampal astrocytes. *J Biol Chem* **281**(7): 4274-4284.
- Feng ZJ, Zhang X and Chergui K (2014) Allosteric modulation of NMDA receptors alters neurotransmission in the striatum of a mouse model of Parkinson's disease. *Exp Neurol* 255: 154-160.
- Ferguson GD, Wang H, Herschman HR and Storm DR (2004) Altered hippocampal short-term plasticity and associative memory in synaptotagmin IV (-/-) mice. *Hippocampus* 14(8): 964-974.
- Fernandez-Marmiesse A, Kusumoto H, Rekarte S, Roca I, Zhang J, Myers SJ, Traynelis SF, Couce ML, Gutierrez-Solana L and Yuan H (2018) A novel missense mutation in GRIN2A causes a nonepileptic neurodevelopmental disorder. *Mov Disord* 33(6): 992-999.
- Fernandez LMJ, Pellegrini C, Vantomme G, Beard E, Luthi A and Astori S (2017) Cortical afferents onto the nucleus Reticularis thalami promote plasticity of low-threshold excitability through GluN2C-NMDARs. *Scientific reports* 7(1): 12271.
- Fleming TM, Scott V, Naskar K, Joe N, Brown CH and Stern JE (2011) State-dependent changes in astrocyte regulation of extrasynaptic NMDA receptor signalling in neurosecretory neurons. *J Physiol* **589**(Pt 16): 3929-3941.
- Forrest D, Yuzaki M, Soares HD, Ng L, Luk DC, Sheng M, Stewart CL, Morgan JI, Connor JA and Curran T (1994) Targeted disruption of NMDA receptor 1 gene abolishes NMDA response and results in neonatal death. *Neuron* **13**: 325-338.
- Fortune ES and Rose GJ (2002) Roles for short-term synaptic plasticity in behavior. *J Physiol Paris* **96**(5-6): 539-545.
- Fritschy JM, Weinmann O, Wenzel A and Benke D (1998) Synapse-specific localization of NMDA and GABA(A) receptor subunits revealed by antigen-retrieval immunohistochemistry. J Comp Neurol 390(2): 194-210.
- Frizelle PA, Chen PE and Wyllie DJ (2006) Equilibrium constants for (R)-[(S)-1-(4-bromophenyl)-ethylamino]-(2,3-dioxo-1,2,3,4-tetrahydroquinoxalin-5 -yl)-methyl]-phosphonic acid (NVP-AAM077) acting at recombinant NR1/NR2A and NR1/NR2B N-methyl-Daspartate receptors: Implications for studies of synaptic transmission. *Mol Pharmacol* 70(3): 1022-1032.
- Fry AE, Fawcett KA, Zelnik N, Yuan H, Thompson BAN, Shemer-Meiri L, Cushion TD, Mugalaasi H, Sims D, Stoodley N, Chung SK, Rees MI, Patel CV, Brueton LA, Layet V, Giuliano F, Kerr MP, Banne E, Meiner V, Lerman-Sagie T, Helbig KL, Kofman LH, Knight KM, Chen W, Kannan V, Hu C, Kusumoto H, Zhang J, Swanger SA, Shaulsky GH, Mirzaa GM, Muir AM, Mefford HC, Dobyns WB, Mackenzie AB, Mullins JGL, Lemke JR, Bahi-Buisson N, Traynelis SF, Iago HF and Pilz DT (2018) De novo mutations in GRIN1 cause extensive bilateral polymicrogyria. *Brain* 141(3): 698-712.
- Fukata Y, Dimitrov A, Boncompain G, Vielemeyer O, Perez F and Fukata M (2013) Local palmitoylation cycles define activity-regulated postsynaptic subdomains. *J Cell Biol* 202(1): 145-161.
- Gambrill AC and Barria A (2011) NMDA receptor subunit composition controls synaptogenesis and synapse stabilization. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **108**(14): 5855-5860.
- Gao J, Stevenson TJ, Douglass AD, Barrios JP and Bonkowsky JL (2018) The Midline Axon Crossing Decision Is Regulated through an Activity-Dependent Mechanism by the NMDA Receptor. *eNeuro* **5**(2): ENEURO.0389-0317.2018.
- Gao K, Tankovic A, Zhang Y, Kusumoto H, Zhang J, Chen W, XiangWei W, Shaulsky GH, Hu C, Traynelis SF, Yuan H and Jiang Y (2017) A de novo loss-of-function GRIN2A mutation associated with childhood focal epilepsy and acquired epileptic aphasia. *PLoS ONE* **12**(2): e0170818.
- Garst-Orozco J, Malik R, Lanz TA, Weber ML, Xi H, Arion D, Enwright JF, 3rd, Lewis DA, O'Donnell P, Sohal VS and Buhl DL (2020) GluN2D-mediated excitatory drive onto medial prefrontal cortical PV+ fast-spiking inhibitory interneurons. *PLoS One* **15**(6): e0233895.
- Gibb AJ, Ogden KK, McDaniel MJ, Vance KM, Kell SA, Butch C, Burger P, Liotta DC and Traynelis SF (2018) A structurally derived model of subunit-dependent NMDA receptor function. *J Physiol* **596**(17): 4057-4089.
- Gilbert ME and Mack CM (1990) The NMDA antagonist, MK-801, suppresses long-term potentiation, kindling, and kindling-induced potentiation in the perforant path of the unanesthetized rat. *Brain Res* **519**(1-2): 89-96.
- Gill I, Droubi S, Giovedi S, Fedder KN, Bury LA, Bosco F, Sceniak MP, Benfenati F and Sabo SL (2015) Presynaptic NMDA receptors dynamics and distribution in developing axons in vitro and in vivo. *J Cell Sci* **128**(4): 768-780.
- Gladding CM, Collett VJ, Jia Z, Bashir ZI, Collingridge GL and Molnar E (2009) Tyrosine dephosphorylation regulates AMPAR internalisation in mGluR-LTD. *Mol Cell Neurosci* 40(2): 267-279.
- Glitsch M and Marty A (1999) Presynaptic effects of NMDA in cerebellar Purkinje cells and interneurons. *J Neurosci* **19**(2): 511-519.

- Goldberg EM, Jeong HY, Kruglikov I, Tremblay R, Lazarenko RM and Rudy B (2011) Rapid developmental maturation of neocortical FS cell intrinsic excitability. *Cereb Cortex* 21(3): 666-682.
- Goncalves J, Bartol TM, Camus C, Levet F, Menegolla AP, Sejnowski TJ, Sibarita JB, Vivaudou M, Choquet D and Hosy E (2020) Nanoscale co-organization and coactivation of AMPAR, NMDAR, and mGluR at excitatory synapses. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 117(25): 14503-14511.
- Goodell DJ, Zaegel V, Coultrap SJ, Hell JW and Bayer KU (2017) DAPK1 Mediates LTD by Making CaMKII/GluN2B Binding LTP Specific. *Cell reports* **19**(11): 2231-2243.
- Gould E, Cameron HA and McEwen BS (1994) Blockade of NMDA receptors increases cell death and birth in the developing rat dentate gyrus. *J Comp Neurol* **340**(4): 551-565.
- Grand T, Abi Gerges S, David M, Diana MA and Paoletti P (2018) Unmasking GluN1/GluN3A excitatory glycine NMDA receptors. *Nat Commun* **9**(1): 4769.
- Gray JA, Shi Y, Usui H, During MJ, Sakimura K and Nicoll RA (2011) Distinct modes of AMPA receptor suppression at developing synapses by GluN2A and GluN2B: single-cell NMDA receptor subunit deletion in vivo. *Neuron* **71**(6): 1085-1101.
- Groc L, Bard L and Choquet D (2009) Surface trafficking of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors: physiological and pathological perspectives. *Neuroscience* **158**(1): 4-18.
- Gu X, Zhou L and Lu W (2016) An NMDA Receptor-Dependent Mechanism Underlies Inhibitory Synapse Development. *Cell reports* 14(3): 471-478.
- Gundersen V, Holten AT and Storm-Mathisen J (2004) GABAergic synapses in hippocampus exocytose aspartate on to NMDA receptors: quantitative immunogold evidence for co-transmission. *Mol Cell Neurosci* **26**(1): 156-165.
- Gupta SC, Ravikrishnan A, Liu J, Mao Z, Pavuluri R, Hillman BG, Gandhi PJ, Stairs DJ, Li M, Ugale RR, Monaghan DT and Dravid SM (2016) The NMDA receptor GluN2C subunit controls cortical excitatory-inhibitory balance, neuronal oscillations and cognitive function. *Sci Rep* **6**: 38321.
- Haas KT, Compans B, Letellier M, Bartol TM, Grillo-Bosch D, Sejnowski TJ, Sainlos M, Choquet D, Thoumine O and Hosy E (2018) Pre-post synaptic alignment through neuroligin-1 tunes synaptic transmission efficiency. *Elife* 7.
- Hackos DH, Lupardus PJ, Grand T, Chen Y, Wang TM, Reynen P, Gustafson A, Wallweber HJ, Volgraf M, Sellers BD, Schwarz JB, Paoletti P, Sheng M, Zhou Q and Hanson JE (2016) Positive Allosteric Modulators of GluN2A-Containing NMDARs with Distinct Modes of Action and Impacts on Circuit Function. *Neuron* 89(5): 983-999.
- Halt AR, Dallapiazza RF, Zhou Y, Stein IS, Qian H, Juntti S, Wojcik S, Brose N, Silva AJ and Hell JW (2012) CaMKII binding to GluN2B is critical during memory consolidation. *EMBO J* 31(5): 1203-1216.
- Hamilton NB and Attwell D (2010) Do astrocytes really exocytose neurotransmitters? *Nat Rev Neurosci* **11**(4): 227-238.
- Hansel D and Mato G (2013) Short-term plasticity explains irregular persistent activity in working memory tasks. *J Neurosci* **33**(1): 133-149.
- Hansen KB, Ogden KK and Traynelis SF (2012) Subunit-selective allosteric inhibition of glycine binding to NMDA receptors. *J Neurosci* **32**(18): 6197-6208.
- Hansen KB, Ogden KK, Yuan H and Traynelis SF (2014) Distinct functional and pharmacological properties of Triheteromeric GluN1/GluN2A/GluN2B NMDA receptors. *Neuron* **81**(5): 1084-1096.

- Hansen KB, Wollmuth LP, Bowie D, Furukawa H, Menniti FS, Sobolevsky AI, Swanson GT, Swanger SA, Greger IH, Nakagawa T, McBain CJ, Jayaraman V, Low CM, Dell'Acqua ML, Diamond JS, Camp CR, Perszyk RE, Yuan H and Traynelis SF (2021) Structure, Function, and Pharmacology of Glutamate Receptor Ion Channels. *Pharmacol Rev* 73(4): 298-487.
- Hansen KB, Yi F, Perszyk RE, Menniti FS and Traynelis SF (2017) NMDA Receptors in the Central Nervous System. *Methods Mol Biol* **1677**: 1-80.
- Hanson E, Armbruster M, Lau LA, Sommer ME, Klaft ZJ, Swanger SA, Traynelis SF, Moss SJ, Noubary F, Chadchankar J and Dulla CG (2019) Tonic Activation of GluN2C/GluN2D-Containing NMDA Receptors by Ambient Glutamate Facilitates Cortical Interneuron Maturation. J Neurosci 39(19): 3611-3626.
- Hanson JE, Ma K, Elstrott J, Weber M, Saillet S, Khan AS, Simms J, Liu B, Kim TA, Yu GQ, Chen Y, Wang TM, Jiang Z, Liederer BM, Deshmukh G, Solanoy H, Chan C, Sellers BD, Volgraf M, Schwarz JB, Hackos DH, Weimer RM, Sheng M, Gill TM, Scearce-Levie K and Palop JJ (2020) GluN2A NMDA Receptor Enhancement Improves Brain Oscillations, Synchrony, and Cognitive Functions in Dravet Syndrome and Alzheimer's Disease Models. *Cell Rep* 30(2): 381-396 e384.
- Hanson JE, Weber M, Meilandt WJ, Wu T, Luu T, Deng L, Shamloo M, Sheng M, Scearce-Levie K and Zhou Q (2013) GluN2B antagonism affects interneurons and leads to immediate and persistent changes in synaptic plasticity, oscillations, and behavior. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 38(7): 1221-1233.
- Hardingham GE and Bading H (2010) Synaptic versus extrasynaptic NMDA receptor signalling: implications for neurodegenerative disorders. *Nat Rev Neurosci* **11**(10): 682-696.
- Haroon E, Miller AH and Sanacora G (2017) Inflammation, Glutamate, and Glia: A Trio of Trouble in Mood Disorders. *Neuropsychopharmacology* **42**(1): 193-215.
- Harris AZ and Pettit DL (2007) Extrasynaptic and synaptic NMDA receptors form stable and uniform pools in rat hippocampal slices. *J Physiol* **584**(Pt 2): 509-519.
- Harris AZ and Pettit DL (2008) Recruiting extrasynaptic NMDA receptors augments synaptic signaling. *J Neurophysiol* **99**(2): 524-533.
- Helassa N, Durst CD, Coates C, Kerruth S, Arif U, Schulze C, Wiegert JS, Geeves M, Oertner TG and Torok K (2018) Ultrafast glutamate sensors resolve high-frequency release at Schaffer collateral synapses. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **115**(21): 5594-5599.
- Henle F, Dehmel M, Leemhuis J, Fischer C and Meyer DK (2012) Role of GluN2A and GluN2B subunits in the formation of filopodia and secondary dendrites in cultured hippocampal neurons. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol* 385(2): 171-180.
- Henneberger C, Bard L, Panatier A, Reynolds JP, Kopach O, Medvedev NI, Minge D, Herde MK, Anders S, Kraev I, Heller JP, Rama S, Zheng K, Jensen TP, Sanchez-Romero I, Jackson CJ, Janovjak H, Ottersen OP, Nagelhus EA, Oliet SHR, Stewart MG, Nagerl UV and Rusakov DA (2020) LTP Induction Boosts Glutamate Spillover by Driving Withdrawal of Perisynaptic Astroglia. *Neuron* 108(5): 919-936 e911.
- Henneberger C, Juttner R, Schmidt SA, Walter J, Meier JC, Rothe T and Grantyn R (2005) GluR- and TrkB-mediated maturation of GABA receptor function during the period of eye opening. *Eur J Neurosci* **21**(2): 431-440.
- Hensch TK (2005) Critical period plasticity in local cortical circuits. *Nat Rev Neurosci* **6**(11): 877-888.

- Herman MA and Jahr CE (2007) Extracellular glutamate concentration in hippocampal slice. J Neurosci 27(36): 9736-9741.
- Herman MA, Nahir B and Jahr CE (2011) Distribution of extracellular glutamate in the neuropil of hippocampus. *PLoS ONE* **6**(11): e26501.
- Hildebrand ME, Pitcher GM, Harding EK, Li H, Beggs S and Salter MW (2014) GluN2B and GluN2D NMDARs dominate synaptic responses in the adult spinal cord. *Sci Rep* **4**: 4094.
- Hillman BG, Gupta SC, Stairs DJ, Buonanno A and Dravid SM (2011) Behavioral analysis of NR2C knockout mouse reveals deficit in acquisition of conditioned fear and working memory. *Neurobiol Learn Mem* **95**(4): 404-414.
- Hirai K, Yoshioka H, Kihara M, Hasegawa K, Sakamoto T, Sawada T and Fushiki S (1999) Inhibiting neuronal migration by blocking NMDA receptors in the embryonic rat cerebral cortex: a tissue culture study. *Brain Res Dev Brain Res* 114(1): 63-67.
- Hirasawa T, Wada H, Kohsaka S and Uchino S (2003) Inhibition of NMDA receptors induces delayed neuronal maturation and sustained proliferation of progenitor cells during neocortical development. *J Neurosci Res* **74**(5): 676-687.
- Hodge RD, Bakken TE, Miller JA, Smith KA, Barkan ER, Graybuck LT, Close JL, Long B, Johansen N, Penn O, Yao Z, Eggermont J, Hollt T, Levi BP, Shehata SI, Aevermann B, Beller A, Bertagnolli D, Brouner K, Casper T, Cobbs C, Dalley R, Dee N, Ding SL, Ellenbogen RG, Fong O, Garren E, Goldy J, Gwinn RP, Hirschstein D, Keene CD, Keshk M, Ko AL, Lathia K, Mahfouz A, Maltzer Z, McGraw M, Nguyen TN, Nyhus J, Ojemann JG, Oldre A, Parry S, Reynolds S, Rimorin C, Shapovalova NV, Somasundaram S, Szafer A, Thomsen ER, Tieu M, Quon G, Scheuermann RH, Yuste R, Sunkin SM, Lelieveldt B, Feng D, Ng L, Bernard A, Hawrylycz M, Phillips JW, Tasic B, Zeng H, Jones AR, Koch C and Lein ES (2019) Conserved cell types with divergent features in human versus mouse cortex. *Nature* 573(7772): 61-68.
- Howell KB, Eggers S, Dalziel K, Riseley J, Mandelstam S, Myers CT, McMahon JM, Schneider A, Carvill GL, Mefford HC, Victorian Severe Epilepsy of Infancy Study G, Scheffer IE and Harvey AS (2018) A population-based cost-effectiveness study of early genetic testing in severe epilepsies of infancy. *Epilepsia* 59(6): 1177-1187.
- Hoyte L, Barber PA, Buchan AM and Hill MD (2004) The rise and fall of NMDA antagonists for ischemic stroke. *Curr Mol Med* **4**(2): 131-136.
- Huang Z and Gibb AJ (2014) Mg2+ block properties of triheteromeric GluN1-GluN2B-GluN2D NMDA receptors on neonatal rat substantia nigra pars compacta dopaminergic neurones. *J Physiol* **592**(10): 2059-2078.
- Iacobucci GJ and Popescu GK (2017) NMDA receptors: linking physiological output to biophysical operation. *Nat Rev Neurosci* **18**(4): 236-249.
- Ikeda K, Araki K, Takayama C, Inoue Y, Yagi T, Aizawa S and Mishina M (1995a) Reduced spontaneous activity of mice defective in the epsilon 4 subunit of the NMDA receptor channel. *Brain Res Mol Brain Res* **33**(1): 61-71.
- Ikeda K, Araki K, Takayama C, Inoue Y, Yagi T, Aizawa S and Mishina M (1995b) Reduced spontaneous activity of mice defective in the î4 subunit of the NMDA receptor channel. *MolBrain Res* **33**: 61-71.
- Incontro S, Diaz-Alonso J, Iafrati J, Vieira M, Asensio CS, Sohal VS, Roche KW, Bender KJ and Nicoll RA (2018) The CaMKII/NMDA receptor complex controls hippocampal synaptic transmission by kinase-dependent and independent mechanisms. *Nat Commun* **9**(1): 2069.

- Isaacson JS and Murphy GJ (2001) Glutamate-mediated extrasynaptic inhibition: direct coupling of NMDA receptors to Ca(2+)-activated K+ channels. *Neuron* **31**(6): 1027-1034.
- Ito I, Futai K, Katagiri H, Watanabe M, Sakimura K, Mishina M and Sugiyama H (1997) Synapse-selective impairment of NMDA receptor functions in mice lacking NMDA receptor epsilon 1 or epsilon 2 subunit. *J Physiol* **500 (Pt 2)**: 401-408.
- Iwasato T, Datwani A, Wolf AM, Nishiyama H, Taguchi Y, Tonegawa S, Knopfel T, Erzurumlu RS and Itohara S (2000) Cortex-restricted disruption of NMDAR1 impairs neuronal patterns in the barrel cortex. *Nature* **406**(6797): 726-731.
- Iwasato T, Erzurumlu RS, Huerta PT, Chen DF, Sasaoka T, Ulupinar E and Tonegawa S (1997) NMDA receptor-dependent refinement of somatotopic maps. *Neuron* **19**(6): 1201-1210.
- Jaaskelainen IP, Ahveninen J, Andermann ML, Belliveau JW, Raij T and Sams M (2011) Shortterm plasticity as a neural mechanism supporting memory and attentional functions. *Brain Res* 1422: 66-81.
- Jackman SL and Regehr WG (2017) The Mechanisms and Functions of Synaptic Facilitation. *Neuron* **94**(3): 447-464.
- Jami SA, Cameron S, Wong JM, Daly ER, McAllister AK and Gray JA (2021) Increased excitation-inhibition balance and loss of GABAergic synapses in the serine racemase knockout model of NMDA receptor hypofunction. *J Neurophysiol* **126**(1): 11-27.
- Jiao J, Li L, Sun M, Fang J, Meng L, Zhang Y, Jia C and Ma L (2021) Identification of a novel GRIN2D variant in a neonate with intractable epileptic encephalopathy-a case report. BMC Pediatr 21(1): 5.
- Johnston D, Williams S, Jaffe D and Gray R (1992) NMDA-receptor-independent long-term potentiation. *Annu Rev Physiol* **54**: 489-505.
- Jonas P (2000) The Time Course of Signaling at Central Glutamatergic Synapses. *News Physiol Sci* **15**: 83-89.
- Jones KS, VanDongen HM and VanDongen AM (2002) The NMDA receptor M3 segment is a conserved transduction element coupling ligand binding to channel opening. *J Neurosci* **22**(6): 2044-2053.
- Jones S and Gibb AJ (2005) Functional NR2B- and NR2D-containing NMDA receptor channels in rat substantia nigra dopaminergic neurones. *J Physiol* **569**(Pt 1): 209-221.
- Joo JY, Kim BW, Lee JS, Park JY, Kim S, Yun YJ, Lee SH, Lee SH, Rhim H and Son H (2007) Activation of NMDA receptors increases proliferation and differentiation of hippocampal neural progenitor cells. *J Cell Sci* **120**(Pt 8): 1358-1370.
- Jourdain P, Bergersen LH, Bhaukaurally K, Bezzi P, Santello M, Domercq M, Matute C, Tonello F, Gundersen V and Volterra A (2007) Glutamate exocytosis from astrocytes controls synaptic strength. *Nat Neurosci* **10**(3): 331-339.
- Kadotani H, Hirano T, Masugi M, Nakamura K, Nakao K, Katsuki M and Nakanishi S (1996) Motor discoordination results from combined gene disruption of the NMDA receptor NR2A and NR2C subunits, but not from single disruption of the NR2A or NR2C subunit. *J Neurosci* 16(24): 7859-7867.
- Kaindl AM, Degos V, Peineau S, Gouadon E, Chhor V, Loron G, Le Charpentier T, Josserand J, Ali C, Vivien D, Collingridge GL, Lombet A, Issa L, Rene F, Loeffler JP, Kavelaars A, Verney C, Mantz J and Gressens P (2012) Activation of microglial N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors triggers inflammation and neuronal cell death in the developing and mature brain. Ann Neurol 72(4): 536-549.

- Kaiser T, Ting JT, Monteiro P and Feng G (2016) Transgenic labeling of parvalbuminexpressing neurons with tdTomato. *Neuroscience* **321**: 236-245.
- Kalb RG (1994) Regulation of motor neuron dendrite growth by NMDA receptor activation. *Development* **120**(11): 3063-3071.
- Kalbaugh TL, Zhang J and Diamond JS (2009) Coagonist release modulates NMDA receptor subtype contributions at synaptic inputs to retinal ganglion cells. *J Neurosci* **29**(5): 1469-1479.
- Kannangara TS, Eadie BD, Bostrom CA, Morch K, Brocardo PS and Christie BR (2015) GluN2A-/- Mice Lack Bidirectional Synaptic Plasticity in the Dentate Gyrus and Perform Poorly on Spatial Pattern Separation Tasks. *Cereb Cortex* 25(8): 2102-2113.
- Karadottir R, Cavelier P, Bergersen LH and Attwell D (2005) NMDA receptors are expressed in oligodendrocytes and activated in ischaemia. *Nature* **438**(7071): 1162-1166.
- Karakas E and Furukawa H (2014) Crystal structure of a heterotetrameric NMDA receptor ion channel. *Science* **344**(6187): 992-997.
- Karavanova I, Vasudevan K, Cheng J and Buonanno A (2007) Novel regional and developmental NMDA receptor expression patterns uncovered in NR2C subunit-beta-galactosidase knock-in mice. *Mol Cell Neurosci* **34**(3): 468-480.
- Karayannis T, Elfant D, Huerta-Ocampo I, Teki S, Scott RS, Rusakov DA, Jones MV and Capogna M (2010) Slow GABA transient and receptor desensitization shape synaptic responses evoked by hippocampal neurogliaform cells. *J Neurosci* **30**(29): 9898-9909.
- Kaufman AM, Milnerwood AJ, Sepers MD, Coquinco A, She K, Wang L, Lee H, Craig AM, Cynader M and Raymond LA (2012) Opposing roles of synaptic and extrasynaptic NMDA receptor signaling in cocultured striatal and cortical neurons. *J Neurosci* 32(12): 3992-4003.
- Kellermayer B, Ferreira JS, Dupuis J, Levet F, Grillo-Bosch D, Bard L, Linares-Loyez J, Bouchet D, Choquet D, Rusakov DA, Bon P, Sibarita JB, Cognet L, Sainlos M, Carvalho AL and Groc L (2018) Differential Nanoscale Topography and Functional Role of GluN2-NMDA Receptor Subtypes at Glutamatergic Synapses. *Neuron* 100(1): 106-119 e107.
- Kelsch W, Li Z, Wieland S, Senkov O, Herb A, Gongrich C and Monyer H (2014) GluN2Bcontaining NMDA receptors promote glutamate synapse development in hippocampal interneurons. *J Neurosci* **34**(48): 16022-16030.
- Kemp JA and McKernan RM (2002) NMDA receptor pathways as drug targets. *Nat Neurosci* **5 Suppl**: 1039-1042.
- Kemp N, McQueen J, Faulkes S and Bashir ZI (2000) Different forms of LTD in the CA1 region of the hippocampus: role of age and stimulus protocol. *Eur J Neurosci* **12**(1): 360-366.
- Kessler JP (2013) Control of cleft glutamate concentration and glutamate spill-out by perisynaptic glia: uptake and diffusion barriers. *PLoS ONE* **8**(8): e70791.
- Kharazia VN and Weinberg RJ (1999) Immunogold localization of AMPA and NMDA receptors in somatic sensory cortex of albino rat. *J Comp Neurol* **412**(2): 292-302.
- Kirson ED and Yaari Y (1996) Synaptic NMDA receptors in developing mouse hippocampal neurones: functional properties and sensitivity to ifenprodil. *J Physiol* **497** (**Pt 2**)(Pt 2): 437-455.
- Kitayama T, Yoneyama M and Yoneda Y (2003) Possible regulation by N-methyl-d-aspartate receptors of proliferative progenitor cells expressed in adult mouse hippocampal dentate gyrus. *J Neurochem* **84**(4): 767-780.

- Kofuji P and Araque A (2020) G-Protein-Coupled Receptors in Astrocyte-Neuron Communication. *Neuroscience*.
- Kohr G (2006) NMDA receptor function: subunit composition versus spatial distribution. *Cell Tissue Res* **326**(2): 439-446.
- Komuro H and Rakic P (1993) Modulation of neuronal migration by NMDA receptors. *Science* **260**(5104): 95-97.
- Kumar SS and Huguenard JR (2003) Pathway-specific differences in subunit composition of synaptic NMDA receptors on pyramidal neurons in neocortex. *J Neurosci* **23**(31): 10074-10083.
- Kuner T and Schoepfer R (1996) Multiple structural elements determine subunit specificity of Mg2+ block in NMDA receptor channels. *J Neurosci* **16**(11): 3549-3558.
- Kuperberg M, Lev D, Blumkin L, Zerem A, Ginsberg M, Linder I, Carmi N, Kivity S, Lerman-Sagie T and Leshinsky-Silver E (2016) Utility of Whole Exome Sequencing for Genetic Diagnosis of Previously Undiagnosed Pediatric Neurology Patients. *J Child Neurol* 31(14): 1534-1539.
- Kutsuwada T, Sakimura K, Manabe T, Takayama C, Katakura N, Kushiya E, Natsume R, Watanabe M, Inoue Y, Yagi T, Aizawa S, Arakawa M, Takahashi T, Nakamura Y, Mori H and Mishina M (1996a) Impairment of suckling response, trigeminal neuronal pattern formation, and hippocampal LTD in NMDA receptor epsilon 2 subunit mutant mice. *Neuron* 16(2): 333-344.
- Kutsuwada T, Sakimura K, Manabe T, Takayama C, Katakura N, Kushiya E, Natsume R,
 Watanabe M, Inoue Y, Yagi T, Aizawa S, Arakawa M, Takahashi T, Nakamura Y, Mori H and Mishina M (1996b) Impairment of suckling response, trigeminal neuronal pattern formation, and hippocampal LTD in NMDA receptor î2 subunit mutant mice. *Neuron* 16: 333-344.
- Kwon HB and Sabatini BL (2011) Glutamate induces de novo growth of functional spines in developing cortex. *Nature* **474**(7349): 100-104.
- Larkum ME, Nevian T, Sandler M, Polsky A and Schiller J (2009) Synaptic integration in tuft dendrites of layer 5 pyramidal neurons: a new unifying principle. *Science* **325**(5941): 756-760.
- Larsen RS, Corlew RJ, Henson MA, Roberts AC, Mishina M, Watanabe M, Lipton SA, Nakanishi N, Perez-Otano I, Weinberg RJ and Philpot BD (2011) NR3A-containing NMDARs promote neurotransmitter release and spike timing-dependent plasticity. *Nat Neurosci* 14(3): 338-344.
- Larson J and Munkacsy E (2015) Theta-burst LTP. Brain Res 1621: 38-50.
- Laurie DJ and Seeburg PH (1994) Regional and developmental heterogeneity in splicing of the rat brain NMDAR1 mRNA. *J Neurosci* 14(5 Pt 2): 3180-3194.
- Lavzin M, Rapoport S, Polsky A, Garion L and Schiller J (2012) Nonlinear dendritic processing determines angular tuning of barrel cortex neurons in vivo. *Nature* **490**(7420): 397-401.
- Le Bail M, Martineau M, Sacchi S, Yatsenko N, Radzishevsky I, Conrod S, Ait Ouares K, Wolosker H, Pollegioni L, Billard JM and Mothet JP (2015) Identity of the NMDA receptor coagonist is synapse specific and developmentally regulated in the hippocampus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **112**(2): E204-213.
- Le Meur K, Galante M, Angulo MC and Audinat E (2007) Tonic activation of NMDA receptors by ambient glutamate of non-synaptic origin in the rat hippocampus. *J Physiol* **580**(Pt. 2): 373-383.

- Lee CH, Lu W, Michel JC, Goehring A, Du J, Song X and Gouaux E (2014) NMDA receptor structures reveal subunit arrangement and pore architecture. *Nature* **511**(7508): 191-197.
- Lee CJ, Mannaioni G, Yuan H, Woo DH, Gingrich MB and Traynelis SF (2007) Astrocytic control of synaptic NMDA receptors. *J Physiol* **581**(Pt 3): 1057-1081.
- Lee HK, Kameyama K, Huganir RL and Bear MF (1998) NMDA induces long-term synaptic depression and dephosphorylation of the GluR1 subunit of AMPA receptors in hippocampus. *Neuron* **21**(5): 1151-1162.
- Lee HK, Min SS, Gallagher M and Kirkwood A (2005) NMDA receptor-independent long-term depression correlates with successful aging in rats. *Nat Neurosci* **8**(12): 1657-1659.
- Lee HK, Takamiya K, Han JS, Man H, Kim CH, Rumbaugh G, Yu S, Ding L, He C, Petralia RS, Wenthold RJ, Gallagher M and Huganir RL (2003) Phosphorylation of the AMPA receptor GluR1 subunit is required for synaptic plasticity and retention of spatial memory. *Cell* 112(5): 631-643.
- Lemke JR, Lal D, Reinthaler EM, Steiner I, Nothnagel M, Alber M, Geider K, Laube B, Schwake M, Finsterwalder K, Franke A, Schilhabel M, Jahn JA, Muhle H, Boor R, Van Paesschen W, Caraballo R, Fejerman N, Weckhuysen S, De Jonghe P, Larsen J, Moller RS, Hjalgrim H, Addis L, Tang S, Hughes E, Pal DK, Veri K, Vaher U, Talvik T, Dimova P, Guerrero Lopez R, Serratosa JM, Linnankivi T, Lehesjoki AE, Ruf S, Wolff M, Buerki S, Wohlrab G, Kroell J, Datta AN, Fiedler B, Kurlemann G, Kluger G, Hahn A, Haberlandt DE, Kutzer C, Sperner J, Becker F, Weber YG, Feucht M, Steinbock H, Neophythou B, Ronen GM, Gruber-Sedlmayr U, Geldner J, Harvey RJ, Hoffmann P, Herms S, Altmuller J, Toliat MR, Thiele H, Nurnberg P, Wilhelm C, Stephani U, Helbig I, Lerche H, Zimprich F, Neubauer BA, Biskup S and von Spiczak S (2013) Mutations in GRIN2A cause idiopathic focal epilepsy with rolandic spikes. *Nat Genet* 45(9): 1067-1072.
- Leonard AS, Lim IA, Hemsworth DE, Horne MC and Hell JW (1999) Calcium/calmodulindependent protein kinase II is associated with the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **96**(6): 3239-3244.
- Lesca G, Rudolf G, Bruneau N, Lozovaya N, Labalme A, Boutry-Kryza N, Salmi M, Tsintsadze T, Addis L, Motte J, Wright S, Tsintsadze V, Michel A, Doummar D, Lascelles K, Strug L, Waters P, de Bellescize J, Vrielynck P, de Saint Martin A, Ville D, Ryvlin P, Arzimanoglou A, Hirsch E, Vincent A, Pal D, Burnashev N, Sanlaville D and Szepetowski P (2013) GRIN2A mutations in acquired epileptic aphasia and related childhood focal epilepsies and encephalopathies with speech and language dysfunction. *Nat Genet* 45(9): 1061-1066.
- Lester RA, Clements JD, Westbrook GL and Jahr CE (1990) Channel kinetics determine the time course of NMDA receptor-mediated synaptic currents. *Nature* **346**(6284): 565-567.
- Li D, Yuan H, Ortiz-Gonzalez XR, Marsh ED, Tian L, McCormick EM, Kosobucki GJ, Chen W, Schulien AJ, Chiavacci R, Tankovic A, Naase C, Brueckner F, von Stulpnagel-Steinbeis C, Hu C, Kusumoto H, Hedrich UB, Elsen G, Hortnagel K, Aizenman E, Lemke JR, Hakonarson H, Traynelis SF and Falk MJ (2016) GRIN2D Recurrent De Novo Dominant Mutation Causes a Severe Epileptic Encephalopathy Treatable with NMDA Receptor Channel Blockers. *Am J Hum Genet* **99**(4): 802-816.
- Li H, Rajani V, Han L, Chung D, Cooke JE, Sengar AS and Salter MW (2021) Alternative splicing of GluN1 gates glycine site-dependent nonionotropic signaling by NMDAR receptors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **118**(27).

- Li J, Zhang J, Tang W, Mizu RK, Kusumoto H, XiangWei W, Xu Y, Chen W, Amin JB, Hu C, Kannan V, Keller SR, Wilcox WR, Lemke JR, Myers SJ, Swanger SA, Wollmuth LP, Petrovski S, Traynelis SF and Yuan H (2019) De novo GRIN variants in NMDA receptor M2 channel pore-forming loop are associated with neurological diseases. *Hum Mutat* 40(12): 2393-2413.
- Li M, Zhang DQ, Wang XZ and Xu TJ (2011) NR2B-containing NMDA receptors promote neural progenitor cell proliferation through CaMKIV/CREB pathway. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **411**(4): 667-672.
- Li W and Pozzo-Miller L (2019) Differences in GluN2B-Containing NMDA Receptors Result in Distinct Long-Term Plasticity at Ipsilateral versus Contralateral Cortico-Striatal Synapses. *eNeuro* **6**(6).
- Li Y, Erzurumlu RS, Chen C, Jhaveri S and Tonegawa S (1994) Whisker-related neuronal patterns fail to develop in the trigeminal brainstem nuclei of NMDAR1 knockout mice. *Cell* **76**(3): 427-437.
- Lim L, Mi D, Llorca A and Marin O (2018) Development and Functional Diversification of Cortical Interneurons. *Neuron* **100**(2): 294-313.
- Lind GE, Mou TC, Tamborini L, Pomper MG, De Micheli C, Conti P, Pinto A and Hansen KB (2017) Structural basis of subunit selectivity for competitive NMDA receptor antagonists with preference for GluN2A over GluN2B subunits. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 114(33): E6942-E6951.
- Lipton SA (2004) Failures and successes of NMDA receptor antagonists: molecular basis for the use of open-channel blockers like memantine in the treatment of acute and chronic neurologic insults. *NeuroRx* 1(1): 101-110.
- Lipton SA and Nicotera P (1998) Calcium, free radicals and excitotoxins in neuronal apoptosis. *Cell Calcium* **23**(2-3): 165-171.
- Lipton SA and Rosenberg PA (1994) Excitatory amino acids as a final common pathway for neurologic disorders. *N Engl J Med* **330**(9): 613-622.
- Lisman J (1989) A mechanism for the Hebb and the anti-Hebb processes underlying learning and memory. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **86**(23): 9574-9578.
- Lisman J, Yasuda R and Raghavachari S (2012) Mechanisms of CaMKII action in long-term potentiation. *Nat Rev Neurosci* **13**(3): 169-182.
- Lisman JE, Coyle JT, Green RW, Javitt DC, Benes FM, Heckers S and Grace AA (2008) Circuit-based framework for understanding neurotransmitter and risk gene interactions in schizophrenia. *Trends Neurosci* **31**(5): 234-242.
- Liu J, Shelkar GP, Sarode LP, Gawande DY, Zhao F, Clausen RP, Ugale RR and Dravid SM (2021) Facilitation of GluN2C-containing NMDA receptors in the external globus pallidus increases firing of fast spiking neurons and improves motor function in a hemiparkinsonian mouse model. *Neurobiol Dis* **150**: 105254.
- Liu J, Shelkar GP, Zhao F, Clausen RP and Dravid SM (2019) Modulation of burst firing of neurons in nucleus reticularis of the thalamus by GluN2C-containing NMDA receptors. *Mol Pharmacol.*
- Lopez de Armentia M and Sah P (2003) Development and subunit composition of synaptic NMDA receptors in the amygdala: NR2B synapses in the adult central amygdala. *J Neurosci* **23**(17): 6876-6883.
- Losonczy A and Magee JC (2006) Integrative properties of radial oblique dendrites in hippocampal CA1 pyramidal neurons. *Neuron* **50**(2): 291-307.

- Lu W, Bushong EA, Shih TP, Ellisman MH and Nicoll RA (2013) The cell-autonomous role of excitatory synaptic transmission in the regulation of neuronal structure and function. *Neuron* **78**(3): 433-439.
- Lu W, Du J, Goehring A and Gouaux E (2017) Cryo-EM structures of the triheteromeric NMDA receptor and its allosteric modulation. *Science* **355**(6331).
- Lu W, Man H, Ju W, Trimble WS, MacDonald JF and Wang YT (2001) Activation of synaptic NMDA receptors induces membrane insertion of new AMPA receptors and LTP in cultured hippocampal neurons. *Neuron* **29**(1): 243-254.
- Luk KC, Kennedy TE and Sadikot AF (2003) Glutamate promotes proliferation of striatal neuronal progenitors by an NMDA receptor-mediated mechanism. *J Neurosci* **23**(6): 2239-2250.
- Luque JM, Bleuel Z, Malherbe P and Richards JG (1994) Alternatively spliced isoforms of the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor subunit 1 are differentially distributed within the rat spinal cord. *Neuroscience* **63**(3): 629-635.
- Luscher C and Malenka RC (2012) NMDA receptor-dependent long-term potentiation and long-term depression (LTP/LTD). *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol* **4**(6).
- Luthi A, Schwyzer L, Mateos JM, Gahwiler BH and McKinney RA (2001) NMDA receptor activation limits the number of synaptic connections during hippocampal development. *Nat Neurosci* 4(11): 1102-1107.
- Lynch G, Larson J, Kelso S, Barrionuevo G and Schottler F (1983) Intracellular injections of EGTA block induction of hippocampal long-term potentiation. *Nature* **305**(5936): 719-721.
- MacGillavry HD, Song Y, Raghavachari S and Blanpied TA (2013) Nanoscale scaffolding domains within the postsynaptic density concentrate synaptic AMPA receptors. *Neuron* **78**(4): 615-622.
- Madeira C, Lourenco MV, Vargas-Lopes C, Suemoto CK, Brandao CO, Reis T, Leite RE, Laks J, Jacob-Filho W, Pasqualucci CA, Grinberg LT, Ferreira ST and Panizzutti R (2015) d-serine levels in Alzheimer's disease: implications for novel biomarker development. *Transl Psychiatry* **5**: e561.
- Mahmoud H, Martin N and Hildebrand ME (2020) Conserved contributions of NMDA receptor subtypes to synaptic responses in lamina II spinal neurons across early postnatal development. *Mol Brain* **13**(1): 31.
- Major G, Polsky A, Denk W, Schiller J and Tank DW (2008) Spatiotemporally graded NMDA spike/plateau potentials in basal dendrites of neocortical pyramidal neurons. *J Neurophysiol* **99**(5): 2584-2601.
- Maletic-Savatic M, Malinow R and Svoboda K (1999) Rapid dendritic morphogenesis in CA1 hippocampal dendrites induced by synaptic activity. *Science* **283**(5409): 1923-1927.
- Malinow R, Schulman H and Tsien RW (1989) Inhibition of postsynaptic PKC or CaMKII blocks induction but not expression of LTP. *Science* **245**(4920): 862-866.
- Mameli M, Carta M, Partridge LD and Valenzuela CF (2005) Neurosteroid-induced plasticity of immature synapses via retrograde modulation of presynaptic NMDA receptors. *J Neurosci* **25**(9): 2285-2294.
- Mancini JD and Atchison WD (2007) The NR2B subunit in NMDA receptors is functionally important during cerebellar granule cell migration. *Neurosci Lett* **429**(2-3): 87-90.

- Manent JB, Jorquera I, Ben-Ari Y, Aniksztejn L and Represa A (2006) Glutamate acting on AMPA but not NMDA receptors modulates the migration of hippocampal interneurons. *J Neurosci* **26**(22): 5901-5909.
- Manita S, Miyazaki K and Ross WN (2011) Synaptically activated Ca2+ waves and NMDA spikes locally suppress voltage-dependent Ca2+ signalling in rat pyramidal cell dendrites. *J Physiol* **589**(Pt 20): 4903-4920.
- Mann EO and Mody I (2010) Control of hippocampal gamma oscillation frequency by tonic inhibition and excitation of interneurons. *Nat Neurosci* **13**(2): 205-212.
- Mannaioni G, Marino MJ, Valenti O, Traynelis SF and Conn PJ (2001) Metabotropic glutamate receptors 1 and 5 differentially regulate CA1 pyramidal cell function. *J Neurosci* **21**(16): 5925-5934.
- Marret S, Gressens P and Evrard P (1996) Arrest of neuronal migration by excitatory amino acids in hamster developing brain. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **93**(26): 15463-15468.
- Massey PV, Johnson BE, Moult PR, Auberson YP, Brown MW, Molnar E, Collingridge GL and Bashir ZI (2004) Differential roles of NR2A and NR2B-containing NMDA receptors in cortical long-term potentiation and long-term depression. *J Neurosci* **24**(36): 7821-7828.
- Matta JA, Pelkey KA, Craig MT, Chittajallu R, Jeffries BW and McBain CJ (2013) Developmental origin dictates interneuron AMPA and NMDA receptor subunit composition and plasticity. *Nat Neurosci* **16**(8): 1032-1041.
- McDaniel MJ, Ogden KK, Kell SA, Burger PB, Liotta DC and Traynelis SF (2020) NMDA receptor channel gating control by the pre-M1 helix. *J Gen Physiol* **152**(4).
- McGuinness L, Taylor C, Taylor RD, Yau C, Langenhan T, Hart ML, Christian H, Tynan PW, Donnelly P and Emptage NJ (2010) Presynaptic NMDARs in the hippocampus facilitate transmitter release at theta frequency. *Neuron* **68**(6): 1109-1127.
- McKay S, Ryan TJ, McQueen J, Indersmitten T, Marwick KFM, Hasel P, Kopanitsa MV, Baxter PS, Martel MA, Kind PC, Wyllie DJA, O'Dell TJ, Grant SGN, Hardingham GE and Komiyama NH (2018) The Developmental Shift of NMDA Receptor Composition Proceeds Independently of GluN2 Subunit-Specific GluN2 C-Terminal Sequences. *Cell reports* 25(4): 841-851 e844.
- McKinney RA (2010) Excitatory amino acid involvement in dendritic spine formation, maintenance and remodelling. *J Physiol* **588**(Pt 1): 107-116.
- Messersmith EK, Feller MB, Zhang H and Shatz CJ (1997) Migration of neocortical neurons in the absence of functional NMDA receptors. *Mol Cell Neurosci* 9(5-6): 347-357.
- Micu I, Jiang Q, Coderre E, Ridsdale A, Zhang L, Woulfe J, Yin X, Trapp BD, McRory JE, Rehak R, Zamponi GW, Wang W and Stys PK (2006) NMDA receptors mediate calcium accumulation in myelin during chemical ischaemia. *Nature* **439**(7079): 988-992.
- Mierau SB, Patrizi A, Hensch TK and Fagiolini M (2016) Cell-Specific Regulation of N-Methyl-D-Aspartate Receptor Maturation by Mecp2 in Cortical Circuits. *Biol Psychiatry* **79**(9): 746-754.
- Miller MN, Okaty BW, Kato S and Nelson SB (2011) Activity-dependent changes in the firing properties of neocortical fast-spiking interneurons in the absence of large changes in gene expression. *Dev Neurobiol* **71**(1): 62-70.
- Milojkovic BA, Radojicic MS, Goldman-Rakic PS and Antic SD (2004) Burst generation in rat pyramidal neurones by regenerative potentials elicited in a restricted part of the basilar dendritic tree. *J Physiol* **558**(Pt 1): 193-211.

- Miyamae T, Chen K, Lewis DA and Gonzalez-Burgos G (2017) Distinct Physiological Maturation of Parvalbumin-Positive Neuron Subtypes in Mouse Prefrontal Cortex. J Neurosci 37(19): 4883-4902.
- Miyata M and Imoto K (2006) Different composition of glutamate receptors in corticothalamic and lemniscal synaptic responses and their roles in the firing responses of ventrobasal thalamic neurons in juvenile mice. *J Physiol* **575**(Pt 1): 161-174.
- Mochizuki N, Takagi N, Kurokawa K, Kawai T, Besshoh S, Tanonaka K and Takeo S (2007) Effect of NMDA receptor antagonist on proliferation of neurospheres from embryonic brain. *Neurosci Lett* **417**(2): 143-148.
- Mohamad O, Song M, Wei L and Yu SP (2013) Regulatory roles of the NMDA receptor GluN3A subunit in locomotion, pain perception and cognitive functions in adult mice. J Physiol **591**(1): 149-168.
- Moldavski A, Behr J, Bading H and Bengtson CP (2020) A novel method using ambient glutamate for the electrophysiological quantification of extrasynaptic NMDA receptor function in acute brain slices. *J Physiol* **598**(4): 633-650.
- Momiyama A (2000) Distinct synaptic and extrasynaptic NMDA receptors identified in dorsal horn neurones of the adult rat spinal cord. *J Physiol* **523 Pt 3**: 621-628.
- Monyer H, Burnashev N, Laurie DJ, Sakmann B and Seeburg PH (1994) Developmental and regional expression in the rat brain and functional properties of four NMDA receptors. *Neuron* **12**(3): 529-540.
- Monyer H, Sprengel R, Schoepfer R, Herb A, Higuchi M, Lomeli H, Burnashev N, Sakmann B and Seeburg PH (1992) Heteromeric NMDA receptors: molecular and functional distinction of subtypes. *Science* **256**(5060): 1217-1221.
- Morishita W, Lu W, Smith GB, Nicoll RA, Bear MF and Malenka RC (2007) Activation of NR2B-containing NMDA receptors is not required for NMDA receptor-dependent long-term depression. *Neuropharmacology* **52**(1): 71-76.
- Moriyoshi K, Masu M, Ishii T, Shigemoto R, Mizuno N and Nakanishi S (1991) Molecular cloning and characterization of the rat NMDA receptor. *Nature* **354**(6348): 31-37.
- Morris PG, Mishina M and Jones S (2018) Altered Synaptic and Extrasynaptic NMDA Receptor Properties in Substantia Nigra Dopaminergic Neurons From Mice Lacking the GluN2D Subunit. *Frontiers in cellular neuroscience* **12**: 354.
- Mothet JP, Le Bail M and Billard JM (2015) Time and space profiling of NMDA receptor coagonist functions. *J Neurochem* **135**(2): 210-225.
- Mulkey RM, Endo S, Shenolikar S and Malenka RC (1994) Involvement of a calcineurin/inhibitor-1 phosphatase cascade in hippocampal long-term depression. *Nature* **369**(6480): 486-488.
- Musleh W, Bi X, Tocco G, Yaghoubi S and Baudry M (1997) Glycine-induced long-term potentiation is associated with structural and functional modifications of alpha-amino-3-hydroxyl-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid receptors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **94**(17): 9451-9456.
- Nabavi S, Fox R, Proulx CD, Lin JY, Tsien RY and Malinow R (2014) Engineering a memory with LTD and LTP. *Nature* **511**(7509): 348-352.
- Nabavi S, Kessels HW, Alfonso S, Aow J, Fox R and Malinow R (2013) Metabotropic NMDA receptor function is required for NMDA receptor-dependent long-term depression. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **110**(10): 4027-4032.

- Nacher J, Alonso-Llosa G, Rosell DR and McEwen BS (2003) NMDA receptor antagonist treatment increases the production of new neurons in the aged rat hippocampus. *Neurobiol Aging* **24**(2): 273-284.
- Nacher J, Rosell DR, Alonso-Llosa G and McEwen BS (2001) NMDA receptor antagonist treatment induces a long-lasting increase in the number of proliferating cells, PSA-NCAM-immunoreactive granule neurons and radial glia in the adult rat dentate gyrus. *Eur J Neurosci* **13**(3): 512-520.
- Naegele JR and Katz LC (1990) Cell surface molecules containing N-acetylgalactosamine are associated with basket cells and neurogliaform cells in cat visual cortex. *J Neurosci* **10**(2): 540-557.
- Nair D, Hosy E, Petersen JD, Constals A, Giannone G, Choquet D and Sibarita JB (2013) Superresolution imaging reveals that AMPA receptors inside synapses are dynamically organized in nanodomains regulated by PSD95. *J Neurosci* **33**(32): 13204-13224.
- Nakanishi N, Axel R and Shneider NA (1992) Alternative splicing generates functionally distinct N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **89**(18): 8552-8556.
- Nakazawa K, McHugh TJ, Wilson MA and Tonegawa S (2004) NMDA receptors, place cells and hippocampal spatial memory. *Nat Rev Neurosci* 5(5): 361-372.
- Nakazawa T, Komai S, Watabe AM, Kiyama Y, Fukaya M, Arima-Yoshida F, Horai R, Sudo K, Ebine K, Delawary M, Goto J, Umemori H, Tezuka T, Iwakura Y, Watanabe M, Yamamoto T and Manabe T (2006) NR2B tyrosine phosphorylation modulates fear learning as well as amygdaloid synaptic plasticity. *EMBO J* 25(12): 2867-2877.
- Nash JE and Brotchie JM (2000) A common signaling pathway for striatal NMDA and adenosine A2a receptors: implications for the treatment of Parkinson's disease. J Neurosci **20**(20): 7782-7789.
- Nicoll RA and Schmitz D (2005) Synaptic plasticity at hippocampal mossy fibre synapses. *Nat Rev Neurosci* **6**(11): 863-876.
- Nie H and Weng HR (2010) Impaired glial glutamate uptake induces extrasynaptic glutamate spillover in the spinal sensory synapses of neuropathic rats. *J Neurophysiol* **103**(5): 2570-2580.
- Niemann S, Kanki H, Fukui Y, Takao K, Fukaya M, Hynynen MN, Churchill MJ, Shefner JM, Bronson RT, Brown RH, Jr., Watanabe M, Miyakawa T, Itohara S and Hayashi Y (2007) Genetic ablation of NMDA receptor subunit NR3B in mouse reveals motoneuronal and nonmotoneuronal phenotypes. *Eur J Neurosci* **26**(6): 1407-1420.
- Nouhi M, Zhang X, Yao N and Chergui K (2018) CIQ, a positive allosteric modulator of GluN2C/D-containing N-methyl-d-aspartate receptors, rescues striatal synaptic plasticity deficit in a mouse model of Parkinson's disease. *CNS Neurosci Ther* **24**(2): 144-153.
- Nusser Z, Cull-Candy S and Farrant M (1997) Differences in synaptic GABA(A) receptor number underlie variation in GABA mini amplitude. *Neuron* **19**(3): 697-709.
- O'Hara BF, Andretic R, Heller HC, Carter DB and Kilduff TS (1995) GABAA, GABAC, and NMDA receptor subunit expression in the suprachiasmatic nucleus and other brain regions. *Brain Res Mol Brain Res* **28**(2): 239-250.
- Ogden KK, Chen W, Swanger SA, McDaniel MJ, Fan LZ, Hu C, Tankovic A, Kusumoto H, Kosobucki GJ, Schulien AJ, Su Z, Pecha J, Bhattacharya S, Petrovski S, Cohen AE, Aizenman E, Traynelis SF and Yuan H (2017) Molecular Mechanism of Disease-Associated Mutations in the Pre-M1 Helix of NMDA Receptors and Potential Rescue Pharmacology. *PLoS Genet* **13**(1): e1006536.

- Oh SJ, Han KS, Park H, Woo DH, Kim HY, Traynelis SF and Lee CJ (2012) Protease activated receptor 1-induced glutamate release in cultured astrocytes is mediated by Bestrophin-1 channel but not by vesicular exocytosis. *Mol Brain* **5**: 38.
- Ohno T, Maeda H, Murabe N, Kamiyama T, Yoshioka N, Mishina M and Sakurai M (2010) Specific involvement of postsynaptic GluN2B-containing NMDA receptors in the developmental elimination of corticospinal synapses. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **107**(34): 15252-15257.
- Oikonomou KD, Short SM, Rich MT and Antic SD (2012) Extrasynaptic glutamate receptor activation as cellular bases for dynamic range compression in pyramidal neurons. *Frontiers in physiology* **3**: 334.
- Okaty BW, Miller MN, Sugino K, Hempel CM and Nelson SB (2009) Transcriptional and electrophysiological maturation of neocortical fast-spiking GABAergic interneurons. *J Neurosci* **29**(21): 7040-7052.
- Okuyama N, Takagi N, Kawai T, Miyake-Takagi K and Takeo S (2004) Phosphorylation of extracellular-regulating kinase in NMDA receptor antagonist-induced newly generated neurons in the adult rat dentate gyrus. *J Neurochem* **88**(3): 717-725.
- Oliet SH, Malenka RC and Nicoll RA (1997) Two distinct forms of long-term depression coexist in CA1 hippocampal pyramidal cells. *Neuron* **18**(6): 969-982.
- Oswald AM and Reyes AD (2008) Maturation of intrinsic and synaptic properties of layer 2/3 pyramidal neurons in mouse auditory cortex. *J Neurophysiol* **99**(6): 2998-3008.
- Otmakhov N, Khibnik L, Otmakhova N, Carpenter S, Riahi S, Asrican B and Lisman J (2004) Forskolin-induced LTP in the CA1 hippocampal region is NMDA receptor dependent. J Neurophysiol 91(5): 1955-1962.
- Otmakhova NA, Otmakhov N, Mortenson LH and Lisman JE (2000) Inhibition of the cAMP pathway decreases early long-term potentiation at CA1 hippocampal synapses. *J Neurosci* **20**(12): 4446-4451.
- Otsu Y, Darcq E, Pietrajtis K, Matyas F, Schwartz E, Bessaih T, Abi Gerges S, Rousseau CV, Grand T, Dieudonne S, Paoletti P, Acsady L, Agulhon C, Kieffer BL and Diana MA (2019) Control of aversion by glycine-gated GluN1/GluN3A NMDA receptors in the adult medial habenula. *Science* **366**(6462): 250-254.
- Paas Y (1998) The macro- and microarchitectures of the ligand-binding domain of glutamate receptors. *Trends Neurosci* **21**(3): 117-125.
- Pafundo DE, Miyamae T, Lewis DA and Gonzalez-Burgos G (2018) Presynaptic Effects of N-Methyl-D-Aspartate Receptors Enhance Parvalbumin Cell-Mediated Inhibition of Pyramidal Cells in Mouse Prefrontal Cortex. *Biol Psychiatry* 84(6): 460-470.
- Palmer LM, Shai AS, Reeve JE, Anderson HL, Paulsen O and Larkum ME (2014) NMDA spikes enhance action potential generation during sensory input. *Nat Neurosci* 17(3): 383-390.
- Paoletti P, Bellone C and Zhou Q (2013) NMDA receptor subunit diversity: impact on receptor properties, synaptic plasticity and disease. *Nat Rev Neurosci* 14(6): 383-400.
- Paolicelli RC, Bolasco G, Pagani F, Maggi L, Scianni M, Panzanelli P, Giustetto M, Ferreira TA, Guiducci E, Dumas L, Ragozzino D and Gross CT (2011) Synaptic pruning by microglia is necessary for normal brain development. *Science* 333(6048): 1456-1458.
- Papouin T, Ladepeche L, Ruel J, Sacchi S, Labasque M, Hanini M, Groc L, Pollegioni L, Mothet JP and Oliet SH (2012) Synaptic and extrasynaptic NMDA receptors are gated by different endogenous coagonists. *Cell* 150(3): 633-646.

- Papouin T and Oliet SH (2014) Organization, control and function of extrasynaptic NMDA receptors. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci* **369**(1654): 20130601.
- Park H, Han KS, Seo J, Lee J, Dravid SM, Woo J, Chun H, Cho S, Bae JY, An H, Koh W, Yoon BE, Berlinguer-Palmini R, Mannaioni G, Traynelis SF, Bae YC, Choi SY and Lee CJ (2015) Channel-mediated astrocytic glutamate modulates hippocampal synaptic plasticity by activating postsynaptic NMDA receptors. *Mol Brain* 8: 7.
- Parsons MP and Raymond LA (2014) Extrasynaptic NMDA receptor involvement in central nervous system disorders. *Neuron* 82(2): 279-293.
- Paupard MC, Friedman LK and Zukin RS (1997) Developmental regulation and cell-specific expression of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor splice variants in rat hippocampus. *Neuroscience* **79**(2): 399-409.
- Pearlstein E, Gouty-Colomer LA, Michel FJ, Cloarec R and Hammond C (2015) Glutamatergic synaptic currents of nigral dopaminergic neurons follow a postnatal developmental sequence. *Front Cell Neurosci* **9**: 210.
- Pelkey KA, Chittajallu R, Craig MT, Tricoire L, Wester JC and McBain CJ (2017) Hippocampal GABAergic Inhibitory Interneurons. *Physiol Rev* **97**(4): 1619-1747.
- Perez-Otano I, Larsen RS and Wesseling JF (2016) Emerging roles of GluN3-containing NMDA receptors in the CNS. *Nat Rev Neurosci* 17(10): 623-635.
- Perez-Otano I, Schulteis CT, Contractor A, Lipton SA, Trimmer JS, Sucher NJ and Heinemann SF (2001) Assembly with the NR1 subunit is required for surface expression of NR3Acontaining NMDA receptors. *J Neurosci* 21(4): 1228-1237.
- Personius KE, Slusher BS and Udin SB (2016) Neuromuscular NMDA Receptors Modulate Developmental Synapse Elimination. *J Neurosci* **36**(34): 8783-8789.
- Perszyk RE, DiRaddo JO, Strong KL, Low CM, Ogden KK, Khatri A, Vargish GA, Pelkey KA, Tricoire L, Liotta DC, Smith Y, McBain CJ and Traynelis SF (2016) GluN2D-Containing N-methyl-d-Aspartate Receptors Mediate Synaptic Transmission in Hippocampal Interneurons and Regulate Interneuron Activity. *Mol Pharmacol* 90(6): 689-702.
- Perszyk RE, Myers SJ, Yuan H, Gibb AJ, Furukawa H, Sobolevsky AI and Traynelis SF (2020) Hodgkin-Huxley-Katz Prize Lecture: Genetic and pharmacological control of glutamate receptor channel through a highly conserved gating motif. *J Physiol* **598**(15): 3071-3083.
- Petralia RS (2012) Distribution of extrasynaptic NMDA receptors on neurons. *ScientificWorldJournal* **2012**: 267120.
- Petralia RS, Wang YX, Hua F, Yi Z, Zhou A, Ge L, Stephenson FA and Wenthold RJ (2010) Organization of NMDA receptors at extrasynaptic locations. *Neuroscience* **167**(1): 68-87.
- Petrovski S, Wang Q, Heinzen EL, Allen AS and Goldstein DB (2013) Genic intolerance to functional variation and the interpretation of personal genomes. *PLoS Genet* **9**(8): e1003709.
- Petrus DS, Fabel K, Kronenberg G, Winter C, Steiner B and Kempermann G (2009) NMDA and benzodiazepine receptors have synergistic and antagonistic effects on precursor cells in adult hippocampal neurogenesis. *Eur J Neurosci* **29**(2): 244-252.
- Philpot BD, Weisberg MP, Ramos MS, Sawtell NB, Tang YP, Tsien JZ and Bear MF (2001) Effect of transgenic overexpression of NR2B on NMDA receptor function and synaptic plasticity in visual cortex. *Neuropharmacology* 41(6): 762-770.
- Piatti VC, Davies-Sala MG, Esposito MS, Mongiat LA, Trinchero MF and Schinder AF (2011) The timing for neuronal maturation in the adult hippocampus is modulated by local network activity. *J Neurosci* **31**(21): 7715-7728.

- Pitler TA and Alger BE (1992) Postsynaptic spike firing reduces synaptic GABAA responses in hippocampal pyramidal cells. *J Neurosci* **12**(10): 4122-4132.
- Pla R, Stanco A, Howard MA, Rubin AN, Vogt D, Mortimer N, Cobos I, Potter GB, Lindtner S, Price JD, Nord AS, Visel A, Schreiner CE, Baraban SC, Rowitch DH and Rubenstein JLR (2018) Dlx1 and Dlx2 Promote Interneuron GABA Synthesis, Synaptogenesis, and Dendritogenesis. *Cereb Cortex* 28(11): 3797-3815.
- Platzer K and Lemke JR (1993) GRIN2B-Related Neurodevelopmental Disorder, in *GeneReviews((R))* (Adam MP, Ardinger HH, Pagon RA, Wallace SE, Bean LJH, Mirzaa G and Amemiya A eds), Seattle (WA).
- Platzer K, Yuan H, Schutz H, Winschel A, Chen W, Hu C, Kusumoto H, Heyne HO, Helbig KL, Tang S, Willing MC, Tinkle BT, Adams DJ, Depienne C, Keren B, Mignot C, Frengen E, Stromme P, Biskup S, Docker D, Strom TM, Mefford HC, Myers CT, Muir AM, LaCroix A, Sadleir L, Scheffer IE, Brilstra E, van Haelst MM, van der Smagt JJ, Bok LA, Moller RS, Jensen UB, Millichap JJ, Berg AT, Goldberg EM, De Bie I, Fox S, Major P, Jones JR, Zackai EH, Abou Jamra R, Rolfs A, Leventer RJ, Lawson JA, Roscioli T, Jansen FE, Ranza E, Korff CM, Lehesjoki AE, Courage C, Linnankivi T, Smith DR, Stanley C, Mintz M, McKnight D, Decker A, Tan WH, Tarnopolsky MA, Brady LI, Wolff M, Dondit L, Pedro HF, Parisotto SE, Jones KL, Patel AD, Franz DN, Vanzo R, Marco E, Ranells JD, Di Donato N, Dobyns WB, Laube B, Traynelis SF and Lemke JR (2017) GRIN2B encephalopathy: novel findings on phenotype, variant clustering, functional consequences and treatment aspects. *J Med Genet* 54(7): 460-470.
- Polsky A, Mel B and Schiller J (2009) Encoding and decoding bursts by NMDA spikes in basal dendrites of layer 5 pyramidal neurons. *J Neurosci* **29**(38): 11891-11903.
- Porter JT, Cauli B, Staiger JF, Lambolez B, Rossier J and Audinat E (1998) Properties of bipolar VIPergic interneurons and their excitation by pyramidal neurons in the rat neocortex. *Eur J Neurosci* 10(12): 3617-3628.
- Povysheva NV and Johnson JW (2012) Tonic NMDA receptor-mediated current in prefrontal cortical pyramidal cells and fast-spiking interneurons. *J Neurophysiol* **107**(8): 2232-2243.
- Preskorn SH, Baker B, Kolluri S, Menniti FS, Krams M and Landen JW (2008) An innovative design to establish proof of concept of the antidepressant effects of the NR2B subunit selective N-methyl-D-aspartate antagonist, CP-101,606, in patients with treatment-refractory major depressive disorder. *J Clin Psychopharmacol* **28**(6): 631-637.
- Price CJ, Cauli B, Kovacs ER, Kulik A, Lambolez B, Shigemoto R and Capogna M (2005) Neurogliaform neurons form a novel inhibitory network in the hippocampal CA1 area. J Neurosci **25**(29): 6775-6786.
- Prius-Mengual J, Perez-Rodriguez M, Andrade-Talavera Y and Rodriguez-Moreno A (2019) NMDA Receptors Containing GluN2B/2C/2D Subunits Mediate an Increase in Glutamate Release at Hippocampal CA3-CA1 Synapses. *Mol Neurobiol* 56(3): 1694-1706.
- Prybylowski K, Rumbaugh G, Wolfe BB and Vicini S (2000) Increased exon 5 expression alters extrasynaptic NMDA receptors in cerebellar neurons. *J Neurochem* **75**(3): 1140-1146.
- Que L, Lukacsovich D, Luo W and Foldy C (2021) Transcriptional and morphological profiling of parvalbumin interneuron subpopulations in the mouse hippocampus. *Nat Commun* **12**(1): 108.

- Rabacchi S, Bailly Y, Delhaye-Bouchaud N and Mariani J (1992) Involvement of the N-methyl D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor in synapse elimination during cerebellar development. *Science* 256(5065): 1823-1825.
- Raghunatha P, Vosoughi A, Kauppinen TM and Jackson MF (2020) Microglial NMDA receptors drive pro-inflammatory responses via PARP-1/TRMP2 signaling. *Glia* **68**(7): 1421-1434.
- Rajan I and Cline HT (1998) Glutamate receptor activity is required for normal development of tectal cell dendrites in vivo. *J Neurosci* **18**(19): 7836-7846.
- Rajan I, Witte S and Cline HT (1999) NMDA receptor activity stabilizes presynaptic retinotectal axons and postsynaptic optic tectal cell dendrites in vivo. *J Neurobiol* **38**(3): 357-368.
- Rajani V, Sengar AS and Salter MW (2020) Tripartite signalling by NMDA receptors. *Mol Brain* **13**(1): 23.
- Ramoa AS, Mower AF, Liao D and Jafri SI (2001) Suppression of cortical NMDA receptor function prevents development of orientation selectivity in the primary visual cortex. *J Neurosci* **21**(12): 4299-4309.
- Rao A and Craig AM (1997) Activity regulates the synaptic localization of the NMDA receptor in hippocampal neurons. *Neuron* **19**(4): 801-812.
- Rauner C and Kohr G (2011) Triheteromeric NR1/NR2A/NR2B receptors constitute the major N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor population in adult hippocampal synapses. *J Biol Chem* 286(9): 7558-7566.
- Ravikrishnan A, Gandhi PJ, Shelkar GP, Liu J, Pavuluri R and Dravid SM (2018) Regionspecific Expression of NMDA Receptor GluN2C Subunit in Parvalbumin-Positive Neurons and Astrocytes: Analysis of GluN2C Expression using a Novel Reporter Model. *Neuroscience* 380: 49-62.
- Regan MC, Grant T, McDaniel MJ, Karakas E, Zhang J, Traynelis SF, Grigorieff N and Furukawa H (2018) Structural Mechanism of Functional Modulation by Gene Splicing in NMDA Receptors. *Neuron* 98(3): 521-529 e523.
- Reiprich P, Kilb W and Luhmann HJ (2005) Neonatal NMDA receptor blockade disturbs neuronal migration in rat somatosensory cortex in vivo. *Cereb Cortex* **15**(3): 349-358.
- Riebe I, Seth H, Culley G, Dosa Z, Radi S, Strand K, Frojd V and Hanse E (2016) Tonically active NMDA receptors--a signalling mechanism critical for interneuronal excitability in the CA1 stratum radiatum. *Eur J Neurosci* **43**(2): 169-178.
- Ritter LM, Unis AS and Meador-Woodruff JH (2001) Ontogeny of ionotropic glutamate receptor expression in human fetal brain. *Brain Res Dev Brain Res* **127**(2): 123-133.
- Ritter LM, Vazquez DM and Meador-Woodruff JH (2002) Ontogeny of ionotropic glutamate receptor subunit expression in the rat hippocampus. *Brain Res Dev Brain Res* **139**(2): 227-236.
- Robert A, Black JA and Waxman SG (1998) Endogenous NMDA-receptor activation regulates glutamate release in cultured spinal neurons. *J Neurophysiol* **80**(1): 196-208.
- Rodenas-Ruano A, Chavez AE, Cossio MJ, Castillo PE and Zukin RS (2012) REST-dependent epigenetic remodeling promotes the developmental switch in synaptic NMDA receptors. *Nat Neurosci* **15**(10): 1382-1390.
- Rosato-Siri M, Grandolfo M and Ballerini L (2002) Activity-dependent modulation of GABAergic synapses in developing rat spinal networks in vitro. *Eur J Neurosci* **16**(11): 2123-2135.

- Rossi B, Ogden D, Llano I, Tan YP, Marty A and Collin T (2012) Current and calcium responses to local activation of axonal NMDA receptors in developing cerebellar molecular layer interneurons. *PLoS ONE* 7(6): e39983.
- Rostas JA, Brent VA, Voss K, Errington ML, Bliss TV and Gurd JW (1996) Enhanced tyrosine phosphorylation of the 2B subunit of the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor in long-term potentiation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **93**(19): 10452-10456.
- Rumbaugh G, Prybylowski K, Wang JF and Vicini S (2000) Exon 5 and spermine regulate deactivation of NMDA receptor subtypes. *J Neurophysiol* **83**(3): 1300-1306.
- Rumpel S, Hatt H and Gottmann K (1998) Silent synapses in the developing rat visual cortex: evidence for postsynaptic expression of synaptic plasticity. *J Neurosci* 18(21): 8863-8874.
- Ruthazer ES, Akerman CJ and Cline HT (2003) Control of axon branch dynamics by correlated activity in vivo. *Science* **301**(5629): 66-70.
- Sadikot AF, Burhan AM, Belanger MC and Sasseville R (1998) NMDA receptor antagonists influence early development of GABAergic interneurons in the mammalian striatum. *Brain Res Dev Brain Res* **105**(1): 35-42.
- Sah M, Shore A, Petri S, Kanber A, Yang M, Weston MC and Frankel WN (2020) Altered excitatory transmission onto hippocampal interneurons in the IQSEC2 mouse model of X-linked neurodevelopmental disease. *Neurobiology of Disease* https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbd.2020.104758.
- Sah P, Hestrin S and Nicoll RA (1989) Tonic activation of NMDA receptors by ambient glutamate enhances excitability of neurons. *Science* **246**(4931): 815-818.
- Sakimura K, Kutsuwada T, Ito I, Manabe T, Takayama C, Kushiya E, Yagi T, Aizawa S, Inoue T, Sugiyama H and Mishina M (1995a) Reduced hippocampal LTP and spatial learning in mice lacking NMDA receptor 2A subunit. *Nature* **373**: 151-155.
- Sakimura K, Kutsuwada T, Ito I, Manabe T, Takayama C, Kushiya E, Yagi T, Aizawa S, Inoue Y, Sugiyama H and et al. (1995b) Reduced hippocampal LTP and spatial learning in mice lacking NMDA receptor epsilon 1 subunit. *Nature* 373(6510): 151-155.
- Salimando GJ, Hyun M, Boyt KM and Winder DG (2020) BNST GluN2D-Containing NMDA Receptors Influence Anxiety- and Depressive-like Behaviors and ModulateCell-Specific Excitatory/Inhibitory Synaptic Balance. *J Neurosci* **40**(20): 3949-3968.
- Salmi M, Bolbos R, Bauer S, Minlebaev M, Burnashev N and Szepetowski P (2018) Transient microstructural brain anomalies and epileptiform discharges in mice defective for epilepsy and language-related NMDA receptor subunit gene Grin2a. *Epilepsia* **59**(10): 1919-1930.
- Salmi M, Del Gallo F, Minlebaev M, Zakharov A, Pauly V, Perron P, Pons-Bennaceur A, Corby-Pellegrino S, Aniksztejn L, Lenck-Santini PP, Epsztein J, Khazipov R, Burnashev N, Bertini G and Szepetowski P (2019) Impaired vocal communication, sleep-related discharges, and transient alteration of slow-wave sleep in developing mice lacking the GluN2A subunit of N-methyl-d-aspartate receptors. *Epilepsia* 60(7): 1424-1437.
- Salter MG and Fern R (2005) NMDA receptors are expressed in developing oligodendrocyte processes and mediate injury. *Nature* **438**(7071): 1167-1171.
- Sanderson JL, Gorski JA and Dell'Acqua ML (2016) NMDA Receptor-Dependent LTD Requires Transient Synaptic Incorporation of Ca(2)(+)-Permeable AMPARs Mediated by AKAP150-Anchored PKA and Calcineurin. *Neuron* **89**(5): 1000-1015.

- Sans N, Petralia RS, Wang YX, Blahos J, 2nd, Hell JW and Wenthold RJ (2000) A developmental change in NMDA receptor-associated proteins at hippocampal synapses. *J Neurosci* **20**(3): 1260-1271.
- Santos-Gomez A, Miguez-Cabello F, Garcia-Recio A, Locubiche-Serra S, Garcia-Diaz R, Soto-Insuga V, Guerrero-Lopez R, Julia-Palacios N, Ciruela F, Garcia-Cazorla A, Soto D, Olivella M and Altafaj X (2021) Disease-associated GRIN protein truncating variants trigger NMDA receptor loss-of-function. *Hum Mol Genet* 29(24): 3859-3871.
- Sattler R, Xiong Z, Lu WY, MacDonald JF and Tymianski M (2000) Distinct roles of synaptic and extrasynaptic NMDA receptors in excitotoxicity. *J Neurosci* **20**(1): 22-33.
- Sceniak MP, Berry CT and Sabo SL (2012) Facilitation of neocortical presynaptic terminal development by NMDA receptor activation. *Neural Dev* **7**: 8.
- Sceniak MP, Fedder KN, Wang Q, Droubi S, Babcock K, Patwardhan S, Wright-Zornes J, Pham L and Sabo SL (2019) An autism-associated mutation in GluN2B prevents NMDA receptor trafficking and interferes with dendrite growth. *J Cell Sci* **132**(20).
- Schiller J, Major G, Koester HJ and Schiller Y (2000) NMDA spikes in basal dendrites of cortical pyramidal neurons. *Nature* **404**(6775): 285-289.
- Schizophrenia Working Group of the Psychiatric Genomics C (2014) Biological insights from 108 schizophrenia-associated genetic loci. *Nature* **511**(7510): 421-427.
- Schmidt JT (2004) Activity-driven sharpening of the retinotectal projection: the search for retrograde synaptic signaling pathways. *J Neurobiol* **59**(1): 114-133.
- Schmitt A, Koschel J, Zink M, Bauer M, Sommer C, Frank J, Treutlein J, Schulze T, Schneider-Axmann T, Parlapani E, Rietschel M, Falkai P and Henn FA (2010) Gene expression of NMDA receptor subunits in the cerebellum of elderly patients with schizophrenia. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* 260(2): 101-111.
- Schneggenburger R (1996) Simultaneous measurement of Ca2+ influx and reversal potentials in recombinant N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor channels. *Biophys J* **70**(5): 2165-2174.
- Schwartzkroin PA and Wester K (1975) Long-lasting facilitation of a synaptic potential following tetanization in the in vitro hippocampal slice. *Brain Res* **89**(1): 107-119.
- Scimemi A, Fine A, Kullmann DM and Rusakov DA (2004) NR2B-containing receptors mediate cross talk among hippocampal synapses. *J Neurosci* 24(20): 4767-4777.
- Semple BD, Blomgren K, Gimlin K, Ferriero DM and Noble-Haeusslein LJ (2013) Brain development in rodents and humans: Identifying benchmarks of maturation and vulnerability to injury across species. *Prog Neurobiol* **106-107**: 1-16.
- Sepulveda FJ, Bustos FJ, Inostroza E, Zuniga FA, Neve RL, Montecino M and van Zundert B (2010) Differential roles of NMDA Receptor Subtypes NR2A and NR2B in dendritic branch development and requirement of RasGRF1. *J Neurophysiol* **103**(4): 1758-1770.
- Serulle Y, Zhang S, Ninan I, Puzzo D, McCarthy M, Khatri L, Arancio O and Ziff EB (2007) A GluR1-cGKII interaction regulates AMPA receptor trafficking. *Neuron* **56**(4): 670-688.
- Shelkar GP, Gandhi PJ, Liu J and Dravid SM (2022) Cocaine preference and neuroadaptations are maintained by astrocytic NMDA receptors in the nucleus accumbens. *Sci Adv* 8(29): eabo6574.
- Shelkar GP, Pavuluri R, Gandhi PJ, Ravikrishnan A, Gawande DY, Liu J, Stairs DJ, Ugale RR and Dravid SM (2019) Differential effect of NMDA receptor GluN2C and GluN2D subunit ablation on behavior and channel blocker-induced schizophrenia phenotypes. *Sci Rep* **9**(1): 7572.

- Sheng M, Cummings J, Roldan LA, Jan YN and Jan LY (1994) Changing subunit composition of heteromeric NMDA receptors during development of rat cortex. *Nature* **368**(6467): 144-147.
- Shibata T, Watanabe M, Ichikawa R, Inoue Y and Koyanagi T (1999) Different expressions of alpha-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazole propionic acid and N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor subunit mRNAs between visceromotor and somatomotor neurons of the rat lumbosacral spinal cord. *J Comp Neurol* **404**(2): 172-182.
- Shigetomi E, Bowser DN, Sofroniew MV and Khakh BS (2008) Two forms of astrocyte calcium excitability have distinct effects on NMDA receptor-mediated slow inward currents in pyramidal neurons. *J Neurosci* **28**(26): 6659-6663.
- Shin W, Kim K, Serraz B, Cho YS, Kim D, Kang M, Lee EJ, Lee H, Bae YC, Paoletti P and Kim E (2020) Early correction of synaptic long-term depression improves abnormal anxiety-like behavior in adult GluN2B-C456Y-mutant mice. *PLoS Biol* 18(4): e3000717.
- Shinohara Y (2012) Quantification of postsynaptic density proteins: glutamate receptor subunits and scaffolding proteins. *Hippocampus* **22**(5): 942-953.
- Shinohara Y, Hirase H, Watanabe M, Itakura M, Takahashi M and Shigemoto R (2008) Leftright asymmetry of the hippocampal synapses with differential subunit allocation of glutamate receptors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **105**(49): 19498-19503.
- Silver RA, Colquhoun D, Cull-Candy SG and Edmonds B (1996a) Deactivation and desensitization of non-NMDA receptors in patches and the time course of EPSCs in rat cerebellar granule cells. *J Physiol* **493** (**Pt 1**): 167-173.
- Silver RA, Cull-Candy SG and Takahashi T (1996b) Non-NMDA glutamate receptor occupancy and open probability at a rat cerebellar synapse with single and multiple release sites. *J Physiol* **494** (**Pt 1**): 231-250.
- Simon DK, Prusky GT, O'Leary DD and Constantine-Paton M (1992) N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor antagonists disrupt the formation of a mammalian neural map. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **89**(22): 10593-10597.
- Singh T, Poterba T, Curtis D, Akil H, Al Eissa M, Barchas JD, Bass N, Bigdeli TB, Breen G, Bromet EJ, Buckley PF, Bunney WE, Bybjerg-Grauholm J, Byerley WF, Chapman SB, Chen WJ, Churchhouse C, Craddock N, Cusick CM, DeLisi L, Dodge S, Escamilla MA, Eskelinen S, Fanous AH, Faraone SV, Fiorentino A, Francioli L, Gabriel SB, Gage D, Gagliano Taliun SA, Ganna A, Genovese G, Glahn DC, Grove J, Hall MH, Hamalainen E, Heyne HO, Holi M, Hougaard DM, Howrigan DP, Huang H, Hwu HG, Kahn RS, Kang HM, Karczewski KJ, Kirov G, Knowles JA, Lee FS, Lehrer DS, Lescai F, Malaspina D, Marder SR, McCarroll SA, McIntosh AM, Medeiros H, Milani L, Morley CP, Morris DW, Mortensen PB, Myers RM, Nordentoft M, O'Brien NL, Olivares AM, Ongur D, Ouwehand WH, Palmer DS, Paunio T, Quested D, Rapaport MH, Rees E, Rollins B, Satterstrom FK, Schatzberg A, Scolnick E, Scott LJ, Sharp SI, Sklar P, Smoller JW, Sobell JL, Solomonson M, Stahl EA, Stevens CR, Suvisaari J, Tiao G, Watson SJ, Watts NA, Blackwood DH, Borglum AD, Cohen BM, Corvin AP, Esko T, Freimer NB, Glatt SJ, Hultman CM, McQuillin A, Palotie A, Pato CN, Pato MT, Pulver AE, St Clair D, Tsuang MT, Vawter MP, Walters JT, Werge TM, Ophoff RA, Sullivan PF, Owen MJ, Boehnke M, O'Donovan MC, Neale BM and Daly MJ (2022) Rare coding variants in ten genes confer substantial risk for schizophrenia. Nature 604(7906): 509-516.

- Sitzia G, Mantas I, Zhang X, Svenningsson P and Chergui K (2020) NMDA receptors are altered in the substantia nigra pars reticulata and their blockade ameliorates motor deficits in experimental parkinsonism. *Neuropharmacology* **174**: 108136.
- Sjostedt E, Zhong W, Fagerberg L, Karlsson M, Mitsios N, Adori C, Oksvold P, Edfors F, Limiszewska A, Hikmet F, Huang J, Du Y, Lin L, Dong Z, Yang L, Liu X, Jiang H, Xu X, Wang J, Yang H, Bolund L, Mardinoglu A, Zhang C, von Feilitzen K, Lindskog C, Ponten F, Luo Y, Hokfelt T, Uhlen M and Mulder J (2020) An atlas of the protein-coding genes in the human, pig, and mouse brain. *Science* **367**(6482).
- Sjostrom PJ, Turrigiano GG and Nelson SB (2003) Neocortical LTD via coincident activation of presynaptic NMDA and cannabinoid receptors. *Neuron* **39**(4): 641-654.
- Smith SL, Smith IT, Branco T and Hausser M (2013) Dendritic spikes enhance stimulus selectivity in cortical neurons in vivo. *Nature* **503**(7474): 115-120.
- Spear LP (2000) The adolescent brain and age-related behavioral manifestations. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* 24(4): 417-463.
- Srivastava S, Love-Nichols JA, Dies KA, Ledbetter DH, Martin CL, Chung WK, Firth HV, Frazier T, Hansen RL, Prock L, Brunner H, Hoang N, Scherer SW, Sahin M, Miller DT and Group NDDESRW (2019) Meta-analysis and multidisciplinary consensus statement: exome sequencing is a first-tier clinical diagnostic test for individuals with neurodevelopmental disorders. *Genet Med* 21(11): 2413-2421.
- Standaert DG, Landwehrmeyer GB, Kerner JA, Penney JB, Jr. and Young AB (1996) Expression of NMDAR2D glutamate receptor subunit mRNA in neurochemically identified interneurons in the rat neostriatum, neocortex and hippocampus. *Brain Res Mol Brain Res* 42(1): 89-102.
- Standaert DG, Testa CM, Young AB and Penney JB, Jr. (1994) Organization of N-methyl-Daspartate glutamate receptor gene expression in the basal ganglia of the rat. *J Comp Neurol* **343**(1): 1-16.
- Stein IS, Gray JA and Zito K (2015) Non-Ionotropic NMDA Receptor Signaling Drives Activity-Induced Dendritic Spine Shrinkage. *J Neurosci* **35**(35): 12303-12308.
- Stein IS, Park DK, Flores JC, Jahncke JN and Zito K (2020) Molecular Mechanisms of Nonionotropic NMDA Receptor Signaling in Dendritic Spine Shrinkage. J Neurosci 40(19): 3741-3750.
- Strack S and Colbran RJ (1998) Autophosphorylation-dependent targeting of calcium/ calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II by the NR2B subunit of the N-methyl- Daspartate receptor. *J Biol Chem* **273**(33): 20689-20692.
- Strack S, McNeill RB and Colbran RJ (2000) Mechanism and regulation of calcium/calmodulindependent protein kinase II targeting to the NR2B subunit of the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor. J Biol Chem 275(31): 23798-23806.
- Strehlow V, Heyne HO, Vlaskamp DRM, Marwick KFM, Rudolf G, de Bellescize J, Biskup S, Brilstra EH, Brouwer OF, Callenbach PMC, Hentschel J, Hirsch E, Kind PC, Mignot C, Platzer K, Rump P, Skehel PA, Wyllie DJA, Hardingham GE, van Ravenswaaij-Arts CMA, Lesca G, Lemke JR and group GAs (2019) GRIN2A-related disorders: genotype and functional consequence predict phenotype. *Brain* 142(1): 80-92.
- Stroebel D, Carvalho S, Grand T, Zhu S and Paoletti P (2014) Controlling NMDA receptor subunit composition using ectopic retention signals. *J Neurosci* **34**(50): 16630-16636.
- Stuart GJ and Spruston N (2015) Dendritic integration: 60 years of progress. *Nat Neurosci* **18**(12): 1713-1721.

- Sun W, Hansen KB and Jahr CE (2017) Allosteric Interactions between NMDA Receptor Subunits Shape the Developmental Shift in Channel Properties. *Neuron* **94**(1): 58-64 e53.
- Sundstrom E, Whittemore S, Mo LL and Seiger A (1997) Analysis of NMDA receptors in the human spinal cord. *Exp Neurol* **148**(2): 407-413.
- Suryavanshi PS, Ugale RR, Yilmazer-Hanke D, Stairs DJ and Dravid SM (2014) GluN2C/GluN2D subunit-selective NMDA receptor potentiator CIQ reverses MK-801induced impairment in prepulse inhibition and working memory in Y-maze test in mice. *Br J Pharmacol* 171(3): 799-809.
- Suzuki M, Nelson AD, Eickstaedt JB, Wallace K, Wright LS and Svendsen CN (2006) Glutamate enhances proliferation and neurogenesis in human neural progenitor cell cultures derived from the fetal cortex. *Eur J Neurosci* **24**(3): 645-653.
- Swanger SA, Chen W, Wells G, Burger PB, Tankovic A, Bhattacharya S, Strong KL, Hu C, Kusumoto H, Zhang J, Adams DR, Millichap JJ, Petrovski S, Traynelis SF and Yuan H (2016) Mechanistic Insight into NMDA Receptor Dysregulation by Rare Variants in the GluN2A and GluN2B Agonist Binding Domains. *Am J Hum Genet* **99**(6): 1261-1280.
- Swanger SA, Vance KM, Acker TM, Zimmerman SS, DiRaddo JO, Myers SJ, Bundgaard C, Mosley CA, Summer SL, Menaldino DS, Jensen HS, Liotta DC and Traynelis SF (2018) A Novel Negative Allosteric Modulator Selective for GluN2C/2D-Containing NMDA Receptors Inhibits Synaptic Transmission in Hippocampal Interneurons. ACS Chem Neurosci 9(2): 306-319.
- Swanger SA, Vance KM, Pare JF, Sotty F, Fog K, Smith Y and Traynelis SF (2015) NMDA Receptors Containing the GluN2D Subunit Control Neuronal Function in the Subthalamic Nucleus. J Neurosci 35(48): 15971-15983.
- Szabadits E, Cserep C, Szonyi A, Fukazawa Y, Shigemoto R, Watanabe M, Itohara S, Freund TF and Nyiri G (2011) NMDA receptors in hippocampal GABAergic synapses and their role in nitric oxide signaling. *J Neurosci* **31**(16): 5893-5904.
- Takahashi T, Feldmeyer D, Suzuki N, Onodera K, Cull-Candy SG, Sakimura K and Mishina M (1996) Functional correlation of NMDA receptor epsilon subunits expression with the properties of single-channel and synaptic currents in the developing cerebellum. J Neurosci 16(14): 4376-4382.
- Takesian AE and Hensch TK (2013) Balancing plasticity/stability across brain development. *Prog Brain Res* **207**: 3-34.
- Tamas G, Lorincz A, Simon A and Szabadics J (2003) Identified sources and targets of slow inhibition in the neocortex. *Science* **299**(5614): 1902-1905.
- Tang AH, Chen H, Li TP, Metzbower SR, MacGillavry HD and Blanpied TA (2016) A transsynaptic nanocolumn aligns neurotransmitter release to receptors. *Nature* 536(7615): 210-214.
- Tang YP, Wang H, Feng R, Kyin M and Tsien JZ (2001) Differential effects of enrichment on learning and memory function in NR2B transgenic mice. *Neuropharmacology* 41(6): 779-790.
- Tarabeux J, Kebir O, Gauthier J, Hamdan FF, Xiong L, Piton A, Spiegelman D, Henrion E, Millet B, team SD, Fathalli F, Joober R, Rapoport JL, DeLisi LE, Fombonne E, Mottron L, Forget-Dubois N, Boivin M, Michaud JL, Drapeau P, Lafreniere RG, Rouleau GA and Krebs MO (2011) Rare mutations in N-methyl-D-aspartate glutamate receptors in autism spectrum disorders and schizophrenia. *Transl Psychiatry* 1: e55.

- Tarnok K, Czondor K, Jelitai M, Czirok A and Schlett K (2008) NMDA receptor NR2B subunit over-expression increases cerebellar granule cell migratory activity. *J Neurochem* 104(3): 818-829.
- Tolle TR, Berthele A, Zieglgansberger W, Seeburg PH and Wisden W (1993) The differential expression of 16 NMDA and non-NMDA receptor subunits in the rat spinal cord and in periaqueductal gray. *J Neurosci* **13**(12): 5009-5028.
- Tomita S, Stein V, Stocker TJ, Nicoll RA and Bredt DS (2005) Bidirectional synaptic plasticity regulated by phosphorylation of stargazin-like TARPs. *Neuron* **45**(2): 269-277.
- Tovar KR, McGinley MJ and Westbrook GL (2013) Triheteromeric NMDA receptors at hippocampal synapses. *J Neurosci* **33**(21): 9150-9160.
- Tovar KR and Westbrook GL (1999) The incorporation of NMDA receptors with a distinct subunit composition at nascent hippocampal synapses in vitro. *J Neurosci* **19**(10): 4180-4188.
- Tozzi A, de Iure A, Bagetta V, Tantucci M, Durante V, Quiroga-Varela A, Costa C, Di Filippo M, Ghiglieri V, Latagliata EC, Wegrzynowicz M, Decressac M, Giampa C, Dalley JW, Xia J, Gardoni F, Mellone M, El-Agnaf OM, Ardah MT, Puglisi-Allegra S, Bjorklund A, Spillantini MG, Picconi B and Calabresi P (2016) Alpha-Synuclein Produces Early Behavioral Alterations via Striatal Cholinergic Synaptic Dysfunction by Interacting With GluN2D N-Methyl-D-Aspartate Receptor Subunit. *Biol Psychiatry* 79(5): 402-414.
- Traynelis J, Silk M, Wang Q, Berkovic SF, Liu L, Ascher DB, Balding DJ and Petrovski S (2017) Optimizing genomic medicine in epilepsy through a gene-customized approach to missense variant interpretation. *Genome Res* **27**(10): 1715-1729.
- Traynelis SF, Hartley M and Heinemann SF (1995) Control of proton sensitivity of the NMDA receptor by RNA splicing and polyamines. *Science* **268**(5212): 873-876.
- Traynelis SF, Wollmuth LP, McBain CJ, Menniti FS, Vance KM, Ogden KK, Hansen KB, Yuan H, Myers SJ and Dingledine R (2010) Glutamate receptor ion channels: structure, regulation, and function. *Pharmacol Rev* **62**(3): 405-496.
- Tsuchida N, Hamada K, Shiina M, Kato M, Kobayashi Y, Tohyama J, Kimura K, Hoshino K, Ganesan V, Teik KW, Nakashima M, Mitsuhashi S, Mizuguchi T, Takata A, Miyake N, Saitsu H, Ogata K, Miyatake S and Matsumoto N (2018) GRIN2D variants in three cases of developmental and epileptic encephalopathy. *Clin Genet* **94**(6): 538-547.
- Turecek J, Jackman SL and Regehr WG (2016) Synaptic Specializations Support Frequency-Independent Purkinje Cell Output from the Cerebellar Cortex. *Cell reports* **17**(12): 3256-3268.
- Turner SJ, Mayes AK, Verhoeven A, Mandelstam SA, Morgan AT and Scheffer IE (2015) GRIN2A: an aptly named gene for speech dysfunction. *Neurology* **84**(6): 586-593.
- Ulbrich MH and Isacoff EY (2007) Subunit counting in membrane-bound proteins. *Nat Methods* **4**(4): 319-321.
- Ulbrich MH and Isacoff EY (2008) Rules of engagement for NMDA receptor subunits. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **105**(37): 14163-14168.
- Ultanir SK, Kim JE, Hall BJ, Deerinck T, Ellisman M and Ghosh A (2007) Regulation of spine morphology and spine density by NMDA receptor signaling in vivo. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA **104**(49): 19553-19558.
- Valtschanoff JG, Burette A, Wenthold RJ and Weinberg RJ (1999) Expression of NR2 receptor subunit in rat somatic sensory cortex: synaptic distribution and colocalization with NR1 and PSD-95. *J Comp Neurol* **410**(4): 599-611.

- Van Horn MR, Strasser A, Miraucourt LS, Pollegioni L and Ruthazer ES (2017) The Gliotransmitter d-Serine Promotes Synapse Maturation and Axonal Stabilization In Vivo. J Neurosci 37(26): 6277-6288.
- Vance KM, Hansen KB and Traynelis SF (2012) GluN1 splice variant control of GluN1/GluN2D NMDA receptors. *J Physiol* **590**(16): 3857-3875.
- Vance KM, Hansen KB and Traynelis SF (2013) Modal gating of GluN1/GluN2D NMDA receptors. *Neuropharmacology* **71**: 184-190.
- Vanhoutte P and Bading H (2003) Opposing roles of synaptic and extrasynaptic NMDA receptors in neuronal calcium signalling and BDNF gene regulation. *Curr Opin Neurobiol* **13**(3): 366-371.
- Vardalaki D, Chung K and Harnett MT (2022) Filopodia are a structural substrate for silent synapses in adult neocortex. *Nature* **612**(7939): 323-327.
- Vicini S, Wang JF, Li JH, Zhu WJ, Wang YH, Luo JH, Wolfe BB and Grayson DR (1998) Functional and pharmacological differences between recombinant N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors. J Neurophysiol 79(2): 555-566.
- Vida I, Halasy K, Szinyei C, Somogyi P and Buhl EH (1998) Unitary IPSPs evoked by interneurons at the stratum radiatum-stratum lacunosum-moleculare border in the CA1 area of the rat hippocampus in vitro. *J Physiol* **506** (**Pt 3**)(Pt 3): 755-773.
- Volianskis A, Bannister N, Collett VJ, Irvine MW, Monaghan DT, Fitzjohn SM, Jensen MS, Jane DE and Collingridge GL (2013) Different NMDA receptor subtypes mediate induction of long-term potentiation and two forms of short-term potentiation at CA1 synapses in rat hippocampus in vitro. J Physiol 591(4): 955-972.
- Volianskis A, France G, Jensen MS, Bortolotto ZA, Jane DE and Collingridge GL (2015) Longterm potentiation and the role of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors. *Brain Res* 1621: 5-16.
- von Engelhardt J, Bocklisch C, Tonges L, Herb A, Mishina M and Monyer H (2015) GluN2Dcontaining NMDA receptors-mediate synaptic currents in hippocampal interneurons and pyramidal cells in juvenile mice. *Front Cell Neurosci* **9**: 95.
- Vyklicky V, Krausova B, Cerny J, Ladislav M, Smejkalova T, Kysilov B, Korinek M, Danacikova S, Horak M, Chodounska H, Kudova E and Vyklicky L (2018) Surface Expression, Function, and Pharmacology of Disease-Associated Mutations in the Membrane Domain of the Human GluN2B Subunit. *Front Mol Neurosci* 11: 110.
- Wang CC, Held RG, Chang SC, Yang L, Delpire E, Ghosh A and Hall BJ (2011) A critical role for GluN2B-containing NMDA receptors in cortical development and function. *Neuron* 72(5): 789-805.
- Wang HX and Gao WJ (2009) Cell type-specific development of NMDA receptors in the interneurons of rat prefrontal cortex. *Neuropsychopharmacology* **34**(8): 2028-2040.
- Wang XJ (2002) Probabilistic decision making by slow reverberation in cortical circuits. *Neuron* **36**(5): 955-968.
- Wang YQ, Huang YH, Balakrishnan S, Liu LD, Wang YT, Nestler EJ, Schluter OM and Dong Y (2021) AMPA and NMDA Receptor Trafficking at Cocaine-Generated Synapses. J Neurosci.
- Washbourne P, Bennett JE and McAllister AK (2002) Rapid recruitment of NMDA receptor transport packets to nascent synapses. *Nat Neurosci* **5**(8): 751-759.
- Watanabe D, Inokawa H, Hashimoto K, Suzuki N, Kano M, Shigemoto R, Hirano T, Toyama K, Kaneko S, Yokoi M, Moriyoshi K, Suzuki M, Kobayashi K, Nagatsu T, Kreitman RJ, Pastan I and Nakanishi S (1998) Ablation of cerebellar Golgi cells disrupts synaptic

integration involving GABA inhibition and NMDA receptor activation in motor coordination. *Cell* **95**(1): 17-27.

- Watanabe M, Inoue Y, Sakimura K and Mishina M (1992) Developmental changes in distribution of NMDA receptor channel subunit mRNAs. *Neuroreport* **3**(12): 1138-1140.
- Watanabe M, Inoue Y, Sakimura K and Mishina M (1993) Distinct spatio-temporal distributions of the NMDA receptor channel subunit mRNAs in the brain. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* **707**: 463-466.
- Wei DS, Mei YA, Bagal A, Kao JP, Thompson SM and Tang CM (2001) Compartmentalized and binary behavior of terminal dendrites in hippocampal pyramidal neurons. *Science* 293(5538): 2272-2275.
- Wenzel A, Fritschy JM, Mohler H and Benke D (1997) NMDA receptor heterogeneity during postnatal development of the rat brain: differential expression of the NR2A, NR2B, and NR2C subunit proteins. *J Neurochem* **68**(2): 469-478.
- Wenzel A, Villa M, Mohler H and Benke D (1996) Developmental and regional expression of NMDA receptor subtypes containing the NR2D subunit in rat brain. *J Neurochem* **66**(3): 1240-1248.
- Wild AR, Bollands M, Morris PG and Jones S (2015) Mechanisms regulating spill-over of synaptic glutamate to extrasynaptic NMDA receptors in mouse substantia nigra dopaminergic neurons. *Eur J Neurosci* **42**(9): 2633-2643.
- Wild AR, Sinnen BL, Dittmer PJ, Kennedy MJ, Sather WA and Dell'Acqua ML (2019) Synapseto-Nucleus Communication through NFAT Is Mediated by L-type Ca(2+) Channel Ca(2+) Spike Propagation to the Soma. *Cell reports* **26**(13): 3537-3550 e3534.
- Williams K, Russell SL, Shen YM and Molinoff PB (1993) Developmental switch in the expression of NMDA receptors occurs in vivo and in vitro. *Neuron* **10**(2): 267-278.
- Wilson RI and Nicoll RA (2001) Endogenous cannabinoids mediate retrograde signalling at hippocampal synapses. *Nature* **410**(6828): 588-592.
- Wo ZG and Oswald RE (1995) Unraveling the modular design of glutamate-gated ion channels. *Trends Neurosci* **18**(4): 161-168.
- Wong FK, Bercsenyi K, Sreenivasan V, Portales A, Fernandez-Otero M and Marin O (2018) Pyramidal cell regulation of interneuron survival sculpts cortical networks. *Nature* 557(7707): 668-673.
- Wong JM and Gray JA (2018) Long-Term Depression Is Independent of GluN2 Subunit Composition. *J Neurosci* **38**(19): 4462-4470.
- Woodhall G, Evans DI, Cunningham MO and Jones RS (2001) NR2B-containing NMDA autoreceptors at synapses on entorhinal cortical neurons. *J Neurophysiol* **86**(4): 1644-1651.
- Wroge CM, Hogins J, Eisenman L and Mennerick S (2012) Synaptic NMDA receptors mediate hypoxic excitotoxic death. *J Neurosci* **32**(19): 6732-6742.
- Wu LJ, Zhao MG, Toyoda H, Ko SW and Zhuo M (2005) Kainate receptor-mediated synaptic transmission in the adult anterior cingulate cortex. *J Neurophysiol* **94**(3): 1805-1813.
- Wu YN and Johnson SW (2015) Memantine selectively blocks extrasynaptic NMDA receptors in rat substantia nigra dopamine neurons. *Brain Res* **1603**: 1-7.
- Wu YW, Grebenyuk S, McHugh TJ, Rusakov DA and Semyanov A (2012) Backpropagating action potentials enable detection of extrasynaptic glutamate by NMDA receptors. *Cell reports* 1(5): 495-505.

- Wyllie DJ, Behe P and Colquhoun D (1998) Single-channel activations and concentration jumps: comparison of recombinant NR1a/NR2A and NR1a/NR2D NMDA receptors. *J Physiol* 510 (Pt 1): 1-18.
- XiangWei W, Jiang Y and Yuan H (2018) De Novo Mutations and Rare Variants Occurring in NMDA Receptors. *Curr Opin Physiol* **2**: 27-35.
- XiangWei W, Kannan V, Xu Y, Kosobucki GJ, Schulien AJ, Kusumoto H, Moufawad El Achkar C, Bhattacharya S, Lesca G, Nguyen S, Helbig KL, Cuisset JM, Fenger CD, Marjanovic D, Schuler E, Wu Y, Bao X, Zhang Y, Dirkx N, Schoonjans AS, Syrbe S, Myers SJ, Poduri A, Aizenman E, Traynelis SF, Lemke JR, Yuan H and Jiang Y (2019a) Heterogeneous clinical and functional features of GRIN2D-related developmental and epileptic encephalopathy. *Brain*.
- XiangWei W, Kannan V, Xu Y, Kosobucki GJ, Schulien AJ, Kusumoto H, Moufawad El Achkar C, Bhattacharya S, Lesca G, Nguyen S, Helbig KL, Cuisset JM, Fenger CD, Marjanovic D, Schuler E, Wu Y, Bao X, Zhang Y, Dirkx N, Schoonjans AS, Syrbe S, Myers SJ, Poduri A, Aizenman E, Traynelis SF, Lemke JR, Yuan H and Jiang Y (2019b) Heterogeneous clinical and functional features of GRIN2D-related developmental and epileptic encephalopathy. *Brain* 142(10): 3009-3027.
- Xie JD, Chen SR, Chen H, Zeng WA and Pan HL (2016) Presynaptic N-Methyl-d-aspartate (NMDA) Receptor Activity Is Increased Through Protein Kinase C in Paclitaxel-induced Neuropathic Pain. *J Biol Chem* **291**(37): 19364-19373.
- Xu J, Kurup P, Zhang Y, Goebel-Goody SM, Wu PH, Hawasli AH, Baum ML, Bibb JA and Lombroso PJ (2009) Extrasynaptic NMDA receptors couple preferentially to excitotoxicity via calpain-mediated cleavage of STEP. *J Neurosci* **29**(29): 9330-9343.
- Yamamoto H, Kamegaya E, Hagino Y, Takamatsu Y, Sawada W, Matsuzawa M, Ide S, Yamamoto T, Mishina M and Ikeda K (2017) Loss of GluN2D subunit results in social recognition deficit, social stress, 5-HT2C receptor dysfunction, and anhedonia in mice. *Neuropharmacology* **112**(Pt A): 188-197.
- Yamasaki M, Okada R, Takasaki C, Toki S, Fukaya M, Natsume R, Sakimura K, Mishina M, Shirakawa T and Watanabe M (2014) Opposing role of NMDA receptor GluN2B and GluN2D in somatosensory development and maturation. *J Neurosci* **34**(35): 11534-11548.
- Yasuda M, Johnson-Venkatesh EM, Zhang H, Parent JM, Sutton MA and Umemori H (2011) Multiple forms of activity-dependent competition refine hippocampal circuits in vivo. *Neuron* **70**(6): 1128-1142.
- Yi F, Bhattacharya S, Thompson CM, Traynelis SF and Hansen KB (2019a) Functional and pharmacological properties of triheteromeric GluN1/2B/2D NMDA receptors. J Physiol 597(22): 5495-5514.
- Yi F, Bhattacharya S, Thompson CM, Traynelis SF and Hansen KB (2019b) Functional and pharmacological properties of triheteromeric GluN1/2B/2D NMDA receptors. *Journal of Physiology* In press.
- Yi F, Rouzbeh N, Hansen KB, Xu Y, Fanger CM, Gordon E, Paschetto K, Menniti FS and Volkmann RA (2020) PTC-174, a positive allosteric modulator of NMDA receptors containing GluN2C or GluN2D subunits. *Neuropharmacology* **173**: 107971.
- Yi F, Zachariassen LG, Dorsett KN and Hansen KB (2018) Properties of Triheteromeric N-Methyl-d-Aspartate Receptors Containing Two Distinct GluN1 Isoforms. *Mol Pharmacol* 93(5): 453-467.

- Yu Y, Lin Y, Takasaki Y, Wang C, Kimura H, Xing J, Ishizuka K, Toyama M, Kushima I, Mori D, Arioka Y, Uno Y, Shiino T, Nakamura Y, Okada T, Morikawa M, Ikeda M, Iwata N, Okahisa Y, Takaki M, Sakamoto S, Someya T, Egawa J, Usami M, Kodaira M, Yoshimi A, Oya-Ito T, Aleksic B, Ohno K and Ozaki N (2018) Rare loss of function mutations in N-methyl-D-aspartate glutamate receptors and their contributions to schizophrenia susceptibility. *Transl Psychiatry* 8(1): 12.
- Yuan H, Hansen KB, Vance KM, Ogden KK and Traynelis SF (2009) Control of NMDA receptor function by the NR2 subunit amino-terminal domain. J Neurosci 29(39): 12045-12058.
- Yuan H, Hansen KB, Zhang J, Pierson TM, Markello TC, Fajardo KV, Holloman CM, Golas G, Adams DR, Boerkoel CF, Gahl WA and Traynelis SF (2014) Functional analysis of a de novo GRIN2A missense mutation associated with early-onset epileptic encephalopathy. *Nat Commun* 5: 3251.
- Yuan H, Myers SJ, Wells G, Nicholson KL, Swanger SA, Lyuboslavsky P, Tahirovic YA, Menaldino DS, Ganesh T, Wilson LJ, Liotta DC, Snyder JP and Traynelis SF (2015) Context-dependent GluN2B-selective inhibitors of NMDA receptor function are neuroprotective with minimal side effects. *Neuron* 85(6): 1305-1318.
- Zhang J and Diamond JS (2009) Subunit- and pathway-specific localization of NMDA receptors and scaffolding proteins at ganglion cell synapses in rat retina. *J Neurosci* **29**(13): 4274-4286.
- Zhang LI, Tao HW and Poo M (2000) Visual input induces long-term potentiation of developing retinotectal synapses. *Nat Neurosci* **3**(7): 708-715.
- Zhang X, Feng ZJ and Chergui K (2014a) Allosteric modulation of GluN2C/GluN2D-containing NMDA receptors bidirectionally modulates dopamine release: implication for Parkinson's disease. Br J Pharmacol 171(16): 3938-3945.
- Zhang X, Feng ZJ and Chergui K (2014b) GluN2D-containing NMDA receptors inhibit neurotransmission in the mouse striatum through a cholinergic mechanism: implication for Parkinson's disease. *J Neurochem* **129**(4): 581-590.
- Zhang Y, Buonanno A, Vertes RP, Hoover WB and Lisman JE (2012) NR2C in the thalamic reticular nucleus; effects of the NR2C knockout. *PLoS ONE* **7**(7): e41908.
- Zhang ZW (2004) Maturation of layer V pyramidal neurons in the rat prefrontal cortex: intrinsic properties and synaptic function. *J Neurophysiol* **91**(3): 1171-1182.
- Zhang ZW, Peterson M and Liu H (2013) Essential role of postsynaptic NMDA receptors in developmental refinement of excitatory synapses. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **110**(3): 1095-1100.
- Zhong J, Carrozza DP, Williams K, Pritchett DB and Molinoff PB (1995) Expression of mRNAs encoding subunits of the NMDA receptor in developing rat brain. *J Neurochem* **64**(2): 531-539.
- Zhou X, Chen Z, Yun W, Ren J, Li C and Wang H (2015) Extrasynaptic NMDA Receptor in Excitotoxicity: Function Revisited. *Neuroscientist* **21**(4): 337-344.
- Zhou X, Ding Q, Chen Z, Yun H and Wang H (2013a) Involvement of the GluN2A and GluN2B subunits in synaptic and extrasynaptic N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor function and neuronal excitotoxicity. *J Biol Chem* **288**(33): 24151-24159.
- Zhou X, Hollern D, Liao J, Andrechek E and Wang H (2013b) NMDA receptor-mediated excitotoxicity depends on the coactivation of synaptic and extrasynaptic receptors. *Cell Death Dis* **4**: e560.

- Zhou Y, Takahashi E, Li W, Halt A, Wiltgen B, Ehninger D, Li GD, Hell JW, Kennedy MB and Silva AJ (2007) Interactions between the NR2B receptor and CaMKII modulate synaptic plasticity and spatial learning. *J Neurosci* 27(50): 13843-13853.
- Zhu Z, Yi F, Epplin MP, Liu D, Summer SL, Mizu R, Shaulsky G, XiangWei W, Tang W, Burger PB, Menaldino DS, Myers SJ, Liotta DC, Hansen KB, Yuan H and Traynelis SF (2020) Negative allosteric modulation of GluN1/GluN3 NMDA receptors. *Neuropharmacology* 176: 108117.
- Zucker RS and Regehr WG (2002) Short-term synaptic plasticity. *Annu Rev Physiol* **64**: 355-405.

CHAPTER 5: Conclusions, Discussion, and Future Directions

The overarching goals of the work presented in this thesis are two-fold: 1) to evaluate cellular and synaptic features of mouse models based on N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor (NMDAR) human patient-derived variants and 2) explore the actions of subunit-selective NMDAR modulation on circuit function for potential therapeutic gain. In Chapter 1, various roles of NMDARs were reviewed, and emphasized the omnipresent nature of these receptors within the central nervous system (CNS). In Chapters 2 and 3, mouse models of human patient-derived NMDAR variants are used to explore the pathophysiology and mechanistic underpinnings of disease at the cellular and circuit levels. Although much progress has been made in terms of variant classification (*i.e.*, in heterologous systems), the field of NMDAR variant biology is still in its infancy. Chapter 3 also highlights the importance of viewing animal model age as a potent experimental variable while providing novel supporting data for GluN2A's role in neurodevelopment and circuit maturation. In Chapter 4, a novel positive allosteric modulator is used to provide functional data on synaptic NMDAR subunit expression in groups of relatively understudied GABAergic interneurons.

5.1 Initial Behavioral Characterization of Gain-of-Function Mouse Models

Chapter 2 presents three different gain-of-function mouse models based on NMDAR human patient-derived variants in the least tolerant regions of the receptor. In humans, each of these variants present as devasting developmental and epileptic encephalopathy. We show that both the GluN2A-P552R and GluN2A-S664G mouse models have altered current thresholds for partial (6-Hz) seizure induction. Although both mouse models require higher current for 6-Hz seizure induction, which is the opposite of observations in the patients who undergo spontaneous seizures, these data suggest altered levels of circuit excitability. This trend is also seen in other mouse models of epilepsy, for example the *IQSEC2* mouse (Sah et al., 2020). Heterozygous

IQSEC2 null mice die from lethal spontaneous seizures (median survival age = P95) yet require higher current for 6-Hz induced electrical seizures (Sah et al., 2020). This paradoxical example highlights the crude nature of these electrical seizure induction experiments and suggests that any change from wildtype controls could be viewed as troubling. They also raise the possibility that altered NMDA receptor composition within the circuit required for generalization of the seizure (e.g. the lateral geniculate for corneal stimulation) may influence seizure threshold. Moreover, developmental and epileptic encephalopathy is a complex disease which can likely never be fully modeled in mice. Altered levels of circuit excitability are but one of many associated phenotypes, with comorbidities such as delayed developmental milestones and diminished levels of intellectual processing yet to be assayed in our mice.

Another factor that may contribute to our paradoxical results is animal age. Patients harboring the GluN2A-P552R and GluN2A-S644G variants began showing signs of developmental and epileptic encephalopathy often before the age of 3. However, much of our mouse model testing was completed in adult mice. Therefore, it is possible that if we could have conducted our 6-Hz seizure experiments in younger mice, we would observe our predicted trend of a lower current required for induction. Thus, the adult data could be due to maladaptive circuit compensation that over-corrected for early hyperexcitability. Although we don't have 6-Hz data for our GluN2D-V6671 mice, our electroencephalographic data shows severe spontaneous epileptiform activity. These data were, however, collected in young (<P35) mice. Future experiments should consider completing seizure assays in younger mice, as well as incorporating other behavioral tasks such as age at which pups reach developmental milestones (*i.e.*, the righting reflex) and the Morris water maze to probe for perturbations in development and intellectual ability, respectively. However, this is complicated by need to validate assays at these early ages as

well as complexity of gaining approval for some procedures in young animals. In all, however, our initial behavioral data suggest that all three models show signs of altered network excitability, making them viable candidates for evaluation.

5.2 Differences between heterologous and synaptic data

In addition to providing first-pass behavioral validation of the three gain-of-function mouse models presented in Chapter 2, a comparison of heterologous expression system data and synaptic data of the NMDAR-mediated waveform are presented. Each mouse model yields synaptic data that are similar to predictions using heterologous systems in that each show signs of gain-offunction via deactivation/decay measures, however, synaptic data appears to be less severe than changes in receptor response time course observed in heterologous expression systems. Functional data on NMDAR pharmacology and response time course from heterologous expression systems including *Xenopus* oocytes and transient expression in HEK cells in the Traynelis lab have become workhorse preparations for data generation. Both Xenopus oocytes and HEK cells are relatively inexpensive to maintain, show robust expression of recombinant NMDARs, and are relatively easy to record from making them excellent platforms for high-efficiency, first-pass screening for many ion channels, including NMDARs, in drug discovery and variant classification. These reductionist expression systems offer controls the subunit composition when investigating ion channel physiology, allowing for detailed mechanistic conclusions to be made. This functional information, along with high-resolution crystallographic and cryo-EM structures of various NMDAR assemblies have been instrumental in advancing our understanding of NMDAR biology.

Despite their numerous positive benefits, heterologous expression systems do not always accurately predict how small molecule drugs acting on synaptic NMDARs and human patientderived NMDAR variants will behave when evaluated in native mammalian synapses. Highly efficacious NMDAR positive allosteric modulators may only potentiate synaptic NMDARmediated EPSCs by less than 2-fold and predicted deleterious NMDAR variants with over 50-fold changes in glutamate potency show only modest aberrations when knocked into a mouse and recorded at native synapses. However, heterologous systems can provide baseline functional data describing effects of a variant, including peak amplitude, agonist potency, activation rise time, deactivation time, level of desensitization, overall charge transfer, level of magnesium block, sensitivity to endogenous modulators such as zinc, open-channel probability, and mean open channel time. Each of these variables are obtained to help estimate how a new small molecule drug or understudied variant may behave when moved into a more physiological-relevant model system such as a native synapse from acutely prepared mouse brain slices.

Most synaptic data is obtained at the neuron's soma where electrical stimulation of afferent excitatory fibers is used to trigger glutamate release and receptor activation in a fraction of synapses some distance from the where the signal is recorded. When data are obtained using this canonical paradigm, variables such as agonist potency, level of desensitization, zinc modulation, open channel probability, and mean open channel time all coalesce into a single macroscopic current. Open channel probability and mean channel open time can also be obtained from native receptors in fresh tissue; however, these are most easily attained from somatically expressed receptors, providing little information on synaptic receptors. This technique of using somatic receptors is not often used due to low difficulty of preparation and the experimenter recording from channels of unknown subunit composition.

Measurables from macroscopic synaptic currents include current response rise time, peak amplitude, weighted tau describing decay time, and overall charge transfer. Peak amplitude measurements from synaptic currents are complex to interpret as stimulation intensity and location of stimulation electrode directly influence the excitatory postsynaptic current (EPSC)'s amplitude, which is not correlated with agonist potency. Furthermore, electrotonic filtering reduces all current amplitudes to varying degrees, depending both on where synapse is located relative to the soma as well as the cell size (overall capacitance). Rise time is similarly confounded by filtering. EPSC amplitude can be used to measure efficacy of a small molecule compound, however, when peak amplitude with drug on board is normalized to peak amplitude of the EPSC before drug application. This assumes the modulator can access its binding site in the absence of glutamate; compounds that only bind (or show enhanced affinity) after glutamate binding may bind so slowly that they only appreciably occupy their binding site after the peak EPSC has passed. Charge transfer is a combination of both peak amplitude and deactivation/decay time as it's simply the integral of the area under the current response/EPSC. Rise time can be measured and compared between heterologous expression systems and native synapses, however, very few small molecule compounds impact rise time. Moreover, variants impacting rise time are also relatively rare, with the only examples so far being variant that reside in the pre-M1 helix, a region that is intolerant to genetic variation (Ogden et al., 2017). Thus, deactivation time from heterologous systems and a weighted average of the multiple time constants describing most deactivation time courses are the most often compared measures.

Although deactivation/decay time is one of the best ways to compare heterologous and synaptic data of the same variant, the complexity of the mammalian CNS generally keeps these two data points from being identical. First, at native synapses, there are multiple different subunit combinations possible at any given age. In juvenile (P14-20) mouse excitatory synapses onto CA1 pyramidal cells, one can reasonably expect both GluN2A and GluN2B subunits to be expressed. In a wildtype mouse, this leads to three possible subunit combinations: diheteromeric GluN2A

NMDARs, diheteromeric GluN2B NMDARs, and triheteromeric GluN2A/GluN2B NMDARs. Although previous data obtained at this synapse suggests that triheteromeric GluN2A/GluN2B NMDARs are the majority, the possibility of diheteromeric complexes still exists. With gain-offunction GluN2A variants like GluN2A-P552R and GluN2A-S644G, six possible combinations are possible: the three mentioned above plus triheteromeric GluN2A/GluN2A-variant, diheteromeric GluN2A-variant, and triheteromeric GluN2A-variant/GluN2B. This possibility alone is sufficient to generate non-overlapping data with heterologously expressed NMDARs, even with the capability to express the triheteromeric GluN2A-variant/GluN2B construct. This same concept becomes even more complex when evaluating the GluN2D-V667I variant, as GluN2D-containing NMDARs in interneurons are hypothesized to form triheteromeric combinations of both GluN2A/GluN2D and GluN2B/GluN2D. Moreover, all current heterologous data have only been obtained with the GluN1-1a splice variant. As discussed previously, the GluN1-1b splice variant (GluN1-exon5) alters NMDAR kinetic properties, and exon5-lacking GluN1 subunits are expressed at CA1 pyramidal cell synapses and in synapses onto stratum radiatum interneurons (Li et al., 2021).

Synapse receptor identity, at least in terms of ionotropic glutamate receptor (iGluR) subunits, is highly heterogeneous, even within the same group of synapses onto a single neuron. iGluRs, like all proteins, are fluid with constant turnover. The activity-dependence of NMDAR subunit composition within a synapse has been extensively studied (Rao and Craig, 1997) and is thought to be one of the major driving forces responsible for the GluN2B-to-GluN2A switch that happens during early neurodevelopment (Shipton and Paulsen, 2014). Given GluN2A's ubiquitous expression in both pyramidal cells and interneurons, GluN2A variants can impact both excitatory and inhibitory cells in a given circuit. Thus, it is entirely plausible that the activity-dependent

timing of the GluN2B-to-GluN2A switch in pyramidal cells may be altered. This possibility also applies to the gain-of-function GluN2D-V667I variant as perturbations to the interneuron network are likely to change the basal activity of a given circuit and interneurons also display a similar GluN2B-to-GluN2A switch (Matta et al., 2013). Moreover, current synaptic data have only been obtained using a single afferent excitatory input, the Schaffer collaterals. NMDAR subunit composition can be input-specific (Arrigoni and Greene, 2004; Chittajallu et al., 2017) as well as spatially specific (*i.e.*, Schaffer collateral inputs on the proximal apical dendrite have different NMDAR subunit composition than Schaffer collateral inputs on the distal apical dendrite) (Major et al., 2008; Siegel et al., 1994). Variant containing NMDAR complexes may also be expressed at extrasynaptic sites that would not be activated given the single afferent stimulation paradigm used. Thus, current sampling of synaptic decay times represents only a fraction of possible synapses and locations of expression, with each likely having slightly different NMDAR subunit compositions.

Other factors which may account for differences in heterologous versus synaptic decay times include protein binding to NMDARs, post-translational modifications, temperature at which recordings were made, and co-agonist used in acute slices. NMDARs bind to and can be regulated by postsynaptic auxiliary proteins, such as neuropilin and tolloid-like (Neto) proteins (Wyeth et al., 2014) and by transsynaptic proteins, such as the leukocyte common antigen-related protein (LAR)-type receptor phosphotyrosine-phosphatases (LAR-RPTPs) (Kim et al., 2020; Sclip and Sudhof, 2020). Although supporting evidence that Neto and LAR-RPTP proteins can directly impact receptor kinetics is limited, they have been shown to influence the synaptic GluN2A:GluN2B ratio (Wyeth et al., 2014) and NMDAR receptor trafficking to the postsynaptic density (Sclip and Sudhof, 2020), respectively. NMDARs are also subjected to many posttranslational modifications, including phosphorylation, glycosylation, S-nitrosylation,
ubiquitylation, and palmitoylation (Hansen et al., 2021). The functional consequences of these post-translational modifications are vast, impacting both subunit expression and function (Chen and Roche, 2007; Lussier et al., 2015). Temperature of solutions during recording has a direct influence on ion flux as described in the Goldman-Hodgkin-Katz equation and thus will impact receptor deactivation/decay time. Nearly all heterologous data are performed at ambient temperature (~22°C) whereas all synaptic data presented in this thesis were performed at 32°C. This discrepancy alone could explain why synaptically obtained decay times in our variant mouse models are faster than their corresponding deactivation time measured in HEK cells. The confounds of both glycine and D-serine being present at native synapses, combined with the possible human selection bias to choose 'healthy' cells which may inadvertently miss cells without many mutant subunits can also produce nonidentical heterologous and synaptic data. The concept of electrotonic filtering (lessen of current amplitude defined by the length constant as ions flow from dendrites to the soma) is also important to consider (Johnston and Brown, 1983).

Regardless of the limitations and caveats mentioned above, synaptic data clearly show that all three gain-of-function mouse models have a prolongation of the NMDAR-mediated decay time. This not only means an increase in cellular excitability, but also correlates to an overall increased intracellular calcium influx. Calcium is a powerful second messenger that has the ability to initiate entire genetic programs influencing neurodevelopment and synaptic plasticity. Changes in both GluN2A- and GluN2D-mediated signaling could also perturb presynaptic excitability, as both subunits have been reported presynaptically (Bouvier et al., 2015). Outside of actions on neurons, the GluN2A subunit has been reported in astrocytes. More specifically, astrocytic NMDARs are likely a triheteromeric complex of GluN2A/GluN2C subunits (Shelkar et al., 2022). GluN2A variants may alter astrocyte calcium spikes and modulate the ability of astrocytes to remove glutamate from the synapse. GluN2D-mediated variants generate an increased excitability of inhibitory cells that then can progress into a hyperexcitable network. One possible explanation for this paradoxical finding is that excess GluN2D-mediated neurotransmission and increased calcium influx from our gain-of-function variant could produce excitotoxicity, resulting in an overall decreased interneuron cell density. Alternatively, increased excitatory neurotransmission in interneurons will push them closer to membrane potentials at which depolarization-induced block of action potential firing would occur. Here, the increased excitatory nature of the variant will serve to decrease the inhibitory output of affected interneurons. Recording spontaneous inhibitory postsynaptic currents (IPSCs) and miniature IPSCs in acutely prepared hippocampal slices, interneurons are likely not close to depolarization-induced block levels, explaining why an increased spontaneous IPSC frequency is still observed.

5.3 GRIN2A null variants, seizure susceptibility, and parvalbumin-positive interneurons

Careful evaluation of *GRIN2A* variants via longitudinal data from our clinical collaborators yielded a surprising finding: some *GRIN2A* null variant-harboring human patients display a transient seizure burden. That is, some *GRIN2A* null patients develop seizures as expected, but then later in life the seizures resolve. Whether this trend is not seen with *GRIN2A* missense variant-harboring human patients is currently unknown. Given this intriguing finding, we utilized *Grin2a*-knockout (*Grin2a*^{-/-}) mouse model to investigate potential molecular mechanisms generating this transient seizure susceptibility. Through electrophysiology and immunohistochemical staining, we show that the loss of *Grin2a* signaling causes a transient delay in the electrophysiological maturation of CA1 parvalbumin-positive (PV) interneurons. Moreover, we show that this delay is gene- and age-dependent. Both *Grin2a*^{+/-} and *Grin2a*^{-/-} mice show aberrant CA1 PV cell electrophysiological function at P7, however, PV cells from *Grin2a*^{+/-} reach wildtype functionality

at P14 whereas PV cells from $Grin2a^{-/-}$ mice don't attain wildtype levels until adulthood. Given that PV cells provide essential inhibitory tone within a circuit, their dysfunction could generate epileptiform activity. While further testing is required to confirm this hypothesis, the transient nature of PV cell dysfunction suggests a possible molecular mechanism for the transient seizure burden observed in *GRIN2A* null variant-containing patients.

Caution is warranted when interpreting these clinical data, as our results represent a fraction of the total GRIN2A missense and GRIN2A null variant-harboring human patients. When viewing the totality of GRIN2A missense and GRIN2A null data, the share of missense to null variant-harboring patients is 2:1 (Benke et al., 2021; Hansen et al., 2021). In our dataset, however, the total number of null variant patients outweighs missense variant patients, with a ratio of nearly 2:1. The reasons for this aren't clear and may represent random chance. Alternatively, perhaps there is an undetermined reason why *GRIN2A* null harboring patients are more likely to be ascertained and sequenced by clinical epileptologists than GRIN2A missense variant-harboring patients. This seems unlikely, however, as recent data suggests that missense harboring patients report more severe clinical symptoms compared to GRIN2A null variant-harboring patients (Strehlow et al., 2019). More importantly, however, is that although some GRIN2A null variantharboring patients may benefit from a transient seizure burden, nearly all suffer from other clinical symptoms such as developmental delay, intellectual disability, and aphasia that appear to be present throughout life (De Bernardi et al., 2022; Krey et al., 2022; Li et al., 2020; Strehlow et al., 2019; Strehlow et al., 2022).

In addition to contributions on that understanding of human *GRIN2A* variants, data presented in Chapter 3 suggest multiple potential roles for the GluN2A subunit of NMDARs in the regulation of development and maturation of γ -Aminobutyric acid (GABA) expressing interneurons in the mouse hippocampus. While it has been reported that $Grin2a^{-/-}$ mice have changes in glutamatergic cells, this study provides crucial evidence that the loss of GluN2A also impacts PV interneurons (Kannangara et al., 2014). Using $Grin2a^{-/-}$ mice, we have demonstrated that NMDAR-mediated signaling can impact hippocampal interneuron cell density, providing supportive evidence for the potential influence of early electrical or metabotropic NMDAR-mediated signaling in interneuron survival and/or apoptosis. GABAergic interneurons mostly arise from one of two major stem cell populations – the medial ganglionic eminence (MGE) and caudal ganglionic eminence (CGE). All PV cells arise from MGE progenitors and all cholecystokinin-expressing (CCK) cells arise from CGE progenitors (Pelkey et al., 2017). As reported, the loss of *Grin2a* only impacts CA1 PV cell density, suggesting that MGE-derived interneurons may by preferentially impacted by the loss of GluN2A.

Cortical and hippocampal MGE interneuron fate is largely controlled by the early embryonic transcription factor *Nkx2.1*, which is responsible for initiating a series of determinate genetic programs (Butt et al., 2008; Sussel et al., 1999; Tricoire et al., 2010). Given that we reported no changes in cortical PV cell density (not shown), it is unlikely, although not impossible, that the loss of *Grin2a* is affecting *Nkx2.1*-derived intrinsic genetic programs and increasing the number of MGE-derived interneurons generated. However, the most parsimonious interpretation of our data is that the loss of GluN2A may be impacting interneuron survival or apoptosis, critical factors in determining overall cell density. After interneuron infiltration, nearly half of these cells will undergo apoptosis, fine-tuning the balance of pyramidal cells to interneurons (Southwell et al., 2012). The exact mechanisms of interneuron apoptosis are not fully understood but are likely controlled by a combination of internal genetic cues, external neurotropic factors, and early interneuron electrical activity (Denaxa et al., 2018; Priya et al., 2018; Southwell et al., 2012).

Recent data suggests that interneuron apoptosis, especially in CCK and PV cells, is mostly controlled by electrical activity and most importantly via calcium influx (Denaxa et al., 2018; Priya et al., 2018). However, the extent to which local electrical signaling, especially from NMDARs, within PV interneurons controls pro-apoptotic pathways has not been determined.

Why is PV cell density, but not CCK cell density, impacted by the loss of Grin2a? NMDARs are found on both PV and CCK cells, however, recent reports have suggested that CCK cells express less GluN2A than their PV cell counterparts (Booker et al., 2021; Matta et al., 2013; Perszyk et al., 2016). Additionally, CCK cell density has been reported to be influenced by 5-HT_{3A} and AMPA receptor-mediated activity (Akgul et al., 2019; Murthy et al., 2014). Despite having a higher overall synaptic NMDA: AMPA ratio, perhaps CCK cells rely on electrical cues from non-NMDARs to control apoptotic pathways (Bortone and Polleux, 2009; Matta et al., 2013). Alternatively, since CCK cells have limited GluN2A expression, the loss of this subunit could have minimal impact on NMDAR-mediated apoptosis in this interneuron subtype. Future experiments should focus on elucidating the impact of early NMDAR signaling regarding initiating interneuron apoptosis in both MGE- and CGE-derived interneurons. Moreover, data showing no detectable change in PV cell density in $Grin2a^{+/-}$ mice suggests that a total loss of GluN2A-mediated signaling is needed to impact PV cell apoptosis. Given that nearly all GRIN2A null harboring human patients have heterozygous null variants, the interpretation of these data in the context of a molecular mechanism of human disease is limited.

We also show that NMDAR-mediated signaling may be sufficient, but not necessary, to initiate a series of genetic programs which controls cellular excitability and electrophysiological maturation of hippocampal PV cells. PV cells are known for their fast-spiking action potential characteristics, which can generate gamma oscillations that are involved in higher-order cognitive

function (Crone et al., 2006; Sohal et al., 2009). By examining both passive intrinsic properties and action potential firing characteristics, we can estimate how these cells may perform under synaptic load and how efficiently they can transduce somatic depolarizations into signal-carrying action potentials. Recordings from CA1 PV cells in juvenile (P14) $Grin2a^{+/-}$ and $Grin2a^{-/-}$ mice are associated with a host of electrophysiological changes, including an increased input resistance, a prolonged membrane time constant, longer action potential half-widths, and lower peak actionpotential firing frequencies. Each of these electrophysiological measures are known to be agedependent, with PV cells in neonatal mice displaying a higher input resistance, longer membrane time constant, and longer action potential half-widths than PV cells from preadolescent mice (Doischer et al., 2008; Goldberg et al., 2011; Miyamae et al., 2017; Okaty et al., 2009). To confirm these data are age-dependent in CA1 PV cells, we performed passive and action-potential firing properties on neonatal PV cells using the *Tac1*-Cre mouse driver line. The *Tac1* gene has recently been shown to be expressed in immature CA1 PV cells, with no expression in related MGE-derived somatostatin cells (Que et al., 2021). Indeed, we show a clear age-dependence in input resistance, membrane time constant, action-potential half-width, and action-potential firing frequency in Tac1-expressing cells.

The interpretation of these data in the context of human disease is complex. On one hand, an increased input resistance and time membrane constant, combined with an increased NMDAR-mediated EPSC decay time, in CA1 PV cells from $Grin2a^{+/-}$ and $Grin2a^{-/-}$ mice will make these PV cells *more* excitable. These same cells, however, also have a lower threshold for depolarization-induced block of action potential firing and lower peak action potential firing frequencies which makes them *less* excitable. When viewed together, an increased input resistance and a prolonged NMDAR-mediated decay time means that CA1 PV cells in *Grin2a^{+/-}* and *Grin2a^{+*}

^{/-} mice will reach their lower threshold for depolarization-induced block of action potential firing with less excitatory activity than age-matched wildtype mice. Thus, CA1 PV cells are fast to fire, yet fast to retire. Moreover, when they do fire, the overall firing frequency is lower than wildtype mice with the net result being decreased inhibitory tone from a major class of GABAergic interneurons. These latter electrophysiological characteristics could lead to failure of circuit level inhibition as interneuron depolarization increases, consistent with a hyperexcitable phenotype.

The exact mechanism for this transcriptional shift from immature to mature PV electrophysiological properties is not fully understood but has been shown to be activity-dependent (Dehorter et al., 2015; Miller et al., 2011). Thus, the loss of Grin2a in developing PV interneurons appears to slow cellular maturation, potentially stemming from a loss of GluN2A signaling on PV cell dendrites. Alternatively, this delay in electrophysiological maturation could be driven by overall changes in circuit excitability, likely driven by pyramidal cell activity. Although data showing a dependence of pyramidal cell activity on the electrophysiological profile of interneurons has not been shown, early pyramidal cell signaling can influence interneuron apoptosis (Wong et al., 2018) and interneuron protein synthesis (Bernard et al., 2022). While the overall effects of a prolonged immature electrophysiological profile in PV cells are not known, it is unlikely to be silent, as this period coincides with a critical plasticity period during preadolescence (Hensch, 2005; Takesian and Hensch, 2013). That is, the delay in maturation could have a critical impact on circuit formation in the hippocampus, and other potential regions. Specifically, larger input resistances and lower peak action potential firing frequencies will likely dampen the temporal resolution of inhibitory tone in a developing network, which may promote maladaptive plasticity and incorrect circuit wiring. Additionally, by experimentally limiting depolarization-induced block in CA1 PV cells, researchers were able to halt evoked hippocampal epileptiform activity and

restore normal pyramidal cell firing (Calin et al., 2021). Thus, disruption of PV cell function during development could have profound consequences on the excitability of mature networks.

In addition to uncovering some unique potential mechanisms of PV cell maturation, this study highlights a critical role for early GluN2A signaling in neurodevelopment. The role of NMDARs in neuronal development has been appreciated for decades, with attention mostly directed at the GluN2B and GluN2D subunits (Hanson et al., 2019; Jiang et al., 2015; Kelsch et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2011; Yamasaki et al., 2014). The GluN2A subunit, with its surge in postnatal expression at week two of rodent development, has largely been considered an adolescent and adult subunit, often associated with synapse maturation in principle cells and overall circuit refinement (Dumas, 2005; Gray et al., 2011). Incorporation of GluN2A into the postsynaptic density accelerates the NMDAR-mediated synaptic time course, generating briefer but more efficient dendritic calcium transients (Evans et al., 2012). Even though hippocampal mRNA levels of GluN2A are low before P14, interneuron survival/apoptosis is largely decided before GluN2A's increased expression around P14 (Matta et al., 2013; Tricoire et al., 2011). Additionally, wildtype CA1 PV cells in juvenile mice displayed signs of electrophysiological maturity, suggesting that GluN2A's influence on genetic programs controlling cellular excitability and action-potential firing likely happen at or before GluN2A's increased expression at P14.

These deficits are likely not due to a complete loss of NMDAR-mediated signaling in PV cells, as *Grin2a^{-/-}* rodent models have similar NMDAR-mediated excitatory postsynaptic current amplitudes to age-matched WT cells (Booker et al., 2021). Although their NMDAR-mediated current amplitudes are similar, *Grin2a^{-/-}* PV cells have a prolongation of NMDAR-mediated synaptic time course, as would be expected for neurons expressing only GluN2B- and GluN2D-containing NMDARs (Booker et al., 2021; Hansen et al., 2021). A prolongation of the NMDAR-

mediated synaptic time course would likely drive more calcium into the cell, impacting numerous genetic programs. Whether PV cell apoptosis and electrophysiological maturation are signaled by changes in postsynaptic calcium transients mediated by GluN2A insertion or driven by local circuit activity via pyramidal cells is currently unknown. Alternatively, second messenger signaling dependent on the C-terminal tail of GluN2A subunits may induce post translational modification of synaptic proteins sufficient for transcriptional program generation.

Regardless of the mechanism behind the delayed electrophysiological maturation of PV cells, the totality of the data presented in Chapter 3 may be useful in suggesting therapeutics for GRIN2A null harboring human patients. Some of the molecular findings associated with the loss of GluN2A signaling mirror those seen in mouse models of Dravet's syndrome. In Dravet's syndrome, the loss-of-function mutation in the SCN1A gene primarily impacts GABAergic interneurons, decreasing their overall inhibitory output (Rubinstein et al., 2015; Tai et al., 2014). Since this mutation occurs in a voltage-gated sodium channel, the use of sodium channel blockers such as Lamotrigine, Phenytoin, and Carbamazepine as anti-epileptic drugs exacerbates epileptic seizures in Dravet's syndrome patients (Genton et al., 2000; Guerrini et al., 1998; Hawkins et al., 2017). In the context of GRIN2A null variant-harboring patient treatment, it is still unclear whether delays in electrophysiological maturation of PV cells seen in null Grin2a mice are due to sodium channels or potassium channels. Given that previous transcriptomic data on PV cell maturation has shown that many of the changes in electrophysiological properties of PV cells are due to delays in potassium channel expression (Goldberg et al., 2011), anti-epileptic drugs that target potassium channels such as Retigabine should be avoided. Future clinical studies should evaluate whether empirical data support this hypothesis.

5.4 GluN2C/GluN2D Subunit-Selective Modulation of Synaptic NMDARs

Chapter 4 describes the functional evaluation of a GluN2C/GluN2D positive allosteric modulator EU1180-465. This compound is a refinement of the exemplar GluN2C/GluN2D positive allosteric modulator (+)-CIQ, with marked improvements in aqueous solubility and doubling concentration at both GluN2C- and GluN2D-containing NMDARs. By selectively targeting GluN2C/GluN2D subunits via allosteric modulation, this compound series seeks to avoid pitfalls of a failed previous set of broad-spectrum competitive antagonists and uncompetitive channel blockers. Moreover, the GluN2C and GluN2D subunits show more restricted expression profiles compared to GluN2A and GluN2B subunits. Although both GluN2C and GluN2D are expressed in midbrain nuclei such as the thalamus and Purkinje cells of the cerebellum, the appeal of this compound series comes from a desire to increase the excitability of GABAergic interneurons. GluN2C-containing interneurons have been reported in a sparse set of PV-expressing interneurons (Ravikrishnan et al., 2018), while nearly all cortical interneurons are thought to express GluN2D-containing NMDARs. A loss of GABAergic inhibition is proposed to be causal in many neuropathological disorders, including epilepsy and schizophrenia. Thus, a small molecule compound designed to enhance GABAergic interneuron output could be a welcome tool in the clinician's toolbox.

Application of 10 μ M EU1180-465 (roughly 3x EC₅₀) increased the frequency of spontaneous IPSCs onto CA1 pyramidal cells from preadolescent (P20-26) mice. Acutely prepared brain slices will exhibit spontaneous synaptic currents in the absence of external stimuli and measuring the ability of EU1180-465 to influence these spontaneous events provides initial evidence for its ability to potentiate GABAergic interneuron output. We report that EU1180-465 potentiates spontaneous IPSC frequency 1.35-fold over baseline, whereas previously published

data show that application of 10 μ M (+)-CIQ was able to potentiate spontaneous IPSC frequency 1.48-fold over baseline (Perszyk et al., 2016). Despite EU1180-465 having roughly a 16-fold improvement in the doubling concentration at GluN2D-containing NMDARs compared to (+)-CIQ, EU1180-465 appears less efficacious when comparing ability to potentiate spontaneous IPSC frequency. The reason for this discrepancy is most likely explained by the age of animal used.

Data obtained with (+)-CIQ were in neonatal (P7-14) mice, whereas data obtained with EU1180-465 were in preadolescent (P20-26) mice. GABAergic interneuron activity increases during early neurodevelopment, with peak levels attained during preadolescence. In the study using (+)-CIQ, baseline spontaneous IPSC frequency was 3.5 Hz, whereas baseline spontaneous IPSC frequency before EU1180-465 application was 7.7 Hz. Thus, perhaps an immature interneuron network with lower overall spontaneous IPSC frequencies is more amenable to potentiation than a relatively mature interneuron network at P20-26. Immature interneurons have larger input resistances, suggesting that any increase in excitatory tone would translate into an increase in action-potential firing and thus increased spontaneous IPSC frequencies. On the other hand, immature interneurons also have lower action-potential firing rates which would support an overall dampening of spontaneous IPSCs with age. GABAergic interneuron synaptic density also increases with age and during early neonatal development, GABAergic activity is depolarizing and would not necessarily be measured as spontaneous IPSC current during analysis.

Alternative explanations for the diminished efficacy of EU1180-465 in potentiation of spontaneous IPSCs center around the overall caveats with acute slice preparations. Using acutely prepared slices and relying on spontaneous activity to drive NMDAR-mediated EPSCs onto GABAergic interneurons, there will likely be less NMDAR activation than would be observed in an awake behaving mouse. The ratio of AMPAR-mediated spontaneous EPSCs to NMDAR-

mediated spontaneous EPSCs heavily weighs in the AMPAR's favor. All spontaneous IPSC data was obtained at 32°C, whereas in vivo activity would occur at 37°C. This temperature difference will influence circuit excitability and favor an increased glutamatergic drive onto GABAergic interneurons. Moreover, all spontaneous IPSC data was obtained at +10 mV, which will promote depolarization-induced suppression of inhibition (Wilson and Nicoll, 2001). Depolarization of pyramidal cells will drive endocannabinoid release which can act on presynaptic CB1 receptors, which are Gi-coupled G-protein coupled receptors, essentially limiting spontaneous GABA release into the synaptic cleft. Nearly all CCK-expressing interneurons have presynaptic CB1 receptors meaning that all spontaneous IPSC data obtained at +10 mV will be absent of CCK-mediated inhibitory drive. This, combined with electrotonic filtering of relatively small spontaneous IPSCs onto distal dendrites from SST-expressing interneurons and neurogliaform cells, suggests that the majority of spontaneous IPSC data recorded are derived from PV basket cells. An alternative approach would be to record spontaneous IPSCs at -60 mV in the presence of an AMPAR antagonist, but this then eliminates a major source of excitatory drive needed for the spontaneous firing of GABAergic interneurons. Future recordings should investigate ways to record spontaneous IPSCs with an internal AMPAR channel blocker so recordings can be obtained at -60 mV. Regardless of these limitations, EU1180-465 shows a clear ability to potentiate GABAergic inhibitory tone onto excitatory principal cells.

After showing EU1180-465's ability to potentiate GABAergic interneuron output, we wanted to show that this increased spontaneous IPSC frequency was due to an increase in NMDARmediated excitatory drive onto GABAergic interneurons themselves. Patch clamp recordings from random CA1 *stratum radiatum* interneurons showed a significant potentiation of the NMDARmediated EPSC after EU1180-465 application. Here, charge transfer was used as the outcome variable as it captures the effect of both peak amplitude and decay time as described previously. Careful evaluation of these data showed that roughly half of the selected stratum radiatum interneurons showed clear charge transfer potentiation, whereas the other half were relatively unresponsive. A 25% (1.25-fold) increase in charge transfer over baseline was used to stratify recordings from *stratum radiatum* interneurons into 'responders' and 'nonresponders'. Currently, this 25% threshold is arbitrary, and will likely require more replicates so a histogram of potentiation values can be generated. Then, an empirically derived critical value that clearly separates the data into two groups can be ascertained. The trend of some stratum radiatum interneurons being unresponsive to a GluN2C/GluN2D PAM was also seen with (+)-CIQ (Perszyk et al., 2016). Thus, these data suggest that perhaps not all stratum radiatum interneurons express functional GluN2D-containing synaptic NMDARs. This hypothesis is confounded by findings that application of NAB-14 (GluN2C/GluN2D NAM) produced significant inhibition of NMDARmediated EPSCs in all stratum radiatum interneurons recorded (Booker et al., 2021; Swanger et al., 2018). These discrepancies are not due to differential actions of GluN1 exon5 containing or lacking NMDARs, as both (+)-CIQ (Mullasseril et al., 2010) and NAB-14 (Swanger et al., 2018) are effective on the alterative splice variant of GluN1. Additionally, both (+)-CIQ (Yi et al., 2019) and NAB-14 (Swanger et al., 2018) are efficacious at potentiation GluN2D-containing triheteromeric receptors. This discrepancy could be due to opposing effects of GluN2Dpotentiation on postsynaptic NMDARs combined with potentiation of GluN2D-containing presynaptic NMDARs and/or potentiation of GluN2C-containing astrocytic receptors. Alternatively, these differences could be due to off-target effects of (+)-CIQ/EU1180-465, although if this were true, it would likely impact all interneuron recordings. Perhaps then, due to protein-protein interactions or through some unexplained mechanism, some synaptic GluN2D-

containing NMDARs are capable of measurable potentiation, whereas all are capable of measurable inhibition. An alternative hypothesis is that levels of endogenous 24(S)-hydroxy cholesterol, and/or other endogenous PAMs may be present in CNS tissue and expressed at higher levels in certain cells, which then may occlude EU1180-465 potentiation. Either way, these data set up multiple intriguing hypotheses which can be explored to further our understanding of drug action on synaptic NMDARs.

5.5 Conclusions

In conclusion, the data presented in this thesis highlight many gaps in mechanistic knowledge that need to be filled. This work further illustrates promising future directions for study as well as for potential translational efforts. Most of these suggested future directions include expanding the datasets on NMDAR function to include multiple different ages, multiple different brain regions, and multiple different cell types. This then begs the question: when is enough detailed molecular and cellular data sufficient to tackle a scientist's ultimate goal - curtailing human disease? Multiple labs could spend decades obtaining look-up style data repositories for functional data similar to the Allen Brain Institute's database on gene expression. This approach would undoubtedly generate new findings, contribute to the field, and stimulate new ideas and hypotheses. However, how do each of these molecular studies then act to guide new therapeutics and advances in the treatment of human disease? Perhaps the reductionist approach is misdirected. Instead, maybe complex diseases should be approached top-down as opposed to bottom-up. After an efficacious compound is found then molecular mechanism can be established. For example, the totality of molecular mechanisms involved in ketamine's therapeutic action on rapid and longlasting treatment-resistant depression are still unknown despite an enormous amount of effort over

the last decade. More novel small molecule compounds have been discovered via high-throughput screening than through molecular modeling and medicinal chemistry *in silico* design. However, there is promise of precision with molecular approaches, but knowing when to stop data collection and how to implement these data into novel strategies for the treatment of disease is a difficult task and one that will not be accomplished by adopting a singular (top-down or bottom-up) tactic.

5.6 References for Chapter 5

- Akgul G, Abebe D, Yuan XQ, Auville K and McBain CJ (2019) The Role of AMPARs in the Maturation and Integration of Caudal Ganglionic Eminence-Derived Interneurons into Developing Hippocampal Microcircuits. *Sci Rep* **9**(1): 5435.
- Arrigoni E and Greene RW (2004) Schaffer collateral and perforant path inputs activate different subtypes of NMDA receptors on the same CA1 pyramidal cell. *Br J Pharmacol* **142**(2): 317-322.
- Benke TA, Park K, Krey I, Camp CR, Song R, Ramsey AJ, Yuan H, Traynelis SF and Lemke J (2021) Clinical and therapeutic significance of genetic variation in the GRIN gene family encoding NMDARs. *Neuropharmacology* **199**: 108805.
- Bernard C, Exposito-Alonso D, Selten M, Sanalidou S, Hanusz-Godoy A, Aguilera A, Hamid F, Oozeer F, Maeso P, Allison L, Russell M, Fleck RA, Rico B and Marin O (2022) Cortical wiring by synapse type-specific control of local protein synthesis. *Science* 378(6622): eabm7466.
- Booker SA, Sumera A, Kind PC and Wyllie DJA (2021) Contribution of NMDA Receptors to Synaptic Function in Rat Hippocampal Interneurons. *eNeuro* **8**(4).
- Bortone D and Polleux F (2009) KCC2 expression promotes the termination of cortical interneuron migration in a voltage-sensitive calcium-dependent manner. *Neuron* **62**(1): 53-71.
- Bouvier G, Bidoret C, Casado M and Paoletti P (2015) Presynaptic NMDA receptors: Roles and rules. *Neuroscience* **311**: 322-340.
- Butt SJ, Sousa VH, Fuccillo MV, Hjerling-Leffler J, Miyoshi G, Kimura S and Fishell G (2008) The requirement of Nkx2-1 in the temporal specification of cortical interneuron subtypes. *Neuron* **59**(5): 722-732.
- Calin A, Ilie AS and Akerman CJ (2021) Disrupting epileptiform activity by preventing parvalbumin interneuron depolarization block. *J Neurosci*.
- Chen BS and Roche KW (2007) Regulation of NMDA receptors by phosphorylation. *Neuropharmacology* **53**(3): 362-368.
- Chittajallu R, Wester JC, Craig MT, Barksdale E, Yuan XQ, Akgul G, Fang C, Collins D, Hunt S, Pelkey KA and McBain CJ (2017) Afferent specific role of NMDA receptors for the circuit integration of hippocampal neurogliaform cells. *Nat Commun* **8**(1): 152.
- Crone NE, Sinai A and Korzeniewska A (2006) High-frequency gamma oscillations and human brain mapping with electrocorticography. *Prog Brain Res* **159**: 275-295.

- De Bernardi ML, Di Stazio A, Romano A, Minardi R, Bisulli F, Licchetta L, Aiello S, Carelli V, Brunetti-Pierri N, Cappuccio G and Terrone G (2022) Mild neurological phenotype in a family carrying a novel N-terminal null GRIN2A variant. *Eur J Med Genet* **65**(5): 104500.
- Dehorter N, Ciceri G, Bartolini G, Lim L, del Pino I and Marin O (2015) Tuning of fast-spiking interneuron properties by an activity-dependent transcriptional switch. *Science* **349**(6253): 1216-1220.
- Denaxa M, Neves G, Rabinowitz A, Kemlo S, Liodis P, Burrone J and Pachnis V (2018) Modulation of Apoptosis Controls Inhibitory Interneuron Number in the Cortex. *Cell Rep* **22**(7): 1710-1721.
- Doischer D, Hosp JA, Yanagawa Y, Obata K, Jonas P, Vida I and Bartos M (2008) Postnatal differentiation of basket cells from slow to fast signaling devices. *J Neurosci* **28**(48): 12956-12968.
- Dumas TC (2005) Developmental regulation of cognitive abilities: modified composition of a molecular switch turns on associative learning. *Prog Neurobiol* **76**(3): 189-211.
- Evans RC, Morera-Herreras T, Cui Y, Du K, Sheehan T, Kotaleski JH, Venance L and Blackwell KT (2012) The effects of NMDA subunit composition on calcium influx and spike timing-dependent plasticity in striatal medium spiny neurons. *PLoS Comput Biol* **8**(4): e1002493.
- Genton P, Gelisse P, Thomas P and Dravet C (2000) Do carbamazepine and phenytoin aggravate juvenile myoclonic epilepsy? *Neurology* **55**(8): 1106-1109.
- Goldberg EM, Jeong HY, Kruglikov I, Tremblay R, Lazarenko RM and Rudy B (2011) Rapid developmental maturation of neocortical FS cell intrinsic excitability. *Cereb Cortex* 21(3): 666-682.
- Gray JA, Shi Y, Usui H, During MJ, Sakimura K and Nicoll RA (2011) Distinct modes of AMPA receptor suppression at developing synapses by GluN2A and GluN2B: single-cell NMDA receptor subunit deletion in vivo. *Neuron* **71**(6): 1085-1101.
- Guerrini R, Dravet C, Genton P, Belmonte A, Kaminska A and Dulac O (1998) Lamotrigine and seizure aggravation in severe myoclonic epilepsy. *Epilepsia* **39**(5): 508-512.
- Hansen KB, Wollmuth LP, Bowie D, Furukawa H, Menniti FS, Sobolevsky AI, Swanson GT, Swanger SA, Greger IH, Nakagawa T, McBain CJ, Jayaraman V, Low CM, Dell'Acqua ML, Diamond JS, Camp CR, Perszyk RE, Yuan H and Traynelis SF (2021) Structure, Function, and Pharmacology of Glutamate Receptor Ion Channels. *Pharmacol Rev* 73(4): 298-487.
- Hanson E, Armbruster M, Lau LA, Sommer ME, Klaft ZJ, Swanger SA, Traynelis SF, Moss SJ, Noubary F, Chadchankar J and Dulla CG (2019) Tonic Activation of GluN2C/GluN2D-Containing NMDA Receptors by Ambient Glutamate Facilitates Cortical Interneuron Maturation. J Neurosci 39(19): 3611-3626.
- Hawkins NA, Anderson LL, Gertler TS, Laux L, George AL, Jr. and Kearney JA (2017) Screening of conventional anticonvulsants in a genetic mouse model of epilepsy. *Ann Clin Transl Neurol* 4(5): 326-339.
- Hensch TK (2005) Critical period plasticity in local cortical circuits. *Nat Rev Neurosci* **6**(11): 877-888.
- Jiang H, Jiang W, Zou J, Wang B, Yu M, Pan Y, Lin Y, Mao Y and Wang Y (2015) The GluN2B subunit of N-methy-D-asparate receptor regulates the radial migration of cortical neurons in vivo. *Brain Res* 1610: 20-32.

- Johnston D and Brown TH (1983) Interpretation of voltage-clamp measurements in hippocampal neurons. *J Neurophysiol* **50**(2): 464-486.
- Kannangara TS, Bostrom CA, Ratzlaff A, Thompson L, Cater RM, Gil-Mohapel J and Christie BR (2014) Deletion of the NMDA receptor GluN2A subunit significantly decreases dendritic growth in maturing dentate granule neurons. *PLoS One* **9**(8): e103155.
- Kelsch W, Li Z, Wieland S, Senkov O, Herb A, Gongrich C and Monyer H (2014) GluN2Bcontaining NMDA receptors promote glutamate synapse development in hippocampal interneurons. *J Neurosci* **34**(48): 16022-16030.
- Kim K, Shin W, Kang M, Lee S, Kim D, Kang R, Jung Y, Cho Y, Yang E, Kim H, Bae YC and Kim E (2020) Presynaptic PTPsigma regulates postsynaptic NMDA receptor function through direct adhesion-independent mechanisms. *Elife* **9**.
- Krey I, von Spiczak S, Johannesen KM, Hikel C, Kurlemann G, Muhle H, Beysen D, Dietel T, Moller RS, Lemke JR and Syrbe S (2022) L-Serine Treatment is Associated with Improvements in Behavior, EEG, and Seizure Frequency in Individuals with GRIN-Related Disorders Due to Null Variants. *Neurotherapeutics* 19(1): 334-341.
- Li H, Rajani V, Han L, Chung D, Cooke JE, Sengar AS and Salter MW (2021) Alternative splicing of GluN1 gates glycine site-dependent nonionotropic signaling by NMDAR receptors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **118**(27).
- Li X, Xie LL, Han W, Hong SQ, Ma JN, Wang J and Jiang L (2020) Clinical Forms and GRIN2A Genotype of Severe End of Epileptic-Aphasia Spectrum Disorder. *Front Pediatr* **8**: 574803.
- Lussier MP, Sanz-Clemente A and Roche KW (2015) Dynamic Regulation of N-Methyl-daspartate (NMDA) and alpha-Amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic Acid (AMPA) Receptors by Posttranslational Modifications. *J Biol Chem* **290**(48): 28596-28603.
- Major G, Polsky A, Denk W, Schiller J and Tank DW (2008) Spatiotemporally graded NMDA spike/plateau potentials in basal dendrites of neocortical pyramidal neurons. *J Neurophysiol* **99**(5): 2584-2601.
- Matta JA, Pelkey KA, Craig MT, Chittajallu R, Jeffries BW and McBain CJ (2013) Developmental origin dictates interneuron AMPA and NMDA receptor subunit composition and plasticity. *Nat Neurosci* **16**(8): 1032-1041.
- Miller MN, Okaty BW, Kato S and Nelson SB (2011) Activity-dependent changes in the firing properties of neocortical fast-spiking interneurons in the absence of large changes in gene expression. *Dev Neurobiol* **71**(1): 62-70.
- Miyamae T, Chen K, Lewis DA and Gonzalez-Burgos G (2017) Distinct Physiological Maturation of Parvalbumin-Positive Neuron Subtypes in Mouse Prefrontal Cortex. J Neurosci 37(19): 4883-4902.
- Mullasseril P, Hansen KB, Vance KM, Ogden KK, Yuan H, Kurtkaya NL, Santangelo R, Orr AG, Le P, Vellano KM, Liotta DC and Traynelis SF (2010) A subunit-selective potentiator of NR2C- and NR2D-containing NMDA receptors. *Nat Commun* 1: 90.
- Murthy S, Niquille M, Hurni N, Limoni G, Frazer S, Chameau P, van Hooft JA, Vitalis T and Dayer A (2014) Serotonin receptor 3A controls interneuron migration into the neocortex. *Nat Commun* **5**: 5524.
- Ogden KK, Chen W, Swanger SA, McDaniel MJ, Fan LZ, Hu C, Tankovic A, Kusumoto H, Kosobucki GJ, Schulien AJ, Su Z, Pecha J, Bhattacharya S, Petrovski S, Cohen AE, Aizenman E, Traynelis SF and Yuan H (2017) Molecular Mechanism of Disease-

Associated Mutations in the Pre-M1 Helix of NMDA Receptors and Potential Rescue Pharmacology. *PLoS Genet* **13**(1): e1006536.

- Okaty BW, Miller MN, Sugino K, Hempel CM and Nelson SB (2009) Transcriptional and electrophysiological maturation of neocortical fast-spiking GABAergic interneurons. J Neurosci 29(21): 7040-7052.
- Pelkey KA, Chittajallu R, Craig MT, Tricoire L, Wester JC and McBain CJ (2017) Hippocampal GABAergic Inhibitory Interneurons. *Physiol Rev* **97**(4): 1619-1747.
- Perszyk RE, DiRaddo JO, Strong KL, Low CM, Ogden KK, Khatri A, Vargish GA, Pelkey KA, Tricoire L, Liotta DC, Smith Y, McBain CJ and Traynelis SF (2016) GluN2D-Containing N-methyl-d-Aspartate Receptors Mediate Synaptic Transmission in Hippocampal Interneurons and Regulate Interneuron Activity. *Mol Pharmacol* 90(6): 689-702.
- Priya R, Paredes MF, Karayannis T, Yusuf N, Liu X, Jaglin X, Graef I, Alvarez-Buylla A and Fishell G (2018) Activity Regulates Cell Death within Cortical Interneurons through a Calcineurin-Dependent Mechanism. *Cell Rep* **22**(7): 1695-1709.
- Que L, Lukacsovich D, Luo W and Foldy C (2021) Transcriptional and morphological profiling of parvalbumin interneuron subpopulations in the mouse hippocampus. *Nat Commun* **12**(1): 108.
- Rao A and Craig AM (1997) Activity regulates the synaptic localization of the NMDA receptor in hippocampal neurons. *Neuron* **19**(4): 801-812.
- Ravikrishnan A, Gandhi PJ, Shelkar GP, Liu J, Pavuluri R and Dravid SM (2018) Regionspecific Expression of NMDA Receptor GluN2C Subunit in Parvalbumin-Positive Neurons and Astrocytes: Analysis of GluN2C Expression using a Novel Reporter Model. *Neuroscience* 380: 49-62.
- Rubinstein M, Han S, Tai C, Westenbroek RE, Hunker A, Scheuer T and Catterall WA (2015) Dissecting the phenotypes of Dravet syndrome by gene deletion. *Brain* **138**(Pt 8): 2219-2233.
- Sah M, Shore AN, Petri S, Kanber A, Yang M, Weston MC and Frankel WN (2020) Altered excitatory transmission onto hippocampal interneurons in the IQSEC2 mouse model of X-linked neurodevelopmental disease. *Neurobiol Dis* **137**: 104758.
- Sclip A and Sudhof TC (2020) LAR receptor phospho-tyrosine phosphatases regulate NMDAreceptor responses. *Elife* 9.
- Shelkar GP, Gandhi PJ, Liu J and Dravid SM (2022) Cocaine preference and neuroadaptations are maintained by astrocytic NMDA receptors in the nucleus accumbens. *Sci Adv* **8**(29): eabo6574.
- Shipton OA and Paulsen O (2014) GluN2A and GluN2B subunit-containing NMDA receptors in hippocampal plasticity. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci* **369**(1633): 20130163.
- Siegel SJ, Brose N, Janssen WG, Gasic GP, Jahn R, Heinemann SF and Morrison JH (1994) Regional, cellular, and ultrastructural distribution of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor subunit 1 in monkey hippocampus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **91**(2): 564-568.
- Sohal VS, Zhang F, Yizhar O and Deisseroth K (2009) Parvalbumin neurons and gamma rhythms enhance cortical circuit performance. *Nature* **459**(7247): 698-702.
- Southwell DG, Paredes MF, Galvao RP, Jones DL, Froemke RC, Sebe JY, Alfaro-Cervello C, Tang Y, Garcia-Verdugo JM, Rubenstein JL, Baraban SC and Alvarez-Buylla A (2012) Intrinsically determined cell death of developing cortical interneurons. *Nature* **491**(7422): 109-113.

- Strehlow V, Heyne HO, Vlaskamp DRM, Marwick KFM, Rudolf G, de Bellescize J, Biskup S, Brilstra EH, Brouwer OF, Callenbach PMC, Hentschel J, Hirsch E, Kind PC, Mignot C, Platzer K, Rump P, Skehel PA, Wyllie DJA, Hardingham GE, van Ravenswaaij-Arts CMA, Lesca G, Lemke JR and group GAs (2019) GRIN2A-related disorders: genotype and functional consequence predict phenotype. *Brain* 142(1): 80-92.
- Strehlow V, Rieubland C, Gallati S, Kim S, Myers SJ, Peterson V, Ramsey AJ, Teuscher DD, Traynelis SF and Lemke JR (2022) Compound-heterozygous GRIN2A null variants associated with severe developmental and epileptic encephalopathy. *Epilepsia* 63(10): e132-e137.
- Sussel L, Marin O, Kimura S and Rubenstein JL (1999) Loss of Nkx2.1 homeobox gene function results in a ventral to dorsal molecular respecification within the basal telencephalon: evidence for a transformation of the pallidum into the striatum. *Development* **126**(15): 3359-3370.
- Swanger SA, Vance KM, Acker TM, Zimmerman SS, DiRaddo JO, Myers SJ, Bundgaard C, Mosley CA, Summer SL, Menaldino DS, Jensen HS, Liotta DC and Traynelis SF (2018) A Novel Negative Allosteric Modulator Selective for GluN2C/2D-Containing NMDA Receptors Inhibits Synaptic Transmission in Hippocampal Interneurons. ACS Chem Neurosci 9(2): 306-319.
- Tai C, Abe Y, Westenbroek RE, Scheuer T and Catterall WA (2014) Impaired excitability of somatostatin- and parvalbumin-expressing cortical interneurons in a mouse model of Dravet syndrome. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 111(30): E3139-3148.
- Takesian AE and Hensch TK (2013) Balancing plasticity/stability across brain development. *Prog Brain Res* **207**: 3-34.
- Tricoire L, Pelkey KA, Daw MI, Sousa VH, Miyoshi G, Jeffries B, Cauli B, Fishell G and McBain CJ (2010) Common origins of hippocampal Ivy and nitric oxide synthase expressing neurogliaform cells. *J Neurosci* **30**(6): 2165-2176.
- Tricoire L, Pelkey KA, Erkkila BE, Jeffries BW, Yuan X and McBain CJ (2011) A blueprint for the spatiotemporal origins of mouse hippocampal interneuron diversity. *J Neurosci* 31(30): 10948-10970.
- Wang CC, Held RG, Chang SC, Yang L, Delpire E, Ghosh A and Hall BJ (2011) A critical role for GluN2B-containing NMDA receptors in cortical development and function. *Neuron* 72(5): 789-805.
- Wilson RI and Nicoll RA (2001) Endogenous cannabinoids mediate retrograde signalling at hippocampal synapses. *Nature* **410**(6828): 588-592.
- Wong FK, Bercsenyi K, Sreenivasan V, Portales A, Fernandez-Otero M and Marin O (2018) Pyramidal cell regulation of interneuron survival sculpts cortical networks. *Nature* 557(7707): 668-673.
- Wyeth MS, Pelkey KA, Petralia RS, Salter MW, McInnes RR and McBain CJ (2014) Neto auxiliary protein interactions regulate kainate and NMDA receptor subunit localization at mossy fiber-CA3 pyramidal cell synapses. *J Neurosci* **34**(2): 622-628.
- Yamasaki M, Okada R, Takasaki C, Toki S, Fukaya M, Natsume R, Sakimura K, Mishina M, Shirakawa T and Watanabe M (2014) Opposing role of NMDA receptor GluN2B and GluN2D in somatosensory development and maturation. *J Neurosci* **34**(35): 11534-11548.

Yi F, Bhattacharya S, Thompson CM, Traynelis SF and Hansen KB (2019) Functional and pharmacological properties of triheteromeric GluN1/2B/2D NMDA receptors. *Journal of Physiology* In press.